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Part A – General
The description of the Company’s business as detailed in this Chapter below was prepared on the
assumption that the reader has before him/her the full periodic report of the Company, including all of
its parts.
1.1

Company Operations and Description of the Development of its Business

1.1.1

Terms

1.1.1.1

Raw materials – Materials purchased by the Company and used by it in the production process:
including, but not limited to, crude oil, which it purchases from its suppliers.

1.1.1.2

LPG - Liquefied Petroleum Gas, also known as cooking gas, and is one of the refining products
of crude oil.

1.1.1.3

Naphtha – One of the refining products of crude oil. Used as one of the components for the
production of gasoline, and in industry as a raw material for the production of petrochemical
products.

1.1.1.4

Gasoline – One of the refining products of crude oil. Used for transport.

1.1.1.5

Gasoil – One of the refining products of crude oil. Used for transport and heating.

1.1.1.6

Kerosene – One of the refining products of crude oil. Used mainly as jet fuel and for heating.

1.1.1.7

Vacuum Gasoil or Heavy Vacuum Gasoil (VGO/HVGO) – An interim material produced by
way of primary refining, and used in advanced refining processes for manufacturing oil products
with high added value, primarily gasoil and kerosene.

1.1.1.8

Fuel Oil – A product obtained after initial refining processes. Used mainly for heating and
fueling ships.

1.1.1.9

Bitumen – One of the refining products of crude oil. Used mainly as a principal component in
road building and for insulation.

1.1.1.10

Feedstock – Materials produced by the Company and used as interim materials for its other
facilities or as raw materials for its subsidiaries that are engaged in the production of
petrochemical products.

1.1.1.11

Propylene – A colorless, odorless gas at room temperature, used as a raw material in the
petrochemical industry, mainly for the production of polypropylene.

1.1.1.12

Ethylene – A colorless, odorless gas at room temperature, used as a raw material in the
petrochemical industry, mainly for the production of polyethylene, the most common plastic in
the world.

1.1.1.13

Polypropylene – A polymer, the main uses of which are in engineering, for the production of
consumer goods (such as diapers, toys, bottles, containers, household plumbing, tool boxes, office
equipment), fibers and threads for making carpets, for use in the vehicle industry, and others.

1.1.1.14

Polyethylene – A polymer, the main uses of which are for agriculture (such as sheeting used for
greenhouses), for making flexible and hard packaging (such as bags and bottles), insulation
products and household utensils.

1.1.1.15

Benzene – An aromatic material made from refining products. For details see section 1.8.5
below.
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1.1.1.16

Paraxylene –An aromatic material made from refining products. For details see section 1.8.5
below.

1.1.1.17

Orthoxylene – An aromatic material made from refining products. For details see section 1.8.5
below.

1.1.1.18

Toluene – An aromatic material made from refining products. For details see section 1.8.5 below.

1.1.1.19

Solvents – Materials made from refining products. For details see section 1.8.5 below.

1.1.1.20

Phthalic Anhydride – A solid material produced from orthoxylene, which is made from refining
products. For details see section 1.8.5 below.

1.1.1.21

Basic Oils – Oils made from refining products and used as raw material to produce finished oils
for vehicles, ships, hydraulic systems and others.

1.1.1.22

Natural Gas – A gaseous substance that forms naturally underground (similarly to oil),
composed (in Israel) mostly of methane. Natural gas can be used as an energy source or raw
material, is used by the Company for heating boilers and furnaces and raw material for producing
hydrogen.

1.1.1.23

Consolidated Financial Statements – The Company’s consolidated financial statements as of
December 31, 2017, attached to Chapter C of this Report.

1.1.2

Establishment of the Company and Principal Stages in its Development
Oil Refineries Ltd. (“the Company” or “Bazan”), was incorporated and registered in Israel in
August 1959 under the name Haifa Refineries Ltd.
After the Ashdod refinery was split off from the Company and sold to Paz Oil Company Ltd.
(“Paz”), in February 2007, the State of Israel sold all of the Company's issued and paid share
capital, such that following the sale, the Company ceased being a government company, and its
shares were listed for trade on the stock exchange (“Privatization of the Company”). As of the
date of the report, Israel Corporation Ltd. (“Israel Corp.”) holds 33.06% of the shares of the
Company, and Israel Petrochemical Enterprises Ltd. (“IPE”) holds 15.52% (directly and via a
wholly-owned subsidiary). Subsequent to Reporting Period IPE sold part of its shares in the
Company and as of Reporting Date it holds 16.26% of the shares of the Company.
With respect to the various aspects of the process of Privatization of the Company in 2006-2007
which had an effect on the Company at the date of the Report, see sections 1.15.8 and 1.19.4
below.
The Company, together with its subsidiaries, (“the Companies” or “the Group”) are industrial
companies which operate in Israel1 and deal mainly in the production of crude oil products,
polymers used as raw materials in the plastics industry, aromatic materials used as raw materials
in the chemical and petrochemical industries and basic oils and waxes, used as raw materials in
the manufacture of other products. The facilities of the subsidiaries are integrated with those of
the Company.
As of December 31, 2016, in accordance with the decision made by the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange
Ltd. (“TASE”), the Company’s industry classification is the Energy subsector, under the category
of Energy and Oil Exploration.

1

With the exception of Ducor Petrochemicals BV and its subsidiaries, which operate in the Netherlands, and with the
exception of additional companies whose operations are not material and which are not involved in production.
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1.1.3

Chart of structure of the Company’s holdings as of December 31, 20172

(1) Israel Corp. and IPE are public companies and their shares are listed for trading on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange
Ltd.
(2) It is noted that after the date of this report, a transaction was completed for sale of the Company’s holdings of
shares in Mercury Aviation Ltd. to a non-related third party, as detailed in Note 31.E to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
(3) A company registered in Guernsey and held by Carmel Olefins Ltd. via foreign trust companies.
(4) Companies registered in the Netherlands.
(5) Company registered in the UK.

2

The chart includes active companies. It is noted that as of the date of the report, the Company holds a number of
additional companies whose activity is not material to the Company’s business, and/or that are not active and do not
appear in the chart.
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1.2

Company's areas of operation
As of the date of publication of the report, the Company was engaged in four areas of operation,
reported as business segments in its financial statements, as follows:

1.2.1

Fuels: The Company’s principal area of operations. As part of its operations in this field, the
Company purchases crude oil and interim materials, refines, separates and processes them into
various products, some of which are end products and others are raw materials for the
manufacture of other products, and sells end and interim fuel products to its customers in Israel3
and abroad. Production activity is carried out through the business segment – Fuels. Purchasing of
raw materials and interim materials, as well as product exportation, is performed by the trade
segment4. Sale of products on the local market and exportation of products to an adjacent market
is carried out by the marketing and sales unit. For information on fuels, see section 1.6 of this
Chapter.

1.2.2

Polymers – Carmel Olefins: As part of its polymer activity, the Company is engaged, through
Carmel Olefins Ltd. (“Carmel Olefins”), a private company wholly owned by the Company, in
the production in Israel of polyethylene and polypropylene, which are the principal raw materials
in the plastics industry (for a description of the activity of Carmel Olefins, see section 1.7 of this
Chapter);

1.2.3

Aromatics: As part of its aromatics activity, the Company is engaged, through Gadiv
Petrochemical Industries Ltd. (“Gadiv”), a private company wholly owned by the Company, in
the extraction and production of aromatic materials, mainly benzene, paraxylene, orthoxylene,
and toluene, which are used as raw materials in the manufacture of other products (for a
description of Gadiv's activity, see section 1.8 of this Chapter);

1.2.4

Polymers – Ducor: As part of its activity in this segment, the Company is engaged, through
Ducor Petrochemicals B.V. (“Ducor”), a private company wholly owned by Carmel Olenfins
listed in the Netherlands. Ducor’s activity includes production of polypropylene from propylene
(Ducor’s main raw material). Propylene is used as a raw material in the plastic industry (for a
description of Ducor’s activity, see section 1.9 of this Chapter);

1.2.5

Additional (Other) Activities: Furthermore, the Company is involved in additional activities to
an extent that is not essential to the Company’s business, which do not constitute a business
segment in its financial statements, as follows: Oils and waxes activity through Basic Oils Haifa
Ltd. (“BOH”), a private company wholly owned by the Company, in the manufacture of basic
oils and waxes that are used as raw materials in the production of other products (“Oils and
Waxes Activity”); trade activity, including leasing of tankers for marine transportation of fuel
products, and purchasing raw materials from third parties, performed by trading companies ORL
Trading and ORL Shipping, private companies that are wholly owned by the Company (“Trade
Activity”). For details regarding the additional activities, see sections 1.10 and 1.11 of this
Chapter.
In addition, the Company has investee companies engaged in additional operations that are not
material to the Company and therefore are not listed in detail.

3

4

In this context, it should be noted that the Company provides its client with infrastructure services in regard to some
of the products sold by it (storage, pumping and truck loading of fuel products).
For details regarding the Company’s organizational structure, see section 1.15.1 of this Chapter.
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The following chart sets out the structure of the Israeli fuel sector:

1

1.2.6

Owned by Paz; 2 Owned by Delek.

The facilities of the subsidiaries in Israel are downstream facilities of the Company's, and they
receive the required feedstock entirely or mostly from the Company on an ongoing basis through
pipelines, and return all or part of the products of their facilities to the Company, as well as the
feedstock not used in their operations. The Company’s fuels operations are integrated with its
polymers, aromatics and oils and waxes operations.
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The following is a diagram that illustrates the integration between the various operations of the
Company:

In the Company’s opinion, the integration and synergy between the various fields of operation
leads to an increase in the aggregate margins flowing to the Company from all of its fields and
moderation in fluctuations of the subsidiaries do not necessarily overlap.
The Companies have operated jointly in their various areas of activity: overall production
planning is carried out by the optimization segment in a way that is intended to maximize the
additional value over the activities of the Companies, starting from the purchasing of crude oil up
to the production of fuel products, polymers, aromatics, oils and waxes. In addition, the Company
head office provides all the Group Companies with centralized staff services according to the
agreement that exists between the Group Companies.
In order to determine the types of crude oil that are to be purchased by the Company and the
composition of the products that are to be produced by it, the Company, among other things, uses
a computerized system of linear planning based on a multiple-variable mathematical model which
takes into account commercial data such as: the prices of various kinds of crude oil and the prices
of the various products that the Companies produce, prices of various oil products, prices of
polymers, aromatics, oils and waxes, customer orders, and technical data relating to the
production capacity and availability of the Companies’ facilities.
The model recommends production functions (the mix of crude oil, and the mix of products
produced using it) that maximize the Group’s profitability. This system is used by the Company
for the purpose of long-term future planning and for its ongoing operations.
In addition, the Companies have identified opportunities for further synergies through projects
which integrate materials and processes from their plants. As part of this, projects were executed
for the use of gases produced in the refining process as raw materials in Carmel Olefins and a
project was approved to increase the propylene separation capacity for use at Carmel Olefins. The
companies are working towards implementing this project while examining and updating its
anticipated economic benefits. For further details, see section 1.7 of this Chapter.
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Notably, the various kinds of crude oil and refined products, as well as the products produced by
the subsidiaries, are commodities, the prices of which are set in sophisticated international
markets and the majority of which are quoted on various commodities exchanges around the
world; the Company cannot influence international prices. The purchase prices of crude oil paid
by the Company are set on the basis of international prices, with adjustments for each individual
transaction and to the extent possible, identification of spot opportunities in order to reduce costs.
The prices for the sale of refined products, polymers and aromatics by the Companies to its
customers are set based on international prices. The prices for marine transportation of crude oil,
refined products and petrochemical products, which are paid for by the Companies, are also fixed
on the basis of international prices. As noted, the Companies have no influence over international
prices and the price of concrete transitions fixed while adjusting the transaction details and
identifying opportunities.
The Company’s head office provides all of the Group Companies with head office services
including: operation of optimization systems for production planning, finance and accounting
services, IT, human resources services, technology and large projects, purchasing, engagements
and legal services, in accordance with an agreement entered into by the Group's companies. In
addition, the Company purchases inputs on behalf of all of the Group Companies operating in
Israel, such as natural gas, electricity, and the like.
1.2.7

Production capacity
As of the date of the report, the production capacity of the Companies stands at a refining
capacity of 197 barrels of crude oil a day (9.8 million tons per year); maximum potential annual
production (name plate) of 450 thousand tons of polypropylene, provided sufficient quantities of
propylene are available (and another 180 thousand tons of polypropylene in Ducor
Petrochemicals B.V.); 170 thousand tons of polyethylene; 580 thousand tons of aromatic products
and 80 thousand tons of oils and waxes. For details, see sections 1.6.13, and 1.8.11 of this
Chapter.

1.3

Investments in equity and share transactions

1.3.1

No investments in the Company's equity have taken place during the past two years, with the
exception of exercise of options by officers and employees at the Company, as mentioned in Note
21.B to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

1.3.2

In executing the debt settlement arrangement between IPE and its creditors and shareholders, IPE
distributed Company shares to its debenture holders; IPE also sold Company shares from time to
time throughout 2016 as part of TASE trading. To the best of the Company’s knowledge, as a
result of the aforementioned settlement, IPE’s holding, including through its subsidiary Petroleum
Capital Holdings Ltd. (“PCH”), of the Company’s shares dropped at a rate of approximately 9%.
During 2017, IPE sold an additional portion of its shares in the Company, and as of the date of
this Report, it holds approximately 15.52% of the Company’s issued and paid-up share capital.

1.3.3

During 2017, Israel Corporation sold some of its shares in the Company, and as of the date of this
Report, it holds approximately 33.06% of the Company’s issued and paid-up share capital.

1.3.4

For further details on Company equity, see Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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1.3.5

Agreement between IPE and Israel Corporation regarding joint control of the Company5
Control and operation of the means of control in the Company are subject, inter alia, to the
approval of the Prime Minister and Minister of Finance, in accordance with the Government
Companies (Declaration of Essential Interests for the State in Oil Refineries Ltd.) Order, 2007
(“the Ministers”, “Approval of the Ministers” or “Control Permit” and “Interests Order”,
respectively). On June 27, 2007 and May 7, 2009, Israel Corporation and IPE received permits for
the control and holding of the means of control of the Company, respectively, which are revised
from time to time, and recently on February 1, 2017. For more details on the Control Permits, see
section 1.19.1 of this Chapter. For more information regarding the Interests Order, see
section 1.19.16 of the report.

1.3.6

A joint control agreement over the Company was signed between Israel Corporation and IPE and
PCH. For details regarding the agreement, see sections 2.5 and 2.6 of the Company’s shelf
prospectus from November 24, 2015 (reference number: 2015-01-160914) (“the Shelf
Prospectus”).

1.4

Dividend Distribution

1.4.1

For details regarding the Dividend totaling USD 85 million, declared and paid by the Company
during 2017, see Note 21.C.2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

1.4.2

For details regarding the Dividend totaling USD 65 million, declared after the date of this Report
and paid on January 31, 2018, see Note 21.C.3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

1.4.3

Court approval was not required for payment of the Dividend.

1.4.4

The balance of the corporation’s profits as of December 31, 2017, as defined in Section 302 of the
Companies Law was USD 420 million. (This balance does not include the Dividend declared and
paid after the date of this Report, mentioned in section 1.4.2 above).

1.4.5

For details regarding the dividend policy approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on
January 29, 2012, see Note 21.C.1 to the Financial Statements.

1.4.6

For details regarding the financial covenants which may restrict the distribution of a dividend by
the Company, and conditions for paying the Dividend as set forth in the syndication agreement,
see Notes 13.C to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Additionally, for details regarding the
financial covenants and conditions for paying the Dividend that the Company undertook towards
debenture holders, see Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

5

The particulars in this section are to the best of the Company’s knowledge.
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1.5

Financial information concerning the Company’s areas of activity
The following is a summary of the companies consolidated financial data (without netting of inter-company balances and transactions):
2017
Polymers

Revenues from External Parties
Revenues in Israel
Revenues outside of Israel
Total revenues from external parties
Total intersectional sales (primarily in Israel)
Total Revenues
Costs for Area of Activity – External Parties
Variable
Fixed
Costs for Area of Activity – Inter-segment Costs
Variable
Profit (loss) from ordinary activity in segment
Other Expenses
Profit (loss) from ordinary activity attributed to
shareholders of the Company
Total assets attributed to area of activity
Total liabilities attributed to area of activity

Fuels

Carmel
Olefins

Ducor

Total

2,958
1,366
4,324
584
4,908

340
334
674
9
683

230
230
230

340
564
904
9
913

23
327
350
31
381

28
18
46
46

4,309
262
4,571

126
153
279

177
25
202

303
178
481

47
41
88

(2)
10
8

35
302
302

260
144
144

8
20
20

268
164
164

287
6
6

36
2
2

(626)
2
(13)
(11)

2,828
2,544

875
253

99
40

974
293

233
103

42
84

(62)
(213)

Aromatics
USD Millions

Others (2)

Adjustments

(624)
(624)

-

Total

3,349
2,275
5,624
5,624

4,657
491
5,148
476
(13)
463
4,015
2,811

(1) For explanations concerning the developments in the above financial data, see the Board of Directors' explanations on the state of the Company's business as of
December 31, 2017, in Chapter B of the Periodic Report (“the Board of Directors’ Report”).
(2) “Others” includes: Oils and Waxes Activity and Trade Activity, as specified in section 1.2.5 above.
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2016
Polymers

Revenues from External Parties
Revenues in Israel
Revenues outside of Israel
Total revenues from external parties
Total intersectional sales (primarily in Israel)
Total Revenues
Costs for Area of Activity – External Parties
Variable
Fixed
Costs for Area of Activity – Inter-segment Costs
Variable
Profit (loss) from ordinary activity in segment
Other Expenses
Other Revenues
Profit (loss) from ordinary activity attributed to
shareholders of the Company
Total assets attributed to area of activity
Total liabilities attributed to area of activity

Fuels

Carmel
Olefins

Ducor

Total

2,209
977
3,186
508
3,694

312
222
534
5
539

194
194
194

312
416
728
5
733

17
348
365
30
395

22
20
42
42

(543)
(543)

2,560
1,761
4,321
4,321

3,232
234
3,466

114
124
238

142
21
163

256
145
401

42
34
76

6
9
15

(2)
(2)

3,534
422
3,956

30
198
198

166
135
135

5
26
26

171
161
161

308
11
11

29
(2)
(2)

(538)
(3)
(36)
1
(38)

2,673
2,439

853
340

75
36

928
376

196
69

37
77

(166)
(332)

Aromatics
USD Millions

Others (2)

Adjustments

Total

365
(36)
1
330
3,668
2,631

(1) For explanations concerning the developments in the above financial data, see the Board of Directors' explanations on the state of the Company's business as of
December 31, 2017, in Chapter B of the Periodic Report (“the Board of Directors’ Report”).
(2) “Others” includes: Oils and Waxes Activity and Trade Activity, as specified in section 1.2.5 above.
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2015
Polymers
Fuels
Revenues from External Parties
Revenues in Israel
Revenues outside of Israel
Total revenues from external parties
Total intersectional sales (primarily in Israel)
Total Revenues
Costs for Area of Activity – External Parties
Variable
Fixed
Costs for Area of Activity – Inter-segment Costs
Variable
Profit (loss) from ordinary activity in segment
Other Expenses
Other Revenues
Profit (loss) from ordinary activity attributed to
shareholders of the Company
Total assets attributed to area of activity
Total liabilities attributed to area of activity

Carmel
Olefins

Ducor

Total

Aromatics
USD Millions

Others (2)

Adjustments

Total

2,616
1,541
4,157
580
4,737

171
479
650
9
659

208
25
233
233

379
504
883
9
892

21
377
398
35
433

33
20
53
53

(624)
(624)

3,049
2,442
5,491
5,491

4,215
241
4,456

157
124
281

190
20
210

347
144
491

68
36
104

9
3

-

321
8
-

37
13
-

(625)
1
(35)
3

437
(35)
3

4,624
430
5,054

37
244
-

222
156
-

8
15
-

230
171
-

244

156

15

171

8

13

(31)

405

2,474
2,361

887
463

62
41

949
504

248
97

72
82

(243)
(418)

3,500
2,626

(1) For explanations concerning the developments in the above financial data, see the Board of Directors' explanations on the state of the Company's business as of
December 31, 2017, in Chapter B of the Periodic Report (“the Board of Directors’ Report”).
(2) “Others” includes: Oils and Waxes Activity and Trade Activity, as specified in section 1.2.5 above.
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Part B – Refining
1.6

Fuels Segment

1.6.1

General – Refining Processes
The refining of oil is a process that consists of a number of stages, the purpose of which is to
separate out the various components in crude oil, and to turn them into useful products such as:
gasoline, naphtha, diesel fuel, kerosene, fuel oil, liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) and bitumen. The
refining process is at high temperatures (up to 900oC and at high pressures (up to 180 Atm)).
Catalysts are used in part of the processes to accelerate the cracking chemical reaction or
reformation of the interim materials
There are four main production processes:
Separation by distillation - processes that result in groups of products, according to the
differences in their boiling points.
The refining of crude oil leaves an unrefined residue that is used to make asphalt and fuel oil.
Cracking and reformation - which alter the chemical composition of some of the materials
separated out, so as to give rise to products of a higher added value.
Refining - a finishing-off process, the purpose of which is to purify and cleanse the products of
the separation processes, and to improve the qualities of such (such as reduction of sulphur
content).
Finishing - the products undergo finishing, in order to meet the requisite parameters.
The Company’s refining operations are carried out at the Company’s refinery at Haifa (“Bazan”).
The Company sells interim products produced at its plants, but not processed into end products at
its plants, in quantities that are not material to its operations. Interim products required by the
Company and/or subsidiaries, which are not supplied by the Company’s own refinery facilities,
may be purchased from foreign suppliers and/or from the Paz controlled oil refinery in Ashdod
(“Paz Ashdod”).

1.6.2

General information about the Company's area of operations

1.6.2.1

Operating sector structure and changes

1.6.2.1.1

General
The refining margin is the major factor affecting the results of operations in the fuel segment.
The refining margin is the difference between revenue from the sale of the Company’s product
mix and the ex-refinery cost of the raw materials purchased by the Company (mainly crude oil
and HVGO). The key factors impacting the Company's refining margins are the price margins in
international markets, the product mix, preferably by operational availability of refining
facilities, and as a result, the selection of the optimal mix of the types of crude.
Global prices of crude oil and distillates are highly volatile and are set, inter alia, by global
supply and demand. They are also affected by geopolitical events which are not directly
connected to the production of oil but which are viewed by the markets as having a potential
impact on future production and global trade in future contracts and derivatives, on an
extremely large scale, which does not necessarily and consistently reflect the physical crude oil
market. The level of refining margins is, therefore, a result of the market forces operating on
two different planes: one, supply and demand of crude oil and the other, supply and demand of
end products.
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For further information concerning the significant developments in the business environment in
which the Company operates, particularly in the refining sector, see section 1.2 of the Board of
Directors Report.
1.6.2.1.2

Factors affecting the supply and demand of crude oil
The supply of crude oil is first and foremost influenced by the existence and location of oil
fields under ground, or under the sea bed. In recent years, in view of the development of new
discovery and production methods of shale oil and shale gas fields, technology has also been
developed for producing such shale oil and gas. This has led to the US producing the crude oil it
requires and its dependence on importing oil has decreased. Toward the end of 2015, the
decades long ban on the export of crude oil from the United States was lifted. During the same
period, international sanctions against Iran, which prevented it in recent years from exporting
crude oil, were also lifted and it began to supply crude oil on the global market once again.
These two changes led to an increase in crude oil supply globally. At the end of 2016 OPEC
decided to reduce crude oil output. Compliance with this decision was high throughout 2017,
during which continuation of the reduced production was also announced.
In addition, the supply of oil depends on a very large number of factors, such as the ability to
extract crude oil and pump it from the oil fields to ports, the assessments of the fuel producers
as to future prices, the ability of the production company to store the fuel produced for long
periods of time, international geopolitical events and so forth. Crude oil is a commodity, the
price of which is quoted on various commodity markets around the world.
The demand for crude oil is affected by the demand for oil products (see section 1.6.2.1.3
below) and the global refining capacity.
Since the beginning of the third quarter of 2014 through to January 2016, following the
disruption of the balance between supply and demand for crude oil, as described above, there
was a drastic and prolonged decline in crude oil prices to the lowest level in the last decade. As
of January 2016, significant fluctuations in the oil price have been observed and during the
Reporting Period the oil price began to rise, reaching USD 67 per barrel by the end of the
Reporting Period. For further information see section 1.2 of Board of Directors’ Report

1.6.2.1.3

Factors affecting the supply and demand for fuel products
The supply of refined products is mainly affected, other than by the supply of crude oil, by
international refining capacities, dictating the ceiling of world supply for end products, which
varies in accordance with the changes that occur from time to time in the capacities of existing
facilities (such as construction of new facilities, closure of refineries around the world, etc.) and
in accordance with variable factors such as malfunctions, renovation of facilities, etc.
Another significant factor that affects the supply of fuel products is the shift in exploration and
production of crude oil in the US, as described in section 1.6.2.1.2 above. As a result of this
shift, in recent years, from being the largest importer of crude oil and oil products, the US has
become independent and domestically balanced, and even exports fuel products. Even though in
2016 the prices of crude oil and of crude oil and fuel products declined causing a slowdown in
the rate of expansion of shale production in the US, due to the OPEC policy to reduce the
supply of crude oil in 2017 and subsequent increase in crude oil prices, production in the US
again increased.
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The demand for fuel products is affected, mainly, by the following factors: the growth rate of
the large-scale economies worldwide, increases and decline in the standard of living, mainly in
highly-populated countries, the prices of oil products, increasing seasonality in cases of extreme
weather conditions, efficiency of energy consumers, and substitute energy products (such as
nuclear energy, natural gas and coal) and sustainable energy sources.
There has been a long-term global trend, which has become more moderate in recent years, of
increasing demand for transportation fuel products such as gasoline, diesel fuel and jet fuel,
while at the same time a decreasing demand for heavier fuel products such as fuel oil and gasoil.
This shift is primarily due to environmental restrictions and the use of natural gas and as a
substitute for fuel oil and gasoil in many places.
In addition, there has been a consistent global trend towards improving the quality of fuel
products (such as: reducing sulfur levels and enhancing combustion qualities), the purpose of
which is to burn cleaner materials more efficiently, thereby reducing the burden on the
environment in terms of emission levels of the pollutants generated in the combustion process of
fuel substances.
Changes in marine fuel oil standards are expected to take effect at the beginning of 2020, which
will fix the maximum sulfur level in fuel at 0.5% compared with the current 3.5%. To meet this
standard will require modification of refinery plants and/or adjustment of the types of crude oil
to be refined and/or use of low-sulfur blendstocks to express the reduction required and/or
installation of facilities for treating gas emissions on the ships. As of Reporting Date, the
Company is unable to assess what measures will be taken in the fuel oil market following the
decision to change the standard and how this change will affect the Company.
As at Reporting Date, there is a global trend of manufacturing fuel transportation components
from renewable (plant) resources, such as ethanol and bio-diesel. The goal of this trend is to
lower dependency on petroleum and reduce the emission of greenhouse gases. Development of
the use of bio-diesel in various parts of the world, is not uniform: while its use has decreased in
Europe and the United States, the use of bio-diesel in Central and South America and in Asia
has increased. The extent of such increase depends, among other things, on the prices of fuel
products compared with the substitutes currently on the market.
Natural gas, electric or hydrogen driven vehicles as well as improved efficiency of engines may
also reduce the need for fuel and fuel products. As of Reporting Date, the transition to the use of
vehicles powered by such alternative energy sources has been relatively minor, however there
has been an increase in the number of manufacturers worldwide that have announced their
intention of manufacturing electric powered vehicles or that have actually started manufacturing
such vehicles and announcements have been made concerning the intention of restricting the use
of gasoline and diesel powered vehicles in the future in certain cities around the world and
possibly in Israel as well. This trend might increase with the development and production of less
costly hybrid vehicle models. The use of hybrid vehicles is increasing.
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1.6.2.1.4

Factors and trends affecting refining margins
The factors that affect demand and supply for crude oil and refined products, as reviewed above,
give rise to fluctuations and cyclicality in profit margin levels of the refining industry.
The following graph presents the Company’s adjusted refining margins and the average margin
published by Reuters for a sample oil refinery with cracking facilities for Ural crude6 in the
Mediterranean region, from 2014 through the end of 2017 (in USD per barrel):

The changes in crude oil prices and inconsistency with the changes in oil product prices caused
severe volatility in the refining margins. The benchmark margin in the Reporting Period ranged
between USD 1.7 and USD 10.8 per barrel and the average margin in 2017 amounted to USD
5.3 per barrel.
For information regarding the differences between the Company’s refining margin and the
margin published by Reuters, see section 2.1.2 of the Board of Directors’ Report.
The adjusted refining margin presented in the above graph reflects the refining margin based on
the Company's operating results, less certain effects as described in section 2.1.2 of the
Directors’ Report.
For information regarding the Company's refining margins in 2016 and 2017, and pertaining to
the trends taking place at the beginning of 2018, see section 2.1.2 of the Board of Directors’
Report.
It should be noted that, assuming utilization of 90% of the Company's refining facilities, the
Company processes approximately 70 million barrels of crude oil and interim materials per
year7 (see section 1.6.13.5 in this chapter) and therefore a change of USD 1 in the refining
margin could affect the Company's operating margin and EBITDA by USD 70 million per year,
considering the Company's refining and cracking capacities.

6
7

Ural crude is refined at many refineries in the Mediterranean region, including at the Company’s refinery.
Ural crude oil is refined at many refineries in the Mediterranean basin, including at the Company.
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1.6.3

Local market for fuel products
In the Company’s opinion, the local refined product market is part of the Mediterranean market to
which frequent changes apply according to the changes in international markets. There are two
refineries operating in the domestic market, as well as importers. The Company estimates that
since 2008 through 2017, import of fuel products to Israel declined. This trend has changed in
2018, when import of gasoline is expected to increase compared with the preceding
corresponding period. The introduction of natural gas led to further decline in the consumption of
fuel oil in Israel in 2017.
The Company has a monopoly with regard to some of the products it sells, under the Antitrust
Law, 1988 (“the Antitrust Law”). For details of the restrictions imposed on the Company,
including in the refining operating segment, see section 1.19 of this chapter.
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The following table presents a breakdown of the data of Israel's domestic consumption of oil
products in 2015-2017 (1) (in thousands of metric tons):

Year

2015
2016
2017

Bitumen

Fuel oil

244
286
312

577
459
498

Gasoil

138
38
49

Transpor
tation
diesel

3,089
3,262
3,397

Gasoline

3,027
3,169
3,234

LPG

592
615
628

Kerosene

894
974
1,087

Petrochemical
Feedstock

1,196
1,152
1,179

Total

9,757
9,955
10,384

(1) The figures were taken from Ministry of National Infrastructures publications and do not include
military use and the Company's own consumption. In 2016-2017, consumption of transportation diesel
fuel included transportation diesel fuels used for the generation of electricity.

1.6.4

Critical success factors
Throughout the years, the Company has employed several methods for ensuring its own position
among and differentiation from its competitors, including:

1.6.4.1

Creating a reputation as a reliable company, in terms of its commercial relations with suppliers
and customers and with regard to product quality and compliance with various standards, while
building long-term commercial ties with its suppliers and customers in Israel and abroad.

1.6.4.2

Assembling teams of employees and executives who are highly professional and motivated.

1.6.4.3

Up-to-date technological capabilities and high operating capacities enabling use of a variety of
types of crude oil (the Company makes use of over a wide range of different kinds of crude oil
based on their level of feasibility), the manufacture of highly efficient and available fuel products
in various mixes, and the adherence to the requirement for stringent quality controls

1.6.4.4

Maintaining maximum commercial flexibility when buying raw materials so that it will be
possible to exploit the technological capabilities and business opportunities based on the changes
taking place in the various markets.

1.6.4.5

Maximum utilization of the synergy between overlapping and complementary operations to
increase the competitiveness and produce value added and environmental friendly products.

1.6.4.6

The use of natural gas as a substitute for fuel oil, as a raw material and an alternative for the
materials used to produce petrochemical products.

1.6.5

Key Entry Barriers

1.6.5.1

In the Company’s assessment, the following factors constitute entry barriers to refining segment
of operations:

1.6.5.2

The need for large capital investments;

1.6.5.3

The relatively lengthy period required for setting up a plant;

1.6.5.4

Obtaining the required regulatory approvals to set up and operate a refinery, and compliance with
their terms and conditions;

1.6.5.5

Dependence upon port, transportation and supply infrastructures;

1.6.5.6

Knowhow and experience in the crude oil and refined products sector, which is a complex and
dynamic sector that requires considerable skill and expertise;

1.6.5.7

The need for business robustness for withstanding the extreme volatility of this market and the
relatively lengthy business cycles.
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1.6.5.8

For further details concerning competition in the refining segment and the Company’s risk
factors, see sections 1.6.11 and 1.28 of this chapter.

1.6.6

Substitutes for products in the segment and changes therein

1.6.6.1

The trend of substituting refined products with natural gas is global. Natural gas has become a
significant source of energy in Israel, which has in recent replaced most of the use of fuel oil and
is expected to also replace the use of gasoil and industrial LPG in the coming years. The
Company is taking the necessary steps to adapt to these changes and even uses natural gas as a
combustible and raw material at its plants, for efficiency and to reduce production costs, whether
by adapting its product mix and its customer mix to the changing market conditions. For further
information concerning the use of natural gas at the Company’s plants and the Company’s
contracts for purchasing natural gas, see Note 20C(1) to the Consolidated Financial Statements
and section 1.12.4 of this chapter.
Furthermore, the Company is permitted to deal in the sale and marketing of natural gas, subject to
the Company’s position as an oil refinery or an affiliate of an oil refinery, under the conditions set
out in the Natural Gas Sector Law (for further information see section 1.19.5 of this chapter). (For
the Commissioner's position regarding business restrictions relating, inter alia, to restricted
dealing in natural gas, see section 1.19.4 of this Chapter).

1.6.6.2

The steps taken by the Company to adjust its operations to the downward trend in the
consumption of fuel oil and gasoil are:
(a) The Hydrocracker8 that became operative at the beginning of 2013 enables the Company to
process heavy crude oil and to obtain from them products with higher added value
(b) Expanding the diesel manufacturing capacity, while maintaining the flexibility to produce
gasoil.
(c) Adapting the crude refining facilities to be able to increase processing volume of light crude
oil types, that have lower fuel oil content, because the market conditions indicate that this
would be advantageous
(d) Adapting the crude refining facilities to reduce refining residual and increase the volume of
interim products, allowing production of high added value products.
As set out above, the Company is assessing and implementing the various alternatives to cope
with the changes that have taken place and that are expected to take place in the future, due to the
introduction of the use of natural gas in Israel.
In addition to natural gas being a significant source of energy in Israel, the introduction of
substitute fuels from renewable sources such as ethanol and biodiesel, which are not derived from
crude oil, and the widespread use of electric powered cars or the fuel and electric systems in
hybrid cars, may be a substantial competitive threat to the Company’s products, as set out in
section 1.28.2.5 of this chapter. Nonetheless, the Company’s ability to sell diesel containing
biodiesel to the European market, a proven ability, could give it a marketing edge when similar
products are introduced into the Israeli market.

8

The clean fuel production facility (the “Hydrocracker”) produces mainly diesel oil and kerosene. Since it
became operative, the facility significantly increased the complexity of the Haifa refinery, enabling production of
additional high added-value products from each barrel of oil, increasing the refinery’s flexibility in selecting raw
materials and product mix, adapting them to the variable market conditions.

This translation of the financial statement is for convenience purposes only.
The only binding version of the financial statement is the Hebrew version.
A - 19

Bazan Ltd.
The information contained in this section regarding further penetration of natural gas and
fuel substitutes such as: electricity, hydrogen and from renewable sources, the scope of its
use and its impact on the Company is forward-looking information, based on the
availability and feasibility of types of crude oil for purchase by the Company, the fuel oil
and gas-oil market in the regions of the Company’s operations outside of Israel and other
factors; and on the Company’s assessment as to the rate of introduction of components that
are not products of crude oil, for use as transportation fuels. There is no certainty that the
Company’s assessments as to each of these factors will materialize, and there is no certainty
as to the way in which the Company will handle this, or the costs involved.
1.6.7

Key products of the segment of operations
A large number of substances can be produced from crude oil. Oil products are usually separated
into a number of groups of substances, each of which includes several chemical compounds:

1.6.7.1

Light gasses - for energy and as raw material for industry

1.6.7.2

Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) (a mixture of propane and butane) - for home cooking, as a raw
material for industry and for combustion in adapted motor engines (automotive LPG).

1.6.7.3

Naphtha - as a raw material for industry.

1.6.7.4

Various kinds of gasoline – for combustion in gasoline engines.

1.6.7.5

Kerosene (jet fuel, oil) - fuel for jet airplanes and for heating.

1.6.7.6

Various kinds of gasoil- for combustion in diesel engines, heating homes and use in the industry.

1.6.7.7

Various kinds of fuel oil - heavy fuel used in industrial furnaces and in the production of
electricity.

1.6.7.8

Waxy substances - substances that bind at relatively high temperatures, and that are used as raw
materials in the manufacture of lubricants for lubricating moving parts in machines, and for
manufacturing wax (candles and other uses), and as feedstocks for catalytic and hydrocracker
facilities (HVGO).

1.6.7.9

Bitumen - used for tarring roads and manufacturing sealing products.

1.6.8

Breakdown of revenues from products
For information regarding the Company’s external revenues based on its principal product groups
in the Fuels Segment, which constitute 10% or more of the Group’s revenues, see Note 28C to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
As the Company’s production process is a continuous process in which all of the products are
manufactured from raw materials in shared processes that cannot be attributed according to end
products, it is not possible to attribute costs according to product type.
In the Fuels Segment, the Company also has revenues from the sale of steam and infrastructure
services9 it provides to industrial customers in the Haifa Bay area, in amounts that are not
material

9

The prices of storage and pumping services and part of petroleum product supply depot services provided by the
Company are fixed in the Supervision of Prices of Commodities and Services (Infrastructure Tariffs in the Fuel
Industry) Order, 1995. This order prescribes a variety of price controlled services and defines service standards for
these services, setting out the obligations and rights of infrastructure service providers and recipients, including
guidelines regarding service quality, liability for the quality of the fuel products and providing services on an equal
basis.
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1.6.9

Customers

1.6.9.1

Most of the refined products produced by the Company are sold on the domestic market to fuel
and gas marketing companies registered with the Fuel Administration or licensed as gas suppliers
by the Ministry of National Infrastructure and the Palestinian Authority10. The Company has long
standing contracts with various customers (monthly, yearly or for other periods, based on
negotiations with the customer).
For further information pertaining to the price of the products sold on the domestic market, see
sections 1.19.1.7 and 1.19.4 of this report.

1.6.9.2

The rest of the sales are to various customers worldwide (primarily in the Mediterranean region).
Export sales are partially made under spot contracts between the Company and foreign fuel
companies or traders, and partially on the basis of one-year contracts or some other time span,
according to negotiations with the customer. The export prices of the Company’s products are set
in accordance with a price formula that is based on the level of market prices at the time of
delivery of the products.
The various products that the Company exports, of similar quality to the products that are sold by
it on the domestic market, and other products of a lower quality. Lower quality of product does
not necessary mean low profitability from its sales. The differences in prices between sale to the
local market and export sale for products of a similar quality sold at the same time stem mainly
from the cost of transportation to export targets. The Company has proximity and access to
markets, some of which are emerging markets, such as: Turkey, Cyprus, Greece and the Black
Sea region, which import transportation fuels.
Of the products exported by the Company in the past two years, the Company's exports to the
principal markets were as follows: In 2017 - 31% to Turkey and 24% to Cyprus and in 2016 38% to Turkey and 24% to Cyprus.
The breakdown of the Company’s revenues from local market sales and export sales changes
from time to time according to the Company’s analysis of its optimal mode of operation in
relation to the product mix that are manufactured and their market objectives. For further
information regarding the distribution of sales of the Fuel Segment products on the local market
and for export, out of the Company’s total revenues, see section 1.5 of this chapter.

1.6.9.3

Breakdown of the Company’s product sales on the local and export markets, according to
quantities sold (in thousands of tons).
2017
Ton
thousands
Local market
Sales in other countries
Total

10

%

2016
Ton
thousands

%

2015
Ton
thousands

%

6,825
3,355

67%
33%

6,316
3,154

67%
33%

6,084
3,742

62%
38%

10,180

100%

9,470

100%

9,826

100%

Under the agreement for the sale of fuel products by the Company to the Palestinian Authority, the Palestinian
Authority assigned its right to funds due to the Palestinian Authority from the State of Israel to the Company. As of
the approval date of this report, the Company are not required and did not use the assignment of rights. The
Company is unable to estimate its ability to collect, if necessary, payment from the Government of Israel of the
foregoing amounts that were assigned to the Company by the Palestinian Authority.
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1.6.9.4

The Company's main export product is of fuel oil, which - considering the Company's facilities is not necessarily obtained in the refining process. Following the introduction of natural gas to the
domestic market, the demand for fuel oil on the domestic market has declined to negligible
volumes, and the Company is required to export the remaining quantities.

1.6.9.5

The Company has an agreement for factoring trade receivables from its largest fuel customers
with a syndicate of banks (below in this section: the “Agreement” and the “Factors”,
respectively). For information, see Note 6B to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

1.6.9.6

For further information pertaining to the Company's revenues from its key customers (revenue
from which constitutes 10% or more that the Company's total sales turnover) and credit risks, see
Notes 28C3 and 29A to the Consolidated Financial Statements, respectively.

1.6.10

Marketing and Distribution

1.6.10.1

Marketing and distribution in Israel
The sale of the Company’s products in Israel is effected primarily at the Company’s gate, with the
fuel and gas marketing companies “extracting” the products by piping via pipelines belonging to
companies that provide infrastructure services in the fuels sector, or via transportation tankers
from the Company’s distribution depot, and they resell the fuel products wholesale for industry
and transportation, and retail to the public at large, mainly via fuel pumping stations located
around the country. For the Antitrust Commissioner's position regarding marketing and
distribution of refined products to customers that are not fuel companies, see section 1.19.4 of this
chapter. Under the building permit granted to the Company to construct the hydrocracker, the
Company undertook, inter alia, to sell diesel manufactured in it on the local market only.

1.6.10.2

International marketing and distribution
Most marketing and distribution of the Company's products is carried out in the Mediterranean
basin and the Black Sea region to save on shipping costs. The Company has a reputation for the
quality of its products and their compliance with the requirements of the customers. In general,
the Company’s marketing and distribution expenses (excluding transportation) are not substantial.
Transportation costs of the Company’s products that are designated for export have a substantial
impact on the profitability of sales. Therefore, the Company has an advantage in supplying its
products to customers who request supply of the products in the Mediterranean basin.
For the purpose of its operations overseas, among other things, the Company leases tankers for
maritime shipping of fuel products, under long-term leases. For details about tanker leasing
activities for transportation of fuel products and crude oil, see section 1.11 of this chapter.
Order Backlog
The Company's backlog of orders from its domestic and foreign customers as of December 31,
2017, amounting to USD 4,106 million, is expected to be spread out more or less uniformly over
the entire year 2018. The order backlog is mainly due to annual sales for 2018 of various
products. Close to publication date of the Report the order backlog amounts to USD ___ million.
The Company's order backlog as at December 31, 2016 from its customers in Israel and abroad
amounted to USD 3,740 million. The increase in backlog as of December 31, 2017, compared
with December 31, 2016 is primarily due to the global increase in fuel product prices, offset by a
decrease in annual sales of gasoline in 2018.
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The rest of the Company’s sales in Israel are done on the basis of monthly orders, which are
supplied in the calendar month following the order month. The rest of the foreign sales are
affected on the basis of spot sales agreements, and are supplied within a short period of time after
the date of contracting. Revenue from non-recurring orders carried out during the year under such
spot sales agreements are minimal compared with the revenue from the annual sales.
The forgoing with regard to uniform distribution of orders over 2018 and the volume of
monthly and spot sales is forward-looking information based primarily on the Company's
experience in previous years. Consequently, the uniform spread of orders at the plant
throughout 2018 and the scope of the monthly and spot orders during 2018 is uncertain.
1.6.11

Competition

1.6.11.1

There are at the present time two refineries operating in Israel which compete against each other,
both having in recent years increased their production capacity for the finished products they sell,
as well as international companies such as Vitol and Reliance that offer fuel products primarily to
the large and mid-size fuel marketing companies and to large-scale consumers.

1.6.11.2

The Company estimates that in the reporting year there was no significant change in the
Company's market share. In 2018 the volume of gasoline decreased with regard to the annual
agreements that the Company engaged with its customers due to the purchase of some gasoline by
customers from import. The Company also estimates that, over time, the competition reflects the
global market conditions for oil products in the Mediterranean Basin.
The Company is of the opinion, based on public information published by the Fuel Authority, that
the Company's share of the domestic market for 2017 was 64%11.

1.6.11.3

The location of fuel storage and distribution depots close to the demand areas (Ashdod and
Ashkelon), enabling receipt of imported fuel products and their distribution throughout the center
and south of the country, may have an impact on the Company's ability to compete in those areas
In the Company’s opinion, these facts did not have material impact on the results of its operations
in areas surrounding the depots during the Reporting Period. It should be noted that in 2018 the
volume of gasoline imports is expected to be significant, among other things, via these depots.

1.6.11.4

In 2017, an outline plan was approved for land east of the Company’s compound (the “north
land” compound) that includes, inter alia, construction of a distillate terminal in place of the
existing one in the Elroy area. Construction of this distillate terminal, if constructed, may under
certain conditions also affect competition in the Company’s area of operation.
In 2017, the price committee recommended revising the controlled infrastructure tariffs which, as
of the report publication date, is yet to be approved and implemented. It should be noted that a
significant increase in the controlled infrastructure prices that the Company pays for the
infrastructure services it receives could adversely affect its competitiveness. For further details,
see section 1.19.1.7 of this chapter.

1.6.11.5

11

The Company’s operations in Israel and overseas take place under conditions of international
competition. To the best of the Company’s knowledge, as of the report publication date, the
Antitrust Authority is reviewing the competition in the distillate market in Israel. The Company’s
share of the international market is minor.

For information pertaining to the volume of the entire market, see section 0 of this chapter.
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1.6.11.6

The products sold by the Company are commodities the price of which is quoted in international
publications, and which cannot be distinguished from competing products of a similar level of
quality. Therefore, competition in the field of refining operations focuses on maintaining the
quality of these products over time, adaptation of the products to comply with changing
standards, and the upholding a high level of reliability with regard to complying with dates of
supply and payment practices to suppliers. The Company has a negligible share in the global
market for its products. The Company markets the products it exports primarily in the regions
neighboring Israel.

1.6.12

Seasonality
The Company manufactures oil products based on standards that change according to season. The
standards are intended to ensure that the quality of the products complies with changing
environmental conditions, in accordance with seasonal climates.
In addition, there are seasonal fluctuations in consumption of the Company’s products which
affect the relative prices of the various products.
The above mentioned effect of seasonal fluctuation is relatively small compared to the effect of
other factors (such as the condition of the facilities, the Company’s general refining capacity, and
the viability of refining and competing imports) on the scope of product sales by the Company
and on its product mix.

1.6.13

Production capacity

1.6.13.1

As set out in section 1.12.1 of this chapter, the plant facilities at Haifa include, among other
things, initial distillation units (crude refining), catalytic cracking units and catalytic reformer
units (for refining and finishing fuel products), other production units (for production of isomert,
which is used as one of the components of gasoline, and asphalt), and facilities for treatment of
sulfur.
Below is a flow chart of the production process:
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Refining capacity is measured by the number of barrels of crude oil the refinery is able to process
per day in its facilities. Bazan’s maximum refining capacity is 197,000 barrels of crude oil per
day. The actual refining volume and the type of crude that is processed are determined by overall
optimization and in accordance with the Company’s needs. For further information concerning
the breakdown of the Company’s output according to the main product groups in the Fuels
Segment see section 1.2 of the Board of Directors’ Report.
An immaterial volume of the crude oil refined by the Company was used by it for its own
consumption in 2017, similar to 2016. This, taking into account the Company’s use of natural gas
for generating the power required for its operations.
1.6.13.2

The Company's plant operates 24 hours a day every day of the year, apart from planned
shutdowns of various facilities for the purpose of ongoing periodic maintenance, based on the
work plan of the Company and of its subsidiaries, and due to malfunctions. In 2018 periodic
maintenance work was carried out on part of the Company’s facilities. For further details, see
section 1.14.1 of this chapter.

1.6.13.3

In addition to the current maintenance plans and periodic maintenance of the Company’s facilities, the
Company acts to upgrade, improve and expand its facilities in accordance with plans approved from
time to time. This is done in order to meet market requirements which change in accordance with
technology, and to enable the production of products that comply with strict quality requirements.
For information regarding the utilization rate of the crude oil plants in 2017 and 2016 and the
factors affecting them, see section 1.2 of the Board of Directors Report.
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The refinery’s capacity to produce refined products with high added value by using complex
refinery facilities is measured using the Nelson Complexity Index (the “Nelson Index”) which,
for refineries in the Mediterranean Basin, fluctuates in the range of 5-10. The higher the Index,
the more the refinery is capable of producing products of higher added value and/or of refining
types of crude oil of lower quality. The Company’s refinery is ranked at 9 on the Nelson Index.
1.6.13.4

Details of the capacity of the facilities set out in section 1.12 of the report:

Crude refining plants
(1 / 3 / 4)
HVGO refining plants
(1 / 3 / 4)
Visbreaking facilities (3/4)
Fluid catalytic cracking
Hydrocracker
Continuous catalytic reformer
Isomerization
Hydrocracker
Hydrogen production facility
Catalytic hydrotreating
Naphtha
Kerosene
Gasoil
FCC gasoline

Production
capacity (barrels
per day)
197,000
98,500
43,500
25,500
31,000
34,000
12,000
31,000
120 (TON/D) (1)
40,000
21,000
70,460
15,500

Year of
establishment
39 / 44 / 85
39 / 79 / 85
44 / 85
79
64(3)
95
2006
2012
2012

Date of last
upgrade
95 / 93 / 09
09 / 93 / 95
None / 70
82 / 00 / 04
09(4)
None
None
None
None

Date of last
maintenance
13 / 11(6) / 16(5)
13 / 11(6) / 16(5)
11(6) / 16(5)
2016(5)
2015
2017
2017
None (7)
None (7)

95
62(2)
02
02

None
96/07(4)
None
07(4)

2017
2015
2016(5)
2015(5)

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

Tons of hydrogen per day
Set up as naphtha catalytic hydrotreater.
Set up as diesel catalytic hydrotreater.
Conversion of diesel desulfurization facility to a hydrocracker facility
This facility had periodic maintenance work carried out in 2016. With regard to the catalytic cracking facility that
was serviced in 2015, in 2016 only supplementary maintenance was carried out. For information regarding
periodic maintenance, see section 1.12.2 of this Chapter.
(6) The planned refurbishment of this facility for 2017 was deferred and is expected to be carried out in 2018.
(7) This facility is expected to undergo periodic maintenance work in 2018.

1.6.13.5

The Company has a cogeneration power plant with output capacity of 40 megawatts of power and
350 tons of steam per hour. The power and steam generated by the plant are used to operate the
Company’s plant, and are in part sold to other companies in the Haifa Bay region. Since July
2013, the Company purchases its required power needs from OPC Rotem Ltd. “OPC”), a wholly
owned private company, indirectly, of Israel Corporation Ltd., a controlling shareholder of the
Company, under an agreement signed in 2011, for a period of ten years from the date on which
OPC started supplying electricity to the Company. In accordance with the agreement, the price of
electricity reflects a discount off the supervised price of electricity set by the Public Utility
Authority. For further information regarding the agreement with OPC and an application to
recognize a derivative claim relating to this transaction, see Notes 27C and 20B4 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
Subsequent to the Reporting Period, the Company received a power generation permit for its own
use at the cogeneration plant, for output of 135 megawatts and 400 tons of steam per hour. For
further details, see section 1.25.3. below.
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1.6.14

Raw materials and suppliers

1.6.14.1

The Company’s raw materials are crude oil and interim materials produced in the processes of
separating out crude oil, and which are intended for processing in downstream facilities. Around
the world, a wide variety of types of crude oil is traded, each of which is different from the others
with regard to qualities. The crude oil market and its products is a commodities market This
market is a sophisticated one, which is characterized by a high level of trading, including
derivatives and futures contracts on the commodities exchange or with large international bodies.
The Company purchases its crude oil from various suppliers around the world, mostly under
contracts for periods of one year or a few years, based on price formulas deriving from the market
price at date of delivery (“Early Purchase”), the remainder being on the basis of spot transactions.
In 2017 the Company purchased 60% of its crude oil through Early Purchase transactions.
Furthermore, during the reported period the Company continued engaging in agreements with
suppliers of crude oil at longer credit terms than previously given to it, allowing flexibility in
managing the working capital needed for its operations. For further information, see Note 20C6 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Furthermore, in the first part of the Reporting Period, the Company had an agreement ensuring
availability of crude oil stocks at a volume of 2.25 million barrels for a period of five years that
ended in April 2017
In the Reporting Period a new agreement of the availability of crude oil inventory was signed and
came into effect for three years for a volume of 1.8 million barrels. For further information, see
Note 7C(5) to the consolidated financial statements.

1.6.14.2

For further information regarding the volatility of global crude oil prices and its effect on the
Company's business, see section 1.6.2.1.2 in this chapter. The main source of crude oil purchased
by the Company in the Reporting Period was from countries around the Black Sea and the
Caspian Sea, the relative proximity of which to the Company’s plant reduced the costs of
transportation.

1.6.14.3

Breakdown the Company’s raw material purchases from its key suppliers:
Supplier
Supplier A
Supplier B
Supplier C

Purchases in 2017
30%
24%
7%

Purchases in 2016
35%
20%
10%

In the Company’s assessment, it is not dependent upon any one single supplier of crude oil.
There are crude oil suppliers and trading companies which do not sell crude oil to Israeli
companies, which to an extent limits the possibilities for the Company to contract with crude oil
suppliers, and even causes an increase in the Company’s transportation expenses. Likewise, the
availability of tankers to transport crude oil to Israeli ports is limited and a number of
international shipping companies do not contract with the Company, which causes additional
costs. For information regarding tankers that the Company leases, see section 1.11.1 in this
chapter.
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1.6.14.4

The Company is dependent on Petroleum and Energy Infrastructure Ltd. (“PEI”) which supplies
the Company with crude oil unloading, storage and piping services to the refinery, storage for fuel
products and port infrastructure for unloading interim products and loading products for export.
The prices that PEI charges for its services are controlled under the Supervision of Prices Order,
which sets a fixed price for such services. In the Company’s assessment, if PEI ceases to provide
services to the Company, this would have a material adverse effect on its operations, however the
possibility of this happening is remote, due to the fact that PEI is a government company and in
light of its being a monopoly in the services that it provides, and taking into account the
dependence of PEI upon the Company as its primary customer. Nonetheless, part of PEI’s
facilities through which the Company receives infrastructure services, are outdated and the
services provided through them are limited.

1.6.14.5

The Company is operationally dependent upon Petroleum & Energy Infrastructures Ltd.
(“EAPC”) which provides the Company with: crude oil unloading and storage services at its
facilities at Ashkelon and Eilat, transportation services for crude oil, and at times, products in the
pipeline infrastructure that belongs to EAPC. The prices and terms of the services provided by
EAPC to the Company are fixed from time to time in negotiations between the parties. In the
Company’s assessment, if EAPC ceases to provide these services it would adversely affect the
Company's operations, however the possibility of EAPC ceasing to provide these services is
remote, among other things, due to the fact that EAPC is a company in which the Israeli
government holds 50% of the means of control and in light of its being a monopoly in the
services that it provides, and taking into account the dependence of EAPC upon the Company as
its primary customer. The Infrastructure for Oil Transportation and Storage by an Operator Law,
2017 was legislated in the Reporting Period, which is intended for regulating the infrastructure
operations that are currently carried out by EAPC through a company wholly owned by the State
and that will become a Government company by 2020. As at Reporting Date, the Company has
no knowledge of whether this regulation will have an effect on the Company and its operations,
and if so, what. The Company will continue to examine possible effects of the law and its
application on its operations.

1.6.14.6

The Company uses natural gas also as a raw material (in addition for energy purposes (for further
information regard the use of natural gas, see section 1.12.2. For further information about the
Company's agreements for the purchase of natural gas, see Note 20C1 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

1.6.14.7

For the supply of natural gas, the Company is dependent on Israel Natural Gas Lines Ltd.
(“INGL”) with which it has engaged in an agreement, as set out in Note 20C1 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Part C - Polymer Segment - Carmel Olefins
1.7

Polymer Segment - Carmel Olefins

1.7.1

General information

1.7.1.1

General
The Company conducts its polymer operations (manufacturing raw materials for the plastics
industry) through its holdings in Carmel Olefins. Carmel Olefins was established in 1988, as a
private company limited in shares. by virtue of an agreement between the Company and IPE.
From December 30, 2009, following an agreement whereby the Company acquired 50% of
Carmel Olefins' shares held by IPE, the Company holds 100% of Carmel Olefins' share capital.

1.7.1.2

For information concerning a guarantee provided by Carmel Olefins for the Company's full
compliance with its obligations towards holders of the Company's Debentures (Series G) which
replaced Carmel Olefins' Debentures (Series A) (“the Replacement Bonds”) and the Company's
obligations towards holders of the Replacement Bonds, see Note 14A2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

1.7.1.3

Carmel Olefins is an industrial company operating in the petrochemicals industry and engages in
the manufacture and marketing of polymers (mainly polypropylene and low density polyethylene)
( “Carmel Olefins Products” or “Segment Products”), which are used principally as raw materials
in the plastics industry.
Carmel Olefins also manufactures feedstock12 (ethylene and propylene), used as raw materials in
the manufacture of polymers.

1.7.1.4

Polymers operations - segment structure and developments
As noted above, Carmel Olefins' products are used as raw material in the plastics industry.
These products are viewed globally as commodities, bought at more or less identical prices from
all manufacturers. The prices of raw materials, and mainly naphtha and ethane-rich gases, as well
as of Carmel Olefins' products, fluctuates and is affected inter alia by global supply and demand
cycles.
The increase in demand for plastic products worldwide is affected by changes in living standards
and economic developments. In contrast, changes in supply are dependent on the timing of new
plants coming online. The dynamics between demand and supply create boom and slump cycle in
the prices of Carmel Olefins Products, with each cycle lasting several years. In Israel, there are
hundreds of plastics plants that purchase the products they require from Carmel Olefins and from
imports. The prices at which the products are purchased in Israel and overseas are derived from
the prices of these products on the global market.
According to international publications,13 demand for the various types of polyethylene is
expected to grow at an annul rate of 4.2% in 2017 to 2021. The bulk of this growth is expected in
north-east Asia and other developing countries.
According to said publications, global demand for polypropylene is expected to grow at an annual
rate of 4.5% in those years. Growth is mainly expected in China and other developing countries.

12 Feedstock - In this Chapter: materials produced by Carmel Olefins or bought by Carmel Olefins and used in the
production of products which it sells to its customers.
13 Based on IHS publications.
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The above information concerning the growth rate in demand for polypropylene and
polyethylene constitutes forward-looking information. It is emphasized that these forecasts
are based on third-party estimates and there is no certainty that they will materialize.
Raw material prices constitute a key component of production costs in the polymers industry.
Consequently, investments in new polymer production plants are made mainly in countries where
cheap feedstock is readily available.
In recent years, following technological developments which have made commercial shale gas
production viable in the United States, production costs for ethane gas, which is used in the
production of ethylene, have gone down.
This reduction in prices allows the manufacturers of ethylene and ethylene derivatives, such as
polyethylene, which rely on cheap ethane, to increase their competitiveness, as compared to
manufacturers which rely on naphtha to manufacture their products. This trend is expected to
increase over the coming years, as the investments in projects concerning these operations have
matured and started production. The trend is further expected to be influenced by prevalent
market prices for naphtha.
For information concerning polypropylene and polyethylene prices in the reporting period, see
Section 1.2 to the Board of Directors' Report.
1.7.1.5

Critical success factors in the polymers segment and changes thereto
The critical success factors in the manufacture of Carmel Olefins Products are the cost and
availability of feedstock, Carmel Olefins’ ability to operate the production facilities at full
capacity over time with minimum down time, and the utilization of efficient production facilities
and advanced technologies.
Critical success factors in the sale of Carmel Olefins Products are the economic conditions
prevalent in Israel and around the world, demand for Carmel Olefins Products, the existence of a
well-developed local market, reliability of supply, the quality of the supplied products, providing
customers with technical support, and the existence of product inventory in Carmel Olefins'
facilities, which are geographically near its local-market customers. The existence of developed
markets in geographically-near export markets is also a contributing success factor.

1.7.1.6

Principal entry barriers to the polymers segment, and changes thereto
The main entry barriers to polymer manufacturing are: (a) availability of raw materials; (b) the
amount of capital required to construct new plants; (c) the relatively long time required to
construct a new plant; and (d) the regulatory approvals required to construct and operate polymer
production facilities.

1.7.1.7

Substitutes for polymer products, and changes thereto
Polymers are convenient and cheap substitutes for wood, glass, aluminum, expensive plastics, etc.
Carmel Olefins, based on studies carried out by professional entities, believes that the use of
polymers in general and of polypropylene in particular, is expected to continue to provide a
substitute for these materials for many years.
The above constitutes forward-looking information. The view that polymers will continue to
be used as substitutes for numerous products is based mainly on the price difference
between polymers and the products they substitute. In the event that polymers stop
replacing these products, the polymers market will grow at a different rate than currently
predicted.
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1.7.1.8

Structure of competition in the polymers segment, and changes thereto
As aforesaid, the polymer market exhibits behavior similar to that of the commodities market, and
it therefore follows that competition in this market relates mainly to price, and to a lesser extent to
other advantages such as quality, customer service, and the like. For more information, see
Section 1.7.7 in this Chapter.
As Israel's sole producer of polypropylene and polyethylene, Carmel Olefins enjoys a competitive
advantage in Israel over importers of similar products. This is reflected in a high level of
accessibility and close physical proximity to customers, close geographic proximity between
inventory in the facility and customers, and in Carmel Olefins’ ability to provide customers with
hands-on technical assistance due to its proximity to these customers.
In contrast with its advantages in the domestic market, Carmel Olefins faces relative
disadvantages on the international markets due to its limited production capacity and distance
from target markets. In facing these challenges, some of Carmel Olefins’ operations are carried
out through its subsidiary, Ducor, located in the Netherlands (for more information on Ducor's
operations, see Section 1.9 in this Chapter).

1.7.2

Polymers segment - main products

1.7.2.1

Carmel Olefins mainly manufactures and markets polypropylene and low density polyethylene,
which serve as raw materials in the plastics industry. These products are sold in oversize bags, on
pallets, in bulk using road tankers, or in containers (for exports).

1.7.2.2

For data on the breakdown of the Company's revenues from externals by key product categories
in the polymers segment, see Note 28C to the consolidated financial statements.

1.7.2.3

Polymer production costs are comprised of raw materials prices, feedstock (monomers), other
variable costs (conversion, chemicals, and packaging), and fixed costs (labor, depreciation,
maintenance, etc.). Raw materials are the dominant component, accounting for about 50% of
production costs. Since Carmel Olefins’ production process is a continuous process in which
products are produced from the same raw materials and feedstock which can not be differentiated
by final product (polypropylene and polyethylene), it is not possible to allocate costs accurately
by product categories.

1.7.3

Revenue breakdown and profitability of products
The polymers segment does not include any one group of products which accounts for 10% or
more of the Group’s total revenues. For information concerning total revenues in the polymer
segment in the years 2017, 2016 and 2015, see Section 1.5 in this Chapter.

1.7.4

Customers
Carmel Olefins’ customers are mostly plastics factories which buy Carmel Olefins Products for
use in the production of various products.

1.7.4.1

Carmel Olefins has a customer base of 350 customers in Israel, and over 280 customers abroad,
mainly in Europe. The majority of these customers, both in Israel and abroad, are regular
customers who buy regularly from Carmel Olefins.
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1.7.4.2

Carmel Olefins' agreements with its domestic customers are usually framework agreements for
one-year periods and/or incidental transactions for periods determined by customer needs.
Framework agreements specify the annual/periodic sales quantities and a formula for calculating
the price that the customer will pay for the purchased products, while maintaining flexibility for
price changes. The agreements include volume-based discounts. Based on these framework
agreements, customers submit orders, usually on a daily basis. Incidental transactions may apply
a fixed price for the entire agreement period.

1.7.4.3

Selling prices to overseas customers are usually determined at arm’s-length negotiations at
market terms. Most sales abroad are made through annual agreements. Most agreements provide
for quantity-based discounts, and are linked to prices published in international publications
(PLATTS/ICIS).

1.7.4.4

As of the reporting date, there is no customer which generates revenues for Carmel Olefins
exceeding 10% of the Group’s total consolidated sales turnover. Neither the Company nor Carmel
Olefins are dependent on any one of Carmel Olefins’ principal customers.

1.7.4.5

Carmel Olefins has factoring agreements for certain trade receivable balances. For information,
see Note 16B to the consolidated financial statements.

1.7.4.6

For a breakdown of Carmel Olefins' sales by geographic region out of Carmel Olefins' total
revenues, see Section 1.5 above.

1.7.5

Marketing and distribution

1.7.5.1

Sales in Israel are made by Carmel Olefins, directly, to its customers. Sales are made based on
customer orders received directly at the sales office, and products are supplied to customers from
Carmel Olefins’ warehouses in the Haifa Bay. Domestic sales are on an ex-works basis, and so
delivery is made using trucks dispatched by the customer to Carmel Olefins' warehouses. Supply
to customers in Israel is usually made immediately.

1.7.5.2

Overseas sales are made by Carmel Olefins, through overseas agents or distributors, through
Ducor and through a Carmel Olefins subsidiary in the UK (in which Carmel Olefins is the only
shareholder) - Carmel Olefins (U.K.) Ltd., which also functions as an agent.
Most agents are classified by sales regions (with each agent having exclusivity within their
region). Carmel Olefins is not highly-dependent on these marketing channels, as the polymers
sold by Carmel Olefins are actively sold by numerous different parties (agents and distributors).
Carmel Olefins has direct contact with each of its customers, and agent commissions match the
industry standard.

1.7.6

Order backlog
Carmel Olefins’ order backlog as of December 31, 2017, and December 31, 2016 totaled USD 82
million and USD 143 million, respectively. The order backlog immediately prior to the reporting
date totaled USD 45 million. The order backlog includes commitments by Carmel Olefins'
customers in Israel, based on their annual agreements, which are expected to be delivered to these
customers in the coming calendar year, as well as orders received by Carmel Olefins from its
customers abroad. The order backlog as of December 31, 2017 was calculated based on prices
immediately prior to the reporting date. The year-on-year decrease in backlog balances as of
December 31, 2017, was due to lower quantities, due to the decline in annual contract with
customers on the local market.
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1.7.6.1

Based on Carmel Olefins' past experience the rate of order cancellations by customers is
negligible.

1.7.6.2

The supply dates of Carmel Olefins Products to its customers varies from customer to customer,
and range from three business days (mainly to customers in Israel) to 30 business days (mainly to
customers abroad) from order placement. Supply dates are agreed upon between Carmel Olefins
and its customers, based on Carmel Olefins' assessment concerning production dates for the
relevant product.

1.7.6.3

The volume and dates of exercising the backlog of orders may vary, inter alia if a material change
is made in the customers’ orders and/or in Carmel Olefins’ ability to supply the orders and/or
macro-economic conditions and/or other factual conditions which are outside Carmel Olefins’
control and which are not known to Carmel Olefins at the reporting date.
The above information concerning the volume and exercise dates of the order backlog
constitutes forward-looking information, based mainly on the Company's experience from
previous years. Thus, there is no certainty concerning the actual volumes and exercise dates
of the order backlog in 2018.

1.7.7

Competition
Carmel Olefins is the sole producer of polypropylene and low density polyethylene in Israel (and
was declared a monopoly in the low density polyethylene market as detailed in Section 1.19.3 in
this Chapter). Carmel Olefins’ competitors in Israel and abroad operate in Israel through agents
and local distributors.
There is no customs tax on the import of polypropylene and polyethylene to Israel.
Imports to Israel are incidental, and come from a variety of sources, depending on the export
prices in each of the main supply sources (Europe, the US, the Far East, and the Middle East).
According to Company estimates, Carmel Olefins’ long-term average share of the domestic
polypropylene market is 70% and its main competitors in this produce are Reliance, Sabic,
Braskem and LG.
According to Company estimates, Carmel Olefins holds a 40% share in the Israeli market for all
kinds of low-density polyethylene (including low-density linear polyethylene) products, some of
which are substitute products. Carmel Olefins' main competitors for this product are Reliance,
Sabic, Braskem, Formosa.
Outside of Israel, Carmel Olefins does not hold a significant share in any of those markets in
which it operates.
Since most of the products are considered commodities, and are subject to international prices,
competition is mostly over prices in Israel or in the region where a customer requests to receive
the goods.
In Israel, Carmel Olefins has inherent advantages over overseas competitors, mainly due to the
reliability of its supply, the quality of its products, its technical support of customers, and in its
product inventory which is geographically near the customer base.
As mentioned, overseas, Carmel Olefins has to cope with the disadvantage of remote markets by
securing low-cost shipping, and by selling to customers in countries (mainly Turkey, Italy, and
the UK) where polymer production does not meet local consumption and which subsequently
must import polymers.
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1.7.8

Production capacity
As aforesaid, Carmel Olefins’ production facilities in Israel operate as a single group and are
mutually dependent on the full, continuous operation of each of the other facilities and of the
Company's and Gadiv's facilities.
Carmel Olefins operates three main groups of facilities: The monomer facilities group (cracker
facility and OCU facility which manufactures propylene); the polypropylene facilities group; and
the polyethylene facilities group (jointly - “Carmel Olefins Facilities”). Production in Carmel
Olefins Facilities is carried out at extreme temperatures (from minus 175oC to 900oC) and
extreme high pressure (up to 1500 atm). Polymer production involves the use of catalysts. All the
Carmel Olefins Facilities operate as a single concern, and are interconnected directly by pipeline
and receive shared services such as electricity, steam, water, storage and other services from a
central service system, partially backed by the Company's service mechanism.
Carmel Olefins’ polyethylene facilities have a production potential of 170,000 tons a year. As of
the reporting date, Carmel Olefins operates, on average, at 90% of its potential production
capacity. Carmel Olefins’ polypropylene facilities have a name plate production potential of
450,000 tons a year. This production capacity is subject to availability of sufficient quantities of
propylene. As of the reporting date, Carmel Olefins operates, on average, at 80% of its maximum
potential production capacity. Current production levels are adversely affected by a shortage in
separation capacity in the polypropylene cracker. Carmel Olefins is working to build an
additional splitter unit, subject to receiving the necessary permits. Carmel Olefins and the
Company are updating and reviewing the expected economic benefits from the project.
Carmel Olefins Facilities operate continuously, non-stop, excluding down-time for routine
planned maintenance or periodic servicing, and due to malfunctions. Carmel Olefins Facilities
underwent periodic maintenance in 2016. For more information, see Section 1.12.2 in this
Chapter. Subsequent to the reporting period, scheduled maintenance was conducted at the
monomer facility, which included a shut-down of most of Carmel Olefins' Facilities for 25 days.
As of the report approval date, the proactive maintenance works were completed successfully.
Carmel Olefins operates its polymer production facilities at the maximum possible capacity as of
the reporting date (on average, 80% of maximum capacity for its polypropylene facilities), with
monomer (feedstock) facilities operating at a corresponding capacity to match the needs of the
polymer facilities. Monomer facility products are manufactured in fixed proportions, so that
operational flexibility for changing the ratio of products is extremely limited. Consequently,
significant changes to the polymer production mix, based on feedstock supplied primarily from
the monomer facilities, are limited.
Since Carmel Olefins’ facilities operate as a single group, a slowdown in production in one of
Carmel Olefins’ facilities may lead to a slowdown in production in all other facilities.
Thus, if operations slow down in one of the monomer facilities and Carmel Olefins’ polymer
production facilities will continue to operate at full capacity, feedstock stores would be depleted
quickly and operations in the polymer facilities will slow down due to a shortage of feedstock.
If operations slow down in each of Carmel Olefins' polymer facilities and the monomer
production facilities will continue operating at full capacity, feedstock storage containers would
quickly become full and the monomer facilities would be forced to slow down their operations. A
slowdown in monomer facilities would reduce their output, both of ethylene and of propylene, so
that all polymer facilities would slow down operations.
For information concerning the dependence of Carmel Olefins Facilities' normal operation on the
operation of the Bazan Group's facilities, see Section 1.7.9.1 below.
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1.7.9

Raw materials and suppliers

1.7.9.1

Carmel Olefins Facilities are downstream facilities to the Company’s facilities, so that they are
continuously fed, through a pipeline, with bulk of their required feedstock, from the Company,
and return feeds to the Company which are manufactured in Carmel Olefins Facilities or
unutilized parts of the said feedstock. Thus, Carmel Olefins Facilities are dependent on the
normal operation of the Bazan Group's facilities. Disruptions or shut-downs of the Bazan Group's
facilities will undermine operations, or even lead to corresponding shut-downs, in Carmel Olefins
Facilities.

1.7.9.2

The following is a flow chart of the production process:

1.7.9.3

The majority of feedstock in polymer production operations (ethylene and propylene) are
produced in Carmel Olefins’ monomer facilities.
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1.7.9.4

The principal raw materials in the production of ethylene and propylene are naphtha, LPG and
ethane gas.
Carmel Olefins buys its principal feedstocks from the Company. Carmel Olefins also buys
propylene (including propylene sourced from Paz Oil Refinery Ashdod14) and C4 from the
Company. For information on the agreements between the Company and Carmel Olefins for the
supply of Carmel Olefins' feedstocks, see Note 7C to the Company's separate financial statement
as of December 31, 2017.

1.7.9.5

Carmel Olefins produces its own ethylene (from naphtha, LPG and ethane gas).
More than half of the propylene used by Carmel Olefins is self-produced in its cracker facility
(from naphtha and LPG) and its OCU facility (from ethylene and components of the C4 feed).
The remaining propylene requirement is produced by the Company and Paz Oil Refinery Ashdod,
and purchased by Carmel Olefins from the Company.

1.7.9.6

Most of the raw materials required by the monomer facilities are supplied by the Company, and
so Carmel Olefins is dependent on the Company.
In 2017 and 2016, raw materials were purchased from the Company directly and/or indirectly,
accounting for 85% and 83%, respectively, of Carmel Olefins’ total raw material purchases.

1.7.9.7

14

Since it started using natural gas, Carmel Olefins has promoted construction and operation of
facilities intended to change to composition of Carmel Olefins raw materials and feedstocks, so as
to minimize their costs and enable an increase in production of self-produced feedstock instead of
buying such feedstock from third-party suppliers. Through these facilities, ethane gas is and will
be replacing part of the raw materials previously or currently used by Carmel Olefins. Thus,
Carmel Olefins has reduced its production costs.

According to the Company's agreement with Paz Oil Refinery Ashdod for and on behalf of Carmel Olefins. Under
the agreement, Paz Oil Refinery Ashdod undertook to provide the Company and the Company undertook to buy
95,000 tons of propylene a year, with a certain amount of flexibility as agreed by the parties. At the same time, the
Company undertook to sell to Paz Oil Refinery Ashdod a monthly feed of propane at such quantities as stipulated in
the agreement. However, Paz Oil Refinery Ashdod has an option to request a smaller quantity of propane. The
agreement is for a 10 year period, starting June 1, 2012.

This translation of the financial statement is for convenience purposes only.
The only binding version of the financial statement is the Hebrew version.
A - 36

Bazan Ltd.

Part D - Aromatics Segment
1.8

Aromatics operations

1.8.1

General
As part of its aromatics operations, the Company, through Gadiv, manufactures and markets
aromatic products, used as raw material in the manufacture of other products.
Gadiv, which was established in 1974 as a private company limited in shares, and since 1994 has
been under the Company's full ownership, engages in the manufacture and trade of aromatic
products. The products manufactured by Gadiv are mostly interim products or components in the
raw material used in manufacturing other products, and are not intended for use by end
consumers. Aromatic products are used as raw material in the manufacture of clothing,
pharmaceuticals, packaging, cosmetics, computers, paints, automobile parts, home maintenance
products, etc.

1.8.2

General information regarding the aromatics segment
Most of the aromatic products are commodities, and the market is a competitive market of supply
and demand. Growth in emerging markets, and first and foremost the Chinese market, has
increased demand for numerous products, used in the production of down-stream products,
including aromatic products. As a result, additional aromatics facilities are being built around the
world, which are expected to add significant production capacities in the near future and affect
the supply of these products.
This information constitutes forward-looking information, which is subject to change, inter
alia, in the event of material changes in macro-economic data and/or other factual data
outside Gadiv’s control and which are unknown to Gadiv as of the reporting date.
Due to the nature of aromatics products, their principal customers are manufacturing companies
in the textile, paint, chemicals and plastics industries.
Aromatics products are subject to standards and legislative restrictions as detailed in Section 1.19
to this Chapter.
As aforesaid, aromatic products are used mainly by the textile, plastics and chemicals industries.
The textile and plastics industry is characterized by rapid growth in Asia (accompanied by the
entrance of new paraxylene manufacturers in this region). In Europe, on the other hand,
consumption is decreasing due to the economic slowdown and the closure of production facilities
for downstream products, leading to excess supply of paraxylene.

1.8.3

Critical success factors
Over the years, Gadiv has used a number of methods for positioning itself in the market and
setting itself apart from its competitors. These include:

1.8.3.1

Creating goodwill as a reliable company which meets supply times and maintains a high, uniform
level of quality for its products.

1.8.3.2

A high technological ability and long-term experience enable Gadiv to obtain high yields of raw
materials and to implement unique methods of for optimizing energy consumption, which enable
a reduction in the costs of manufacturing products. Furthermore, since April 2013, supply of
natural gas meets all of Gadiv's needs, which has streamlined Gadiv's energy consumption.
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1.8.3.3

Proximity to the Company’s facilities, reduces the cost of transportation of the raw materials for
Gadiv’s products. Furthermore, the connection between the Company and Gadiv enables
customization of the aromatics and gasoline production profile (as the production of one comes at
the expense of the other). When demand for aromatics goes down, Gadiv diverts more feedstock
back to the Company, and vice versa.

1.8.3.4

Strict compliance with quality standards - Gadiv continuously invests resources and funds in
improving the quality of its products and in maintaining its position as a company with a high
quality line of products.
All these, and Gadiv's long-term contracts with its regular customers that are familiar with its
capabilities, enable Gadiv to meet changes in the market and the entry of products manufactured
in new large-scale facilities in India and China.

1.8.4

Principal entry barriers
In the Company’s assessment, the following factors are the principal barriers to entry into the area
of Gadiv’s operations:

1.8.4.1

Dependence upon supply of raw materials and the need to have a refinery near the plant;

1.8.4.2

The need for large capital investments, the scope of the investment being influenced by the
requisite production line yield and production quality;

1.8.4.3

Obtaining the regulatory approvals required in order to set up and operate facilities for the
production of aromatic products, and to comply with the conditions thereof;

1.8.4.4

Need for various manufacturing services such as steam, nitrogen, hydrogen, and other services.

1.8.4.5

The need for broad technological knowledge and experience;

1.8.4.6

The relatively lengthy period required to establish a plant (two to three years);

1.8.4.7

The need to establish strong marketing and distribution channels appropriate for dealing with
current and potential customers for the purpose of competing with well-established competitors.
For more information concerning competition in Gadiv's operating segment and risks in Gadiv’s
operations, see Sections 1.8.10 and 1.28 to this Chapter.

1.8.5

Products
Gadiv’s principal products, which are produced from raw materials purchased from the Company
as set out in the Processing Agreement in Section 1.8.12.1 to this Chapter, are as follows:

1.8.5.1

Benzene - benzene is used as a basic chemical in the manufacture of a broad variety of everyday
products, such as polystyrene (used, among other things, for making polystyrene foam),
polycarbonate (used, among other things, for making light-weight construction sheets), etc.
However, it is not used as an end product consumed directly by end consumers.

1.8.5.2

Toluene - is a component in the manufacture of polyurethane, which is used to prepare foam for
insulation or coating, and is common in the vehicle, furniture, construction and other industries.
Toluene is also used in the production of paraxylene and benzene.

1.8.5.3

Xylene - is used as a raw material in the production of paraxylene, and as an organic solvent in
the paint and pesticide industries.

1.8.5.4

Paraxylene - is an important component in the production of polyester, which is a component
used in the clothing industry. It is also used as a raw material in the production of beverage
packaging. This is Gadiv’s main product.

1.8.5.5

Orthoxylene - is used as a raw material for the production of phthalic anhydrides.
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1.8.5.6

Phthalic anhydrides - used in the production of softeners for the plastics industry, the production
of resins for the paint industry, and in the production of various polyesters.

1.8.5.7

Solvents - the principal use for solvents comes from the paint and coatings industries. In addition,
solvents are used as a raw material for agricultural pesticides, weed killers, etc., and in the ink
printing industry. They are also used as raw materials in the cleaning industry and in extracting
edible oils.

1.8.6

Revenue breakdown and profitability of products
The aromatics segment does not include any one group of products which accounts for 10% or
more of the Group’s total revenues. For information concerning total revenues in aromatics
operations in the years 2017, 2016 and 2015, see Section 1.5 in this Chapter.

1.8.7

Customers

1.8.7.1

As of the reporting date, most of Gadiv’s sales (93% in 2017, similar to data for the previous
years) were to overseas customers, primarily in the Mediterranean Basin, Europe, and the US.

1.8.7.2

Since Gadiv’s products are used as raw materials in the production of other products and are
supplied mainly to industrial companies, Gadiv’s customers view the regular supply of the raw
materials that they require (i.e. Gadiv’s products) and Gadiv’s reliability with regard to supply of
its products as being very important. As a result, this is a relatively conservative industry which
prefers to act in long-term cooperation with its various suppliers, such as Gadiv.

1.8.7.3

Therefore, Gadiv has annual contracts with most of its customers, most of which are renewed
annually. The prices of the products are determined in accordance with established formulas
and/or prices that are published in international publications. Most of the agreements set out fixed
quantities and dates of supply and Gadiv is required to manufacture the products and supply them
in accordance with acceptable international specifications.

1.8.7.4

Gadiv’s commercial relations with its principal customers are long-term.

1.8.7.5

Neither the Company nor Gadiv are dependent upon any one of Gadiv’s principal customers.

1.8.7.6

Gadiv has a factoring agreement for certain trade receivable balances. For information, see Note
6B to the consolidated financial statements.

1.8.8

Marketing and distribution
Gadiv’s marketing operations are aimed at manufacturing companies in the chemical and plastics
industries.
Gadiv’s marketing operations were carried out in the reporting period15 through the Aromatics,
Oils and Waxes business unit, and were based on the following elements:
(1) Retention of customers for the long-term and identification of new potential customers.
(2) Sales mix comprised of spot sales and periodic contracts.
(3) Depending on market conditions, conducting swap transactions with various counterparties,
where Gadiv supplies the material to a nearby destination instead of the actual counterparty
to the swap transaction, while the counterparty provides the material to a Gadiv customer in
another geographic region. These transactions help reduce transportation costs.
(4) Sales to end-customers through ISO tanks and supply from containers Gadiv leases in
various locations near its customers' facilities.

15

Starting 2018, these operations will be carried out through the headquarters.
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Gadiv's overseas sales are conducted in part through overseas agents or distributors, classified by
sales regions (with each agent having exclusivity in their region). Gadiv is not dependent on these
marketing channels, and agent fees are at prevalent market rates. .
1.8.9

Order backlog
Customer orders for aromatic products are mainly placed on an annual basis for a calendar year,
and are exercised more or less equally throughout the year. As of the reporting date, Gadiv’s
order backlog as of December 31, 2017, and December 31, 2016, totaled USD 325 million and
USD 305 million, respectively. The order backlog immediately prior to the reporting date totaled
USD 266 million.
The order backlog as of December 31, 2017 was calculated based on prices immediately prior to
the reporting date.
The above information concerning the exercise of the order backlog constitutes forwardlooking information, based mainly on the Company's experience from previous years. Thus,
there is no certainty concerning the actual volumes and exercise dates of the order backlog
in 2018.

1.8.10

Competition

1.8.10.1

Gadiv operates in a very competitive market, and competes with international manufacturers such as:
Exxon Mobil, BP, Repsol YPF, S.A, Cepsa, DHC Petkim, and Polimeri. Gadiv is a small player in the
international manufacture of aromatic products, as are most of its competitors in its main geographical
markets (the Mediterranean Basin and Western Europe). However, in the Mediterranean Basin, Gadiv
is a significant player both as a manufacturer of aromatic products and as an active market participant.
The Company estimates that Gadiv’s market share in the Mediterranean Basin is 13% (in benzene 9%; paraxylene - 30%; orthoxylene - 12%; toluene - 7%).

1.8.10.2

The market in which Gadiv operates places considerable importance on the reliability of the
suppliers of aromatic products, and Gadiv views its reputation as a reliable supplier, along with
the quality of its products, as being the main factors that assist it in dealing with its competitors.

1.8.10.3

For details of Gadiv’s critical success factors and competitive strategies, see Section 1.8.3 in this
Chapter.

1.8.10.4

Gadiv is the only manufacturer of aromatic products in Israel, and has been declared a monopoly
under the Antitrust Law. As set out in Section 1.8.7 in this Chapter, the vast majority of Gadiv's
sales are to overseas customers.

1.8.11

Production capacity
Gadiv has an annual processing capacity of 1,000,000 tons of reformate, and 100,000 tons of
dripolene (an aromatic feed produced by Carmel Olefins), which can be used to produce 585,000
tons a year of various aromatic products. In the reporting period, Gadiv manufactured a total of
433,000 tons of aromatics products. Production volumes were affected by comprehensive
periodic maintenance of its facilities, conducted in the first quarter of 2017. Production in Gadiv's
facilities is carried out at high temperatures (up to 400oC) and high pressure (up to 30 atm). Some
processes involve the use of catalysts to speed up chemical reactions in the raw materials and
interim products.
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Production volumes and product mixes change in accordance with economic optimization and are
integrated with the Company’s considerations. Production lines are based on continuous
operations and operate 24 hours a day, except for down-time for routine planned maintenance or
periodic servicing, and due to malfunctions. In the first quarter of 2017, Gadiv's facilities
underwent periodic maintenance.
1.8.12

Raw materials and suppliers

1.8.12.1

Agreement with the Company for raw material processing and purchases
The raw materials required for manufacturing Gadiv's products are provided by the Company
pursuant to an agreement signed between the parties on August 12, 2001, and amendments
thereto. The purpose of this agreement is to maximize the integration parallel areas in the parties'
production systems (the “Processing Agreement”).
Under the provisions of the processing agreement, the parties shall act as follows:
The Company shall provide Gadiv with reformate16 manufactured by the Company and
dripolene17 which the Company purchases from Carmel Olefins in such quantity as determined by
the Company in the production plan, and in consultation with Gadiv (the “Production Plan”), and
Gadiv shall process and separate the benzene, toluene, and xylene therein.
Gadiv will keep in its possession and will purchase the benzene, toluene and xylene separated in
its facilities, as well as certain quantities of C9 and refinate. All other materials pumped to Gadiv
for processing, and quantities of toluene and xylene determined in the production plan as being
required to be returned to the Company, shall be returned to the Company by Gadiv.

1.8.12.2

16

17

The following is a flow chart of the process of pumping raw materials and return of certain
materials to the Company:

A high-octane substance produced in the Company's catalytic reformer, which contains high concentrations of
aromatic materials.
A by-product in the cracking of naphtha in Carmel Olefins’ facilities, containing a high concentration of benzene.
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The processing fee paid by the Company to Gadiv is based on a formula which takes into account
a pro rata refund from Gadiv’s total fixed costs (net of Gadiv's share in headquarters expenses,
according to the agreement signed by the Group companies concerning headquarters expenses,
and variable costs, in accordance with Gadiv’s income statements for each year of the agreement,
as a ratio of the amount of materials returned by Gadiv to the Company, to the total amount of
the materials processed by Gadiv. Processing fees paid by the Company to Gadiv in 2017 and in
2016 totaled USD 31 million and USD 33 million, respectively.
1.8.12.3

The consideration for the materials retained by Gadiv and purchased by it from the Company, as
aforesaid, is determined in accordance with price formulae agreed upon periodically by Gadiv
and the Company, and which are based on international prices. The total payments made by
Gadiv for the aforesaid purchases in 2017 and in 2016 were USD 272 million and USD 593
million, respectively.

1.8.12.4

The Processing Agreement is in force until the earlier of either December 31, 2016 or the date on
which the Company ceases to be the sole owner of Gadiv. As of the reporting date, the parties
continue to follow the Processing Agreement.

1.8.12.5

As detailed above, Gadiv’s operations are integrated with those of the Company, which is the
only supplier of Gadiv’s and Carmel Olefins' raw materials. The raw materials required by Gadiv
are very sensitive raw materials, and there are significant difficulties in transferring them from
one place to another. Therefore, Gadiv and the Company are co-dependent. A change in the
Company’s status and/or relationship with Gadiv might cause substantial differences in Gadiv’s
financial situation and in the results of its operations.
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Part E – Polymers Segment (Ducor)
1.9

Polymers Segment - Ducor

1.9.1

General
Under the polymers segment of operations, the Company is engaged, through Ducor, in the
production and marketing of polypropylene, which is produced from propylene manufactured by
third parties and purchased by Ducor.
Ducor is a private company wholly owned by Carmel Olefins and is incorporated in The
Netherlands.

1.9.2

General information about the Ducor Segment
Ducor products are used as raw materials for the plastics industry.
These products are recognized worldwide as commodities that are purchased at more or less
uniform prices from all manufacturers. The prices of Ducor's raw materials (primarily propylene)
and of its products, are volatile and are affected, among other things, by supply and demand
cyclicality throughout the world.
The increase in demand for plastic products worldwide is affected by developing standards of
living and changes in economic status. The changes in supply, on the other hand, depend on the
timing of the commencement of operations of new facilities. As a result of the supply and demand
dynamics, high and low cycles are generated worldwide regarding the demand and prices of
Ducor's products, every few years.
According to international reports, the expected growth rate in the demand for various types of
polypropylene in 2017 through 2021 is 4.5% per year. Most of this increase is expected to be in
China and other developing countries.
This information is forward-looking information. It is emphasized that these forecasts are
based on the assessments of external entities and there is no certainty that this forecast will
materialize
Prices of raw materials (propylene) are a major component in the polymer production costs.

1.9.3

Critical success factors
The critical success factors in the production of Ducor's products are cost and availability of raw
materials and the ability to operate its production facilities at full capacity with minimum down
time.
The critical success factors for the sale of Ducor products are global economic conditions, the
presence of a developed domestic market, reliability of supply, quality of products supplied and
maintaining an inventory of products at Ducor's plant, close to its customers.

1.9.4

Key Entry Barriers
The main entry barriers to the polymer production segment are: (a) availability of raw materials;
(b) the capital required for setting up new plants in this industry; (c) the relatively lengthy period
required for setting up a plant; and (d) the regulatory approvals required for constructing and
operating plants for the production of polymers.
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1.9.5

Products
Ducor produces polypropylene used as raw material for the plastics industry. Ducor’s current
policy is to replace the production of polypropylene, which is a commodity, with the production
of higher added value types of polypropylene and that are sold at higher prices than the
commodities prices.

1.9.6

Distribution of revenues and profitability of products
There is no group of products in the Ducor Segment that comprises 10% or more of the
Company’s total revenues. For details of total revenues in the Ducor segment in 2017, 2016 and
2015, see section 1.5 of this chapter.

1.9.7

Customers

1.9.7.1

Ducor sells its products mainly to customers in Germany, Belgium, the Netherlands and United
Kingdom. Most of Ducor's customers are companies that operate in industry, compound
polypropylene-based packaging, polyethylene sheets and textiles.

1.9.7.2

Ducor's agreements with its customers are generally frame agreements for a year, fixing annual
sales volume and a formula for calculating the price to be paid by the customer for the products it
purchases. Most of the agreements include volume-based discounts and are linked to
internationally published prices (ICIS). In addition, some sales are carried out under monthly
spot transactions.

1.9.7.3

Ducor has no customers to whom sales constitute more than 10% of the Company’s sales.

1.9.7.4

Neither the Company nor Ducor are dependent upon any one of Ducor’s customers.

1.9.7.5

The Group increases its market share in polymer sales in Western Europe through the Ducor's
operations in the Netherlands. In addition, Ducor serves as a sales agent for Carmel Olefins
products in countries neighboring the Netherlands.

1.9.8

Marketing and Distribution
Most sales are carried out directly by Ducor to its customers. Sales are carried out based on
customer orders received directly to Ducor and most products are supplied directly to the
customers' plants.
In addition, some sales are carried out through agents deployed according to sales areas. Ducor is
not dependent on any of its agents.

1.9.9

Order Backlog
Some of the customers' orders for Ducor products are made on an annual basis. Ducor’s order
backlog, as of December 31, 2017, and December 31, 2016, amounted to USD 137 million, and
USD 121 million, respectively. The order backlog as of Reporting Date amounted to USD 122
million. The order backlog as of December 31, 2017 was calculated at prices close to the date of
publication of this Report.
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1.9.10

Competition
Ducor is a small player in the global market and is not part of and does not have any ownership
relations with a refinery in its area of operation in a manner that creates a competitive
disadvantage. It is affected by the major players in regions in which it operates. As aforesaid,
Ducor's products are recognized worldwide as commodities that are purchased at more or less
uniform prices from all manufacturers. Ducor's main competitors are Braskem, Lyondellbasell,
Borealis. Ducor has recently been placing emphasis on manufacturing and selling “niche
products” that match the needs of its customers, to improve its competitive status.

1.9.11

Production capacity
Ducor's polypropylene facilities have potential manufacturing capacity of 180,000 ton per year.
As of Reporting Date, Ducor manufactures 90% of its potential manufacturing capacity
Ducor's facilities operate continuously, except in cases of malfunction and for required periodic
maintenance. Ducor's plants are shut down once every four to five years for periodic
maintenance, which takes about 4 to 6 weeks. Ducor had a planned shutdown of its plant in 2012
and the next scheduled shutdown is expected in 2018.
It is clarified that the forgoing with regard the shutdown of Ducor’s plants for the planned
maintenance work is forward looking information the realization of which is uncertain and
is not solely in the control of the Company. The assessment of the shutdown is dependent on
various factors that are uncertain and therefore, there is no certainty that the assessments
concerning the shutdown will materialize in whole or in part.

1.9.12

Raw materials and suppliers
Ducor operates a polypropylene production facility fed with propylene which is acquired from
various manufacturers and delivered continuously via pipelines from their plants. Ducor has
three propylene suppliers in Western Europe, which supply the required volumes of propylene
directly to Ducor's plant, via pipelines. The Group is not dependent on any of the propylene
manufacturers that feed Ducor. As aforesaid, Ducor receives its propylene supply continuously
via pipelines. Propylene supply via sea shipment is possible, but less worthwhile. Changes in
Ducor’s relationships with its suppliers could impair its operating results.
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Part F - Additional Operations (Others)
As of Reporting Date, the Company has other operations that are not included in the foregoing operating
segments, the scope of which is immaterial to the Company's operations and for defining them as a segment
of operation. For details of total revenues in the other operations in 2015, 2016 and 2017, see section 1.5 of
this chapter.
Breakdown of these operations:
1.10

Basic oils and waxes

1.10.1

The Company operates through Haifa Basic Oils producing and marketing basic oils and waxes
used as raw materials in the production of lubricants and as raw materials in the candle,
construction, agricultural and food industries
Haifa Basic Oils was established in 1965 as a company jointly owned by the Company and three
petroleum companies and as of 2010 is wholly owned by the Company. Most of the products
manufactured by Haifa Basic Oils are interim products or components used in the manufacturing
of other products, and are not intended for consumption by end consumers. In 1989, Haifa Basic
Oils was declared a monopoly in the basic oils and waxes industry. Haifa Basic Oils believes that
it is no longer a monopoly in these industries.
Haifa Basic Oils facilities are located in the Company's premises and most of the raw materials
used by Haifa Basic Oils in the production of its products are purchased from the Company (also
see the diagram in section 1.2.6 above).
During and after the reporting period, Haifa Basic Oils’ facilities were shut down for significant
maintenance and as of the report publication date, its facilities operate partially, including due to a
malfunction of an equipment component while it was being operated, which caused damage that
Haifa Basic Oils is repairing.

1.10.2

Haifa Basic Oils primary products are:

1.10.1.1

Basic oils - these oils form the raw material for the manufacture of motor oils, but are not the end
product used by the end consumer.

1.10.1.2

Paraffin wax - is mainly used in the wax, tire, fertilizer, detergent, rubber and glue industries, but
is not an end product used directly by the end consumer.

1.10.1.3

Lubricant oils - for the automobile and other industries - these oils are an end product and are
manufactured by Haifa Basic Oils in immaterial quantities

1.10.1.4

High value products - such as emulsions, dust preventative oils, etc. for industrial use

1.10.1.5

Haifa Basic Oils markets its products to customers in Israel and abroad. Haifa Basic Oils' main
customers in Israel are the largest oil manufacturing companies and candle manufacturers, and
abroad - manufacturers in the oils industry and wax traders or suppliers for manufacturers of
candles and insulation products.
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1.11

Trade Segment

1.11.1

The Company leases tankers for transporting crude oil and/or fuel products and uses them for
transporting materials that it purchases or sells. It also charters them for chartered cargo to
various entities. The Company operates 5 tankers with capacity of 30,000 - 35,000 tons each, that
are leased under leasing contracts of one or two years. One of the tankers leased by the Company
is an Israeli controlled vessel, as this term is defined in the Shipping Law (Foreign Vessel
Controlled by Israeli Interest) 2005, and in accordance with the provisions of the Israel Fuel
Administration of the Ministry of Energy and Infrastructures, under the Vital Interests Order. For
further details, see section 1.19.16.6 of this chapter.

1.11.2

In addition, the Trade Segment operations may include trading in crude oil and fuel products that
are not for the production operations of the Group companies and/or for the purpose of buying
raw materials and selling products to third parties on behalf of the Group companies.

1.11.3

The Trade Segment operations are based mainly on opportunities that open in the market due to
changes in crude and fuel product prices and the price differences between the various markets
and types of oil and fuel products. Due to the extreme volatility in the viability of trade
transactions as described above, the volume of the Company's trading activities varies greatly
between reporting periods and within each reporting period. Thus, in recent years the Company
has not carried out such transactions. For further information regarding crude oil and fuel product
prices, and factors that affect the supply of crude oil and fuel products and trends in fuel product
consumption, see sections 1.6.2.1.2 and 1.6.2.1.3 in this chapter. The main activities are leasing
and chartering of tanker ships carried out with customers and suppliers abroad and in part used
for the Company’s operations. The main trade activities are carried out with customers and
suppliers abroad, such as oil companies and refineries, trading companies and others.
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Part G - Additional Information about the Company
1.12

Property, Plant and Equipment18

1.12.1

The facilities of the Company, Carmel Olefins, Gadiv and Haifa Basic Oils are in a single
compound in Haifa Bay (“the Compound”). The Company's facilities include initial distillation
units (crude distillation), hydrogen and catalytic cracking facilities and catalytic reformer units
(responsible for the fuel product refining and finishing processes), other production units (for
hydrogen, isomert, which is used as a gasoline component, and asphalt production), sulfur
treatment facilities, infrastructures (buildings, storage tanks, pipelines, etc.) and service facilities
(power station, sewerage treatment, firefighting equipment).
Carmel Olefins facilities include a group of monomer facilities (a cracking facility and the OCU
plant), a group of polyethylene facilities and a group of polypropylene facilities.
Gadiv facilities include facilities for BTX (benzene, toluene, and xylene) extraction from
feedstocks, and production plants for paraxylene, solvents and solids.
Haifa Basic Oils facilities include separation facilities for basic oils and waxes from HVGO and
finishing plants for these groups of products.

1.12.2

Generally, each of the main facilities of the compound are shut down once every four to six years for
periodic maintenance that generally takes between 30 to 50 days, according to the facility and the
volume of work required, while during this period, no production activity is carried out in the shut
down facility.
Prior to performing the periodic maintenance, the Company and subsidiaries make logistics,
commercial and financial preparations, including contracting with suppliers and contractors, to
produce everything required for replacement or upgrade as part of the maintenance and for the
actual maintenance works; adjustment of the raw material purchasing mix to the production plan
and product sales commitments according to expected changes due to the periodic maintenance;
and if necessary, production of an inventory of products in advance for the periodic maintenance
period to allow supplying orders to customers in this period.
In 2016, the Company carried out periodic maintenance in a significant part of the Group's
facilities, including crude distillation plant 4 and all Carmel Olenfins facilities.
In 2017, the Company carried out periodic maintenance in some of the Group’s facilities,
including the continuous catalytic reformer unit and all Gadiv facilities. The direct costs (before
direct cost discounting) for the periodic maintenance in 2017 amounted to USD 56 million (of
which USD 26 million in the Company and NIS 30 million in Gadiv). For information regarding
the effect of the periodic maintenance on the Company's operating results in 2017, see section
2.1.2 of the Directors Report.
For periodic maintenance in the Company’s facilities scheduled in 2018, including those delayed
from 2017, see section 1.6.13 above. The Company estimates that the cost of the period
maintenance scheduled in 2018 is USD 60-70 million (of which USD 53-63 million in the
Company), and impairment the Company's operating results is expected during the period
maintenance shutdown.
Determination of the periodic maintenance dates is intended to integrate, as far as possible,
periodic maintenance of facilities that feed each other, in a manner that minimizes the effect of
the shutdown on the Company's operating results.

18

For a description of the Company's rights in assets, also see Note 20C(2) of the consolidated financial statements.
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It is clarified that the foregoing regarding the cost of the maintenance scheduled in 2018 is
forward looking information, and its implementation is uncertain and not only in the
Company's control. The estimated cost of the maintenance depends of various factors which
are highly uncertain, including the condition of the maintained facilities, which might
require further repairs and treatment beyond the forecast and extension of the duration of
the treatment, which could also impair the Company's operating results. Therefore, there
can be no certainty that the estimations will materialize, in whole or in part, and this may
lead to different periodic maintenance costs than forecasted.
1.12.3

The depreciated cost of the facilities as of December 31, 2017 is USD 2,269 million. For
information regarding the different types of fixed assets, including their accumulated
depreciation, see Note 11 of the consolidated financial statements.

1.12.4

The facilities of the Group require high energy inputs for their operation. Since 2013, the Group
Companies use natural gas as the main energy source for their operations. Using natural gas in the
Company’s facilities leads directly and indirectly to increased efficiency of the Company’s
energy consumption, saving in maintenance costs and reduction of other costs, the scope of which
varies from time to time based on the relative prices of alternative energy sources and it necessary
for the Company to be able to comply with the environmental requirements. In addition, natural
gas is used as a raw material in some of the productions processes in the Company’s facilities.
If natural gas is supplied to the Group Companies in appropriate quantities for all their needs, use
of natural gas allows them to comply with the provisions of the emission permits issued for them
by the Minister of Environmental Protection.

1.12.5

The companies’ facilities are connected to the national natural gas transmission system. As of the
publication date of the report, the Company consumes natural gas in the full quantity required.

1.12.6

It should be noted that as of the report date, there is single natural gas supplier in Israel (Tamar
Partnership) that can produce natural gas. The Company uses natural gas purchased from the
Tamar Group19, under an agreement signed in 2012. For further information, see Note 20C(1) of
the consolidated financial statements. The Company is dependent on the Tamar Group and the
natural gas transmission infrastructures from the gas platform to the shore. The Natural Gas
Sector Regulations (Management of the Natural Gas Sector in Emergencies), 2017 were enacted
in the reporting period to regulate the supply of natural gas to the different consumers in Israel in
situations where natural gas cannot be supplied in the full quantities required by the gas
consumers. Under these regulations, the quantity of natural gas supplied to the Company may be
reduced in such situations by quantities which, in the Company’s estimation, are not expected to
be material for its operations, and may increase its energy costs by non-material amounts.
The Company's foregoing assessments regarding implementation of the business moves and
projects of external companies and partnerships is all forward looking information. These
assessments are based on reports of those companies and partnerships and data and
estimations of professionals in the Company. There is no certainty that these assessments
will materialize, because they are highly complicated issues and their implementation
depends on entities outside the Company and developments in the relevant markets. These
assessments may also change materially in case of a material change in other geopolitical,
macroeconomic and/or factual data over which the Company has no control and which it is
unaware of as of the date of this report.

19

The Tamar Group includes Noble Energy Mediterranean Ltd., Isramco Negev 2 Limited Partnership, Avner Oil
Exploration Limited Partnership, Delek Drilling Limited Partnership and Dor Gas Exploration Limited Partnership.
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1.12.7

On January 21, 2018, a special general meeting of the Company approved the Company’s
engagement with Energean Israel Limited (“Energean”), owner of the leases in Karish and Tanin
reservoirs (“The Gas Reservoir”) in a natural gas purchase agreement for operation of the
facilities of the Company and its subsidiaries operating in Haifa Bay, as from commencement of
operations of these reservoirs. For further information regarding this transaction, see Note 20C(1)
of the consolidated financial statements.

1.12.8

In 2014, the Haifa District Planning and Building Committee approved, with conditions, an
outline plan for the land on which the facilities of the Group Companies are situated regulating
the planning of this compound, including provisions with respect to future construction therein
(“the Outline Plan”). Appeals were filed with the National Planning and Building Council against
this decision and heard by its Appeals Subcommittee. On July 14, 2016, the Appeals
Subcommittee approved the plan with corrections set out in the decision and rejecting most of the
claims in appeals filed against it. The National Planning and Building Council was requested to
hear the provisions of the plan again and after, the Attorney General issued an opinion in the
reporting period setting out the terms under which another hearing for the plan may be held and
determining that the committee must review whether these terms have been met with respect to
the plan, on February 7, 2017, the National Council decided it is fitting to examine the Appeals
Subcommittee’s ruling on the plan. On June 6, 2017, following the hearing that took place in its
plenum, the National Planning and Building Council decided to approve the Outline Plan with the
corrections set out in the plan, mainly reduction of the additional construction permitted in the
compound to 5% of the current scope of construction. Several administrative appeals were filed
(the hearing of which was consolidated) with the District Court sitting as the Court of
Administrative Affairs. On March 8, 2018, the Appeals Court dismissed the petition filed against
approval of the plan. As of the report publication date, the plan has yet to be published for
validation. For further information regarding this appeal, see Note 20C(3) of the consolidated
financial statements. It should be clarified that the delays in approval of the Outline Plan and its
entry into force make it difficult for the Company to obtain building permits required for its
operations and for the improvements required to the safety, environmental and reinforcement of
its facilities.

1.12.9

For information regarding the asset agreement signed on January 24, 2007 between the Company
and the State, see Note 20C(2) of the consolidated financial statements.

1.12.10

Municipal regime applicable to the compound area
The land of the petrochemical plants in Haifa Bay, including the Company's property, is
incorporated in the municipal boundary of Haifa. For information about the agreement between
the Company and certain local authorities concerning the municipal regime applicable to the
compound premises, see Note 20C(3) of the consolidated financial statements. As of the date of
this report, a geographic committee appointed by the Minister of the Interior is examining the
distribution of income from local taxation collected in the area of the compound, and converting
the Company's compound and the adjacent north land compound to the east into an industrial
local council and excluding it from the jurisdiction of the Haifa Municipality.

1.12.11

Ducor's facilities are on a total area of 12.7 hectares in Rotterdam Port, the Netherlands (“Ducor
Site”), which are leased from Rotterdam Port for annual lease fees that are not material to the
Company.
Ducor is obligated to evacuate and clean the land at the Ducor Site of pollution caused by it, if
any, in the period in which it leases the land. In the Company's opinion, based, among others, on
the assessment of an expert, it is not expected to have material exposure due to the obligation to
clean the land. For further information, see Note 11B(5) of the consolidated financial statements.
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The Company’s assessment regarding this exposure is forward-looking information. The
Company's assessment is based, among others, on the findings of an environmental
protection expert. The Company's assessments may not materialize, inter alia, if errors are
discovered in the environmental protection expert's findings and/or if the letter of
compensation sent to the Company in this regard for the lease period preceding the
acquisition of Ducor by the Company is not honored.
1.13

R&D

1.13.1

As a rule, the Companies do not engage in independent R&D with regard to their production
processes, but rather purchase the know-how needed for their operations from external know-how
suppliers, which are international companies specializing in developing and selling know-how for
the refining and petrochemical industry, as described in section 1.14 of this chapter.

1.13.2

The Companies also purchase the know-how needed to reduce the environment emissions from
their production plants from specialized know-how suppliers (for further information, see section
1.18.2 of this chapter).

1.13.3

Carmel Olefins carries out R&D to support production to customize its products to its customers’
needs.

1.14

Intangible assets

1.14.1

The Company has no rights in material intangible assets in the fuel, aromatics, and basic oil &
wax segments.

1.14.2

Carmel Olefins has six registered trademarks in Israel: כרמל אולפינים בע”מ, Carmel Olefins Ltd.,
Carmel Olefins logo, Capilene®, Carmelstat® and Ipethene®. It has also registered two patents
with respect to development of its products and another patent together with the Technion. The
patents are registered in the USA, Taiwan and the UK, and as of the date of this report, they are
not material to Carmel Olefins' operations.

1.14.3

The Companies purchase licenses to use such know-how for their operations and pay external
know-how suppliers a fixed or variable amount in royalties, depending on the volume of annual
production at the facility under the license. The licenses to use know-how, under which the
facilities were set up, are necessary for their operation and were granted to the specific facilities
for which they were purchased. Under the know-how agreements, even if the agreements are
terminated, the Companies will still be eligible to continue using the know-how for production
purposes in the volume for which the license was granted and for which royalties were or are paid
by them. The royalty amounts are not material to the Companies.
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1.15

Human Resources
Three business units operate in the Group: Fuel Business Unit, Polyolefin Business Unit, and
Aromatics, Oils and Wax Business Unit. In the reporting period, each business unit included the
relevant production units, the sales and marketing of its products (other than the fuels whose sales
and marketing of its products are carried out by a headquarter unit)20, the maintenance and other
functions. The purpose of this organizational structure is to create a direct and clear connection
throughout the entire value chain of each of the Group's main product groups, taking advantage of
the fact that all of the Group's operations (excluding Ducor’s operations, which are located in the
Netherlands) are carried out at one site and enable a synergy that increases operating efficiency
and reduces cost in many fields.
A comprehensive optimization unit that determines the production function that optimizes the
Group's entire production value chain, and a technology and projects unit, which includes an
energy unit that optimizes use of the energy sources at the Group's disposal, operates alongside
the business units. The crude oil and feedstock required for the Group's operations from various
suppliers are purchased by the Trade Unit. The headquarter services, including purchasing
services, contracts with contractors and suppliers, warehouses, etc., are provided centrally by the
Purchasing and Contract Unit for all of the Group's business and other units (for information, see
section 1.2.6 above).

1.15.1

20

Organizational structure as of the report publication date:

As of the report publication date, the sales and marketing of the Group Companies’ products, other than the
polyolefins, are carried by a central headquarter unit.
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1.15.2

As of December 31, 2017, the Group Companies employed 1,447 staff members compared to
1,444 at the end of 2016. Number of employees, by business unit:
No. of employees per day
December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Company Headquarters and Management
Fuel Business Unit
Technology and Projects Unit
Polyolefin Business Unit
Aromatics & Oils Business Units
Total

301
516
40
451
139

296
511
41
435
161

1,447

1,444

During the reporting period, the employees of the Aromatics, Oils & Waxes Trade Unit were
transferred from the Aromatics, Oils and Wax Business Unit to the Company Headquarters and
Management.
As of December 31, 2017, Ducor employs 97 employees. In addition to the above, as of the
reporting date, 98 temporary employees and 152 employees through temporary staffing agencies
are employed in the Group Companies, mostly in projects, construction and renovations.
For the early retirement plan, see section 1.15.8.4 below.
The Company management believes that the Company is not dependent on any particular
employee. Employment relations at the Company are in good order.
1.15.3

Instruction and Training
The Company provides professional training for the operating and maintenance staff in their field
of occupation; for the relevant Company employees as part of internal enforcement programs
operated in the Company; and for its entire staff, mandatory safety training, mandatory
certification to perform a function, including on the subject of firefighting, and environmental
protection, QA and information security training. Professional employees participate in training in
their fields of occupation for refreshment, professional knowledge development and to increase
knowledge prior to receiving new equipment.
Emergency drills, fire drills, focused safety training for operators and professional training are
performed at the production facilities.

1.15.4

Employment Agreements

1.15.4.1

General
Most staff at the Group Companies are employed under special collective agreements signed
between the Group Companies and the workers' unions. Some employees, mainly senior staff, are
employed under personal employment contracts. Apart from their wages, all staff of the Group
Companies, whether employed under a collective or personal contract, are entitled to social
benefits, including pension insurance in accordance with the provisions of the law on this matter
and/or in the different agreements.
As of the report date, of all the employees of the companies, 168 employees are engaged under
personal employment contracts and 1,279 under the terms of the special collective agreements to
which the Group Companies are party. Details of employment conditions of these groups of
employees are as follows:
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1.15.4.2

Employees engaged under personal contracts
Most employees from department manager level upwards are employed under personal
employment contracts.
The employment contracts set out the employee's salary, fringe benefits (such as vacation, sick
leave and convalescence pay), social benefits (e.g. study fund and pension insurance) and
severance arrangements for dismissal and resignation, including notice.
In the personal employment contracts, the employees undertake to maintain the confidentiality of
the Company's business and to refrain from making unauthorized use of information they receive
as part of their duties. In some contracts, employees also undertake to refrain from engaging in
any occupation which places them in competition or conflict of interests with the companies
without the Company's consent, for one year from termination of their employment in the
Company.
The personal employment contracts of the staff at the Group Companies include pension and
insurance cover, and standard social and other benefits, other than the rights of some senior
employees to a severance bonus of up to 200%. Some senior employees may to choose an early
retirement track or increased severance track if dismissed.

1.15.5

Senior Company Management
With regard to the employment terms of the five senior officers and the benefits paid to the Board
of Directors, see section 21 in Part D of the periodic report.

1.15.6

Employee Option Plan
On September 5, 2007, the Board of Directors approved an option plan of 30,000,000 options
(“the Option Plan”). On October 30, 2011, the Board of Directors approved increasing the volume
of the Option Plan by another 29,000,000 options. On May 20, 2015, the Company's Board of
Directors increased the scope of the Option Plan, so that after the increase, the option inventory
will contain 160,000,000 options, in a manner that any option allocated subsequent to the date of
the resolution to increase the option plan inventory, which expires without being exercised will be
returned to the option inventory and the Company will be entitled to allocate a new option under
it, and so on.
For information regarding options allocated to Company officers, see Note 21B of the
consolidated financial statements and section 21 in Part D of the periodic report. Options were
also granted under a plan for 40 managers in personal agreements who are not officers.

1.15.7

Compensation Policy
On March 3, 2015, subsequent to approval by the Compensation Committee and Board of
Directors, the general meeting approved the Company's revised compensation policy, which
includes reference to wages, fringe benefits and variable compensation components (such as
bonuses and capital compensation), in force for a period of three years as from 2015. For further
information regarding the compensation policy, see the Company's immediate report of February
25, 2015 (ref. no. 2015-01-038611), which presents information included in this report by way of
reference. The Company is currently working to formulate an updated compensation policy which
will be submitted for approval by the general meeting shortly after its approval by the
Compensation Committee and Board of Directors. Subsequent to the reporting period, the
Company’s Compensation Committee and then the Board of Directors based on the
Compensation Committee’s opinion approved the compensation policy, which is valid for three
years as from 2018. This compensation policy requires the approval of the general meetings and
will be submitted for such approval shortly after publication of this report.
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1.15.8

Collective agreements

1.15.8.1

The Group Companies are party to special collective agreements regulating the work and
employment terms of most of their employees not engaged under personal contracts. In July
2012, wage agreements that entered into force on January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2017
were signed with the workers' unions. The agreements include an undertaking to maintain
industrial peace with regard to all matters regulated in them, until September 30, 2017. As of the
date of this report, the Company is negotiating with the workers’ unions for a new wage
agreement.

1.15.8.2

The collective agreements applicable to the Company, Gadiv and Haifa Basic Oils set out the
employment terms of the veteran (generations A and B) and future generation staff who are not
employed under personal contracts. The agreements regulate the wages based on rank21 and type
of employee, various wage supplements (for seniority, shifts, etc.), social benefits, including
pension rights, and bonuses for some employees for the years of employment above 20 years.
Under the collective agreements at the Company, Gadiv, Haifa Basic Oils and Carmel Olefins,
the management and workers' union also set out a new formula for payment of a profit bonus, if
any, to the Companies' staff for 2010 onwards, which also relates to the business results of the
merged Company.
As of the report date, the Company routinely pays in to a pension fund for Company pensioners
(including those who retired before the split from ORA), who retired early, until they reach legal
pension age, in amounts which are not material to the Company.

1.15.8.3

The collective agreements applicable to Carmel Olefins prescribe the employment terms of the
veteran, next generation and future generation employees who are not employed under personal
contracts. The collective agreements to which Carmel Olefins is party prescribe wage tariffs
based on wage and rank tables, which are revised from time to time and fixed according to type of
employees; various wage supplements (for seniority, overtime, fulfilling certain duties); and
social benefits (including insurance, study fund and pension rights).
Arrangements were also set with respect to maintaining continuity of employee rights in the event
of structural changes in Carmel Olefins.
On April 21, 2010, the Company and Carmel Olefins signed agreements with the worker's union
regulating the merging of various organizational units in cooperation with the Company and
Carmel Olefins employees and borrowing employees from Carmel Olefins for the Company. The
collective agreements and arrangements applicable to the employees in each of the companies
will remain in force.
The employment terms of the Company's employees borrowed for Carmel Olefins are regulated
under the collective agreement applicable to the Company's employees.

1.15.8.4

On December 16, 2010, the Company and Carmel Olefins signed collective agreements with the
worker's union regulating the employment terms of new employees to be hired as from that date,
under identical terms at both the Company and Carmel Olefins, which are not inferior to those of
the Company's long-term employees (future or next generation employees). These agreements
also apply to new employees of Gadiv and Haifa Basic Oils engaged under a collective
agreement.
On May 13, 2015, the Company's Board of Directors approved a further early retirement plan of
NIS 60 million. In 2016, the Company's Board of Directors approved an early retirement plan of
NIS 38 million.

21

The wage increase for rank promotion amounts to 10% on average.
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1.15.8.5

For the special collective agreement signed in 2014 between the Company, Gadiv, Haifa Basic
Oils and the worker's union, which relates to section 14 of the Severance Pay Law, see Note 18A
of the consolidated financial statements.

1.15.8.6

Most Ducor employees are engaged under collective agreements between Ducor and worker's
unions in the Netherlands. The collective agreement at Ducor is valid until May 31, 2018.

1.15.9

Changes following the split and sale of ORA and privatization of the Company - special
collective agreements of June 14, 2006
As part of the ORA split and sale proceedings, the Company and the Histadrut New Federation of
Labor (“the Histadrut”) entered into special collective agreements (“the Special Collective
Agreements”) aimed at regulating the rights of the Company's employees in the privatization
process, including restrictions on their dismissal; terms for eligibility to early retirement; early
retirement plans for pensioners of the pension fund and the related early retirement rights (which
were in force until 2016); and rights to increased severance pay for employees not eligible to
early retirement, which ended in 2016. As of the reporting date, there is not collective agreement
in force setting out early retirement terms of the Group's employees. However, the Company
management announced that employees who retired in 2017 would be entitled to receive the same
retirement terms paid by virtue of the collective agreement to employees who retired in 2016. As
noted above, in 2016 the Company approved an early retirement plan of a given scope and under
the same terms as those of the collective agreement regulating the retirement terms that it
implemented.
The employees undertook to maintain industrial peace for the period of the special collective
agreements and with respect to the matters settled under them, however, this undertaking does not
derogate from their right to participate in any national level strike declared by the Histadrut
regarding employees of the public sector or the entire country.
To assure its commitment to purchase early retirement rights under the early retirement
agreement, the Company signed a loan agreement with the Haifa Early Pensions Ltd. (“HEP”), a
company specifically established for the loan agreement.
Under the loan agreement, the Company granted HEP a loan of NIS 300 million to assure the
pension rights of the employees eligible for early retirement. The loan will be repaid to the
Company in full by time all the employees eligible to a pension or an early pension have retired.
For further information, see Note 18A(2)b of the consolidated financial statements.
As of the reporting date, 390 Company and Gadiv employees are or will be eligible for early
retirement under the above agreements in the circumstances prescribed in them.

1.16

Investments
Other than the following, the Company has no material investment in companies that are not
subsidiaries.

1.17

Taxation
For information regarding the taxation laws applicable to the Company, the principal benefits
under them and the legislative changes passed, see Note 16 of the consolidated financial
statements.
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1.18

Environmental risks and means for their management

1.18.1

General

1.18.1.1

An Environmental Protection, Safety and Corporate Social Responsibility Committee operates in
the Board of Directors outlining Company policy in these areas and receiving and controlling
reports on the different operations. Between 2007 and 2017, the Company invested USD 392
million in environmental protection, safety, security and increasing its operating reliability. This
is in addition to the current expenses in these areas.

1.18.1.2

The Companies, which own industrial plants, are subject to various environmental protection
laws. These primarily include: The Clean Air Law, 2008 (“Clean Air Law”); the Prevention of
Hazards Law,1961 (“Prevention of Hazards Law”); the Hazardous Materials Law, 1993
(“Hazardous Materials Law”); the Business Licensing Law, 1968; the Prevention of Sea Pollution
from Land-Based Sources Law, 1988; and the Water Law, 1959. In addition to these statutory
provisions (including secondary legislation thereunder), the Group Companies are also subject to
provisions included in permits and licenses granted to them, which are required for them to
operate in their operating segments.
Based on the Company's policy and as part of its long-term outlook, the Group Companies invest
considerable financial and administrative resources to comply with all regulatory provisions
applicable to them. The Group Companies also implement an internal environmental and safety
enforcement plan.

1.18.1.3

As part of their operating activity, the Group Companies take continuous measures to comply
with the laws and provisions applicable to their operations.

1.18.1.4

Investments in Environmental Protection
Under the strategic plan approved shortly after privatization, the Company increased its
investments in environmental protection, safety, security, and operating reliability enhancement.
The Company’s investments in these areas, as set out in section 1.18.1 above, include
infrastructure and preparations to receive natural gas; a particle emissions reduction system; a
system to reduce nitrogen oxide emissions from the oil refinery and Gadiv; expansion of the
Mercaptan exhaustion capacity; upgrading the oven protection; covering the tank roofs; plans and
projects to reduce non-specific emissions; purchase and operation of odor treatment systems;
removal of sludge accumulated in Compound in the past; projects to reduce air emissions and
odor hazards from the refinery's bitumen filling facility and Gadiv's storage containers;
rehabilitation and operation of a wastewater reclamation facility that performs supplementary
biological treatment of the procedural effluent from the Group's plants and reclaims 60% of the
effluent as water to produce steam and for the Group's water cooling system; facilities to reduce
hydrocarbon emissions not from stacks from Gadiv and the Company's facilities; and projects to
reduce benzene emissions from the Group’s compound, etc.
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1.18.1.5

Environmental permits
Environmental permits granted to the Group Companies as part of their operations:
Validity
September 29, 2023
July 10, 2023
July 10, 2023
April 7, 2023
March 31, 2021
March 22, 2018
February 25, 2019
June 8, 2018
June 8, 2018
January 22, 2019

The permits are granted
from time to time at the
request of the Companies.
The permit is granted from
time to time at the request
of the Company.
From July 25, 2013

Licensing authority
Ministry of Environmental
Protection
Ministry of Environmental
Protection
Ministry of Environmental
Protection
Ministry of Environmental
Protection
Ministry of Environmental
Protection
Ministry of Environmental
Protection
Ministry of Environmental
Protection
Ministry of Environmental
Protection
Ministry of Environmental
Protection
Hazardous Substances
Division, Ministry of
Environmental Protection
Ministry of Environmental
Protection
Hazardous Substances
Division, Ministry of
Environmental Protection
Air Quality Division,
Ministry of Environmental
Protection

Recipient
The Company

License type
Emission permit

Carmel Olefins

Emission permit

Gadiv

Emission permit

Haifa Basic Oils

Emission permit

The Company
Carmel Olefins
The Company

Permit to pump brine
into the sea (1)
Toxin permit

Carmel Olefins

Toxin permit

Gadiv

Toxin permit

Haifa Basic Oils

Toxin permit

Carmel Olefins

Permit to recycle
hazardous waste
(isododecane)
Hazardous waste
removal (various
permits)
Catalyst export
license

Carmel Olefins,
Gadiv, Haifa Basic
Oils
The Company

Carmel Olefins

Emission permit for
splitter

(1) With respect to pumping brine into the Kishon River, also see section 1.18.3 of this chapter.

The permits were granted to the Group Companies subject to compliance with their provisions
and conditions. Shortly before the expiry date of the various licenses, the Group Companies take
steps to renew all environmental licenses required for their operation to maintain licensing
continuity
1.18.1.6

1.18.1.7

The environmental protection laws and standards relevant to the primary operations of the Group
Companies are:
(a) Air quality;
(b) Liquid effluent quality;
(c) Solid / toxic waste;
(d) Prevention of soil and groundwater pollution by fuel and other hazardous materials.
For the period from January 1, 2015 to the reporting date, the Group Companies did not received
any warnings or demands concerning non-compliance with the statutory environmental
provisions, permits, and licenses applicable to them from time to time, which in the Company's
opinion, would impact it materially, other than those described in this section 1.18 below and in
Notes 20B(3), 20B(5) and 20B(6) of the consolidated financial statements.
For claims on environmental issues, see Note 20B(3) of the consolidated financial statements.
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1.18.2

Air Quality

1.18.2.1

The Ministry of Environmental Protection announced a plan to reduce air pollution and
environmental hazards in Haifa Bay for 2015-2020. Its highlights include a 50% reduction of
volatile organic pollutant emissions from industry and the refinery by continued application of the
Clean Air Law; each of the facilities and chimneys of plants, including those of the Group, will be
required to use the optimal technology available to reduce the emissions; conversion of all
industrial steam boilers in Haifa Bay to using natural gas and other clean fuels; and increasing
industrial supervision through patrols, inspections, spot checks and ongoing monitoring of
chimneys, and testing for non-specific leaks.

1.18.2.2

Clean Air Law, 2008
The Clean Air Law, 2008 (in this section: “the Law”), regulates treatment of the air pollution
problem in Israel comprehensively. The Law tightened the monitoring of emissions and requires
plants emitting substances to obtain an emission permit for their operation, compared to the
customary monitoring prior to enactment. The Law also sets out criminal and administrative
sanctions that may be imposed on any party violating its provisions and causing extreme or
unreasonable air pollution. The issues covered by the law include:
(1) Establishment of maximum air pollutant levels;
(2) Unification of air monitoring systems into a single system and organized publication of
monitoring data in the media and publication of air quality forecasts. Giving the
Environmental Minister the option of ordering the establishment and operation of monitoring
systems for various factors;
(3) Authority for local councils to take necessary action to reduce the pollution levels in their
jurisdiction and authority for the Environment Minister to order the polluted councils to
prepare and implement a pollution reduction plan in their jurisdiction;
(4) Obligation to obtain an emissions permit for any person who installs, owns, operates or uses
an emission source that requires a permit. In the regulations, the Environment Minister laid
down rules and criteria with respect to issuing emissions permits, whereby such criteria
include guidelines relating to the best available techniques on which the terms of such
emissions permit will be based. The emissions permit will be issued for a period of seven
years;
(5) The authority to impose financial sanctions and provisions with respect to civil lawsuits
against persons violating the provisions of the Law, as well as imprisonment and fines.
In 2016, all Group Companies received an emission permits from the Ministry of Environmental
Protection, which are valid for seven years until 2023. The emission permits set out provisions
regarding maximum emissions from every emission source in the Group Companies’ facilities,
odor prevention, control and warning systems, monitoring, sampling, follow-up and reporting,
dates for submission and implementation of plans for improvement of the Company’s
environmental performance and other provisions, and set out harsher provisions than in the past
and new requirements on a long list of issues regulated in them. Under the emission permit, the
Group Companies may use alternative fuel during a fuel supply failure, within the limits set out in
the permit, including the need under certain circumstances to obtain approval from the competent
authority at the Ministry of Environmental Protection. If a measurement exceeds the values set
out in the emission permit, the Companies take measures to ensure compliance with the
provisions of the emission permits.
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The Group's Companies applied to the Ministry of Environmental Protection for clarifications,
timetables and further amendments in the emissions permits issued for them, including due to
technological or economic impossibility. In the reporting period, the Company receive notice
from the Ministry of Environmental Protection that it intends to correct the emission permits of
the Company and Carmel Olefins and address their inquiries regarding certain details in the
emissions permits issued for them. The Group Companies are acting intensively to comply with
the different requirements of the emission permits and alternatively to revise the provisions and/or
timetables set out in these permits.
Considering the increase of the Group's environmental protection investments in recent years and
noting the additional investments that the Company and subsidiaries will be required to make in
their plants to comply with the provisions of the emissions permits when each enters into effect,
the Company estimates that the volume of investments which will be required by the Group
Companies, other than Haifa Basic Oils (for which substantially higher investments might
possibly be required than those made in the past in this area), to comply with the emissions
permits will not be materially higher than their investments in recent years. Regarding the
increased investments which Haifa Basic Oils will be required to make to comply with the
emissions permit, see Note 11F of the consolidated financial statements.
The Company's assessment regarding the amounts which the Group Companies are
expected to invest to comply with the provisions of the emissions permits when each enters
into effect and the Companies’ ability to comply with these provisions on those dates is
forward-looking information. The Company's assessment is based, inter alia, on assessment
of the type of investments required to comply with the provisions of the permit and the cost
of their implementation, which is affected by outside entities, including know-how,
equipment and service providers. The Company's assessments may not materialize, inter
alia, if the type of investments required and/or estimated cost of their implementation
changes.
The regulations enacted by virtue of the Law also include provisions defining heavy or
unreasonable air pollution and means of preventing such pollution. In 2016, these regulations
were revised, reducing the environmental values regarding some of the materials included in
them. The Company is examining the impact of the values defined in regulations on its air quality
preparations. It has taken measures required to reduce emission of such materials from its
facilities and comply with these values and is expected to continue taking further action to do so.
1.18.2.3

In the reporting period, the Ministry of Environmental Protection notified the Company that
higher levels of benzene than in the past were measured at certain monitoring stations in Haifa
Bay and that it is considering taking measures, including issuing an injunction and reducing air
pollution by virtue of the Clean Air Law, and including a requirement to map and treat emission
sources suspected of emitting benzene, shortening timetables for taking measures to reduce
emissions from equipment components containing benzene, and other measures. The Company is
acting to implement monitoring, location and reduction of benzene emissions from the Group
Companies’ facilities and has submitted a mapping plan to the Ministry as required. Later, the
Ministry of Environmental Protection issued an administrative order under section 45 of the
Clean Air Law, 2008 against the Company and its subsidiaries Carmel Olefins and Gadiv,
instructing them to submit a plan and take measures to reduce benzene emissions from their
facilities. The Companies submitted a plan as required and are in constant contact with the
Ministry with regard to its implementation. The Company estimates that the measures which the
Companies take to reduce benzene emissions will enable them to comply with the provisions of
the order without changing or reducing the activity.
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The Company’s assessment regarding compliance of the Companies with the provisions of
the administrative order is forward looking information which depends, inter alia, on the
actual results presented of the measures which they take to reduce benzene emissions from
their facilities and may be different if such results are different to the present assessment.
1.18.2.4

Personal orders
Until entry into force of the emission permits of each of the Group Companies, as set out above,
in 2016 the Group Companies (other than Haifa Basic Oils) were subject to personal orders issued
under the Prevention of Hazards Law, 1961.

1.18.2.5

Under the provisions of the Prevention of Hazards from Asbestos and Harmful Dust Law, 2011
(in this section: “the Law”), the Company must dismantle and remove the asbestos on premises of
its plant within ten years from entry into force of the Law. Dismantling and removal of asbestos
requires the consent of the Technical Hazardous Dust Committee of the Ministry of the
Environment. On January 12, 2014, a warning was received from the Ministry of Environmental
Protection regarding suspected asbestos work allegedly performed without obtaining an
appropriate permit and non-submission of a survey as required under the provisions of the Law.
The Company conducted a survey to locate and map the use of brittle asbestos installed for
thermal insulation purposes in the industrial plants of the Group Companies in accordance with
directions received from the Ministry of Environmental Protection and has prepared a
multiannual plan for its removal, which is being implemented according to the relevant permits
received from time to time from the Ministry of Environmental Protection and in accordance with
the provisions of the Law.
The costs involved are not material to the Company's business.

1.18.2.6

For information of the warning received by the Company, Carmel Olefins and Gadiv in 2015 for
alleged violations of the emission permits and/or personal orders and/or Ministry of
Environmental Protection procedures issued for the Companies, see Notes 20B(5) and 20B(6) of
the consolidated financial statements.

1.18.2.7

With regard to the lawsuit and motion for certification as a class action filed in June 2015 against ten
defendants, including the Company, Carmel Olefins and Gadiv for air pollution allegations in Haifa
Bay and the alleged resulting damage, see Note 20B(3) of the consolidated financial statements.

1.18.2.8

With respect to an indictment filed in July 2015 by the Ministry of Environmental Protection
against the Company, Carmel Olefins and Gadiv, and several past officers and other directors on
the relevant dates, for claimed violations regarding the results of smokestack tests conducted in
2011, alleged delay in installing means of reducing emissions from a storage tank on its premises
and regarding the removal date of sludge accumulated on its premises, see Note 20B(3) of the
consolidated financial statements.

1.18.2.9

On February 28, 2016, the Ministry of Environmental Protection held a hearing for Carmel
Olefins. A decision has not yet been made regarding the steps to be taken against it, including
issuing an injunction or an order to reduce air pollution under section 45 of the Clean Air Law,
2008 for a significant rise in air emissions of organic compounds evaporating from equipment at
Carmel Olefins' plant. Subsequent to the hearing, an administrative order was issued against
Carmel Olefins to reduce non-specific volatile organic emissions.

1.18.2.10 For information regarding the lawsuit and motion to certify a class action following a fire that
erupted in one of the Company’s interim storage tanks on December 25, 2016, see Note 20B(3) of
the consolidated financial statements.
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1.18.2.11 For information regarding a fine imposed on Carmel Olefins for alleged violations of the
emission permit issued for it, with respect to three technical issues, see Note 30B(3) of the
consolidated financial statements.
1.18.3

Effluent quality and the Kishon River
Industrial effluent generated during the manufacturing operations of the Group Companies is
treated by them and pumped as brine into the Kishon River or transferred by them to a third party
(as set out below). The quality issue of the brine pumped by the Group Companies is regulated
under the provisions of a permit to pump brine into the sea. The plants constantly monitor the
quality of the brine before pumping it into the Kishon River. Under the pumping permit issued to
the Group Companies, as from January 1, 2012 the Ministry of Environmental Protection applies
the waste water standard fixed by the committee headed by Dr. Yossi Inbar, Deputy Director
General of the Ministry of Environmental Protection “the Inbar Committee”) to the pumped
brine.
In the reporting period, the brine treatment plant on Carmel Olefins’ premises was reactivated.
The plant was restored, upgraded and is operated by a third party specializing in the field under
an agreement between it and the Company. As of the reporting date, the plant operates as usual.
For further information, see Note 20C(7) of the consolidated financial statements.
The policy of the Group's Companies is to avoid pumping brine into the Kishon as far as possible,
and subject to the proper operation of the foregoing plant, they will refrain from pumping brine
from their facilities into the Kishon River, and the quantity of brine pumped from the plant is
significantly lower than the quantities pumped by the Group Companies in the past.
The foregoing regarding proper operation of the plant is forward looking information. The
Company’s assessments in this regard are based on the assessments of the third party that
operates the plant, the present composition of the Companies’ brine, the present brine
treatment arrangements and the Ministry of Environmental Protection’s current position.
The Company's forecasts may not materialize, among others, if changes are made to the
regulatory provisions in future, including with respect to the Inbar Commission's standard,
or if the plant's performance is different than expected or the composition of its brine
changes.
With respect to the indictment filed in 2014 by the Ministry of Environmental Protection against
the Company and several former directors for a claimed offense of failing to prevent water
polluting activity due to damage by a contractor employed by the Company on the sewage
pipeline in 2009, see Note 20B(3) of the consolidated financial statements.

1.18.4

Toxins
The Group Companies each have a toxin permit under the Hazardous Substances Law making
provisions regarding the quantities of hazardous substances each is permitted to hold and the
manner of storing and treating them. The permit also includes provisions with respect to locating
facilities which are likely be damaged in an earthquake of a defined strength and pose a risk, and
reinforcement of any facility so located according to a reinforcement plan submitted for review to
the Ministry of the Environment, and discussions with the Ministry are underway following the
comments on the plan. The costs involved in reinforcing the facilities are not material for the
Group Companies. In 2016, the Ministry of Environmental Protection issued a guide for
assessment and reinforcement of the earthquake resistance of plants, which is significantly
harsher than the requirements regarding location, exploration and treatment of earthquake risks.
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The Company implements the guide and concluded with the Ministry of Environmental
Protection that the volume of substances regarding which Bazan will be required to implement
the provisions of the guide will not change in view of the extremely short distance between the
Company’s plants and the public receptor.
Under the provisions of the law, toxic waste is removed to the National Waste Disposal site at
Ramat Hovav, and solid waste, such as polluted soil, is removed to burial sites under specific
permits obtained from the Ministry for the Environment.
For information about the indictment filed in 2015 against the Company and its officers and
reference to non-removal of sludge on the dates set out in the law, and which ended in the
reporting year, see Note 20B(3) of the consolidated financial statements. The Company also
received a warning before institution of civil proceedings under the Prevention of Hazards Law
against it and its officers for alleged non-compliance with such toxic substance removal order.
1.18.5

Suspected fuel seepage into soil and groundwater

1.18.5.1

From time to time, the Company is required to check claims concerning seepage of fuels and
other pollutants into the soil and groundwater in the plant area. In 2005, after groundwater
pollution was found in the upper section and a fuel pocket, the Company started drilling monitor
bores in the shallow layer of groundwater underneath one of its facilities. The Company also
drilled several extraction wells to contain the pollution, extract the polluted layer and remove it
from the groundwater. From time to time, the Company drills extraction wells on its premises to
extract a layer polluted with fuels and remove it from the groundwater.

1.18.5.2

Based on a survey conducted by an external expert, the results of which were sent to the
Company on January 21, 2007, the Company believes it is unlikely that the groundwater in the
aquifer in the area of its plant, which flows in a general south-westerly direction, will contribute
to pollution of the groundwater to the west and south of its plant area. Based on this survey, the
Company believes that the pollution in the plant area is not expected to spread into adjacent areas
where it could pollute water sources used for drinking or irrigation.

1.18.5.3

According to the Ministry of the Environment's position expressed to the Company on January 1,
2007 in the guidelines for a survey of the environmental impact, the plants in the petrochemical
site were required to conduct a soil survey under these guidelines, which stipulate that the
“Ministry of the Environment will add supplementary requirements as necessary and based on the
survey findings, including requirements to repair faults and rehabilitate any pollution which may
be found.” The survey is supposed to set out the extent and location of such pollution.
In July 2007, the Company received the results of the above hydrogeological survey indicating
that there is no danger to the groundwater sources in the areas outside the plants' boundaries
resulting from the plant's operations. However, several sites were found to contain polluted soil.
The recommendation of the surveyor, which to the best of the Company’s knowledge is also
acceptable to the Ministry of the Environment, is to perform a risk assessment using RBCA or a
similar method upon completion of processing the ground survey results and to act according to
its results.
In 2014, the Ministry of Environmental Protection decided to delay further performance of the
survey until approval of the draft general provisions on the subject published by the Ministry. In
2015, the guidelines were approved. As agreed with the Ministry of Environmental Protection,
the survey will be conducted after receiving guidelines from the Ministry. As of the reporting
date, the guidelines for implementation are yet to be received from the Ministry.
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Nevertheless, also considering the following concerning the Ministry of the Environmental
Protection's position, there is a risk of finding soil and groundwater pollution. In this regard, there
is uncertainty with respect to the scope of treatment that might be required if pollution is
discovered, and the Company cannot assess the possible impact of these developments.
1.18.5.4

Over the years, various entities have raised claims or concerns of soil and/or groundwater
contamination outside the Company's premises:


On May 12, 2008 a hearing was held at the Ministry of Environmental Protection's Haifa
offices for Petroleum and Energy Infrastructure Company Ltd. (PEI), Eilat Ashkelon
Pipeline Company Ltd. (EAPC) and the Company, after the Ministry alleged that, during a
tour conducted near the fishing harbor in the PEI strip where Haifa Oil Refinery and EAPC
pipeline works are carried out, it discovered findings which could indicate pollution, and that
soil suspected as polluted was removed from the area to Haifa Oil Refinery. At the hearing,
the Company advised that the test results indicate that there was no leakage from its pipeline.



On March 1, 2009, the Company and PEI received a toxic substance removal order, under
section 16(A) of the Hazardous Substances Law, 1993 and a clean-up order, under section
13(B) of the Maintenance of Cleanliness Law, 1984 demanding that the Company, PEI and
their CEOs submit plans to the Ministry of Environmental Protection for soil gas, soil and
groundwater surveys and fencing off of two areas where the Ministry of Environmental
Protection claims the soil and groundwater are contaminated by fuel products (“the Polluted
Areas”), conduct the survey according to the approved plan and submit a report of the survey
findings for the Ministry's approval, including recommendations for clean-up and
rehabilitation of the contaminated soil and groundwater and restoration of the river and its
banks to their former condition based on the survey findings, while also defining a shortterm binding timetable for implementation of the survey and the recommendations in full
until all waste and toxins are removed from the soil and groundwater.
On July 5, 2009, the Company submitted the Hagedura River area treatment plan based on
the survey findings for Ministry of Environmental Protection approval. The plan, including
the timetable, was approved by the Ministry of Environmental Protection and is implemented
by the Company.
As of the report date, the Company's expenses for implementation of the treatment plan are
not material. However, it is unable to assess whether it will be required to take further
measures in this matter and the scope of the expenses it will incur as a result.



On January 4, 2015, the Company received a warning from the Ministry of Environmental
Protection under the Water Law, 1959 for suspected violation of the Water Regulations
(Water Pollution Prevention) (Fuel Pipelines), 2006 regarding performance of tests to verify
that the fuel pipelines have cathode protection and repairing any defects discovered. This is
further to the Company's report of April 29, 2014 regarding a fuel oil leak incident adjacent
to the valve pit in the Haifa Bay Shemen Beach area. Due the leak, the Company was
required to treat pollution allegedly caused and investigate the circumstances of the incident.
According to the test report findings of a corrosion engineer on behalf of the Company, the
reason for the fault in the pipe was local corrosion from a crack in the insulation cover. The
Company was required to take immediate action to repair the fault, as described in the
reports of the periodic cathodic protection integrity tests conducted on the leaking pipe, and
to verify the integrity of the cathodic protection in the leak area by a repeat test. The
Company implemented these provisions.
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With respect to the above claims, provisions and/or concerns, since the Company does not
possess any information to date basing its accountability for any of them, it cannot rule out the
possibility that, with respect to soil and/or groundwater contamination, it is exposed to amounts
which it cannot estimate at this stage, because the scope of the pollution, if any, at various sites is
unknown. The Company does not know either whether there is any pollution, when it was created
and who is responsible.
1.18.5.5
1.18.5.5.1

Provisions applicable to Ducor
Ducor is subject regulations concerning air, soil and noise pollution hazards from its facilities. It
has a permit from 1995 under the Environmental Control Act “the ECA permit”). Since October
31, 2007, Ducor must also comply with the requirements of the EU's Integrated Pollution
Prevention and Control Directive (IPPC) which, according to tests, it does.
Under the terms of the ECA permit, Ducor must also comply with stringent requirements
relating to the noise from its industrial operations and storage of hazardous materials. As of the
reporting date, Ducor complies with such requirements.
Ducor has a wastewater pumping permit prescribing various restrictions concerning the
composition of the effluent.

1.18.5.5.2

To conclude the agreement to acquire the holding in Ducor, in 2008 an environmental
protection consultant employed together by both parties to the transaction (“the Environmental
Consultant”) conducted various soil and groundwater tests in the area in which Ducor's plant is
located. These tests indicated that the soil is contaminated with various oils and metals.
The Environmental Consultant believes that the source of part of the pollution is probably the
result of the preparations made in the Ducor plant area between 1961 and 1971 and adapting it
for industrial needs using contaminated sand and mud.
As Rotterdam Ports Authority developed the area for industrial use after 1971, this historic soil
pollution is probably not connected to industrial operations.
Based on the results of the tests he conducted, the Environmental Consultant concluded that
there is no reason to determine that Ducor polluted the soil and groundwater by its industrial
operations and in his opinion, the pollution level is not high enough for the competent authority
to demand soil treatment.
The Environmental Consultant found an unusual result with respect to TPH contaminated
compounds in a specific spot at the site which most probably originates from industrial activities
prior to 1992 and which he estimates is not linked to Ducor's industrial activities.
It is noted that Carmel Olefins provided an indemnification letter in this regard for the lease
period preceding its purchase of Ducor.

1.18.6

New Legislation and Standardization
Prevention and Rehabilitation of Contaminated Soil Bill, 2011
On August 3, 2011, the Prevention and Rehabilitation of Contaminated Soil Bill, 2011 (“the
Bill”) passed the first reading in the Knesset and is under discussion in preparation for the second
and third readings. Under the Bill, the purpose of the law is to protect the soil, water sources,
flora and fauna, including to prevent soil pollution, rehabilitate it, preserve it as a resource for the
public, future generations and the environment, and to protect the health of the public. The Bill
anchors the responsibility to treat soil pollution and prescribes an increased level of enforcement,
including establishment of criminal and financial sanctions which could be imposed on anyone
violating its provisions.
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The issues covered by the law include: 1) Prohibition to contaminate soil, obligation to
immediately treat and prevent contaminated soil, and tortious liability for any damage and
expenses incurred by pollution; (2) imposition of mandatory reporting and notifying of any soil
pollution or real suspicion of soil pollution on private entities and public authorities, including the
obligation to take immediate action upon discovery of any real concern for soil pollution; (3)
granting authority to a supervisor appointed by the Minister of Environmental Protection to
instruct the Land Registrar to record a caveat of such in the land registry; (4) imposition of the
obligation to conduct soil and risk surveys in the event of real concern that the land is polluted;
(5) imposition of the obligation to submit a soil treatment plan within four months if the land is
found to be polluted, and execution of the plan within the timetable fixed by the Ministry of
Environmental Protection; (6) regulation of establishment of a soil rehabilitation fund with the
finances allocated for soil rehabilitation only and the conditions under which the polluter is
eligible to the assistance of the fund. The source of the funds will be, among others, from fines
imposed on soil polluters and state funds; (7) determination of the obligation of an employer and
corporate officer to supervise preventing company employees from violating the law. If an
employee commits an offense, the employer or officer are presumed to have violated their above
obligation, unless they prove they did everything possible to fulfill such obligation
1.18.7

Quality Management Standards

1.18.7.1

The Company has Israeli Environmental Management Standard ISO 14001:2015 certification for
management and transportation of energy products and raw materials for the petrochemical
industry. This is an international standard adopted as an Israeli standard by the Standards
Institution of Israel (SII) in February 1997. The standard sets out the requirements for an
organized environmental management system integrated into the comprehensive management
operations.

1.18.7.2

The Company also has Israeli ISO 18001:2007 certification for occupational safety and health
management, which is similar in format to Israeli Standard ISO 14001:2015. It was also granted
certification under Israeli Quality Management Standard ISO 9001:2015. Carmel Olefins has a
quality assurance system in accordance with the standard measures in its operating segment and
international quality standards. Its quality management system was examined and surveyed by SII
and found to comply with the requirements of Israeli and International Standard ISO 9001, 2015
version, in the production of polyolefins, ethylene and by-products, and project management.
Carmel Olefins is also certified for Israeli and International Environmental Management Standard
ISO 14001:2015 and Israeli Standard SI 18001 for safety and hygiene management (international
standard OHSAS 18001).

1.18.7.3

Ducor is certified under International Environmental Management Standard ISO 14001 and
Quality Management Standard ISO 9001.

1.18.7.4

Gadiv is certified under the following quality management standards: Israeli Quality Management
Standard ISO 9001:2015; Israeli Environmental Management Standard ISO 14001:2015; Israeli
Occupational Safety and Health Management Standard SI 180001:2007; and its products are
registered under the European REACH Directive.

1.18.7.5

Haifa Basic Oils is certified under the following quality management standards: Israeli Quality
Management Standard ISO 9001:2015; Israeli Environmental Management Standard 14001:2015
and Israeli Occupational Safety and Health Management Standard ISO 18001:2007.

1.18.7.6

The Group Companies are certified under Israeli Information Security Management Standard ISO
27001:2013 for protection of the organization's administrative information and administrative
information systems.
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1.18.7.7

The Company is certified under Energy Management Standard ISO 50001:2011.

1.18.7.8

As of the reporting date, these certificates are valid and subject to ongoing maintenance and
performance of periodic SII monitoring.

1.19

Restrictions and supervision of the Company's operations
Besides the above environmental protection laws, various price control, business licensing,
antitrust and safety laws, standards and orders are applicable to the operations of the Group
Companies, and with respect to the Company, also provisions originating from its privatization
procedure. The relevant laws applicable to the operations of the Group Companies are as follows:

1.19.1

Control permit for holding means of control of the Company22

1.19.1.1

On June 27, 2007, Israel Corporation received ministerial approval for control and holding the
means of control of the Company by virtue of the Government Companies (Declaration of
Essential State Interests in Oil Refineries Ltd.) Order, 2007, The control permit, as revised from
time to time, is subject to compliance with its requirements, conditions and undertakings by Israel
Corporation and the individual permit holders listed in the permit (Idan Ofer and Ehud Angel)
(the “Permit Holder”), including maintenance of the Company's and Israel Corporation's existing
holding structure and limiting the transfer of control of the Company or any change in holding of
the means of control and the composition of the control of Israel Corporation (as indicated in the
permit), including a restriction on decreasing the holdings of means of control in Israel
Corporation (as indicated in the permit), including a restriction on decreasing the holdings of
means of control in Israel Corporation, without ministerial approval23.

1.19.1.2

Under the control permit, its holder may be the controlling shareholder of the Company and hold
24% or more of the means of control, so long as the direct holder of the control and means of
control of the Company is Israel Corporation only and that the control of the Company is
exercised at the sole and absolute discretion of Israel Corporation.

1.19.1.3

On May 7, 2009, IPE received ministerial approval for control and holding the means of control
of the Company (which has since been amended several times). The control permit is subject to
compliance with its requirements, conditions and undertakings by IPE, PCH and the other permit
holders stipulated in the permit (the individuals who are not controlling shareholders in IPE) (“the
Permit Holders”), including maintenance of the existing structure of holdings in IPE and PCH, so
that the holdings of the individual controlling shareholders in IPE, through Alverstone Ltd. does
not fall below 36% in each type of means of control. The permit is also subject to the validity of
the control permit granted to Israel Corporation.

1.19.1.4

On June 7, 2009, the Company received notice from the Government Companies Authority
informing it that a revised control permit was signed for Israel Corporation, under which Israel
Corporation may control the Company and hold 24% or more of the means of control,
independently or together with IPE and PCH in accordance with the provisions of the agreement
for joint control of the Company.24

1.19.1.5

The Company was informed that the ministers revised the control permit for Israel Corporation
and IPE several times due to amendments to the joint control agreement.

22
23
24

The information in this section is to the best of the Company's knowledge.
Excluding certain changes permitted in the control permit.
The validity of the revision is subject to the validity of the control permit granted to IPE as set forth above. If the
permit granted to IPE is canceled or expires, the original version of the control permit granted to the Israel
Corporation and the individual permit holders will be reinstated.
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1.19.1.6

For information of the agreement for joint control of the Company by IPE and PCH on the first
part and Israel Corporation, see section 2.5 of the shelf prospectus.

1.19.1.7

On February 2, 2017, the joint control agreement was revised and stipulates that the controlling
interest shares will constitute 30% of the Company’s issued and paid up capital at that date and
will be distributed by the internal ratio between the controlling interests of 55.625% for Israel
Corporation and 44.375% for IPE.

1.19.2

Government price control
The maximum price25 for fuel products sold by the Company is not controlled. Control over the
maximum ex-refinery prices will reapply if the refinery fails to uphold the reporting obligations
applicable to it with respect to refined product quantities and prices or if its share of one refinery
exceeds 50% of the local market consumption of the product and is less than 15% at another
refinery.
The Commodities and Services Price Control (Maximum Ex-Refinery LPG Price) Order, 2000
prescribes that the LPG price control regime is in accordance with chapter G of the Price Control
(Profit Reporting) Law, and if it becomes clear that a refinery sold LPG at a higher price than the
import price of the month preceding the month of the sale (as defined in the order), or that a
refinery supplied LPG to different consumers at different prices simultaneously, chapter F of the
Price Control (Application to Raise Prices) Law will apply.
The prices of the storage, pumping and distribution infrastructure services provided and
consumed by the Company (excluding the infrastructure services purchased from EAPC and the
distribution services provided by the Company at Haifa Oil Refinery) are prescribed in the
Commodities and Services Price Control (Fuel Industry Infrastructure Tariffs) Order, 1995.
In 2014, the maximum rates for infrastructure services paid in the fuel industry in Israel were
revised and in 2017 the price committee published its recommendation for a further revision. The
Company takes measures for optimal streamlining of the use of infrastructures services that it
receives, which are subject to price control.

1.19.3

Supervision of monopolies
On February 27, 1989, the Antitrust Commissioner declared the Company a monopoly in the fuel
distillation services field. For many years now, the Company no longer provides fuel distillation
services, but sells refined products, so the conditions prescribed in the declaration are irrelevant to
the Company’s operating activity. Nonetheless, the Company believes that, in the foreseeable
future, it is likely to continue to be a monopoly over some of the refined products which it sells.
Carmel Olefins was declared a monopoly in the supply of low-density ethylene and polyethylene.
Gadiv was declared a monopoly in the benzene26, toluene and xylene segment. Since the vast
majority of Gadiv’s products are sold outside Israel, these provisions have no significant impact
on its business.
Haifa Basic Oils was declared a monopoly in the basic oils and waxes segment. In this matter, see
also section 1.10.2.5 above.

25

26

As of the reporting date, there is a maximum price for one type of bitumen and one type of fuel oil supplied by the
Company.
Gadiv does not sell benzene in Israel.
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Under the Antitrust Law, its provisions regulating the operations of monopolies are applicable to
the Group Companies with respect to products over which any of them has a monopoly, including
the prohibition of unreasonable refusal to supply the asset or service in the monopoly, the
prohibition to abuse status of the monopoly in the market to reduce competition in business or
harm the public etc.
1.19.4

The Antitrust Commissioner’s decisions regarding rules applicable to the Company
following the split from ORA and privatization of the Company
In his ruling of September 27, 2006, authorizing the purchase of ORA by Paz, the former
Antitrust Commissioner stated that full separation must be maintained between ORA’s operations
and the operations of any other refinery in Israel, and that no arrangement may be implemented
concerning joint purchase of raw materials, cooperation in the sale or marketing of products or
the use of production, storage, pumping or dispensing infrastructure, or port or unloading
infrastructure, without the prior consent of the Commissioner, other than the transfer of feedstock
where needed to provide an immediate solution for a production malfunction.
In the ruling, it was clarified that the feedstock agreement signed between ORA and the Company
under the split transaction did not require the Commissioner's consent.
The ruling also set out provisions requiring ORA to supply customers in the LPG market equally
and without discrimination.
Under the Antitrust Commissioner's decision of March 26, 2007 to approve, with conditions, the
merger of the Company, Israel Corporation and PCH, provisions were set out requiring the
Company, Carmel Olefins and Rotem Amfert Negev Ltd. to provide equal and nondiscriminating supply to ORA.

1.19.5

Natural Gas Market Law
The Natural Gas Market Law stipulates that an Oil Refiner or entity related to an Oil Refiner may
sell or market natural gas under the following conditions:
(1) The sale or marketing of natural gas will not be conditional to purchasing another service or
product from it or others, or refraining from purchasing a service, product or natural gas
from others;
(2) (a) It will not operate or manage gas stations providing refueling with natural gas and will
not hold the right to sell or market natural gas exclusively to them or means of control
of them if the quantity of such gas stations exceeds twenty, or 25% of the quantity of
such gas stations in Israel, whichever is higher, either solely or together with others who
are Oil Refiners or entities connected to an Oil Refiner, as the case may be;
(b) When counting the gas stations in subsection (a), all the stations which an Oil Refiner,
or entity connected to it, operates, manages, or in which it holds the right to sell or
market natural gas or holds means of control, as set out in that subsection, must be taken
into account.
(3) It complies with further condition, if prescribed by the Minister of National Infrastructures,
with the Minister of Finance’s consent and the Knesset Economic Affairs Committee's
approval.
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1.19.6

Law for Promotion of Competition and Reduction of Market Concentration
On December 11, 2013, the Law for Promotion of Competition and Reduction of Market
Concentration, 2013 (the “Market Concentration Law”) was published in the Official Gazette. As
a rule, the Market Concentration Law limits the pyramid structure of companies to two tiers of
reporting companies (termed “tier subsidiary” in the law). Presently the Company, which is
controlled by Israel Corporation and Israel Petrochemical Enterprises (both reporting companies),
is considered a third-tier subsidiary.
The Market Concentration Law prescribes as follows: (1) A regulator may refuse to grant a right,
including to grant or extend a license, to a concentration-promoting entity if it is found to be
unreasonable, because real harm will be caused to the segment in which the right is granted, and
to regulating such industry; (2) a regulator wishing to allow granting of a right will refrain from
doing so without weighing the concentration considerations of the entire market in consultation
with the Committee for Reduction of Market Concentration; (3) when granting a right, the
regulator will take into account sector competition promotion considerations, and if the right was
included in the list of rights published by the Antitrust Commissioner on this matter, the regulator
will not grant such right without weighing promotion of sector competition in consultation with
the Antitrust Commissioner. These provisions may be relevant to the Company, because the oil
refining and LPG production segments are considered essential infrastructures
The Market Concentration Law also determines the obligation to take into account the
concentration considerations of the entire market and sector competition as part of proceedings
under the Government Companies Law, 1975 (“the Government Companies Law”) as follows:
(1) The Government Companies Authority will consult with the Committee for Reduction of
Market Concentration prior to forming its position under section 59H(a) of the Government
Companies Law regarding announcement in an order that the State has an “essential interest”, as
defined in that law, whereas with respect to such announcement regarding granting a right
included in the list, the Government Companies Authority will consult the Antitrust
Commissioner concerning promotion of sector competition considerations; (2) The order under
section 59H of the Government Companies Law provides that if the State has such an essential
interest, the ministers will not approve transferring control under section 59I or means of control
under section 59J(a)(1) of this law without consulting the Committee for Reduction of Market
Concentration.
On December 11, 2014, the Committee for Reduction of Market Concentration published the list
of concentration-promoting entities under which the Company was declared a concentrationpromoting entity in transmissions, water production, quarrying of a certain type of mineral, the
fuel market, LPG and the Dead Sea concession. With respect to concentration-promoting entities,
the Market Concentration Law provides that a regulator wishing to grant a right to such an entity
will refrain from doing so and will not allow such an entity to participate in the right granting
process without weighing concentration considerations of the entire market and segment in
consultation with the Committee for Reduction of Market Concentration and the Antitrust
Commissioner. This law also prescribed that the regulator must take into account considerations
regarding preventing expansion of the concentration-promoting entity's operations, with attention
to the relevant operating segments and considering the relationship between them. Any granting
of rights to a concentration-promoting entity is subject to the regulator contacting the Committee
for Reduction of Market Concentration in writing and providing reasons.
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At this stage, the Company cannot estimate whether and how declaring it a concentrationpromoting entity in the different segments will affect it, including with respect to its chances of
receiving a conditional license in future for cogeneration of electricity at a capacity of 340
megawatts. For further information, see section 1.25.3 below. Moreover, the Company cannot
predict whether such declaration will prevent granting the Company any right requested by it, if
any.
The Market Concentration Law also prescribed the obligation of separating significant nonfinancial companies from significant financial companies, as defined in the law, on both the level
of the control of such entities and restricting cross-holding among them and the level of their
directors and restricting simultaneous tenure of a director in financial and non-financial
companies when the director is a controlling shareholder or has an interest in a controlling
shareholder of a significant non-financial company.
On December 11, 2014, the Committee for Reduction of Market Concentration published the list
of significant non-financial companies under which the Company was declared a significant nonfinancial company.
In the Company's opinion, declaring the company a significant non-financial company does not
affect the Group's operating activity.
1.19.7

Licenses
The companies hold the following licenses which are required for their operations and set out the
terms of their operations:
Expiration of license
April 30, 2018
April 30, 2018
April 30, 2018
April 30, 2018
April 30, 2018
April 30, 2018
April 30, 2018
December 31, 2018
December 31, 2108
November 30, 2019
November 30, 2019
May 9, 2031

December 31, 2018
December 31, 2018

Licensing authority
Haifa Municipality
(1)
Haifa Municipality
(1)
Haifa Municipality
(1)
Haifa Municipality
(1)
Haifa Municipality
(1)
Haifa Municipality
(1)
Haifa Municipality
(1)
Ministry of Finance
- Tax Authority
Ministry of Finance
- Tax Authority
Ministry of National
Infrastructure
Ministry of National
Infrastructure
Ministry of National
Infrastructure Electricity Authority
Israel Tax Authority
- Finance Ministry
Israel Tax Authority
- Finance Ministry

License holder

Type of license

The Company

Provisional permit

Carmel Olefins

Provisional permit

Gadiv

Provisional permit

Haifa Basic Oils

Provisional permit

The Company

The Company

Business license to transport gas
and fuel
Business license to transport
hazardous substances
Business license to transport
hazardous substances
License to manufacture fuel and
operate a storage site
License to manufacture fuel and
operate a storage site
Gas supplier license

ORL Trading

Gas supplier license

The Company

Electricity production license(2)

Gadiv

Approval for purchase of fuel
exempt from excise tax
Approval for purchase of fuel
exempt from excise tax

Gadiv
Carmel Olefins
The Company
Carmel Olefins

Carmel Olefins

(1) The business licenses are subject to conditions issued by the “approval givers”, including the Ministry
of Environmental Protection, Fire Department, Ministry of Economy, as the case may be.
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The Company takes steps to renew all the licenses required for its operation proximate to their
expiry date. Haifa Municipality recently delayed dealing with renewal of the business licenses of
the Group Companies several times and in 2016 even issued an administrative injunction
regarding the provisional permit granted to Carmel Olefins, to force the Group Companies to
apply to the competent court for appropriate relief. Subject to continuing to comply with the
terms of the licenses issued for the Company, it does not foresee any grounds for non-renewal of
these licenses.
The Company's assessment regarding renewal of the licenses required for its operations is
forward looking information and depends, inter alia, on the decisions of third parties with
authority by law. This assessment might not materialize, or the terms of the licenses may
change, so that it may be difficult for the Company to manage its business affairs.
For information on environmental protection and hazardous substance permits, see section
1.18.1.5 above.
1.19.8

Special permit to engage employees on the Sabbath
The companies’ facilities operate every day of the year. They have a special permit to engage
employees on weekly rest days under the provisions of the Hours of Work and Rest Law, 1951,
which is valid until September 30, 2019 and with respect to Carmel Olefins, until December 31,
2018.

1.19.9

Declaration of essential enterprise
The Company and Carmel Olefins have been declared essential enterprises under the Emergency
Work Service Law, 1967, which regulates their operations in times of emergency. An essential
enterprise is an enterprise declared by the authorized government ministries as performing
operations which are essential for essential supplies and services. The Law authorizes the
Minister of Economy and Industry to require Company employees and persons who are not
Company employees to present themselves for work at the Company’s plant in an emergency.

1.19.10

The Fuel Economy Bill
On July 16, 2012, the Fuel Economy Bill, 201227 (“Fuel Economy Bill” or “Bill”) was issued and
passed the first reading. The purpose of the law under the Bill is to regulate operations28 in the
fuel economy to ensure regular, continuous and reliable supply of refined products, ensure an
adequate service level in all fuel industry sectors, maintain competition, promote and generate
competitive conditions, and ensure supply during emergencies and public welfare.
The highlights of the Bill which will affect the Company’s operations, if passed, are: Subjecting
continuation of Company’s operations to obtaining licenses under the Law after its enactment;
assurance of adequate service and competitive conditions; restrictions on holding a license and on
the activity of licensees and their controlling shareholders; limitations on use of the Company's
assets; gas stations; defining a refinery as an essential service and the implications of such. The
Bill grants particularly broad powers to the Fuel Administration Director and other entities to
establish conditions and provisions in the above segments, which are not set out in the Bill.

27
28

The full version of the Bill was published in Government Gazette - Government Bill No. 708 dated July 16, 2012.
"Operations" in this matter are: (1) Refining; (2) import of fuel; (3) marketing of fuel; (4) export of fuel; (5)
provision of infrastructure service; (6) activities in the industry prescribed by the Minister of National
Infrastructures.
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As of the report date, it is impossible to know which conditions and provisions will be prescribed
under the Law or the extent to which the current situation in the fuel industry may change.
Therefore, the Company does not have the information necessary to assess the extent of the
impact which this Bill will have on its operations and business.
1.19.11

Standards
Israel has official standards with respect to some of the refined products sold by the Company.
There are Israeli standards for some other refined products or provisions with respect to their
quality in orders enacted under the Vehicle Operation (Motors and Fuel) Law, 1961, and
occasionally, the specifications under which the Company supplies its products are determined by
agreement between the Company and the customer.
Refined products manufactured and sold by the Company comply with European standards based
on EURO-5, which were intended to reduce the effect of motor vehicle emissions on the
environment.

1.19.12

Regulations regarding the sale of LPG
The State Economy Arrangements (Legislative Amendments) (Sale of Gas by Gas
Manufacturers) Regulations, 2006 provide that the Company (and Carmel Olefins when it is
subject to such regulations) will not discriminate between the various gas suppliers in supplying
LPG. Similarly, various provisions intended to regulate the method of supply of LPG by the
Company to the various gas suppliers in general and in times of LPG shortages also apply to the
Company.
Moreover, the State Economy Arrangements (Legislative Amendments) (Provision of Equal
Service) Regulations, 2006, regulate providing equal services in the LPG segment by any refinery
operating in Israel and include punitive provisions for violating the obligations prescribed in
them. The regulations do not substantially alter the Company's LPG sale operations.

1.19.13

Registration as a fuel company
Under the State Economy Arrangements (Legislative Amendments to Achieve Budgetary Targets
and Economic Policy for the 2001 Fiscal Year) Law, 2001, the Company is required to be
registered as a fuel company with the Fuel Administration at the Ministry of National
Infrastructures as a condition for its operations in the segment. The Company is so registered.

1.19.14

Regulation of Security in Public Bodies Law, 1998
The Company is included in the second and fifth schedules to the Arrangement of Security in
Public Bodies Law, 1998 and is therefore subject to its provisions, which sets out special security
arrangements for the Company’s facilities. The law requires the Company to appoint a security
officer and an essential computer systems officer, grants the security officer various powers to
perform security activity at the Company, and requires the Company to following the police's
instructions with respect to physical security actions and the General Security Services' provisions
with respect to information security actions. Carmel Olefins was included in the fourth addendum
to the law, and therefore, its provisions apply to it regarding actions to protect essential computer
systems.
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1.19.15

Protection of Essential State Interests in the Company - Provisions of the Government
Companies Law and the Essential Interests Order under it
Section H(2)of the Government Companies Law authorizes the Prime Minister and Minister of
Finance to declare in an order that the State has essential interests concerning a company under
privatization and to make provisions in the order to protect the vital interests of the State with
respect to such company.

1.19.16

Government Companies (Declaration of Essential State Interests in Oil Refineries Ltd.)
Order, 2007 (in this section: the “Order”).

1.19.16.1 General
On February 1, 2007, an order was issued protecting the State's special interests in the Company.
The order sets out the State's essential interests concerning the Company:
(1) Maintaining the nature of the Company as an Israeli company whose business and
administration center is in Israel;
(2) Preventing exposure or disclosure of confidential information, for state security reasons;
(3) Promoting competition and preventing concentration in the fuel industry;
(4) Preventing the formation of situations in which the Company is influenced by hostile entities
or entities that may harm state security or foreign relations;
(5) Ensuring continuity of crude oil refining activities, and of production and sale of refined
product in Israel.
The order sets out various restrictions and obligations to ensure these interests, mainly the
following:
1.19.16.2 Restrictions on holding of control or means of control
(a) Prohibition on acquiring or holding control of the Company without the prior written consent
of the Prime Minister and the Minister of Finance (in this Section: the “Ministers”);
(b) Prohibition on holding 24% or more of a certain type of means of control in the Company
without the Ministers' prior written consent and on increasing holdings beyond that set out in
the approval;
(c) Restrictions concerning the identity of a controlling shareholder or anyone holding 5% or
more of the means of control of the Company, with respect to prohibited cross-holdings in
the Company and a company holding one of the following: ORA; storage, pumping, or
distribution infrastructures; port infrastructures; companies involved in natural gas; and
entities registered or owning operations in an enemy country;
(d) Requiring the Company to immediately report any holding of control or means of control
without receiving prior consent, in percentages that require consent under the order,
including due to exercising a lien on means of control or any other right granted;
(e) Requiring any person holding control or means of control without approval to sell their
holdings, and the Company will have no authority to exercise any right under deviant
holdings.
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1.19.16.3 Center of business and ongoing management
(a) The Company will always be incorporated and registered in Israel with its operating activity
and business center in Israel.
(b) The majority of the Company directors, including the Chairman of the Board, will be Israeli
citizens and residents and have security clearance and security compatibility for their
position, as determined by the General Security Service (“the Vetted Directors”), unless the
General Security Service approves deviation from such in writing and in advance, under
such conditions as may be prescribed.
(c) To comply with the requirements of sub-section (b) above, a unvetted director may not be
appointed or elected and such appointment will be invalid if, as a result, the number of vetted
directors is less than the majority of board members; and if the tenure of any of the vetted
directors expires or ends and the total number of vetted directors is less than the majority of
board members, the unvetted directors may not participate in the Company's board meetings
until the number of vetted directors required under sub-section (b) above have been
appointed.
(d) The following appointed Company officers will be Israeli citizens or residents and have
security clearance and security compatibility for their position, as determined by the General
Security Service: the CEO, acting CEO, VPs of Engineering, Operations and Information
Systems, General Counsel, Deputy General Counsel, Acting General Counsel, Internal
Auditor, Chief Security Officer and staff, Chief Essential Computer Systems Officer and
staff, other officeholders, senior officers and service providers, including consultants who
receive security classified information or work in operations with security entities, as
determined in coordination with the Company's Chief Security Officer and CEO.
(e) The appointment or employment by the Company of an officeholder who fails to meet the
provisions in subsection (d) above will be invalid and such appointment or employment, as
the case may be, will be null and void.
1.19.16.4 Changes in the Company’s structure
The following actions require prior written ministerial consent, following consultation with the
Minister of National Infrastructures: Voluntary liquidation of the Company; a settlement or
arrangement between the Company and its creditors or shareholders; a merger of the Company
with another company; a split of the Company, other than a split relating only to the transferring
Company assets not used in refining crude oil, manufacturing fuel products and supplying them in
Israel.
1.19.16.5 The Company’s distillate marketing operations at gas stations
(a) The Company will not be entitled to hold rights in gas stations that constitute 20% or more
of all of the gas stations in Israel; however, after December 31, 2011, the Ministers may, in
consultation with the Minister of National Infrastructures and the Antitrust Commissioner,
permit the Company to hold rights in gas stations at a higher rate than the above, paying
attention to the state of competition in the fuel and refinery industries.
(b) The Company will not purchase rights in fuel pumping stations from any single entity during
a period of three years, if such represents more than 7.5% of all of the gas stations in Israel.
(c) If the Company has rights in fuel stations that represent 10% or more of all of the fuel
stations in Israel, it will not be entitled to enter into an arrangement to receive rights in a gas
station which is an “adjacent station”29 without the Antitrust Commissioner's consent.

29

“Adjacent station” for this purpose is a gas station situated at the following distance from a site where another
station in which the Company holds rights is or will be situated: on a city road - one kilometer as the crow flies, and
on any other road - ten kilometers measured along the length of the relevant roads
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1.19.16.6 Additional restrictions on the Company's operations
(a) The Company will not purchase control of 5% or more of the means of control of a company
whose business is selling distillates at gas stations, if the Antitrust Commissioner determines
that such operations are nationwide, unless the Ministers establish, in consultation with the
Antitrust Commissioner, that this will promote competition in the fuel industry.
(b) The Company will not hold control or be the owner, holder or operator, directly or indirectly,
including through an investee or a company in which it holds 5% or more of the means of
control, of port infrastructure for importation or exportation of refined products in Israel
without fulfillment of the following:
(1) The above infrastructure was owned by it prior to the publication date of the order.
(2) Such infrastructure was set up by the Company on the strip of land which, as of the
publication date of the order, contained the infrastructure as set out in sub-section (1)
above.
(c) The Company will not have a monopoly, as defined in section 26 of the Antitrust Law,
whether declared or not, in the dispensing, pumping or storage of refined products in Israel,
including through an investee or a company in which it holds 5% or more of the means of
control, unless the conditions set out in the order are fulfilled.
(d) The Company will not hold control of 5% or more of the means of control of ORA or Pi
Glilot or one of its terminals.
(e) The obligation to provide information to the competent authorities applies to the Company,
as do the confidentiality and information security provisions.
On February 8, 2009, the Fuel Administration director ordered the Company to transport fuel in at
least one oil tanker with an Israeli crew, under the Essential Interests Order. As of the reporting
date, the Company entered into an agreement in accordance with the orders given. Also see
section 1.11of this chapter.
1.20

Insurance
The Group Companies maintain insurance coverage for the different risks related to the nature of
their business. As of the reporting date, the material insurance policies of the Group Companies,
which they purchase jointly, are as follows:

1.20.1

Property and loss of profit insurance - covers direct physical damage and consequential
damage with a liability limit of up to USD 1.75 billion and a maximum indemnity period is 30
months. The policy sets out lower coverage limits for certain risks and it is subject to the
deductibles set out in it.

1.20.2

Terrorism and hostilities insurance policy - in addition to the rights granted under the Property
Tax and Compensation Fund Law, 1961, the Company has purchased a policy granting certain
coverage against direct physical damage and consequential damage resulting from terror acts and
war. The volume of coverage for property and consequential damage is USD 1 billion for a
compensation period of 30 months. The policy is subject to the deductibles set out in it.
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1.20.3

Liability insurance - the Company purchases statutory liability insurance coverage for direct
physical third party damage or loss resulting from actions and the supply of product by the
Company; third party bodily harm resulting from actions and the supply of product by the
Company; accidental pollution; bodily harm to Company employees; ongoing environmental
pollution resulting from events which occurred as from 1999 (other than in relation to the Kishon
River) and the Company's liability with respect to chartered vessels. The volume of the
Company's coverage and deductibles are set out in the policies and vary according to the
coverage subjects.

1.20.4

Marine cargo insurance - the policy provides coverage of USD 220 million for loss or damage
to international cargo shipments and the Company's inventory stored outside its premises.

1.20.5

Directors and officers liability policy - the Company holds an ongoing policy for the liability of
directors and officers in the Company and the companies which it holds directly or indirectly,
with a liability limit of USD 180 million, which also covers claims regarding securities. The
Company also has run-off policies with the liability limits set out in them, with respect to the
Company as from 2007 and with respect to Carmel Olefins, as from 2009.

1.20.6

Ducor maintains insurance coverage for various risks related to the nature of its business. As of
the date of this report, its material insurance policies are a property and loss of profits policy with
lower liability limits than those of the Company.
The insurance coverage under each of these policies is subject to the terms and exceptions set out
in each such policy.

1.21

Working capital
For information regarding the Group’s working capital as of December 31, 2017, as included in
the consolidated financial statements, see section 4 of the Directors Report.

1.22

Credit and financing30

1.22.1

The Group Companies finance their operations by profit on a cash basis; working capital (in
subsidiaries mainly supplier credit from the parent company); long- and short-term bank loans
and non-bank credit, mainly debenture. For information see Notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

1.22.2

For information regarding an agreement between the Company and financers (mainly banks) for
long-term credit (“The Syndicate Agreement”), see Note 13C of the consolidated financial
statements.

1.22.3

For information regarding debentures issued by the Company to the public, including in the
reporting period, see Note 14B of the consolidated financial statements.

1.22.4

For information regarding a comfort letter given by the Company to banks that provided finance
to Carmel Olefins, see Note 13D of the consolidated financial statements.

30

A report regarding the liabilities, by repayment date, under to section 9D of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and
Immediate Reports) Regulation, 1970, is attached by way of reference to the digital report (Form T-126) submitted
shortly after publication of this report.
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1.22.5

Under the provisions of the Bank of Israel's Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No.
313, Limits on the Liability of a Borrower and a Group of Borrowers (“Bank of Israel
Directive”), the Company may be considered a “group of borrowers” together with its controlling
shareholder and investees. Therefore, if the Company applies for credit from an Israeli bank, it
may encounter difficulties if the ratio between the debt of the Group of Borrowers to which it
belongs, and the bank's equity exceeds the ratios set out in the above Bank of Israel Directive.
This may limit the Company's ability to receive credit from certain Israeli banks and the total
volume of credit which the Company can obtain. As of the reporting date, to the best of the
Company's knowledge, these limits have not affected its ability to obtain bank credit or the
volume of bank credit received.

1.22.6

Credit rating
For information regarding the rating of the Company's Debentures in the reporting year and their
rating history, see section 9.3 of the Board of Directors' report.

1.22.7

Financial covenants and restriction on creating liens
For information regarding restrictions and liabilities undertaken by the Group Companies
regarding creation of liens (negative liens) under their financing agreements with banks and deeds
of trust for the Company's Debentures, see Notes 13 and 14 of the consolidated financial
statements. For information regarding financial covenants applicable to the Company, Carmel
Olefins, Gadiv and Ducor under their financing agreements with banks and to the Company and
Carmel Olefins under deeds of trust for the Company’s debentures, see Notes 13 and 14C of the
consolidated financial statements.

1.22.8

Short-term credit
The Group Companies finance their current needs by short-term bank financing (on call loans)
and short-term non-banking credit of insignificant amounts. The volume of its short-term finance
is adjusted from time to time to the variable needs of the Group Companies.
For information regarding the secured short-term credit facilities of the Group Companies for the
period up to December 31, 2018, unsecured credit facilities, actual utilization of the credit
facilities as of the reporting date and shortly before publication, the financial covenants applicable
to the secured credit facilities of the Group Companies and compliance thereof, see Note 13 of the
consolidated financial statements.

1.22.9

Long-term loans
For information regarding the outstanding long-term credit received by the Group Companies, as
of December 31, 2017, see Notes 13 and 14 of the consolidated financial statements.

1.22.10

Raising additional resources
The Company has a shelf prospectus that is valid until November 21, 2018.
The Company will review raising further financial resources in the forthcoming years, taking into
consideration its ongoing operating needs, the market situation, business opportunities, business
developments and any other need, all according to the resolutions adopted by its competent
organs.
For information regarding the issue of debentures during and subsequent to the reporting period,
see Note 14B of the consolidated financial statements.
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1.23

Substantial agreements
The Group Companies have entered into substantial agreements for their operations. For
information regarding the substantial agreements to which the Company or its subsidiaries are
party, see Note 20C of the consolidated financial statements.

1.24

Legal proceedings
There are various lawsuits pending against the Company and its subsidiaries, including motions
to certify claims against it and its past and present officers as class actions, and motions to certify
derivative actions in the name of the Company.
For information regarding the material legal proceedings to which the Company or its subsidiaries
are party, see Note 20B of the consolidated financial statements.

1.25

Business strategy and objectives

1.25.1

Numerous energy companies in the modern world are integrated companies. This integration can
be vertical: oil and gas production, fuel product manufacture, and wholesale and retail marketing;
or horizontal, exploiting the synergy in the field of crude oil refining and manufacturing
petrochemical products and electricity.

1.25.2

Environmental protection is also a business interest of the Company (as well as its statutory duty)
and accordingly, since 2007 it has invested USD 392 million in environmental protection, safety,
security and enhancing its operating reliability. Due to these investments and other actions taken
by the Company, the environmental impact of its facilities was reduced. The Company has also
increased the production of products with a smaller impact on the environment.

1.25.3

The Company is promoting projects to upgrade and streamline its energy system, including the
supply of steam and electricity required for its operations. As part of this, in March 2015, the
Company filed an application for a conditional license to produce 340 megawatts electricity by
cogeneration. The feasibility study required to receive a conditional license and conducted by
IEC, stipulates that until 2024, Bazan may produce electricity only in a volume that does not
exceed the self-consumption of the Group Companies (135 megawatts) and the production of 340
megawatts will be allowed after completion of IEC national electricity transmission infrastructure
projects, which is expected in 2024. Accordingly, the Company submitted a revised application
for a conditional license to produce 135 megawatts electricity and subsequent to the reporting
period, it received such license for self-consumption in this volume and is acting to promote
replacement of its energy system with a new one in accordance with the conditional license
granted. The Company intends to apply for a conditional license to produce the remaining
quantity of electricity of up to 340 megawatts at a later date. As of the report date, the Company
cannot estimate if and when another license will be granted.

1.25.4

Due to the expected changes to the marine fuel oil standard in 2020, the Company is examining
the effect of such modification on its performance and the alternatives available, to prepare for
the change in the best possible way.

1.25.5

In 2018, periodic maintenance is scheduled in some of the Company's facilities. For further
information, see section 1.6.13 above.

1.25.6

In the forthcoming years, the Company expects to continue taking measures to execute projects to
improve the output of products from the raw materials that it processes and/or the added value
obtained from them.
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1.25.7

The Company’s vision is:
To be a company integrated in its environment, while making investments, performing ongoing
operations and training;
To be an efficient, flexible and growing company that generates returns for its shareholders and a
decent living for its employees;
These goals reflect the Company's strategy as of the reporting date, which by their very
nature are subject to changes according to developments in the Group Companies; the oil,
refining and/or petrochemical industries in Israel and worldwide; the target markets; and
the demand characteristics of the products in the operating segments. Realization of such
strategy is uncertain and involves circumstances and factors beyond the Company's control,
including the risk factors set out in section 1.28 of this chapter.

1.25.8

Expected development in the coming year
In 2018, the Company expects to focus on the following subjects:
A. Maximum optimization of the basket of crudes available to the Company from time to time,
based on developments in the crude oil market.
B.

Continuing the investments and adjustments required to comply with the environmental
requirements applicable to the Group Companies, mainly the provisions of their emission permits.

C.

Periodic maintenance in some of its production plants, as set out in section 0 of this chapter.

D. Promoting replacement of the energy system (steam and electricity production) with a
system that complies with the conditional license to generate electricity for self-consumption
granted to it.
E.

Continuing to examine and promote measures to deal with changes to the marine refueling
standard.

F.

Continuing to implement improvement plans of the operating and trade processes and
maintaining fixed expenses.

G. Further action and projects aimed at changing the composition of Carmel Olefins' feedstock
to minimize their costs and to continue actions to identify further projects that reflect and
increase the synergy between the operations of the Company and Carmel Olefins.
H. Continuing to build the organization for the long term, while integrating all work processes
and interfaces in the Group, utilizing the organization's ability to perform ongoing activities
and projects through its employees, and utilizing the synergies at the current operating
expense level.
I.

Nurturing its human capital, making sure to provide the training required and a supportive
work environment.

J.

Continuing the energetic streamlining in operating all the Group's facilities.

K. Further examination of the option of a full merger between the Company and all or any of its
wholly owned subsidiaries. It is noted that, in the Company's estimation, completing the
merger of the headquarters activities does not entail substantial costs for the Group.
L.

Increasing the production of polyolefins customized for use (+ commodity), while creating
added value for the customer.
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The Company's foregoing assessments regarding implementation of the business moves and
projects that it is reviewing is all forward looking information. These assessments are based
on plans prepared by the Company management and data and assessments by professional
entities outside the Company. There is no certainty that these assessments will materialize,
because they are highly complicated issues and their implementation depends, among
others, on entities outside the Company and obtaining various regulatory approvals, the
cost of which may change according to developments in the relevant markets. These
assessments may also change materially in case of a material change in other
macroeconomic and/or factual data over which the Company has no control and which it is
unaware of as of the date of this report.
1.26

Information regarding unusual change in the Company's business affairs
The Group Companies are unaware of any unusual changes in their business affairs, including
during their regular operations, in the period subsequent to the date of the financial statements
until the date of approval of the report. For material events subsequent to the reporting period, see
Note 31 of the consolidated financial statements.

1.27

Events or issues that deviate from the Company's regular business
To the best of the knowledge of the Company and its subsidiaries, there are no events or issues
not discussed in this chapter that deviate from the regular course of business of the companies due
to their quality, scope or possible results, which have or may have a material effect on the
companies.

1.28

Risk Factors
The Company’s operations in all segments involve risks which may materially impair the
Company’s business activity. In 2011, the Company conducted a general risk survey through an
outside entity to examine the main risks to which the Company is exposed in various aspects of
its operations. The risk survey was revised in 2012 and 2015. Subsequent to the reporting period,
the risk survey conducted by the internal auditor request at the Company’s was completed and
presented to the Board Audit Committee and the Board of Directors.
The risk identification process was performed using the top down method, which is designed to
identify all risks affecting the Company's operations through interviews and reviews of its senior
directors in the different segments.

1.28.1

Macro risks

1.28.1.1

Economic slowdown - the global economic crisis - the demand for fuel products is affected by
various factors, as described in section 1.6.2 of this chapter. A market slow-down or recession
might substantially impair the refining margins, due to a reduction in fuel product purchases and
surplus refining capacity. Recently, the crude oil market has been characterized by substantial
fluctuations.
In the petrochemical segment (the polymers and aromatics), an economic crisis is expressed by
significantly reduced demand. As a result of a recession and economic slowdown, the Company's
profits and scope of operations may be impaired.
An economic crisis may also tighten the requirements of credit providers for companies to which
they grant credit and make it difficult for them to raise new credit required for investment,
operating capital and debit cycle. The Company estimates that it will be able to raise the capital
required for its above operating activities.
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Nonetheless, should the Company require additional financing, and if and as long as a global
financial crisis deepens or is renewed, it is liable to encounter difficulties in obtaining bank and/or
non-bank finance.
1.28.1.2

Economic slowdown in the domestic market (or the Palestinian Authority) - the demand for
the Company's products is affected by various factors, as set out in section 1.6.2 of this chapter. A
market slow-down or recession in Israel or the Palestinian Authority might substantially impair
the Company's revenues, due to a decrease in purchases of its products or taking the credit risks
into consideration. This situation could affect the volume of orders received by the Company
from the domestic market, the level of prices paid to the Company for the sale of its products and
the level of the Company’s operations as a whole. A slowdown or recession may also expose the
Company to increased financial risks of its customers.
To reduce the exposure, the Company keeps track of its customers’ financial status, and adjusts
the volume of sales, collateral, customer debts discounting arrangements and collection method
according to the risk level that it ascribes to its customers. In respect of some of the customers,
the exposure cannot be reduced by the above measures.

1.28.1.3

Armed conflicts and terrorism – the security, political and economic conditions in Israel
directly affect the Company’s business. Over the past several decades, several armed conflicts
have taken place between Israel and activist organizations in neighboring countries and between
Israel and Palestinian elements in Judea, Samaria and the Gaza Strip.
Any escalation of events with Israel’s neighbors, particularly Lebanon, Syria or Iran, could give
rise to renewed hostilities, which might force the Company to shut down its facilities in whole or
in part, due to a lack of available raw material, which may not reach Israel during the hostilities
and/or as a result of physical damage to its facilities or the infrastructures serving them. Terror
attacks originating in Israel directed at the Company's assets may force it to suspend activities or
shut down facilities.
The Company’s insurance policies provide limited coverage for war damage (see section 1.20.2
of this chapter). The Property Tax Authorities grant compensation for losses resulting from a war.
However, this compensation may not cover the loss of profit during the war or event.
The Company’s operations are dependent on the importation of crude oil from various countries.
Certain countries, mainly in the Middle East, prohibit doing business with Israel or Israeli
companies. Negative public opinion with regard to Israel or expansion of the boycott imposed on
Israel to other countries which trade with it may harm the Company’s ability to purchase crude oil
or other inputs and the its ability to transport them to ports in Israel
Geopolitical developments could also give rise to a reduction or cessation of flights to and from
Israel, which may bring about a decrease in demand for the Company’s products, particularly for
fuel in the airline industry.

1.28.1.4

Natural disasters, including earthquakes - a natural disaster, including an earthquake, may
cause physical harm to persons and property of the Company or third parties, harm to the
environment, and a shut-down of the damaged facility and other production facilities which
operate in combination with or near the facility affected by the event.
Since the Company’s production facilities are located at a single site, a natural disaster could lead
to damage that causes suspension of all of the Company's operations and facilities, while dealing
with business continuity difficulties. To reduce its exposure to risks, the Company frequently
conducts dedicated earthquake surveys and also takes steps to decrease the risks arising in the
surveys.
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The Company also insures itself against such risks (see section 1.20 above), however the relevant
policies set deductibles which the Company may have to pay if a claim is made against these
policies. Also, the compensations paid by the insurers under these policies may not cover and/or
fully cover the damages which may the Company may incur due a natural disaster.
1.28.1.5

Exposure to exchange rate fluctuations - the functional currency of the Company and most of
its subsidiaries is the US dollar. The exposure of the Group Companies is measured by USD
exchange rate fluctuations compared to the other currencies with which they operate. The Group
is exposed to the risk of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations for sales, current expenses
and investments denominated in different currencies other than the functional currency of most of
the Group Companies. The Group is also exposed to currency risks related to Debentures issued
in NIS. For information, see Note 29D(1) of the consolidated financial statements. To reduce the
exposure to exchange rate fluctuations, the Group makes use of currency derivatives (FWD) and
cross-currency interest rate swap (CCIRS) transactions.

1.28.1.6

Exposure to inflation – the Company finances a part of its operations through Debentures linked
to the Israeli CPI. The Group makes use of interest rate and currency substitution transactions to
minimize the exposure to CPI fluctuations with respect to these Debentures. The Company also
has index linked assets.

1.28.1.7

Exposure to interest rate fluctuations – the Company has USD loans and liabilities (including
as a result of principal and interest substitution transactions) bearing variable interest rates
(mostly every three and six months) based on Libor plus a margin. An increase in the variable
interest rates may give rise to a significant increase in the Company’s financing expenses. The
Company issues fixed-interest USD-linked debentures and occasionally makes use of interest rate
substitution (IRS) transactions to reduce its exposure to interest rate fluctuations (for information,
see Note 29D(2) to the consolidated financial statements).
For further information regarding the financial risk hedging policy set out in sections 1.28.1.51.28.1.7 above, see Note 29 of the consolidated financial statements. This hedging implemented
by the Company, being partial, does not cover the Company’s entire exposure for each of the
above risks.

1.28.1.8

Strikes and lock-outs in the economy - general strikes in the Israeli economy and in particular
closure of the ports and/or lock-outs at fuel pumping infrastructure companies and/or strikes at
the Company's plants (where the majority of employees are unionized and employed under
special collective contracts), which could also be part of public sector strikes, may prevent
receiving of raw materials and the possibility of exporting the Company's and subsidiaries'
products, and harm the Company's ability to manufacture its products and supply orders on time,
thereby harming its ability to meet its obligations to its customers. This could harm the
Company’s income and the goodwill that it has created. Moreover, delays in arrival of imported
products could cause a complete stoppage of the production process and incur significant costs
for the Company.

1.28.1.9

Cyber attacks - in recent years, a dramatic increase in risks related to cyber attacks or insertion
of hostile code into systems, the number of actual events and their severity may be identified. As
a result of such actions, the ongoing activities and operation of the Company's facilities as well as
the its business information and goodwill may be harmed. From time to time, the Company
explores the means of protection required against these risks and takes action on several levels to
minimize the possibility of being harmed by them. It is noted that it is not possible to stop cyber
attacks or insertion of hostile code completely and thereby prevent damage that may be caused as
a result.
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1.28.2

Sector-specific Risks

1.28.2.1

Exposure to raw material and product prices fluctuations – the Company’s operations in the
purchase of raw materials, the sale of refined products on the domestic and international markets,
the sale of polymer products and aromatics and the need for the Company to hold stock of crude
oil (including a basic inventory which the Company does not hedge) and refined products in
significant quantities at all times, exposes the Company to market risks stemming from price
fluctuations of raw materials and the products manufactured from them (for further information
about crude oil price fluctuations, see section 1.6.2 of this chapter). The Company's policy is to
protect itself against such exposure (other than with respect to the above basic inventory) by
establishing hedged positions and using the appropriate derivatives for protection purpose (for
information, see Note 29D(3) of the consolidated financial statements). It is not possible to fully
hedge price fluctuation risks. There are sophisticated futures markets for specific types of crude
oil and refined products, whereas the futures markets for petrochemicals (polymers and
aromatics) are unsophisticated and the operating margin hedging options in these areas are
limited. In the above hedging transactions, the Company is exposed to a cash flow risk of the gap
between the payment date under the hedging transaction and the date of payment for the sale of
its products. In the event of a significant crude oil price increase, the amount of working capital
that the Company will need to raise to purchase all the oil required for its operating activity will
increase and the conditions for raising such working capital might deteriorate. In the event of a
significant crude oil price decrease, the Company could record an accounting loss with respect to
the unprotected inventory of crude oil that it holds, which will be reflected in erosion of its
accounting equity.

1.28.2.2

Erosion of refining and petrochemical margins and impairment of financial strength – the
Company is exposed to the risk of erosion of refining and petrochemical margins, which may
arise due to a similar global trend. If crude oil prices increase without a parallel increase in the oil
and petrochemical product prices or if the demand for products remains fixed or decreases
(including, for example, due to decreased demand for high sulfur fuel oil due to entry into force in
2020 of a new standard for marine fuel oil), the refining and/or petrochemical margins, which are
the basis of the Company's profit, may erode. In case of such erosion of refining and/or
petrochemical margins, if measures are not taken to hedge the refining or petrochemical margin,
respectively, the Company's financial and business results may be impaired.
Based on the possibilities, the Company makes refining margin hedging transactions, and in such
cases, it is exposed to same risks as those set out in section 1.28.2.1 above. For further
information regarding the margin hedging policy, see Note 29D(3) of the consolidated financial
statements. The longer the term of the hedging transaction, the higher the cash flow and
consequential exposure throughout the hedging transaction term is likely to be.
If this risk materializes over time, it could, as a result of the financial and business impairment,
harm the Company's financial strength and ability to raise and maintain the sources of finance in
the volume required. In addition, the Group Companies are committed to some of their creditors
to comply with financial covenants relating to their financial results.
Therefore, substantial impairment of their financial results and/or strength may lead to noncompliance with the financial covenants applicable to them and expose them to demands for early
repayment of the credit they received.
For further information regarding refining margin trends, see section 1.6.2 of this chapter. For
further information regarding refining margin hedging transactions made by the Company, see
section 2.1 of the Board of Directors Report
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1.28.2.3

Fuel Economy Bill – if the Fuel Economy Law is enacted under the Bill as set out in section
1.19.10 of this chapter, further restrictions may be imposed on the Company's operations, as
described in that section, which could give rise to real impairment of its operating results.

1.28.2.4

Environmental, health and safety regulations and standards – companies operating in the
Company's operating segments are subject to comprehensive regulation with respect to storage,
manufacture, transportation, use and removal of their products, their components and byproducts. The Company’s production facilities are subject to environmental standards with
respect to air pollution, effluent removal, use and treatment of hazardous materials, and the
method of waste removal and purification of existing environmental pollution. Over the years,
there has been a continuous stiffening of environmental requirements, including through new
environmental legislation, interpretation given to laws in this area and enforcement of
environmental standards and other provisions applicable to companies in the Company's
operating segments, especially companies whose plants are located in Haifa Bay. Further
stiffening of such regulation and/or interpretation and/or enforcement which might be imposed
upon the Company’s operating segments or the Company specifically, could give rise to largescale expenses and investments over and above its existing investment plans and might even
impair its operating results.
As an industrial company, the Company must comply with all regulatory occupational safety and
hygiene provisions and requirements which the State is introducing. Failure to identify or comply
with these requirements in full might expose the Company to administrative and/or criminal
sanctions and/or lawsuits.
The Group Companies have various environmental permits and licenses that define the terms for
managing the Company's operations and impose many stringent provision on them from all
environmental aspects of their operations. The construction of new facilities or expansion of
existing facilities requires obtaining permits and new or additional licenses and the Company may
require further permits in future, including under the Clean Air Law, 2008. The terms of the
permits and licenses might be modified by the relevant regulators. Any breach of the terms of the
licenses, permits or other regulatory provisions may give rise to the imposition of fines, criminal
or administrative sanctions, cancellation of licenses and restrictions on the operation of facilities,
including closure.
Failure to grant new permits required by the Company, or aggravation, revocation or revision of
the permits, licenses or their terms may impair the Company's financial position and operating
results.
As of the report date, several bills, in their preliminary stages, dealing with more stringent
regulation and enforcement of environmental issues are under discussion. For further information
on environmental protection and regulation issues applicable to this segment, including the
possible impact of future legislation, see section 1.18 of this chapter.

1.28.2.5

Transition to oil product alternatives – the Company’s products are used mainly for industry,
and land and air transportation. Innovations and inventions in the engine and motor vehicle
segments, or the transition of many consumers to using alternative fuels and substitute products
for those of the Company, such as ethanol-based fuels, bio-diesel or natural gas, may reduce the
demand for the Company’s products. A change in Israeli passenger preferences to increased use
of public transport might also bring about a decline in the demand for transportation fuels and
may also impair the Company’s business results. For further information on oil product
alternatives, see section 1.6.6 of this chapter.
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1.28.2.6

Reintroduction of price control of the Company's products – there is currently no control
over the maximum prices for the Company's products and in the sale of its products, it competes
on an open market under competitive conditions. However, the Price Control Order sets out terms
which, if fulfilled, would result in the reintroduction of control over refined oil product prices. If
such control is reintroduced and/or price control is instituted with respect to products not under
control as of the reporting date, this may cause market distortion resulting in impairment of the
Company's business and financial results.

1.28.2.7

Dependence on infrastructure companies and a single natural gas supplier - to perform the
Company's operations, the refining companies in Israel are dependent on receiving services from
the infrastructure companies, EAPC, PEI and INGL, which own essential infrastructure for the
unloading, transportation, storage and dispensing of crude oil and refined products, some of
which are outdated and the volume of services which may be provided through them is limited;
and transmission of natural gas, respectively. The refining companies are also dependent on
receiving regular port services to allow unloading crude oil and interim products and loading
refined products for export. The companies are also dependent on a single natural gas supplier in
the Israeli market. If the Company fails to receive these services from one or more of these
companies or cannot receive natural gas from the sole supplier currently operating in the Israeli
market or if the quality of the services provided fails to meet the Company's requirements, the
results of its operations may be materially impaired. An increase in the infrastructure service
prices charged by the infrastructure companies, most of which are government controlled, may
impair the Company's business and financial results (see sections 1.6.14.4, 1.6.14.5 and 1.19.1.7
of this chapter).

1.28.2.8

Exposure for unexpected events and malfunctions at the production plants, including
accidents – the Company’s production facilities and those of neighboring plants constantly
operate under difficult physical and chemical conditions and some of them were constructed
many years ago. The facilities are occasionally exposed to events; malfunctions, including in the
information and data processing systems, also due to deliberate sabotage; and accidents that
might cause physical harm to persons and property of the Company or third parties,
environmental harm, or a shut-down of the faulty facility and other production facilities operating
together with or near the facility where the event or malfunction occurred.
The Company's production operations are controlled by advanced information systems and a
malfunction in these systems may impair its ability to carry them out.
The Company insures itself against such risks (see section 1.20 to this chapter). However, the
relevant policies set deductibles and it is quite possible that the compensations paid by the
insurers under these policies may not cover and/or fully cover the damages which the Company
may incur due such event or malfunction.

1.28.2.9

Synergy and mutual dependence among the production facilities - the Company's production
facilities operate as a single concern and there is a certain mutual dependence among them.
Damage and a shutdown at one or more of the production facilities may bring about a reduction
and even suspension of operations of other facilities that depend on the damaged facility for their
continued operation.
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1.28.2.10 Increased competition in the Israeli fuel market and the Company's main target markets
abroad – there are two refineries operating in the Israeli market (Haifa Oil Refinery and ORA)
competing with one another. There are also several fuel product importers operating in the
market, which are dependent on storage and distribution terminals owned by infrastructure
companies and offer these products on the domestic market. Intensification of competition may
impair the scope of the Company's operations and profitability. International market intensification of competition in the target markets in which the Company operates, due to the
introduction of new competitors or enhancement of the competitive edge of existing competitors,
such as the use of storage infrastructures, cutting logistic costs, etc., may impair the volume of the
Company's operations and its profits in these markets.
1.28.3

Risks unique to the Company

1.28.3.1

Liability for non-compliance with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations
and limitations on future development or operating activity from the environmental and
health aspects - the Company may bear significant liability (including heavy fines) for deviations
and/or breaches of environmental protection, health and safety laws and regulations. Other
environmental laws define the responsibility for cleaning up pollution and therefore, may expose
the Company to land and/or waterway cleaning and purification expenses. The Company’s
insurance policies provide only partial coverage. For further information on claims and concerns
of alleged pollution at sites outside the Company's premises, see section 1.18.5.4 of this chapter.
The Company may also become subject to claims alleging bodily injury or property damage due
to exposure to hazardous materials or environmental pollution. For information regarding such
claims, see Note 20B(3) of the consolidated financial statements.
Possible future provisions regarding the condition of the environment in the areas where the
Company operates and/or health data of the population in the adjacent areas and/or the link
between them, and actions taken by regulatory or other parties in this matter or changes to court
rulings on these issues, may delay and/or disrupt further development of the Company or its
operating activity.

1.28.3.2

Disruption or short supply of natural gas - under the emission permit issued to the Group
Companies, the maximum emission standards from their facilities are at appropriate levels for use
of natural gas.
The use of natural gas also leads to increased efficiency in the energy consumption of the Group
Companies, reduced maintenance costs and may also contribute to decreased energy and other
costs. The natural gas supply from the supplier with which the Company has contracted may be
irregular or incomplete (due to the production capacity in the Tamar reservoir or a difference
between the Israeli market consumption and the natural gas pumping and transmission capacity to
the different customers). A delay in development of additional gas reservoirs and other
infrastructure may also affect the supply of natural gas to the Company.
If the supply of natural gas is irregular or incomplete, the Company's operations and business
results may be materially affected, in which case, the Group Companies may be required to
reduce their operations to the point of suspension, because of environmental restrictions imposed
on them.
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1.28.3.3

Local taxation requirements - as described in Note 20B(2) of the consolidated financial
statements, local tax demands were sent to the Company for levies and development fees in
cumulative amounts of hundreds of millions of NIS, for part of which a ruling has already been
issued. The Company is taking legal measures to cancel or reduce these demands and is in contact
with the authorities in this matter. If and as long as the Company is required to bear all of these
demands, its business results may be materially impaired.

1.28.3.4

Delays and/or difficulties in the planning and building processes - building permits for the
Company compound are issued by the Joint Planning and Construction Committee for the Bazan
Compound and approved by the Haifa District Planning and Building Committee. It is quite
possible that delays or difficulties in obtaining building permits for the compound may arise until
entry into force of the outline plan approved by the National Planning and Building Council, and
petitions that were filed against this decision were dismissed by the District Court. Moreover, as
set out in section 1.19.7 of this report, the Company and its subsidiaries have recently been
experiencing difficulties in renewing the business licenses required by the Companies for their
operations. Such delays or difficulties may harm the Company's ability to construct the facilities
required for its operating, regulatory and business needs and/or operating its facilities
continuously.

1.28.3.5

Possible loss of know-how resulting from changes in the human capital employed in the
Company – the Company employs skilled, professional staff with extensive know-how, who
usually spend many years in its service. With the aging of the employee population and the
employment pattern changes occurring in Israel, the industry and the Company, the Company
could be faced with a situation of possible loss of know-how and experience resulting from
termination of the employment of staff in its service. The Company is dealing with this risk by
investing in preserving know-how, building professional redundancy and recruiting additional
staff in key professions.

1.28.3.6

Market Concentration Law - the provisions of Promotion of Competition and Reduction of
Market Concentration Law, 2013 (the “Market Concentration Law”) apply to the Company,
because it belongs to a group with a pyramid holding structure, the fuel refining and LPG
production segments are considered an essential infrastructure, and it was declared a
concentration-promoting entity and significant non-financial company for the purpose of this law.
For further information, see section 1.19.6 above. This issue may have implications for the
Company and the Group to which it belongs.

1.28.3.7

Non-compliance with the Company's periodic maintenance plans scheduled for 2018 - as set
out in section 0 of this chapter, in 2018 the Company intends to perform periodic maintenance in
several of its facilities, including one of the refining facilities and the hydrocracker. Unexpected
findings in the facilities and equipment units scheduled for periodic maintenance in one of the
Company’s refining units and/or unavailability of contractors, staff, materials or equipment in the
volume required and/or on the professional level required and/or due to unexpected events that
disrupt performance of the periodic maintenance works may lead to such maintenance ending
with higher costs than planned and/or taking longer than planned and thereby impairing the
Company's operating results and liquidity in 2018.

1.28.3.8

Failure to complete formulation of a strategic plan - the Company has prepared strategic plans
for some of its areas of operation. To avoid its exposure to restrictions in response to changes in
its areas of operation and possible impairment of its operating results, as of the report publication
date, the Company is reviewing the strategic alternatives available to it, taking into consideration
the modifications to the marine fuel standard, as set out in section 1.6.2.1.3 above, and it intends
to review strategic alternatives in other aspects of its operations as well.
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1.28.4

The following table shows the Company’s risk factors by nature and effect on the Company’s
business, in the opinion of the Company management: It is noted that the Company's assessments
below concerning the extent to which a risk factor affects the Company reflects the level of
impact of such risk factor presuming manifestation of the risk factor, and this will not be
interpreted as an assessment nor will it give any weight to the chances of the manifestation of
such risk factor:
Section
1.28.1
1.28.1.1
1.28.1.21.
28.1.2
1.28.1.31.
28.1.3
1.28.1.41.
28.1.4
1.28.1.5
1.28.1.6
1.28.1.71.
28.1.7
1.28.1.81.
28.1.8
1.28.1.9
1.28.2
1.28.2.1
1.28.2.2
1.28.2.3
1.28.2.4
1.28.2.5
1.28.2.6
1.28.2.7

1.28.2.8
1.28.2.9
0
1.28.3
1.28.3.1

1.28.3.2
0
1.28.3.4
1.28.3.5
1.28.3.6
1.28.3.7
1.28.3.8

Risk Factor
Macro risks
Economic slowdown - global economic financial
crisis.

Major
Impact

Moderate
Impact

V
V

Economic slowdown in the domestic market.
Armed conflicts and acts of terror.

V

Natural disasters, including earthquakes.
Exposure to currency exchange rate fluctuations.
Exposure to inflation.

V
V
V
V

Exposure to interest rates fluctuations.
Strikes and closures in the economy.
Cyber attacks.
Sector-specific Risks
Exposure to raw material and product price
changes.
Erosion of refining and petrochemical margins and
impairment of financial stability.
The Fuel Economy Bill
Environmental, health and safety regulations and
standards.
Transition to oil product alternatives.
Reintroduction of price regulation for the
Company's products.
Dependence on infrastructure companies and a
single supplier of natural gas.
Exposure for unexpected production facility
events or malfunctions, including accidents.
Synergy and mutual dependence between the
production plants.
Increased competition in the fuel market.
Risks unique to the Company
Liability for non-compliance with environmental,
health and safety laws and regulations and
limitations on future development or operating
activity from these aspects.
Disruptions in natural gas supply.
Local taxation requirements.
Delays and difficulties in planning and building
processes and renewal of business licenses.
Possible loss of know-how resulting from changes
in the human capital employed in the Company.
Market Concentration Law
Non-compliance with the periodic maintenance
plans scheduled in the Company in 2018.
Failure to complete a strategic plan

Minor
Impact

V
V

V
V
V
V
V
V
V
V
V
V

V
V
V
V
V
V
V
V
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Directors’ Report on the State of the Company’s Affairs
for the Period ended March 31, 2017
The Board of Directors hereby respectfully presents the Board of Directors' Report on the State of the
Company’s Affairs for the period ended December 31, 2016 (“the Reporting Period”). The report is
presented under the assumption that the entire Periodic Report, including the Description of the
Corporation’s Business for that period, are also available to the reader.

1

Description of the Company and its Business Environment
1.1

General
Bazan Ltd. (the “Company” or “Bazan") and its subsidiaries (“Bazan Group” or the “Group”)
are industrial companies involved in four primary synergistic segments of operation: Fuels
(through the Company), Polymers – Carmel Olefins (through Carmel Olefins), Aromatics
(through Gadiv) and Polymers – Ducor (through Ducor). In addition, Group companies also
engage in operations that are not material: Basic Oils and Waxes (through Haifa Basic Oils) and
Trade (through Trading and Shipping).
The subsidiaries' plants (with the exclusion of Ducor, which is located in the Netherlands) are
downstream facilities of the Company and they receive most or all of the required feedstock
from the Company on an ongoing basis through pipelines, and return all or part of the products
of their facilities to the Company, as well as the feedstock not used in their operations. This
allows synergy in many segments, increasing operating efficiency and lowering costs.

1.2

Business environment and Bazan Group profitability
Fuels
The price of crude oil
Brent crude oil prices in 2016-2017 (USD/barrel)

Source: Reuters
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Average price of Brent crude (USD/barrel)
2017
54.2

2016
43.7

Change
24%

10-12/17
61.3

10-12/16
49.3

Change
24%

In the Reporting Period the trend, that began in December 2016, of increase in the average Brent
crude oil price continued and was affected by implementation of the decision by OPEC member
countries to increase production. The Brent price, which was traded in the Reporting Period
between USD 50 - 60 per barrel, is attributed to the balancing of oil production as a result of
OPEC production limits on one hand and increased output of non-OPEC countries and the US,
on the other.
Towards the end of 2017, the Brent price rose so that its price as at Reporting Date was set at
USD 67 per barrel for the following main reasons: Increased demand for oil coupled with
refining facilities returning to normal production following Hurricane Harvey, continuing OPEC
and Russian commitment to the program to reduce output and the malfunction in the North Sea
oil pipeline.
Subsequent to Reporting Date, the Brent price remained relatively stable and close to
publication of the Report, its price was set at USD 65 per barrel.
In the Reporting Period the price of Ural crude oil, which is heavy crude oil, weakened
compared to Brent prices (which is light crude oil), with average disparity of USD 1 per barrel,
compared with USD 2 per barrel in the corresponding period last year. The difference in the
price of heavy crude compared with light crude was extremely volatile, ranging between USD 0
and USD 2 per barrel, due to the increase in the supply of Ural crude oil substitutes from outside
the Mediterranean Basin region.
In the Reporting Period, the crude oil futures market shifted from contango to backwardation.
The annual average contango level was at USD 0.1 per barrel per month. In the fourth quarter
of 2017 the average level of market backwardation was at USD 0.3 per barrel per month.
Refining margins
Ural Margin
The Ural Margin1 in 2016-2017 (USD per barrel)

Source: Reuters

1

The Ural margin is the margin published by Reuters for a typical refinery in the Mediterranean region with the
capability of cracking Ural-type crude oil.
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Average Ural margin (USD/barrel)
2017
5.3

2016
4.0

Change
33%

10-12/17
4.1

10-12/16
5.0

Change
- 18%

The Ural margin strengthened in the Reporting Period compared with the corresponding period
last year. The main factors contributing to this strengthening are the planned and unplanned
shutdowns of refining facilities together with an increase in demand for distillates. At the
beginning of September 2017, Hurricane Harvey caused production at the refineries in the Gulf
of Mexico and in the United States to stop. As a result, the Ural margin reached USD 10.8 per
barrel, a record high since the end of 2008. By the end of September, refining capacity in the
affected area had returned to normal, and Ural margins declined to between USD 5-6 per barrel.
In the fourth quarter of 2017, the Ural margin fell to an average of USD 4.1 per barrel following
the sharp rise in the price of crude oil and a seasonal decline in the gasoline margin. Subsequent
to Reporting Date and until close to date of publication of the report, the average Ural margin
was USD 3.8 per barrel.
For information regarding the Company's refining margins see sections 2.1.2 and 2.2.2 below.
Mediterranean Basin transportation diesel, gasoline and 1% fuel oil margins over Brent
crude oil (USD per barrel)

Source: Reuters
Mediterranean Basin margins for transportation diesel, gasoline and 1% fuel oil over
Brent crude oil (USD per barrel)
Gasoline
Diesel fuel
1% Fuel oil

2017
12.5
13.0
-3.5

2016
12.7
10.6
-7.3

Change
-2%
23%
52%

10-12.2017
10.1
13.8
-5.3

10-12.2016
12.1
12.5
-3.2

Change
-17%
11%
-64%

Consumption of distillates on the domestic market
The domestic consumption of distillates (transportation, industry and heating fuels) increased in
the Reporting Period by 4% compared with the corresponding period last year and by 10% in
the fourth quarter of 2017 compared with the corresponding quarter last year.
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Consumption of transportation fuels (gasoline, diesel fuel and kerosene) increased in the
Reporting Period by 4% compared with the corresponding period last year and by 9% in the
fourth quarter of 2017 compared to the corresponding quarter of last year.
Refining volume
Breakdown of utilization of crude oil refining plants, crude oil refining volume and HVGO
imports in the Fuels segment (thousands of tons)
Utilization of refining plants (*)
Refining volume
Import of HVGO, net
Total

2017
93%
9,131
659
9,790

2016
84%
8,269
486
8,755

Change
9%
862
173
1,035

10-12.2017
98%
2,443
185
2,628

10-12.2016
95%
2,360
179
2,539

Change
3%
83
6
89

The increase in refining volume in the Reporting Period is mainly due to the shutdown of part of
the Company's facilities, particularly the crude oil distillation unit (CDU 4) for periodic
maintenance in the third quarter of 2016 and the improved performance of the refining facilities
after completion of a significant part of the periodic maintenance.
For information regarding the effect of the periodic maintenance work on the margins in the
Reporting Period, see section 2.1.2 below.
(*) The table presents the actual rate of utilization of the refining facilities. Proforma
utilization of the refining facilities in the Reporting Period and in the corresponding period
of the preceding year, had the foregoing periodic maintenance work not been carried out,
was 98% and 93%, respectively. This, on the assumption that 75 million and 70 million
barrels, respectively, of crude oil and interim materials were processed in the Reporting
Period and in the corresponding period last year, (representing the number of barrels of
crude oil and interim materials that the Company processes in the quarters during which
periodic maintenance work is carried out, 17.5 million, plus the number of barrels actually
processed in the quarters when no periodic maintenance was carried out).
Breakdown of the Company’s output in the Fuels Segment by main product groups (in
thousands of tons)
Diesel fuel
Gasoline
Kerosene
Fuel oil
Others
Total

2017
3,561
1,785
705
2,066
1,455
9,572

2016
3,013
1,853
714
1,861
1,087
8,528

Change
548
(68)
(9)
205
368
1,044

10-12.2017
1,066
534
183
507
335
2,625

10-12.2016
918
509
188
519
337
2,471
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Polymers Segment - Carmel Olefins
Polymer and naphtha prices in 2016-2017 (USD/ton)

Source: ICIS

Average polymer and naphtha prices (USD / ton)
Naphtha
Polypropylene
Polyethylene

2017
486
1,240
1,373

2016
385
1,052
1,362

Change
26%
18%
1%

10-12.2017
563
1,292
1,397

10-12.2016
437
1,027
1,296

Change
29%
26%
8%

Raw material prices
Raw material prices, particularly naphtha prices, increased in the Reporting Period compared
with the corresponding period last year, parallel to the increase in crude oil prices.
Polymer prices
The prices of the polymer products (polypropylene and polyethylene), increased in the
Reporting Period compared with the corresponding period last year, parallel to the increase in
raw material and energy prices. The increase in the prices of polypropylene compared with
polyethylene was greater, among other things, as a result of the different behavior of the prices
of propylene and ethylene, the raw materials used in the manufacture of polymers in Europe.
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Margins
Difference between polymer and naphtha prices in 2016-2017 (USD /ton)

Source: ICIS
Change in the average difference between the polymer and naphtha prices (USD / ton)
Polypropylene
Polyethylene

2017
754
887

2016
667
977

Change
13%
- 9%

10-12.2017
729
834

10-12.2016
590
859

Change
24%
- 3%

In the Reporting Period the difference between the price of polypropylene and the price of
naphtha was higher compared with the corresponding period last year and the difference
between the price of polyethylene and the price of naphtha was lower compared to the
corresponding period last year. This, while the volatility of the polypropylene and polyethylene
prices are affected, among other things, by the prices of the raw materials for the production of
polymers in Europe (propylene and ethylene). In September 2017 the Hurricane Harvey that hit
the Gulf of Mexico in the US caused a shutdown of the polymer facilities in the region and an
increase in polymer margins during this period.
Polymer output volume (thousand tons)
Polymers

2017
526

2016
426

Change
100

10-12.2017
128

10-12.2016
111

Change
17

The increase in polymer production at Carmel Olefins during the Reporting Period is due to the
shutdown of all of its facilities during the second quarter of 2016 for periodic maintenance. For
information regarding the effect of the periodic maintenance work on the margins in the
corresponding period last year, see section 2.1.2 below. Subsequent to the Reporting Period,
periodic maintenance work was carried out on the ethylene plants at Carmel Olefins. For further
information see Note 11A(4) to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Polymers Segment - Ducor
Polypropylene and propylene prices in 2016-2017 (USD /ton)

Source: ICIS
Average polypropylene and propylene prices (USD / ton)
Polypropylene
Propylene

2017
1,240
950

2016
1,052
728

Change
18%
30%

10-12.2017 10-12.2016
1,292
1,027
1,024
794

Change
26%
29%

Raw material prices
The prices of Ducor’s primary raw material, propylene, increased in the Reporting Period
compared with the corresponding period last year, parallel to the increase in crude oil prices and
the shutdown of production facilities in Europe.
Polypropylene prices
Polypropylene prices increased in the Reporting Period compared with the corresponding period
last year, parallel to the increase in raw material and energy prices. The increase was not as high
as the increase in raw material prices, among other things, as a result of the decrease in supply
of propylene in Europe due to the shutdown of the production facilities.
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Margins
Difference between polypropylene and propylene prices in 2016-2017 (USD /ton)

Source: ICIS
Change in the average difference between propylene and polypropylene prices (USD / ton)
Difference in price

2017
290

2016
324

Change
- 10%

10-12.2017
268

10-12.2016
233

Change
15%

The difference between the price of polypropylene and the price of propylene in the Reporting
Period was lower than in the corresponding period last year, mainly as a result of the decline in
the polypropylene price compared with the propylene price due to the shutdown of propylene
production plants.
Polypropylene output volume (thousand tons)
Polypropylene

2017
162

2016
165

Change
-3

10-12.2017
41

10-12.2016
42

Aromatics Segment - Gadiv
Xylene and paraxylene prices in 2016-2017 (USD /ton)

Source: Reuters
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Average xylene and paraxylene prices (USD / ton)
Xylene
Paraxylene

2017
643
764

2016
567
695

Change
13%
10%

10-12.2017
684
799

10-12.2016
578
723

Change
18%
11%

Raw material prices
Raw material prices, particularly naphtha, increased sharply in the Reporting Period compared
with the corresponding period last year, parallel to the increase in crude oil prices.
Aromatics prices
The prices of aromatic products, mainly paraxylene, increased in the Reporting Period
compared to the corresponding period last year, due to the shutdown of production facilities in
Europe, such as in Germany, and parallel to an increase in raw material and energy prices.
Margins
Difference between paraxylene and xylene prices in 2016-2017 (USD /ton)

Source: Reuters
Change in the average difference between the paraxylene and xylene prices (USD / ton)
Difference in price

2017
121

2016
128

Change
- 5%

10-12.2017
115

10-12.2016
144

Change
- 20%

In the Reporting Period, the difference between the paraxylene prices and xylene prices
decreased compared with the corresponding period last year, primarily because the price
increase of the raw material xylene was greater than the increase in the paraxylene prices, which
was affected by greater supply from the Middle East and India.
Aromatics output volume (thousand tons)
Aromatics

2017
433

2016
550

Change
- 117

10-12.2017
143

10-12.2016
125

Change
18

The decrease in aromatics output in the Reporting Period is mainly due to the shutdown of all
Gadiv facilities for periodic maintenance work in the first quarter of 2017. For further
information regarding the effect of the periodic maintenance work on the margins in the
Reporting Period, see section 2.1.2 below.
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2

Results of Bazan Group’s operations for the year and for the fourth quarter
To present the results of the Fuels Segment on an economic basis and for comparison with the Ural
margin, the accounting effects in the Fuel Segment only were adjusted and presented so as to allow
better understanding of the Company's performance in the Fuels Segment. Consequently, in this
Report the term “consolidated adjusted EBITDA” refers to the adjusted EBITDA in the Fuels Segment
together with the EBITDA reported in the Group’s other operating segments.
Breakdown of selected reported figures from the consolidated statements of income after
adjustment for accounting effects for the year and for the fourth quarter (USD millions):
Revenue
EBITDA
Depreciation
Other expenses, net
Operating profit
Finance expenses, net
Income tax expenses
Net profit
Fuel segment adjustments (*)
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted operating profit
Net adjusted profit

2017
5,624
620
(143)
(13)
464
(136)
(66)
262

2016
4,321
493
(129)
(34)
330
(132)
(40)
158

(68)
552
396
194

(66)
427
264
92

Change
+30%
+26%

+41%

+66%

+29%
+50%
+111%

10-12.2017
1,594
165
(35)
(4)
126
(34)
(14)
78
(26)
139
100
52

10-12.2016
1,252
140
(37)
(14)
89
(34)
(13)
42
(19)
121
70
23

Change
+27%
+18%

+42%

+86%

+15%
+43%
+126%

Breakdown of the consolidated EBITDA by operating segments (USD millions)
Fuels Segment
Polymers Segment:
Polymers - Carmel Olefins
Polymers - Ducor
Total Polymers Segment
Aromatics Segment - Gadiv
Other segments and
adjustments
Total EBITDA
Fuel Segment adjustments (*)
Fuels Segment - adjusted
Total adjusted EBITDA
(*)

2017
388

2016
280

Change
+39%

10-12.2017
116

190
22
212
16

174
28
202
17

+9%
- 21%
+5%
- 6%

41
3
44
5
-

4
620

(6)
493

+26%

(68)
320
552

(66)
214
427

+50%
+29%

10-12.2016
95

Change
+22%

43
6
49
3

- 5%
- 50%
- 10%
+67%

165

(7)
140

+18%

(26)
90
139

(19)
76
121

+18%
+15%

For further information concerning the adjustment components, see sections 2.1.2 and 2.2.2 below.
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2.1

Analysis of Bazan Group’s operating results for the year
It should be noted that in the oil refining and petrochemical industry the key factor that effects
operating results is not sales turnover, but rather the refining and petrochemical margins, which
are the difference between the income from product mix sales and the cost of the raw materials
purchased for producing them.
2.1.1

Sales turnover by operating segment

Fuels Segment
Polymers Segment Carmel Olefins
Polymers Segment – Ducor
Total Polymers Segment
Aromatics Segment Gadiv
Adjustments and others
Total Consolidated
Income
(1)
(2)

(3)
(4)

2017
4,908
683

Revenue
USD million
2016
3,694
539

230
913
381

194
733
395

(578)
5,624

(501)
4,321

Change
1,214
144(2)
36(3)
180
(14)(4)

Average price of the product
mix (USD / ton)
2017
2016
Change
476
385
91(1)
1,270
1,211
59
1,302

1,105

197

728

641

87

(77)
1,303

Mainly due to an increase in the price of energy, parallel to an increase in the price of crude oil.
The increase is mainly due to an increase in sales volume of USD 112 million following the
periodic maintenance work carried out on Carmel Olefins facilities in 2016, an increase in selling
prices of USD 23 million and income from insurance indemnification for loss of profits in an
amount of USD 10 million (see Note 11D to the Consolidated Financial Statements).
Primarily due to an increase in selling prices in the amount of USD 34 million.
Primarily due to a decrease of USD 59 million in sales volume due to the periodic maintenance
work on all of Gadiv’s plants in the first quarter of 2017 offset by an increase in selling prices of
USD 42 million.
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2.1.2

Breakdown of consolidated adjusted EBITDA by operating segment
Analysis of the main factors for the increase in the adjusted consolidated EBITDA by operating segments, in the amount of USD 125 million
(in USD million):
Polymers Segment
Fuels
Segment
Increase (decrease) in the
margin/contribution (1)
Increase (decrease) in sales volumes
Decrease (increase) in loss of profits due
to periodic maintenance work (2)
Decrease in other revenue (in sales
turnover)
Increase in operating expenses (including
fixed production, and general and
administrative expenses) (3)
Total

Aromatics
Segment

Carmel
Olefins

Ducor

115

(20)

(4)

(24)

38

(2)

1

(1)

1

-

38

(26)

51

-

51

(4)

-

21

10

-

10

2

-

19

(28)

(23)

(3)

(26)

(1)

-

(55)

106

16

(6)

10

(1)

10

7 (**)

Total

Others

Consolidated

125

(**) Included in the refining margin of the Fuels segment.
(1) For analyzing the EBITDA, the change in marketing and sales expenses (transportation, storage and insurance) were included in the contribution
analysis.
(2) In 2017 and 2016, periodic maintenance work was carried out on Group companies’ facilities as set out in Note 11A(4) to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. The Group assesses that the estimated total loss of profits caused as a result thereof in 2017 amounted to USD 69 million (USD 61 million
in the Fuels Segment, USD 4 million in the Aromatics Segment and USD 4 million in the Polymers Segment - Carmel Olefins, due to derivative
effects) and in 2016 amounted to USD 90 million (USD 35 million in the Fuels Segment, mainly in the third quarter; and USD 55 million in the
Polymers Segment - Carmel Olefins, in the second and fourth quarters).
(3) Mainly due to the effect of the appreciation of the NIS against the USD on NIS expenses, discounting of payroll expenses for period maintenance work
in the Reporting Period in an amount lower than the corresponding year last year, and an increase in maintenance and environmental expenses.
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Adjustment components in the Fuels Segment
Breakdown of adjustment components in the Fuels Segment and their effect on the
EBITDA (USD millions):
Accounting EBITDA
Expenses (income) from timing differences (1)
Expenses (income) from adjusting value of inventory to market
value, net (2)
Effect of changes in fair value of derivatives and disposals (3)
Total adjustments
Adjusted EBITDA
(1)

(2)

(3)

2017
388
(32)

2016
280
(27)

--

33

(36)
(68)
320

(72)
(66)
214

Expenses (income) arising from changes in the value of unhedged inventory. In
accordance with the Company’s policy, the Company does not engage in hedging
contracts for inventory of up to 730 thousand tons, other than inventories under the
available inventory transaction as set out in Note 20C5 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. As at December 31, 2017 the volume of inventory not secured with contracts
is 480 thousand tons.
Expenses (income) arising from changes in the adjustment of hedged inventory balances
to market value and expenses (income) from changes in accounting provision for
impairment of unhedged inventory, at the end of the Reporting Period.
Expenses (income) arising from reevaluation of the fair value of open positions that do
not relate to hedged inventory (hedging transactions on future cash flow exposure for
base inventory purchase and hedging of refining margins). The cumulative profit or loss
with regard to these positions will be attributed to the adjusted EBITDA when disposed.
In this quarter, most of this amount is due to non-cash disposal of the loss in positions
relating to the purchase of basic inventories due to the termination of the available
inventory transaction as set out in Note 20C5 to the annual financial statements.

Analysis of the Company's Fuels segment refining margins and comparison with
the Ural margin
Breakdown of the Company’s refining margins and the Ural margin:

Accounting margin (USD/ton)
Adjustments in the Fuels Segment (USD/ton)
Adjusted margin (USD/ton)
Adjusted margin (USD/barrel)
Ural margin (USD/barrel)
(*)
(1)

(2)

2017
61.4
(6.8)
54.6
7.5
5.3

2017
Proforma(*)
64.8
(6.6)
58.2
8.0
5.3

2016
52.9
(7.5)
45.4
6.2
4.0

The pro forma margins for the Reporting Period set out in the foregoing table were
computed as follows:
The estimated loss of profits with respect to the periodic maintenance work, in the
amount of USD 61 million, was added to the actual adjusted refining margin of the
Company in the Reporting Period, which was USD 600 million (hereinafter together: the
“Adjusted Margin”).
The Adjusted Margin was divided by the total number of barrels in the Reporting Period
amounting to 75.2 million barrels (the median number of barrels of crude oil and interim
materials of 17.5 million barrels, with regard to the first quarter, processed by the
Company per quarter, plus the actual number of barrels processed in the second quarter
of 2017).
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It is noted that there are differences in a number of parameters between the Company’s
refining margin and the Ural margin. These include composition of crude oil (the
Company also refines crude oil types that are not Ural), composition and quality of
products produced by the refineries, the energy source used for refining, and the
difference generated due to the fact that the quote takes into account purchase and sale
on the same day, while in practice, there is a gap between the purchase date of the
crude and the selling date of distillates produced from the crude oil. Comparison to the
Ural margin could provide insight in relation to development trends of the Company's
refining margin, and does not constitute a precise parameter for estimating the
Company's refining margin in the short term.
2.1.3

Adjusted consolidated operating profit
Adjusted consolidated operating profit amounted to USD 396 million in the Reporting
Period, compared to USD 264 million in the corresponding period last year. The main
factors that affected the operating profit, other than the adjusted EBITDA as set out in
section 2.1.2 above, are depreciation and amortization and other expenses.
Depreciation (without amortization of excess costs)
Depreciation expenses in the Reporting Period amounted to USD 143 million
compared with USD 129 million in the corresponding period of the previous year. The
increase is mainly due to the addition of depreciation relating to periodic maintenance
work.
Other expenses (including amortization of excess costs)
Other expenses in the Reporting Period amounted to USD 13 million and were mainly
made up of amortization of excess costs. In the corresponding period last year, other
expenses amounted to USD 34 million and were mainly made up of impairment of
assets in the amount of USD 14 million, amortization of excess costs of USD 12
million and other expenses in the amount of USD 8 million, primarily for the
voluntary redundancy plan.

2.1.4

Net profit
The net consolidated accounting profit amounted to USD 262 million in the Reporting
Period, compared with USD 158 million in the corresponding period last year. The
adjusted consolidated net profit amounted to USD 194 million in the Reporting Period,
compared with net profit of USD 92 million in the corresponding period last year.
The main factors that affected the adjusted net profit, other than the adjusted operating
profit as set out in section 2.1.3 above, are financing expenses and income tax.
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Financing expenses
In the Reporting Period the consolidated financing expenses amounted to USD 136
million, compared with USD 132 million in the corresponding period last year.
Breakdown of the principal changes in financing expenses, based on financial analysis
(in USD millions):

Decrease in interest on short term borrowings and working capital items
Increase in interest on long term loans and debentures (*)
Changes in fair value of hedge transactions
Effect of exchange rate differentials on financial items, net
Other (**)
Total

2017
Compared
with 2016
(6)
(1)
(13)
12
12
4

(*)

For information concerning the issue of debentures with longer life expectancy, see Note
14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
(**) Primarily due to a judgment handed in the Reporting Period concerning development
levies. For details see Note 20B2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

It should be noted that we were the Group is exposed to changes in the LIBOR rate, as
set out in Note 30D to the Consolidated Financial Statements. In the Reporting Period
the LIBOR (6 months) increase to an average rate of 1.48% compared with 1.06% in
the corresponding period last year. As a result, the Group’s financing expenses
increased in the Reporting Period by USD 5 million.
Income tax expenses
Net tax expenses in the Reporting Period amounted to USD -66 million compared to
USD 40 million in the corresponding period last year. The increase is primarily due to
an increase in pretax profits in the Reporting Period compared with the corresponding
period last year, tax expenses in the Reporting Period of USD 8 million with regard to
distributed dividend (see Note 21C to the Consolidated Financial Statements), tax
expenses in the corresponding period last year in the amount of USD 6 million for
changes in the tax rate (see Note 16A to the Consolidated Financial Statements, and
offsetting the effect of the strengthening of the NIS against the USD in the Reporting
Period on the deferred tax balances.
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2.2

Analysis of the results of Bazan Group’s operations in the fourth quarter
2.2.1

Sales turnover by operating segment

Fuels Segment
Polymers Segment - Carmel
Olefins
Polymers Segment – Ducor
Total Polymers Segment
Aromatics Segment - Gadiv
Adjustments and others
Consolidated Total income
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Revenue
USD million
10-12.2017 10-12.2016
1,415
1,089
164
151
58
222
136
(179)
1,594

49
200
96
(133)
1,252

Change
326
13(2)
9(3)
22
40(4)
(46)
342

Average price
of Product mix (USD per ton)
10-12.2017 10-12.2016 Change
525
423
102(1)
1,323
1,193
130
1,375

1,141

234

770

652

118

Mainly due to an increase in the price of energy, parallel to an increase in the price of crude oil.
Primarily due to an increase in selling prices.
Primarily due to an increase in selling prices in the amount of USD 10 million.
Mainly due to a decrease of USD 23 million in sales quantities offset by an increase of USD -15 million in
selling prices.
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2.2.2

Consolidated adjusted EBITDA by operating segments:
Below is a description of the main reasons for the increase in the adjusted consolidated EBITDA for the operating segments in the quarter, in
the amount of USD 18 million (USD million):

(1)

Increase in the margin/contribution
Increase (decrease) in sales volumes
Decrease in loss of profits due to periodic maintenance
work (2)
Increase in other revenues
Increase in operating expenses (including fixed production
and general and administrative expenses) (3)
Total
(1)
(2)
(3)

Fuels
Segment
18
6

Polymers Segment
Aromatics
Carmel
Segment
Olefins
Ducor
Total
7
7
1
(11)
(11)
1

Others
7
-

Consolidated
33
(4)

-

10

-

10

-

-

10

-

-

-

-

2

-

2

(10)

(8)

(3)

(11)

(2)

-

(23)

14

(2)

(3)

(5)

2

7

18

For analyzing the EBITDA, the change in marketing and sales expenses (transportation, storage and insurance) were included in the contribution
analysis.
For information regarding the estimated total loss of profits caused to the Group as the result of the periodic maintenance carried out on part of its
plants and all of Carmel Olefins plants in the second quarter of 2016, see section 2.1.2 above.
Mainly due to the effect of the appreciation of the NIS against the USD on NIS expenses, discounting of payroll expenses for periodic maintenance at a
lower amount in the quarter compared with the corresponding quarter last year, an increase in maintenance electricity (mainly due to the effects of the
claim against the Electricity Authority and the Israel Electric Corporation regarding systematic tariffs as set out in Note 20B1 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements), and environment protection expenses.
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Adjustment components in the Fuels Segment
Breakdown of adjustment components in the Fuels segment and their effect on the
EBITDA (USD millions):
Accounting EBITDA
Expenses (income) from timing differences (1)
Expenses (income) from adjusting value of inventory to
market value, net (2)
Effect of changes in fair value of derivatives and disposals (3)
Total adjustments
Adjusted EBITDA
(1)

(2)

(3)

10-12/2017
116
(29)

10-12/2016
95
(10)

4

18

(1)
(26)
90

(27)
(19)
76

Expenses (income) arising from changes in the value of unhedged inventory. In
accordance with the Company’s policy, the Company does not engage in hedging
contracts for inventory of up to 730 thousand tons, other than inventories under the
available inventory transaction as set out in Note 20C5 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. As at December 31, 2017 the volume of inventory not secured with contracts
is 480 thousand tons.
Expenses (income) arising from changes in the accounting provision for adjustment of
hedged inventory to market value and expenses (income) from changes in accounting
provision for impairment of unhedged inventory, at the end of the Reporting Period.
Expenses (income) arising from reevaluation of the fair value of open positions that do
not relate to hedged inventory (hedging transaction on the option allotted in the
availability transaction and hedging of refining margins). The cumulative profit or loss
with regard to these positions will be attributed to the adjusted EBITDA when disposed.

Analysis of the Company's Fuels segment refining margins and comparison with
the Ural margin
Breakdown of the Company’s refining margins and the Ural margin:
Accounting margin (USD/ton)
Adjustments in the fuels segment (USD/ton)
Adjusted margin (USD/ton)
Adjusted margin (USD/barrel)
Ural margin (USD/barrel)

10-12.2017
67.7
(10)
57.7
7.9
4.1

10-12.2016
57.7
(7.3)
50.4
6.9
5.0

For an explanation regarding the differences between the Company's refining margin
and the Ural margin, see section 2.1.2 above.

2.2.3

Adjusted consolidated operating profit
The adjusted consolidated operating profit in the second quarter of 2017 amounted to
USD 100 million, compared to USD 70 million in the corresponding period last year.
The main factors that affected the operating profit, other than the adjusted EBITDA as
set out in section 2.2.2 above, are depreciation and amortization and other expenses.
Depreciation (without amortization of excess costs)
Depreciation expenses in the second quarter of 2017 amounted to USD 35 million
compared with USD 31 million in the corresponding period of the previous year.

This translation of the financial statement is for convenience purposes only.
The only binding version of the financial statement is the Hebrew version.
B-20

Bazan Ltd.
Other expenses
Other expenses in the second quarter of 2017 amounted to USD 4 million and were
mainly made up of amortization of excess costs. Other expenses in the corresponding
period last year amounted to USD 14 million and were made up mainly of
amortization of excess costs in the amount of USD 11 million and voluntary
redundancy expenses of USD 3 million.
2.2.4

Net profit
The accounting consolidated net profit in the fourth quarter of 2017 amounted to USD
78 million, compared with USD 42 million in the corresponding period last year.
Adjusted consolidated net profit amounted to USD 52 million in the fourth quarter of
2017, compared with USD -23 million in the corresponding period last year.
The main factors that affected the adjusted net profit, other than the adjusted operating
profit as set out in section 2.2.3 above, are financing expenses and income tax
expenses.
Financing expenses
Net consolidated financing expenses in the fourth quarter of 2017 amounted to USD
34 million similar to the corresponding period last year. Breakdown of the principal
changes in financing expenses, based on financial analysis (in USD millions):

Decrease in interest on short term borrowings and working capital items
Effect of exchange rate differentials on financial items, net
Changes in fair value of hedge transactions
Others *)
Total

10-12.2017
compared with
10-12.2016
(8)
2
(4)
10
-

(*)

Primarily due to a judgment handed in the Reporting Period concerning development
levies. For details see Note 20B2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
(**) For information concerning the issue of debentures with longer life expectancy, see Note
14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

It should be noted that we were the Group is exposed to changes in the LIBOR rate, as
set out in Note 30D to the Consolidated Financial Statements. In the Reporting Period
the LIBOR (6 months) increase to an average rate of 1.64% compared with 1.28% in
the corresponding period last year. As a result, the Group’s financing expenses
increased in the Reporting Period by USD 1 million.
Income tax expenses
In the fourth quarter of 2017 income tax expenses amounted to USD 14 million
compared with USD 13 million in the corresponding period last year, primarily due to
an increase in pretax profits in the fourth quarter compared with the corresponding
period last year and tax expenses of USD 3 million in the corresponding period due to
changes in the income tax rates (see Note 16A to the Consolidated Financial
Statements).
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2.2.5

Reported consolidated adjusted quarterly results for 2017
Q1
Revenue
Cost of sales, refinery and services
Gross profit
Sales and Marketing Expenses
General and Administrative
Expenses
Operating profit
Financing expenses, net
Profit before income tax
Income tax expenses
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income
(loss)
Comprehensive income
EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA
(*)

1,206
(1,094)(*)
112
(21)(*)

Q2

Q3
Q4
USD millions
1,378
1,446
1,594
(1,215)(*) (1,277)(*) (1,424)
163
169
170
(23)(*)
(25)(*)
(27)

2017
5,624
(5,010)
614
(96)

(11)
80
(47)
33
(14)
19

(12)
128
(36)
92
(19)
73

(14)
130
(19)
111
(19)
92

(17)
126
(34)
92
(14)
78

(54)
464
(136)
328
(66)
262

(9)
10
116
74

(2)
71
170
157

(5)
87
169
182

5
83
165
139

(11)
251
620
552

For further information- For details Note 2 (35) to the consolidated financial statements.
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3

Analysis of financial position

403
496
12
693
1,604
2,298

Increase
2016
(decrease)
USD millions
371
32
394
102
13
(1)
531
162
1,309
295
2,285
13

50
56
7
2,411
4,015
236
909
35
24
1,204
374
1,000
57
132
44
1,607
1,204
4,015

48
10
16
2,359
3,668
239
817
45
23
1,124
411
919
16
50
83
28
1,507
1,037
3,668

2017
Cash and deposits
Trade and other receivables (1)
Financial derivatives
Inventory (2)
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, net

Percentage
change
9%
26%
- 8%
31%
23%
1%

(3)

Loan to Haifa Early Pensions
Financial derivatives (4),(7)
Other
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Loans and borrowings (including current maturities) (6)
Trade and other payables
Provisions (6)
Financial derivatives
Total current liabilities
Loans from banks, net (7)
Debentures, net (7)
Financial derivatives (4),(7)
Employee benefits, net
Deferred tax liabilities, net
Other
Total non-current liabilities
Total capital
Total liabilities and capital
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

(6)

(7)
(8)

4

2
46
(9)
52
347
(3)
92
(10)
1
80
(37)
81
(16)
7
49
16
100
167
347

4%
460%
- 56%
2%
9%
- 1%
11%
- 22%
4%
7%
- 9%
9%
- 100%
14%
59%
57%
7%
16%
9%

Primarily due to price increase.
Primarily due to increase in volume and price
For details see Notes 11 and 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Mainly due to strengthening of the NIS against the USD.
Primarily due to (1) an increase in other payables of USD 73 million due to a judgment handed in the
Reporting Period concerning development levies as set out in Note 20B2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements; and (2) an increase in trade payables of USD 33 million mainly due to increase in price offset
by a payment to Haifa Port of USD 47 million for a judgment handed in the Reporting Period as set out in
Note 20B1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, offset by a decrease in supplier credit days.
Mainly due to a judgment handed in the Reporting Period concerning development levies, as set out in
Note 20B2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. For information regarding movement in provisions
see Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
For further information see Appendix B to the Consolidated Financial Statements regarding cash flows.
Primarily due to utilization of carryforward losses for tax purposes. For details see Note 6D to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Liquidity analysis
Total current assets less current liabilities as at December 31, 2017 amounted to USD 400 million and
to USD 185 million as at December 31, 2016.
The current ratio at March 31, 2014 is 1.33 and at December 31, 2013 is 1.16.
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Breakdown of the Group’s liquidity analysis for 2016-2017:

Cash based profit
Decrease (increase) in working capital (1)
Income tax payments less (2)
Cash Stemming from Current Operations
Investments in property plant and equipment (including periodic
maintenance) (3)
Other
Cash used for investments
Short-term borrowings, net
Investments in related companies – long-term loans (4)
Repayment of debentures and long-term loans (5)
Interest paid (5)
Dividend paid (6)
Other
Net cash used in finance activities
Increase in cash and cash equivalents for the year
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents
(*)
(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

(6)

5

2017
2016
USD millions
579
478
(188)
22
(9)
(1)
382
499
(123)
4
(119)
(1)
202
(242)
(141)
(85)
32
(235)
28
8

(190)
(22)
(212)
(83)
556
(668)
(84)
(4)
(283)
4
-

Cash flows from ongoing operations less interests. net paid in 2017 and 2016 amounted to USD 245
million and USD 417 million, respectively.
Primarily due to an increase in trade receivables in the amount of USD 102 million, increase in inventories
in the amount of USD 160 million, increase in trade payables of USD 17 million and increase in payables
of USD 49 million.
Primarily due to payment of tax for dividends in the amount of USD 8 million. For details see Note 16E1
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Mainly for periodic maintenance work on the Group companies’ plants. For further information see Note
11A(4) to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Mainly for the issue of Debentures (Series I). For further information see Note 14B to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.
In 2017 includes an amount of USD 49 million for principal payments and USD 27 million for interest
payments, for which their contractual due date was deferred from December 31, 2016 (which was not a
business day) to January 1, 2017.
For details see Note 21C2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Total borrowings from financial institutions
Breakdown of Bazan Group’s net debt to financial institutions and debenture holders (USD million):
Dec 31, 2017
451
1,136
(35)
(402)
1,150

Short-term debt
Bank loans (1)
Debentures (1)
Debenture hedging transactions (2)
Liquid financial assets (3)
Total net financial debt
(1)
(2)

(3)

Dec 31, 2016
2
482
1,065
15
(371)
1,193

Including current maturities Presented according to liability value (excluding capital raising costs).
According to the Group's hedging policy, swap transactions on principal and interest against the issue of
NIS debentures. The transactions are presented in the foregoing table, together with the presentation of the
debentures, at their liability value, net of or in addition to the related long term deposits.
Including cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits.
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For further information concerning the Group’s short term secured credit facilities as at December 31,
2017 and their utilization, and renewal for 2018, see Note 13A to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
Average volume of sources of finance in the Reporting Period
Long term loans and debentures (including current maturities, based on the method of presenting them
according to the accounting standards in the financial statements and without the costs of capital
raising) amounts to USD 1,708 million, short term financial credit amounts to USD 28 million, net
operating capital amounts to USD 189 million (of which the average for trade receivables is USD 334
million and trade payables is USD 538 million).

6

7

Exposure to market risk and risk management methods
6.1

For further information concerning the Group’s exposure to and description of market, credit and
liquidity risks, market risk management policy, supervision and implementation thereof, and market
risk management officers, see Notes 29 and 30 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. As set out
in Note 29, the relevant Board of Directors committees (the finance committee, trade committee)
receive reports and from time to time discuss market risk management issues, each according to their
purpose. The Company has guidelines for working procedures and internal control that are intended
to ensure proper management of the market risks in accordance with the Company’s policies.

6.2

For information concerning the consolidated base linkage report, see Note 30C to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Corporate governance
The Board of Directors adopted a regulation based on the recommendations of the Goshen Committee
and recommendations for their implementation, as submitted to the Company, and updated from time
to time, in accordance with changes in relevant statutes and standards.
7.1

Internal compliance plans
The Company implements several internal compliance plans dealing with: antitrust issues,
safety and environmental protection, prevention of sexual harassment, securities laws and
international trade restriction compliance. The Company's balance sheet and audit committee
serves as the designated compliance and enforcement committee.

7.2

Financial contributions and community activities
The Company’s contribution to the community and community activities are based on policies
discussed and approved by the community involvement committee of the Board of Directors. In
2017, the Company’s consolidated expenses for these activities amounted to USD 0.5 million.
Financial contributions to the community were granted to several organizations. The Company has
no future commitments for financial contributions to the community. The financial contributions are
made to worthy causes, focusing on advancing education and community welfare in Israel,
particularly in the north of the country, where the Company’s operations are located.

7.3

Directors with accounting and financial expertise
Pursuant to a decision by the Company's Board of Directors, the minimum number of directors
with accounting and financial expertise is 4. As at the Reporting Date the Company has 6
directors with accounting and financial expertise. See Part D of the Periodic Report for
qualifications, education and experience.

7.4

Independent directors
Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association, as long as the Company has a controlling
shareholder or a holder of a control bloc, the number of independent directors on the Board of
Directors, as the term is defined in section 219 (E) of the Companies Law, will not be less than
two. The number of independent directors serving in the Company is 2.
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7.5

Salaries of officers and considerations on which the Board of Directors base such salaries
The Board of Directors reviewed the terms of employment of the officers listed in Chapter D to
this report under Regulation 21 and found them to comply with the compensation policy.
The remuneration that the Company paid in the Reporting year to each of its officers is in accordance
with the Compensations Policy approved by the competent organs of the Company and/or by the
general meeting of shareholders, and as such, constitutes appropriate, fair and reasonable return for the
contribution of each one of them to the Company’s operations and performance.

7.6

Disclosure regarding the internal auditor in a reporting corporation
7.6.1

Name of internal auditor at December 31, 2017: Ronen Arzi, CPA

7.6.2

Date of commencement of term of office: March 1, 2017.

7.6.3

Qualifications: Certified Public Accountant, MBA in Internal and Public Auditing from
the Tel Aviv University. He has 18 years of experience in internal auditing.

7.6.4

To the best of the Company's knowledge, the internal auditor complies with the
provisions of section 146(b) of the Companies Law, 1999, and section 8 of the Internal
Audit Law, 1992 (the “Internal Audit Law”).

7.6.5

The internal auditor is not a Company employee and he is engaged through an
agreement to provide internal auditing services.

7.6.6

The internal auditor is not an interested party in the corporation or a relative of an
interested party in the corporation and is not a relative of the auditor or his
representative.

7.6.7

The internal auditor does not fill another position in the Company other than his
position as internal auditor.

7.6.8

The audit committee and Board of Directors approved the appointment of the internal
auditor in 2017.

7.6.9

In 2017, with his appointment as internal auditor, it was agreed that he would conduct a risk
survey and an embezzlement and fraud survey and based on these, a multi-annual audit
program will be drafted. It was later decided that the internal auditor will conduct audits on
the issues of warehouses, inventories and property. Total working hours in 2017 – 2,500
hours. Subsequent to the Reporting Period, the internal auditor submitted the risk survey that
he had prepared. The audit committee and the Board of Directors approved a multi-annual
internal audit work plan and a work plan for 2018, for a total of 4,200 hours.

7.6.10 The internal auditor submits written internal audit reports, continually, when each report
is completed and they are discussed, shortly after completion, by the Board of Directors
audit committee. The internal audit reports for 2017 and the internal audit work plan
were discussed at four meetings of the audit committee.
7.6.11 The internal auditor's fee is based on an annual hourly budget (as set out above) and is not
conditional on the audit results. The fee paid to the internal auditor for 2017 amounted to USD
0.2 million. The fee is standard and according to market conditions, and the Board of Directors
believes that this is not a factor that can affect the auditor's judgment when preparing the audit.
7.6.12 The Company believes that the nature and continuity of operations and the internal
auditor’s work plan are reasonable under the circumstances and will serve to achieve the
purposes of the corporation’s internal audit. The internal auditor has free access, as set
out in section 9 of the Internal Audit Law, including constant and direct access to the
corporation’s information systems, including financial data.
7.6.13 The internal auditor conducts the audit in accordance with generally accepted
professional standards in Israel and other countries.
7.6.14 The internal auditor reports directly to the chairman of the Board of Directors.
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7.7

Auditor’s fees
2017
Hours

7.7.1

KPMG Somekh Chaikin Certified
Public Accountants
Fee for audit services
Other fees (1)

USD
thousands

10,421
600
11,021

689
51
740

329 (3)

5,908

390

279

18

5,046

7.7.3

Others - KPMG Somekh Chaikin,
Certified Public Accountants,
Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co.
Fee for audit and tax services

275

(3)

Hours

722
166
888

Significant subsidiaries - KPMG
Somekh Chaikin, Certified Public
Accountants, Brightman Almagor
Zohar & Co., and Deloitte
Fee for audit and tax services

(2)

USD
thousands

10,203
1,707
11,910

7.7.2

(1)

2016 (2)

19

Other services in the Company include: advice on tax issues, special tasks on ongoing
matters, including a shelf prospectus.
In 2016 the auditors for Carmel Olefins and Ducor were replaced. Accordingly, in 2016
the figures for these companies refer to two accounting firms.
Excluding the fees of the auditors in the Netherlands in the amount of USD 40 thousand,
that audit Ducor’s statutory report.

The auditors’ fees are fixed, pursuant to a resolution of the general meeting of shareholders, by
the Company’s Board of Directors after receiving the recommendation of the audit committee.
The fees are fixed in negotiations between the auditors and the CFO in a fixed amount that takes
into account the expected scope of the audit work in the reporting year. With regard to
additional tasks that are not the audit, separate fees were fixed based on the scope of the
required work.

8

Disclosure concerning the financial reporting of the Company
8.1

Additional information contained in the auditors’ report to shareholders
Without qualifying their opinion, the auditors of the Company drew attention to: the provisions
of Note 20B(3), (5) and (6) to the Consolidated Financial Statements concerning administrative
and other proceedings, other contingencies, as well as laws and regulations concerning quality
of the environment, that the managements of the Company and the subsidiaries believe that,
based on the opinions of their legal counsel, at this stage, it is not possible to assess the effect of
the aforesaid on the financial statements, if any. Therefore, no provision regarding this matter
was included in the financial statements.

8.2

Use of estimates and judgments
For information concerning the use of estimates and discretion, see Note 2 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

8.3

Definition of insignificant transactions in the Company’s financial statements
For further information see Note 27F to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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9

Details of outstanding debentures
9.1

As at December 31, 2017 there are six outstanding series of debentures issued by the Company
and offered to the public, as set out in Note 14B to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

9.2

Debenture Trustees
The trustees of the Company's debentures and their particulars are as follows:
(1)

The trustee of the Company’s debentures (Series A and D) is Mishmeret Trust Company
Ltd. To the best of the Company’s knowledge, the trustee’s details are as follows:
Contact person (person in charge): Rami Sabati; address: 46-48 Menachem Begin
Avenue, Tel Aviv;
Telephone: 972-3-6374351; fax: 972-3-6374344 ramiS@mtrust.co.il.
The trustee of the Company’s debentures (Series E and F) is Resnick Paz Nevo Trustee
Company Ltd. To the best of the Company’s knowledge, the trustee’s details are as
follows:
Contact person (person in charge): Yossi Resnick; address: 14 Yad Harutzim Street, Tel
Aviv;
Telephone: 972-3-6389200; fax: 972-3-6393316; email: yossi@rpn.co.il.
The trustee of the Company’s debentures (Series G and I) is Hermetic Trust Services
(1975) Ltd. To the best of the Company’s knowledge, the trustee’s details are as follows:
Contact person (person in charge): Dan Avnon; Postal address: of 113 Tuval Street, Tel
Aviv, 63573
Telephone: 972-3-5274867; fax: 972-3-5271451 hermetic@hermetic.co.il.

(2)

(3)

9.3

Debenture rating
Rating of the debentures in circulation (including expansion):

Series
Series A

Original date
of issue
Dec 3 ,2007

Series D

Sept 11. 2014

Series E

Jun 2, 2015

Series F

Jun 2, 2015

Series G

Dec 29, 2015

Series I

April 25, 2017

Rating shortly Rating at the date
before issue
of the Periodic
Rating
date
Report
agency
AA/Stable
A-/Stable
S&P
Maalot
BBB/Stable
A-/Stable
S&P
Maalot
BBB+/Stable
A-/Stable
S&P
Maalot
BBB+/Stable
A-/Stable
S&P
Maalot
BBB+/Stable
A-/Stable
S&P
Maalot
A-/Stable
A-/Stable
S&P
Maalot

Date and Ref. No. of
immediate report on
the updated rating2
April 9, 2017
2017-01-032389
April 9, 2017
2017-01-032389
April 9, 2017
2017-01-032389
April 9, 2017
2017-01-032389
April 9, 2017
2017-01-032389
April 9, 2017
2017-01-032389

For further information see Note 14B to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
9.4

Collateral for debentures
For further information concerning collateral for the debentures, options for early redemption,
causes for calling for immediate repayment, conditions for the distribution of dividend, other
restrictions, financial covenants and the Company's compliance therewith, see Note 14 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

2

Th immediate reports included in this column are presented as a reference.
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10

Significant subsequent events
A. For details see Note 31 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
B.

Effect of changes in exchange rates and prices of crude oil
1)

Changes in currency exchange rates: from the end of the Reporting Period through the
date of approval of the financial statements, the NIS-USD exchange rate appreciated by
2.8%. As part of its risk management policy the Company uses hedging transactions to
partially offset this exposure. The appreciation of 0.7%, following the results of the
hedging transactions, had no effect on the Company's business results.

2)

Changes in crude oil prices: The price of oil, which was USD 67 per barrel as at the Reporting
Date, was USD 65 per barrel shortly before the date of issue of the Financial Statements.

11

The Board of Directors of the Company thanks the outgoing officers and directors for their
contribution to the Company.

12

The Board of Directors thanks the employees and management of the Company for their efforts in the
Reporting Period.

Ovadia Eli
Chairman of the Board of
Directors

Yashar Ben Mordechai
CEO

March 14, 2018
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Appendix - Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements of Carmel Olefins Ltd.
Upon completion of the arrangement to replace Carmel Olefins debentures with debentures (Series G) of the
Company, under which Carmel Olefins provided collateral for the Company's obligations to the holders of its
debentures (Series G) as set out in Note 14A to the Annual Statements, Carmel Olefins ceased to be a
reporting corporation and all its reporting obligations have cease.
So long as Carmel Olefins remains guarantor as aforesaid, the Company undertook to attach to its Board of
Directors Report, ever quarter, condensed consolidated financial statements of Carmel Olefins (Statements of
Financial Position, Statements of Profit and Loss and Statements of Cash Flows), without notes and
unaudited or reviewed, as the case may be.
Below are the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements of Carmel Olefins used in the
preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements (audited or reviewed, accordingly):
A. Carmel Olefins - Consolidated Statements of Financial Position (in USD thousands)
December 31
2017

2016

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Financial derivatives
Inventories

49,550
128,054
1,697
3,169
76,706

Total current assets

259,176

187,799

Non-current assets
Financial derivatives
Long term receivables
Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangible assets and deferred expenses, net

5,292
652,273
11,834

453
6,357 (*)
674,475
13,879 (*)

Total non-current assets

669,399

695,164

Total assets

928,575

882,963

(*)

Reclassified
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28,161
98,544
2,248 (*)
7,727
51,119
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A. Carmel Olefins - Consolidated Statements of Financial Position (in USD thousands) - contd.
December 31
2017

2016

5,750
78,256
79,987
836
4,202

44,014
2,808
39,844
17,568
2,576
6,090

169,031

112,900

12,500
11,239
19,825
78,847

6,782
149,428
9,852
17,722
756
70,396

Total non-current liabilities

122,411

254,936

Total liabilities

291,442

367,836

Share capital
Capital reserves
Capital surplus

116,997
(11,514)
531,650

116,997
(11,306)
409,436

Total capital

637,133

515,127

Total liabilities and capital

928,575

882,963

Current liabilities
Current maturities of bank loans
Loans and borrowings (including current maturities) (6)
Trade payables
Other payables
Financial derivatives
Provisions
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Liabilities to banks, net
Loan from the parent company, net
Other long-term liabilities
Employee benefits, net
Financial derivatives
Deferred tax liabilities, net

Equity
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B.

Carmel Olefins - Condensed Consolidated Interim Statements of Income and Other
Comprehensive Income (USD thousands)
Year ended December 31
2017

2016

2015

904,702

727,499

883,778

Cost of sales

(698,034)

(529,990)

(667,955)

Gross profit

206,668

197,509

215,823

Sales and Marketing Expenses
General and Administrative Expenses
Other revenue
Other expenses

(28,460)
(16,279)
(247)

(24,439)
(14,177)
2,409
(4,459)

(27,053)
(18,065)
7
-

Operating profit

161,682

156,843

170,712

Financing revenues
Financing expenses

1,180
(14,930)

1,095 (*)
(22,307) (*)

Financing expenses, net

(13,750)

(21,212)

(32,460)

Profit before income tax

147,932

135,631

138,252

Income tax expenses

(25,328)

(27,461)

(30,642)

Net earnings for the year

122,604

108,170

107,610

844

-

Revenue

4,008 (*)
(36,468) (*)

Items of other comprehensive income (loss) transferred
to profit or loss
Effective share of the change in fair value of cash flow
hedging, net of tax
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign
operations
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year,
transferred to profit or loss, net of tax

(1,451)
930

(228)

3,603

(521)

616

3,603

Items of other comprehensive income (loss) not
transferred to profit or loss
Remeasurement of a defined benefit plan, net of tax
Net change in fair value of debentures at fair value through
profit or loss, attributable to change in credit risk, net of tax

(238)

(141)

Other comprehensive loss for the year, not transferred to
profit or loss, net of tax

(238)

Comprehensive income for the year
(*)

-

121,845

-

(141)
108,645

Reclassified

This translation of the financial statement is for convenience purposes only.
The only binding version of the financial statement is the Hebrew version.
B-32

647
(2,812)

(2,165)
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C. Carmel Olefins - Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow (in USD thousands):
For the year ended December 31
2017
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year
Adjustments to cash flows from operating activities:
Expenses not involving cash flows (Appendix A – section A)
Changes in assets and liabilities items (Appendix A - section B)
Interest paid, net
Income tax paid to the Tax Authority
Settling of accounts regarding utilization of the parent company's
carryforward losses

2015

122,604

108,170

107,610

85,040

76,074

97,059

207,644
(9,061)
(19,014)
(269)

184,244
50,551
(18,282)
(204)

204,669
(111,901)
(27,643)
(174)

(7,466)
171,834

Net cash from operating activities

2016

-

-

216,309

64,951

Cash flow used for investing activities
Change in deposits, net
Loans to employees, net
Investments in property plant and equipment (including periodic
maintenance)

(11,068)

(67,672)

(11,262)

Net cash used in investing activities

(11,052)

(49,928)

(11,143)

(1)
17

17,681
63

(59)
178

Cash flow from financing activities
Receipt of short-term borrowings from the parent company, net
Long term loans received from parent company
Repayment (including early repayment) of long term loans from
the parent company
Receipt (repayment) of short-term borrowings, net
Repayment of long-term bank loans
Receipts (payments) from currency swap transactions and
interest, net
Long-term loans received from banks
Repayment of debentures

41,332
-

57,335

(201,249)
(843)
(5,750)

(34,349)
(79,290)
(106,394)

5,593
(17,588)

(1,683)
-

(1,989)
(31,575)

Net cash used in finance activities

(140,830)

(164,381)

(45,559)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

19,952
1,437
28,161

2,000
809
25,352

8,249
434
16,669

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

49,550

28,161

25,352

10,680
15,000
-
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C. Carmel Olefins - Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow (in USD thousands) contd.
Appendix A: Adjustments required to present cash flows from operating activities
For the year ended December 31
A.

B.

Income and expenses not that do not involve cash flows:
Amortization and depreciation
Financing expenses, net
Other revenue
Net changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments
Share-based payment of parent company
Income tax expenses

Changes in assets and liabilities
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables
Decrease (increase) in other receivables
Decrease (increase) in inventory
Increase (decrease) in trade payables
Increase (decrease) in other accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in provisions
Increase (decrease) in employee benefit liabilities, net

2017

2016

49,467
19,825
(9,893)
313
25,328

43,394
19,378
(2,409)
(12,343)
593
27,461

35,472
30,280
368
297
30,642

85,040

76,074

97,059

(27,171)
621
(23,615)
35,843
634
2,941
1,686

16,911
27,998
(2,700)
8,326
(2,238)
290
1,964

35,959
(28,795)
14,061
(136,019)
8,162
(4,496)
(773)

(9,061)

50,551

(111,901)
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Somekh Chaikin
7 Nahum Het Street,
PO Box 15142
Haifa 3190500
04-861 4800

Auditors Report to the Shareholders of Bazan Limited
We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of Bazan Limited (“the
Company”) as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 and the consolidated statements of income and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for each of the last three years in the period ended
December 31, 2017. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's board of directors and
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We did not audit the financial statements of consolidated subsidiaries, the consolidated income of which
constitute 15% of the total consolidated income for the year ended December 31, 2015.
We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel, including
standards prescribed by the Auditors Regulations (Manner of Auditor's Performance), 1973. Such standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by the Company’s board of directors and management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit and the reports of other auditors
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, based on our audits and on the reports of the other auditors, these consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 and the results of their operations, changes in equity and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, in conformity with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Securities Regulations (Annual Financial Statements), 2010.
We have also audited, in conformity with Audit Standard 104 of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in Israel, "Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” and its amendments, internal controls over the
Company's financial reporting as at December 31, 2017, and our report of March 14, 2018 includes an
unqualified opinion of the effective fulfillment of these components.
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 20B(3), (5), and (6) to the financial statements
regarding administrative and other proceedings, other contingencies, and laws and regulations relating to
environmental quality. Based on the opinion of the legal counsel of the Company and its subsidiaries, the
managements of the Company and the subsidiaries believe that, at this stage, it is not possible to assess the
effect of the aforesaid on the financial statements, if any exists. Accordingly, no provision regarding this
matter was included in the financial statements.

Somekh Chaikin
Certified Public Accountants

Haifa, March 14, 2018
Somekh Chaikin, an Israeli partnership and member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms
affiliated with KMPG International Cooperative, a Swiss entity
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Somekh Chaikin
7 Nahum Het Street,
PO Box 15142
Haifa 3190500
04-861 4800

Auditors Report to the Shareholders of Bazan Limited
about the audit of internal control over financial reporting
in accordance with section 9B(c) of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970

We have audited the internal control over the financial reporting of Bazan Ltd. and its subsidiaries (together:
"the Company") as at December 31, 2017. The controls were determined as explained in the following
paragraph. The Company’s Board of Directors and management are responsible for maintaining effective
internal control over the financial reporting and for their assessment of the effectiveness of these internal
controls over the financial reports attached to the periodic report at this date. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion of the internal control over the Company’s financial reporting based on our audit.
The components of internal control over financial reporting that were audited by us were defined in
accordance with Standard 104 of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Israel, Audit of Internal
Controls Over Financial Reporting (“Audit Standard 104”). These controls are: 1) entity-level controls,
including audits on the process for preparation and closing of financial reports and information technology
general controls (ITGC); (2) revenue process; (3) acquisitions process of crude oil and distillates; (4)
inventory process (crude oil and distillates) (all these together are referred to hereunder as: “the Audited
Controls”).
We conducted our audit in accordance with Audit Standard 104, which requires us to plan and perform the
audit to identify the Audited Controls and obtain reasonable assurance that these controls have been
implemented effectively in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of the
internal control over financial reporting, identifying the Audited Controls, assessing the risk for material
weaknesses in the audited controls, and testing and evaluating the effectiveness of the planning and
implementation of these controls based on the assessed risk. Our audit, regarding these controls, included
performing other procedures, as we considered necessary in the circumstances. Our audit referred only to the
Audited Controls, as opposed to internal control over all the significant processes regarding financial
reporting, therefore our opinion refers to the audited controls only. Additionally, our audit did not refer to the
reciprocal effects between the Audited Controls and those that are unaudited, therefore, our opinion does not
take into account such possible effects. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion
in the context described above.
Due to inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting in general, and internal control
components in particular, may not prevent or disclose misstatement. Moreover, drawing forward-looking
conclusions based on any present assessment of effectiveness involves risks that the controls may become
inadequate due to changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
In our opinion, based on our audit, the Company has implemented effectively, in all material respects, the
Audited Control Components as at December 31, 2017.
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Somekh Chaikin
7 Nahum Het Street,
PO Box 15142
Haifa 3190500
04-861 4800

We have also audited, in accordance with generally accepted control standards in Israel, the consolidated
financial statements of the Company as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 and for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2017, and our report of March 14, 2018, includes an unqualified opinion of these
financial statements, and we draw attention to Note 20B(3), (5) and (6) to the financial statements regarding
administrative and other proceedings, other contingencies, and laws and regulations relating to the
environment. Based on the opinion of the legal counsel of the Company and its subsidiaries, the
managements of the Company and the subsidiaries believe that, at this stage, it is not possible to assess the
effect of the aforesaid on the financial statements, if any exists. Accordingly, no provision regarding this
matter was included in the financial statements.

Somekh Chaikin
Certified Public Accountants
Haifa, March 14, 2018
Somekh Chaikin, an Israeli partnership and member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms
affiliated with KMPG International Cooperative, a Swiss entity
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
USD thousands

December 31,
Note

2017

5A
5B
6
7
30
8

326,471
76,058
481,772
14,344
11,845
693,272

290,399
80,370
377,812
16,586
12,665
531,271

Total current assets

1,603,762

1,309,103

Non-current assets
Investments in associates
Loan to Haifa Early Pensions Ltd.
Long term loans and receivables
Financial derivatives
Fixed assets, net
Intangible assets and deferred expenses, net

1,505
50,228
5,292
55,782
2,269,302
29,284

2,449
48,178
13,146
9,590
2,255,227
30,006

Total non-current assets

2,411,393

2,358,596

Total assets

4,015,155

3,667,699

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Deposits
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Financial derivatives
Inventory

Ovadia Eli
Chairman, Board of Directors

18B
10
30
11A
12

Yashar Ben Mordechai
CEO

2016

Israel Lederberg
CFO

Approval date of the financial statements: March 14, 2018

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
USD thousands

December 31
Note

2017

2016

13A, 14A
15A
15B
30
17

235,703
721,682
187,188
24,161
35,032

238,811
689,337
128,429
22,589
44,564

1,203,766

1,123,730

374,397
999,503
43,794
57,039
132,222

410,726
918,834
28,167
15,865
50,400
82,880

Total non-current liabilities

1,606,955

1,506,872

Total liabilities

2,810,721

2,630,602

805,770
31,979
24,102
342,583

805,282
31,962
41,286
158,567

Total capital

1,204,434

1,037,097

Total liabilities and capital

4,015,155

3,667,699

Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings (including current maturities)
Trade payables
Other payables
Financial derivatives
Provisions
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Liabilities to banks, net
Debentures, net
Other long-term liabilities
Financial derivatives
Employee benefits, net
Deferred tax liabilities, net

13A(2)
14A
13B
30
18B
16D

21

Capital
Share capital
Share premium
Capital reserves
Retained earnings

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Bazan Limited.
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
USD thousands

Note

2017

Year ended December 31
2016

2015

Revenue

22

5,623,744

4,320,868

5,490,973

Cost of sales

23

(5,010,261)

(3,828,880)(*)

(4,910,750)(*)

613,483

491,988

580,223

(95,400)
(54,145)
(247)
463,691

(90,515) (*)
(49,370)
990
(13,700)
(9,854)
329,539

(101,770) (*)
(52,577)
2,298
(8,500)
(15,392)
404,282

21,010
(156,732)
(135,722)

5,403(*)
(136,992) (*)
(131,589)

4,329(*)
(144,719)(*)
(140,390)

Gross profit
Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses
Other income (expenses), net
Loss from impairment of cash-generating units
Voluntary redundancy expenses
Operating profit

24
25
11F
18A2

Financing income
Financing expenses
Financing expenses, net

26
26

Company's share in profits (losses) of associates, net of tax

(240)

Income before taxes on income
Income tax

16B

Profit for the year

(56)

507

327,729

197,894

264,399

(65,814)

(40,050)

(39,755)

261,915

157,844

224,644

Items of other comprehensive income (loss) transferred to
profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations
Effective share of the change in fair value of cash flow
hedging, net of tax
Change in fair value hedging costs, net of tax
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year,
transferred to profit or loss, net of tax

1,096

Items of other comprehensive income (loss) not transferred
to profit or loss
Remeasurement of a defined benefit plan, net of tax
Net change in fair value of debentures at fair value through
profit or loss, attributable to change in credit risk, net of tax
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, net of tax

1,418
3,544

3,353

(6,128)

4,734

6,956

(1,304)

(248)

3,304

(3,306)

(929)

(16,509)

(3)

(239)

(1,180)

(13,444)

(4,598)

Comprehensive income for the year
Earnings per share (USD)
Basic and diluted earnings per 1 ordinary share

21

3,603

(558)
(6,666)

12

Other comprehensive loss for the year, not transferred to profit
or loss, net of tax

(228)

251,189

161,398

218,156

0.082

0.049

0.070

(*) Reclassified, see also Note 2G

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Bazan Limited.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
USD thousands

Share
capital

Balance as at January 1, 2017
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign
operations
Change in fair value hedging costs, net of tax
Remeasurement of a defined benefit plan, net of tax
Net change in fair value of debentures at fair value
through profit or loss, attributable to change in
credit risk, net of tax
Effective share of the change in fair value of cash
flow hedging, net of tax
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income, net of tax
Total other comprehensive income (loss) for the
year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year
Share-based payment (see Note 21B)
Exercised share options
Expired options
Dividend declared and paid (see Note 21C)
Balance as at December 31, 2017

Capital
reserve for
share-based
payment

Share
premium

Capital
reserve for
financial
instruments
at fair value
Capital
reserve from through other
comprehensiv
translation
Capital
e income
differences
reserve
Year ended December 31, 2017

805,282

31,962

12,356

5,640

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total capital

6,175

-

-

-

1,096
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

12

-

-

-

-

1,096

12

-

(7,224)

(3,306)

-

-

-

1,096

12

-

(7,224)

(3,306)

260,611

251,189

488
805,770

17
31,979

28,478

(1,049)

(7,859)

8,405
(85,000)
342,583

1,148
(85,000)
1,204,434

6,736

(6,798)

(6,666)
-

(558)
-

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(4,553)

Retained
earnings

28,478

1,148
(505)
(8,405)
4,594

(6,810)

Hedge
fund

Capital
reserve for
financial
liabilities
designated
at fair
value

-

-

(3,306)

158,567

1,037,097

261,915

261,915

(1,304)

1,096
(6,666)
(1,304)

-

(3,306)

-

-

(558)

-

-

12

(1,304)

(10,726)

-

Bazan Limited.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Contd.)
USD thousands

Share
premium

Capital
reserve for
share-based
payment

805,282

31,962

10,245

5,868

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Share
capital

Balance as at January 1, 2016
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign
operations
Change in fair value hedging costs, net of tax
Remeasurement of a defined benefit plan, net of tax
Net change in fair value of debentures at fair value
through profit or loss, attributable to change in
credit risk, net of tax
Effective share of the change in fair value of cash
flow hedging, net of tax
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income, net of tax
Total other comprehensive income (loss) for the
year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year
Share-based payment (see Note 21B)
Balance as at December 31, 2016

Capital
reserve for
financial
instruments
at fair value
Capital
reserve from through other
comprehensiv
translation
Capital
e income
differences
reserve
Year ended December 31, 2016
(6,807)

Hedge
fund

Capital
reserve for
financial
liabilities
designated
at fair
value

(3,624)

Retained
losses

Total capital

28,478

1,213

971

873,588

-

-

-

-

157,844

157,844

-

-

-

3,544
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,418

-

-

-

-

-

-

(3)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(228)

(3)

-

4,962

(929)

-

-

-

(228)

(3)

-

4,962

(929)

157,596

161,398

-805,282

-31,962

2,111
12,356

-(6,810)

-28,478

-6,175

-(4,553)

-158,567

2,111
1,037,097

(228)

-5,640

(228)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(929)

(248)

-

(248)

3,544
(248)

(929)
1,418
(3)
3,554

Bazan Limited.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Contd.)
USD thousands

Balance as at January 1, 2015
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign
operations
Change in fair value hedging costs, net of tax
Remeasurement of a defined benefit plan, net of tax
Net change in fair value of debentures at fair value
through profit or loss, attributable to change in
credit risk, net of tax
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income, net of tax
Total other comprehensive income (loss) for the
year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year
Share-based payment (see Note 21B)
Balance as at December 31, 2015

Capital
reserve for
share-based
payment

Capital
reserve for
financial
instruments
at fair value
Capital
reserve from through other
comprehensiv
translation
Capital
e income
differences
reserve
Year ended December 31, 2015

Share
capital

Share
premium

805,282

31,962

9,016

2,265

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(6,568)

28,478

Capital
reserve for
financial
liabilities
designated
at fair
value

Hedge
fund

(2,140)

12,885

Retained
losses

Total capital

(226,977)

654,203
224,644

-

-

-

-

224,644

-

-

-

3,353
-

-

3,304

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(239)

-

-

-

-

-

3,603

(239)

-

3,353

-

-

-

3,603

(239)

-

805,282

31,962

1,229
10,245

5,868

(6,807)

28,478

3,603

3,603

-

(16,509)

-

(239)

(16,509)

3,304

(6,488)

3,353

(16,509)

227,948

218,156

1,213

(3,624)

971

1,229
873,588

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(16,509)

3,353
3,304

-

Bazan Limited.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
USD thousands

Year ended December 31
2017
2016
2015
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year
Adjustments to cash flows from operating activities:
Revenue and expenses not involving cash flows (Appendix A –
section A)
Changes in assets and liabilities (Appendix A - section B)
Income tax received (paid), net (see Note 16E(1))

261,915

157,844

224,644

316,705
578,620
(187,565)
(9,399)

319,700
477,544
22,337
(1,101)

314,826
539,470
(363,490)
524

Net cash from operating activities
Cash flow used for investing activities
Interest received
Decrease (increase) in deposits, net
Dividend received from investees
Repayment of long-term loans from others, net
Repayment of loan from Haifa Early Pensions Ltd.
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets
Acquisition of fixed assets (including periodic maintenance)
Insurance proceeds on account of fixed assets
Purchase of intangible assets and deferred expenses

381,656

498,780

176,504

3,956
(4,723)
701
101
3,663
(120,195)
(2,830)

2,060
(31,224)
2,421
214
4,035
(187,838)
(1,775)

1,370
16,738
883
306
1,119
844
(94,369)
2,012
(1,881)

Net cash used for investing activities

(119,327)

(212,107)

(72,978)

Cash flow from financing activities
Short-term borrowing, net
Receipt of deposits from customers and others, net
Interest paid (*)
Derivative transactions, net
Receipt of long-term bank loans, net of raising costs
Repayment of long-term bank loans
Repayment of debentures (*)
Issue of debentures, net of raising costs (see Note 14B)
Dividend paid (see Note 21C)
Net cash used for financing activities

(1,467)
29,015
(141,042)
4,871
31,457
(64,893)
(177,262)
170,188
(85,000)
(234,133)

(82,510)
8,747
(84,055)
(12,234)
411,613
(599,302)
(69,106)
144,607
(282,240)

5,580
4,204
(127,728)
(17,399)
(165,239)
(142,296)
370,645
(72,233)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

28,196
7,876
290,399

4,433
(383)
286,349

31,293
63
254,993

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

326,471

290,399

286,349

(*) As at December 31, 2016, principal and interest payments on the debentures in the amount USD 49 million and
USD 27 million, respectively, were deferred under the provisions of the deeds of trust as at January 1, 2017, since
the contractual repayment date was not a business day.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Bazan Limited.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Contd.)
USD thousands
Appendix A: Adjustments required to present cash flows from operating activities
Year ended December 31
2017
2016
2015
A.

Income and expenses not included in cash flows:
Depreciation and amortization
Other revenue
Impairment loss from cash generating units (see Note 11F)
Financing expenses, net
Net changes in fair value of derivatives
Changes in fair value of the loan to Haifa Early Pensions Ltd.
Share in losses (profits) of associates and profit from loss of
significant influence
Capital gain from realization of fixed assets
Loss (gain) and change in inventory hedge deposits, net
Share-based payments
Income tax

B.

155,958
84,466
7,342
(1,460)

141,350
(990)
13,700
111,974
(3,087)
(216)

136,055
8,500
139,386
3,064
82

240
3,197
1,148
65,814

56
14,752
2,111
40,050

(770)
(1,752)
(10,723)
1,229
39,755

316,705

319,700

314,826

(101,624)
3,034
(160,028)
17,337
48,882
4,834

(20,669)
26,596
(96,157)
116,053
(5,226)
1,740

93,928
(9,122)
60,973
(523,487)
3,275
10,943

(187,565)

22,337

(363,490)

Changes in assets and liabilities
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables
Decrease (increase) in other receivables
Decrease (increase) in inventory
Increase (decrease) in trade payables
Increase (decrease) in other payables and provisions
Increase in employee benefits, net

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

This translation of the financial statement is for convenience purposes only.
The only binding version of the financial statement is the Hebrew version.
C-11

Bazan Limited.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Contd.)
USD thousands
Appendix B: Movement arising from financing operations

Bank loans (1)
Liability (asset) as at January 1, 2017
Changes arising from cash flows:
Issue of debentures and receipt of bank loans
Repayment of debentures and bank loans
Interest paid (3)
Net proceeds for derivative transactions
Total changes arising from cash flows

467,119

Changes arising from non-cash activity:
Amortization of raising costs, premium, and discounting, net
Interest expenses (3)
Effect of changes in exchange rates and CPI
Changes in fair value, application of hedge accounting and
others
Total changes arising from non-cash activity
Liability (asset) as at December 31, 2017

Debentures (1)

Financial
derivatives (1)(2)

1,099,822

17,065

34,000
(64,893)
-

170,188
(177,262)
(17,719)
-

(5,090)
4,871

(30,893)

(24,793)

(219)

3,064
-

(2,636)
17,459
77,146

5,129
(73,904)

-

3,315

(9,253)

3,064

95,284

(78,028)

439,290

1,170,313

(61,182)

(1) Including current maturities
(2) Hedging transactions on debentures (interest and principle swap contracts and interest swap contracts)
(3) Interest for debentures measured at fair value and financial derivatives

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Bazan Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
USD thousands

NOTE 1 – GENERAL
A. Reporting entity

B.

1.

Bazan Ltd. (“the Company” or “Bazan”) is a company domiciled and incorporated in Israel. The
Company is located in Haifa Bay and its official address is POB 4, Haifa 3100001. The
Company’s shares are traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange (“the TASE”). The Company and
its subsidiaries are industrial companies operating mainly in Israel and Holland are engaged
primarily in the production of oil products, feedstock for the petrochemical industry, raw
materials for the plastics industry, oils, waxes and byproducts. The facilities of the subsidiaries
and the industries in Israel are integrated with those of the Company. The Company also
provides water treatment and power generation services (primarily steam) to a number of
industries adjacent to the Haifa refinery. The controlling shareholders in the Company are Israel
Corporation Ltd. and Israel Petrochemical Enterprises Ltd. (“IPE”) and their holding rates as at
December 31, 2017, are 33% and 15.5%, respectively.

2.

The consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2017 include the statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (jointly: “the Group”) and the Company’s interests in associates.

Definitions
In these financial statements 1.

The Company: Bazan Ltd.

2.

The Group: Bazan Ltd. and its subsidiaries

3.

The subsidiaries: companies wholly owned by the Company that operate in Israel, in particular:
Gadiv Petrochemical Industries Ltd. ("Gadiv"); Carmel Olefins Ltd. ("Carmel Olefins"); Haifa
Basic Oils Ltd. ("Haifa Basic Oils"), ORL Shipping Ltd. ("ORL Shipping"), and ORL Trading
Ltd. ("ORL Trading"). In addition, the Company owns Ducor Petrochemicals BV ("Ducor"),
through a wholly-owned subsidiary of Carmel Olefins. ( “Ducor”), operating in Holland.

4.

Investees/associates: companies in which the Company's investment is included in the financial
statements on an equity basis.

5.

Related party: As defined in IAS 24 (2009), Related Party Disclosures

6.

Interested parties: As defined in paragraph (1) of the definition of interested parties in Section 1
of the Securities Law, 1968

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PREPARATION
A. Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The financial statements have been prepared also in accordance with
the Securities Regulations (Annual Financial Statements), 2010.
The Company’s Board of Directors approved the consolidated financial statements on March 14,
2018.
B.

Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in the US dollar, which is the functional
currency of the Company and most of the subsidiaries. The US dollar is the currency that represents
the principal economic environment in which the Company operates.
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Bazan Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
USD thousands

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PREPARATION
A. Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value and the following assets and liabilities measured
as described in Note 3 – Significant Accounting Policies: inventory, deferred tax assets and
liabilities, provisions, assets and liabilities for employee benefits and investments in associates.
B.

Operating cycle
The operating cycle of the Group companies is up to one year. As a result, the current assets and
current liabilities include items the realization of which is intended and anticipated to take place
during the operating cycle of the Group companies.

C. Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
the Company’s management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The preparation of accounting estimates used in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management of the Company to make assumptions regarding circumstances and
events that involve considerable uncertainty.
Management of the Company prepares the estimates on the basis of past experience, various facts,
external circumstances, and reasonable assumptions according to the pertinent circumstances of each
estimate.
Estimates and their underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any
future periods affected.
Presented below is information about the assets and liabilities included in the consolidated financial
statements for which the Group prepared significant estimates and assumptions regarding the future,
for which there is a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to carrying amounts in
subsequent reporting periods:
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Bazan Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
USD thousands

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTD.)
E.

Use of estimates and judgments
Estimate

Principal assumptions

Net realizable value
of inventory
Assessment of
indications of
impairment and
review of the
recoverable amount
for testing
impairment of cash
generating units
Assessment of the
probability of
contingent liabilities
for environmental
quality

Application of IFRS
9, Financial
Instruments,
including hedge
accounting and
measurement of fair
value of nonmarketable financial
derivative
instruments

 Exercise price of inventory as an end product
 Costs required to make the sale based on past
experience
 Estimates regarding signs of impairment
 Discount rate after tax
 Estimated cash flows based on past experience
in respect of the cash-generating unit and the
management's best estimate of the economic
conditions, product prices and raw materials in
particular, which will exist over the period of
the expected cash flows
 Whether it is more likely than not that an
outflow of economic resources will be
required in respect of legal claims and other
contingencies filed against the Group
companies, including environmental quality,
based on the opinion of their legal counsel, on
the best of their professional judgment,
considering the stage of the proceedings and
the legal experience accumulated on various
matters.
 The estimate is based on the opinion of the
legal counsel of the Group companies, that for
certain proceedings in particular relating to
environmental quality, in view of the
complexity of the proceedings and/or the
preliminary stage of the proceedings, at this
stage the Company’s financial exposure
cannot be assessed, if at all, therefore no
provisions were made for them in the financial
statements.
 Use of valuation methodologies to determine
how to apply hedge accounting
 Use of valuation and pricing techniques that
are typical of the different derivatives in
different markets, taking into account the
credit risk of the parties to the derivative,
based on relevant observable and
unobservable information, mainly exchange
rates and interest rates.

Possible effects

Reference

Recognition or
reversal of
impairment loss
Recognition of loss
or elimination of
loss from
impairment of nonfinancial assets

For further
information see
Note 11F.

Reversal or creation
of a provision, in
general, against
profit or loss

For further
information about
the Company's
exposure to
contingencies, see
Note 20B.

Change in the fair
value of derivative
financial
instruments
recognized, as a
rule, in profit or
loss

For further
information, see
Notes 4,3 and 30.
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Bazan Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
USD thousands

NOTE 2 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTD.)
D. Capital management – objectives, procedures and processes
Management’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base in order to preserve the ability of the
Company to continue operating so that it may provide a return on capital to its shareholders, benefits
to other holders of interest in the Company, such as credit providers and employees of the Company,
and sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the level of
dividends to shareholders. The Company and its subsidiaries Carmel Olefins, Gadiv, and Ducor are
subject to compliance with financial covenants, including minimum capital requirements for some of
them. For further information about the covenants, see Notes 13 and 14.
E.

Change in classification
Certain expenses in the amount of USD 8 million in 2015 and 2016 were reclassified from cost of sales to
selling and marketing expenses for consistency and for an appropriate reflection of their nature.

F.

Initial application of new standards
Amendment to IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows. According to the Amendment, an entity is required to
provide disclosures that will enable the users of the financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flow and non-cash changes,
such as: the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates and/or exchange differences and changes in fair
values. The new disclosure requirements were included in Appendix B to the statement of cash flows.

NOTE 3 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by Group companies for all periods
presented in these consolidated financial statements, unless explicitly stated otherwise.
A. Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries.
1.

Business combinations
The Group implements the acquisition method for business combinations.
The acquisition date is the date on which the acquirer obtains control over the acquiree. Control
exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the acquiree and it has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the acquiree.

2.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date of loss of control.
The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with
the policies adopted by the Group.

3.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances, any unrealized income and expenses, and profits arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.
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Bazan Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
USD thousands

NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)
B.

Foreign currency
1.

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of each Group company (foreign
currencies) are translated into the functional currency of each Group company at the exchange
rate at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
on the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.
The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortized cost in
the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments
during the year, and the amortized cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the
end of the year. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date
that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
In general, foreign currency differences arising on translation to the functional currency are
recognized in profit or loss.

2.

Translation of financial statements of foreign operations
Some subsidiaries have a functional currency other than the US dollar, therefore they are
considered as foreign operations. Accordingly, their assets and liabilities, including fair value
adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated to the US dollar exchange rate at the date of
the statement of financial position, and its income and expenses are translated into the dollar at
exchange rates at the transaction dates or at approximate average exchange rates. Foreign
currency differences arising on translation are recognized in other comprehensive income and
are presented in equity in the foreign currency translation reserve.
In general, exchange rate differences on loans received or provided to foreign operations,
including foreign operations that are subsidiaries, are recognized in profit or loss in the
consolidated financial statements.

C. Financial instruments
The Group early adopted IFRS 9 (2013).
1.

Non-derivative financial assets
The Group initially recognizes loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are
created. All other financial assets acquired in a regular way purchase are recognized initially on
the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument, meaning on the date the Group undertook to purchase or sell the asset. Financial
assets are initially measured at fair value. If the financial asset is not subsequently accounted for
at fair value through profit or loss, then the initial measurement includes transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the asset acquisition or creation. The Group subsequently measures
financial assets at either fair value or amortized cost as described below.
Financial assets measured at amortized cost
A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest method
and net of any impairment loss, the asset is held within a business model with an objective to
hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; the contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest; and
the Group has not elected to designate them at fair value through profit or loss in order to reduce
or eliminate an accounting mismatch.
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NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)
C. Financial instruments (contd.)
1.

Non-derivative financial assets (contd.)
These assets include: Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, deposits, other receivables
and loans and long-term receivables of the Group.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances available for immediate use and call deposits.
Cash equivalents comprise short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less, which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and are exposed to
insignificant risks of change in value.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets other than those classified as measured at amortized cost are subsequently
measured at fair value with all changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.
Nevertheless, for the Company's investment in the shares of IPE, which is not held for trading,
fair value changes are recognized in other comprehensive income, since the Group intends to
hold this capital investment in the long term. For these shares, profit or loss is never reclassified
to profit or loss and impairment is not recognized in profit or loss. For information about the
measurement of derivative financial instruments, see Section C(3) below.
Derecognition of financial assets
Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights of the Group to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or the Group transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on
the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the financial asset are transferred.
The Group companies have agreements for factoring of its trade receivables in an absolute
assignment by way of a sale (see Note 6B). When the Group substantially transfers all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the trade receivables that were assigned to the factors, the Group
derecognizes the transferred trade receivables. When the Group does not substantially transfer
all the risks and rewards arising from the trade receivables to the factors, but nor do these
remain in its possession, it reviews whether control of the customer debt was transfered. If
control over the trade receivables is transferred to the factor, but there is continuing involvement
for part of the risks, the Group recognizes the remaining amount of the net exposure (for the
risks that remained in the Group's possession) at fair value.
A subsidiary has trade receivables assigned other than by a final and absolute assignment, such
that the Group did not substantially transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership of the trade
receivables that were assigned to the factors. Accordingly, trade receivables are not
derecognized, instead they are recognized as a short-term financial liability.

2.

Non-derivative financial liabilities
The Group initially recognizes debt instruments as they are incurred. Other financial liabilities
are initially recognized at the trade date when the Group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.
In general, the Group's financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value net of any
attributable transaction costs.
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NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)
C. Financial instruments (contd.)
2.

Non-derivative financial liabilities (contd.)
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method. Transaction costs directly attributable to an expected issuance of
an instrument that will be classified as a financial liability are recognized as an asset under
intangible assets and deferred expenses in the statement of financial position. These transaction
costs are deducted from the financial liability upon its initial recognition, or are amortized as
financing expenses in the statement of income when the issuance is no longer expected to occur.
These liabilities include: loans and borrowings from banks, private debentures and debentures
(Series D, E, F, and I), not designated at fair value through profit or loss as set out below (Series
D and E are subject to fair value hedge accounting as described below), finance lease liability,
trade and other payables.
Primarily for suppliers of crude oil, when the credit period is longer than 30 days, the Company
recognizes the liability to suppliers discounted to the interest rate in the transaction. The
difference between the discounted amount and the nominal amount of the transaction is
recognized as financing expenses over the credit period.
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
The Group elected to designate the marketable debentures (Series A and G) (a designated series
issued as part of the exchange arrangement for Carmel Olefins debentures, as set out in Note
14A(2) below), issued by the Company at fair value through profit or loss.
The objective of this designation is to significantly reduce accounting mismatch from
measurement of related currency- and interest-swap contracts, as described below, at fair value
through profit or loss.
At the designation dates, based on a review that was performed, the Group recognizes the fair
value changes attributable to credit risk in other comprehensive income, since a change in fair
value of the futures contracts, which was determined using, among other methods, the
applicable projected risk-free interest rate (“the Benchmark Interest Rate”), significantly offset
changes to the fair value of debentures arising from changes in the Benchmark Interest Rate.
Other fair value changes of debentures arising mainly from changes in the credit risk, do not
have the same effect on the fair value of the futures contracts. Accordingly, recognizing changes
to fair value attributable to credit risk changes in other comprehensive income does not create or
aggravate accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
The Group measures the change in the fair value attributable to changes in credit risk, as the
amount of the change in fair value that is not attributable to changes in market conditions arising
from identifiable market risks (attributable mainly to the Benchmark Interest Rate, the CPI and
the exchange rate). The calculation is carried out as follows:
A. The Group calculates the internal rate of return of the debentures at the issue date, or at the
date of the change in the contractual terms of the debentures, at their fair value (generally
based on the quoted price of the debentures on the TASE), and their cash flows at that date.
The Group deducted the Benchmark Interest Rate at the issue date from this internal rate of
return, to achieve the specific component attributable to the credit risk of the debentures at
that date.
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NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)
C. Financial instruments (contd.)
2.

Non-derivative financial liabilities (contd.)
B.

At the designation date and in each subsequent reporting period, the Group calculates the
present value of the debentures by discounting their cash flows at the relevant date, using
the Benchmark Interest Rate for that date plus the component attributable to the credit risk
as calculated in section (A) above.

C. The difference between the fair value of the liabilities at the designation date and in each
subsequent reporting period, based as aforesaid on the quoted price of the debentures on
the TASE, and the amount calculated in section (B) above, is the amount attributable to
credit risk and recognized in other comprehensive income, as aforesaid.
The Group believes that this method for determining the change in fair value attributable to the
credit risk is appropriate, since the only significant change in market conditions attributable to
the debentures is due to changes in the Benchmark Interest Rate.
Transaction costs that are attributable to issue of debentures designated at fair value through
profit or loss are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation of the Group, as specified in the
agreement, expires or when it is discharged or canceled.
Change in terms of debt instruments
An exchange of debt instruments having substantially different terms, between a borrower and
lender are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of
a new financial liability at fair value. Furthermore, a substantial modification of the terms of the
existing financial liability or part of it, is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial
liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. In such cases the entire difference between
the carrying amount of the original financial liability and the fair value of the new financial liability
is recognized in profit or loss as financing income or expense.
The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows according
to the new terms, including any commissions paid, less any commissions received and
discounted using the original effective interest rate, is different by at least ten percent from the
discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
In addition to the aforesaid quantitative criterion, the Group examines, among other things,
whether there have also been changes in various economic parameters inherent in the exchanged
debt instruments.
In this context, the Company reviews any changes in the debt instrument, such as a change in
the currency in which the debt is denominated, exchange of a variable-interest instrument with a
fixed-interest instrument, and changes in the economic risk factors that affect the value of the
debt instrument, such as a change in the collateral of the liabilities and changes in the financial
covenants of the liabilities. If the identity of the lender is exchanged within Group companies,
the Group also reviews the changes in the credit margins of the liability, inter-company
guarantees, and other relevant characteristics of the exchanged financial liability.
When the Company concludes, after the quantitative and qualitative assessment as described
above, that a change in the terms of the debt instrument is immaterial, profit or loss for the swap
is not recognized and a new effective interest rate is calculated.
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NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)
C. Financial instruments (contd.)
2.

Non-derivative financial liabilities (contd.)
Offset of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of
financial position when the Group currently has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends
either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

3.

Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting
The Group companies hold derivative financial instruments, mainly to hedge its exposure to
commodity prices and margins, foreign currency, inflation, and interest rates risk.
Measurement of derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are recognized initially at fair value. Attributable transaction costs are recognized in
profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair
value and the changes in fair value are accounted for as described below.
Economic hedges
Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as economic hedges, are recognized in profit
or loss according to the purpose of the economic hedge, meaning the item for which profits or
losses are recognized for the hedged item. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are
designated as economic hedges of commodity prices and their margins are recognized in cost of
sales. Changes in the fair value of the other derivative instruments are recognized in financing
income or expenses.
Fair value hedges
The Group's cross-currency variable interest rate swap (CCIRS) transactions to hedge the
exposure for fair value changes of the principal and interest payments for debentures (Series D
and E), attributable to the NIS-USD exchange rate and to changes in the Libor-based interest
rate, were accounted for the first time by applying fair-value hedge accounting as described
below.
Changes in the fair value of a derivative hedging instrument designated as a fair value hedge are
recognized in profit or loss, other than the share attributable to the foreign currency basis
spread, which is recognized in capital reserve, as described below. Moreover, changes in the fair
value for the hedged item, in relation to the hedged risks, are also recognized concurrently in the
statement of income with reconciliation to the carrying amount of the hedged item. Subsequent
to this reconciliation, the Company will adjust the effective interest of the hedged item
according to the new carrying amount.
Cash flow hedges
Marketable Brent futures acquired by the Company to hedge future cash flow exposure due to
changes in the market price of crude oil, for the projected transaction for acquisition of
inventory at the market prices prevalent on completion of the availability transaction (see Note
5C2), were designated as hedging items for the purpose of cash flows hedge accounting, as from
their acquisition in the first quarter of 2017.
The Group's forward contracts for the purchase of naphtha are designated as hedging items for
the purpose of cash flow hedge accounting for exposure to changes in market prices of projected
acquisitions of crude oil.
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NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)
C. Financial instruments (contd.)
3.

Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting (contd.)
Certain SWAP transactions made by the Group to hedge the margin between the price of
polymers that it manufactures and sells and the price of naphtha were designated as hedging
items for the purpose of implementing the cash flow hedge accounting principles for hedging
against: (A) changes in market prices of the expected sales of polymers; and (B) changes in
market prices of crude oil (the raw material in naphtha production).
Futures contracts for interest rate swap (IRS) to hedge exposure for changes in variable interest
(Libor) as well as cross-currency interest rate swap (CCIRS) to hedge currency exposure for
Debentures (Series E) due to a change in the NIS-USD exchange rate and setting USD interest
in which the Group engaged subsequent to the reporting date, will be designated as hedged
items for application of cash flow hedge accounting policies.
Changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recognized from the start of the hedge through
other comprehensive income directly in a hedging reserve, to the extent that the hedge is
effective. In certain cases, changes in the fair value of the derivatives, attributable to the hedging
cost (for the forward component of the derivatives), are recognized through other
comprehensive income, directly in a hedging reserve.
Other fair value changes in these derivatives continue to be recognized in profit or loss under
cost of sales or financing expenses, as the case may be. The amount recognized in the hedging
reserves is reclassified to profit or loss in the same period that profit or loss is affected by the
cash flows and is recognized under the relevant item in the statement of income together with
the hedged item. When the hedged item is a non-financial asset (such as inventory or fixed
assets), the amount accrued in the hedging reserve is reclassified to the carrying amount of the
hedged asset when it is recognized.
If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold,
terminated or exercised, then hedge accounting is discontinued. The cumulative profit or loss
previously recognized through other comprehensive income and presented in the hedging
reserve remains in equity until the projected transaction is completed or is no longer expected to
occur. If the forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the cumulative profit or
loss previously recognized in the hedging reserve is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
Hedge accounting
On initial designation of the hedge, the Group formally documents the relationship between the
hedging instrument and hedged item, including the risk management objectives and strategy in
undertaking the hedge transaction, together with the methods that will be used to assess the
effectiveness of the hedging relationship.
The Group makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship and in
subsequent periods, whether there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the
hedging instrument, whether the effect of the credit risk is not dominant in relation to the fair
value changes arising from this economic relationship, and the appropriateness of the hedging
ratio between the amount of the hedging instrument and the amount of the hedged item.
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NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)
C. Financial instruments (contd.)
3.

Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting (contd.)
For a fair value hedge of debentures as set out above, the Group elected to deduct the foreign
currency basis spread from the designation of a financial instrument as a hedging instrument,
and accordingly, it recognizes the fair value changes of the instrument attributable to this
component in other comprehensive income that was accumulated as a separate equity
component. If the hedged item is time period-related, at any reporting date the capital reserve
will be amortized on a systematic and rational basis with reconciliation for reclassification from
other comprehensive income to profit or loss. However, if hedge accounting is discontinued,
then the net amount that has been accumulated in the separate component of equity is
reclassified immediately to profit or loss.
For a cash flow hedge, a forecast transaction constituting a hedged item is a transaction that is
highly probable to occur and should present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could
ultimately affect profit or loss.

4.

CPI-linked assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair value
The value of CPI-linked financial assets and liabilities, which are not measured at fair value, is
remeasured every period in accordance with the actual rate of change in the CPI.

5.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
ordinary shares net of the effect of tax, are recognized as a deduction from equity.

6.

Issuance of parcel of securities
When issuing the Company's debentures and options for debentures in a parcel, the proceeds of
the issue are attributed between the debentures and options as follows: First the fair value is
attributed to options, which are a derivative financial instrument measured at fair value through
profit or loss. The remaining amount is attributed to the debenture

D. Inventory
The Group recognizes inventory when the inventory is in its control and it is exposed to the risks and
rewards arising from ownership of the inventory.
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value. For crude oil, the cost of
inventories is based on the first-in first-out (FIFO) principle and for finished goods, on the FIFO
principle based on average monthly cost, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the
inventories and the costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the
case of manufactured inventories, cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based
on normal operating capacity, taking into account loss of capacity due to planned maintenance
activity.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.
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NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)
E.

Fixed assets
Recognition and measurement
Fixed asset items are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.
The cost of fixed assets includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labor, discounted credit
costs and any other cost directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their
intended use.
Spare parts, servicing equipment and stand-by equipment are classified as fixed assets when they
meet the definition of property, plant and equipment in IAS 16, and are otherwise to be classified as
inventory.
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part
of that equipment.
When major parts of a fixed asset item (including costs of periodic maintenance) have different
useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of fixed assets.
The balance of the Group's fixed assets includes surplus cost attributable to fixed assets, arising upon
acquisition of control in subsidiaries.
In addition, fixed assets include the assets leased under a finance lease, accounted for in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. Upon initial recognition the leased assets are
measured and a liability is recognized at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, minimum lease
payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the financing expense and the
reduction of the outstanding liability. The financing expense is allocated
to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability.
Costs of constructing installations used in preventing environmental pollution are recorded as fixed
assets and are depreciated in accordance with the Company’s depreciation policy pertaining to the
fixed asset to which the costs relate. Current costs of operating and maintaining installations used in
preventing environmental pollution are recognized in profit or loss.
When the Group has a commitment to dismantle, evacuate and restore the site on which the fixed
items are located, the cost of the fixed asset includes the estimated costs of dismantling and
evacuation of the items and restoration of the site on which they are located.
Changes in the provision for dismantling and removal, other than changes deriving from the passing
of time, are added to or deducted from the cost of the asset in the period in which they occur. The
amount deducted from the cost of the asset will not exceed its carrying amount. Any balance is
recognized immediately in profit or loss.
1.

Subsequent costs
The costs of replacing part of a fixed asset item and other subsequent expenditure are
recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits
embodied in the cost of replacing the item will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part of a fixed asset item is derecognized.
Ongoing maintenance costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)
E.

Fixed assets (contd.)
2.

Depreciation
Depreciation is a systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.
The amortizable amount is the cost of an asset, or another amount substituted for the cost, less
its residual value.
An asset is depreciated from the date it is ready for use, meaning the date it reaches the location
and condition required for it to operate in the manner intended by management.
Depreciation is recognized in the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful life of each part of an item of fixed assets, since this most closely reflects the expected
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. Leased assets in a
finance lease, including land, are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the useful
life of the assets, unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end
of the lease term. Freehold land is not depreciated.
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:
Years (*)
Refining and cracking facilities
Facilities for manufacturing aromatic products
Facilities for manufacturing polymer products
Buildings

25 - 22
26 - 25
33 - 16
38 - 9

(mainly 25)
(mainly 22)
(mainly 25)

(*) The number of years reflects the useful life of the main assets

Depreciation methods, useful lives and scrap value are reviewed at the end of each reporting
year and adjusted if appropriate.
To ensure the proper and ongoing operations of its plants, the Group performs periodic
maintenance at its facilities every four to six years. Costs actually incurred in respect of the
periodic maintenance of facilities are capitalized and amortized over the period until the next
planned maintenance.

F.

3.

Spare parts comprising fixed assets are estimated at cost and depreciated over the useful lives of
the items of fixed assets to which they are attributed (mainly 25 years).

4.

Advance payments for the purchase of fixed assets are recognized under fixed assets.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have a definite useful life are stated at cost less
accumulated amortization and impairment losses.
The balance of the intangible assets includes surplus cost attributable to intangible assets, arising on
acquisition control in subsidiaries. The cost of these intangible assets is the fair value at the date of
the business combination.
Subsequent costs
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied
in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognized in profit or loss as
incurred.
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NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)
F.

Intangible assets
Amortization
Amortization is systematic allocation of the amortizable amount of an intangible asset over its useful
life. The depreciable amount is the cost of the asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its
residual value, if relevant.
Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis, over the estimated useful lives of
the intangible assets from the date they are available for use, since these methods most closely reflect
the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.
Prepaid royalties for knowhow are amortized over the lower of the useful life of the fixed asset to
which it is attributed or the term of the agreement with the knowhow supplier (15 years).
The amortization method and useful life are reviewed at lease at the end of each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.

G. Leases
As a rule, leases in which the Group is a lessee are classified as operating leases and the leased assets
are not recognized in the Group’s statement of financial position.
In a lease of land and buildings, the components of the land and buildings are assessed separately for
classification of leases.
Payments made under operating leases, other than conditional lease payments, are recognized in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
For information about IFRS 16, Leases, see section P below.
H. Capitalization of borrowing costs
Specific and non-specific borrowing costs were capitalized to qualifying assets throughout the period
required for completion and construction until they are ready for their intended use. Non-specific
borrowing costs are capitalized in the same manner to the same investment in qualifying assets, or
portion thereof, which was not financed with specific credit by means of a rate which is the
weighted-average cost of the credit sources which were not specifically capitalized. Foreign currency
differences from credit in foreign currency are capitalized if they are considered an adjustment of
interest costs. Other borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss as incurred.
I.

Impairment of assets
1.

Financial assets
Trade receivables and trade payables are tested for impairment when objective evidence
indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss
event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated
reliably.
The Group companies consider evidence of impairment for trade receivables and trade payables
on the level of the single asset. The Group did not carry out the group assessment for assets with
no separate provision for impairment, since the Group believes that this does not has a material
effect on the financial statements.
Loss from the impairment of trade receivables is recognized in profit or loss and presented
under general and administrative expenses.
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NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)
I.

Impairment of assets (contd.)
2.

Non-financial assets
Timing of impairment testing
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventory and deferred tax
assets, are reviewed at each
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, then the recoverable amount of the asset or cash-generating asset is estimated.
Determining cash-generating units
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that
are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or other groups of assets (“the CashGenerating Unit”).
Measurement of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and
its fair value less disposal costs. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating
unit, for which the estimated future cash flows from the asset were not adjusted.
Recognition of impairment loss
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.
Impairment losses recognized in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of the assets in the cash-generating unit on a pro rata basis.

J.

Employee benefits
1.

Post-employment benefits
The Group has a number of post-employment benefit plans. The plans are usually financed by
deposits with insurance companies or with pension funds and they are classified as defined
contribution plans and defined benefit plans.
A. Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay
further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are
recognized as an expense in profit or loss in the periods during which related services are
rendered by employees.
Defined contribution plans include mainly regular and increased compensation for
employees employed under collective agreements and for some of the employees, under
individual agreements.
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NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)
J.

Employee benefits (contd.)
1.

Post-employment benefits (contd.)
B. Defined benefit plans (contd.)
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution
plan.
Defined post-employment benefit plans include mainly holiday gifts, Company products,
and vacation for the Group’s pensioners as well as compensation for some employees
under individual agreements.
The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated
separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is presented
at its present value and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The Group determines
the net interest on the liability (asset) for the defined benefit by applying the discount rate
used to measure the defined benefit liability at the beginning of the annual reporting period
to the then-net defined liability (asset).
The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on high-quality linked corporate
debentures with maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations and that
are denominated in NIS.
When the calculation results in a net asset for the Group, an asset is recognized up to the
net present value of economic benefits available in the form of a refund from the plan or a
reduction in future contributions to the plan.
The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method.
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) comprise actuarial gains and
losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if
any, excluding interest). The Group recognizes remeasurements immediately directly in
retained earnings through other comprehensive income. Interest costs on a defined benefit
obligation, interest income on plan assets and interest from the effect of the asset ceiling
that were recognized in profit or loss, if any, are presented under financing income and
expenses, respectively.
When the benefits of a plan increase or are curtailed, the portion of the increased benefit
relating to past service by employees or the gain or loss on curtailment are recognized
immediately in profit or loss when the plan improvement or curtailment occurs.
The Group recognizes profit or loss from settlement of a defined benefit plan when the
settlement occurs. Such profits or losses are the difference between the part disposed of out
of the current value of the liability for a defined benefit at the settlement date, and the
settlement price, including transfered plan assets. The Group offsets an asset relating to one
benefit plan from the liability relating to another benefit plan only when there is a legally
enforceable right to use the surplus of one plan to settle the obligation in respect of the
other plans, and there is intent to settle the obligation on a net basis or to simultaneously
realize the surplus of one plan and settle the obligation in the other plan.
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J.

Employee benefits (contd.)
2.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when the Group is committed demonstrably,
without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to terminate employment
before the normal retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are
recognized as an expense if the Group has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, and when it
is probable that the offer will be accepted and the number of acceptances can be estimated
reliably. If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the reporting period, then they are
discounted to their present value. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on highquality linked corporate debentures, that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the
Group’s obligations and that are denominated in NIS.
The loan to Haifa Early Pensions Ltd. ("Haifa Early Pensions") constitutes a right for indemnity
that the Company will receive for payment of liabilities for early pension. The right to
indemnity does not constitute a benefit plan asset for severance and is presented as a separate
asset in the statement of financial position. This right to indemnity is measured at fair value and
the changes in each period are recognized directly in the statement of income under financing
expenses or income.

3.

Short-term benefits
Short-term benefits include mainly salaries payable, provisions for vacation and recreation pay,
and provisions for bonuses (where relevant).
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are
expensed as the related service is provided or upon the actual absence of the employee when the
benefit is not accumulated (such as maternity leave).
A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or
profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the amount can be estimated
reliably.
The employee benefits are classified, for measurement purposes, as short-term benefits or as
other long-term benefits determined when the Group expects the benefits to be wholly-settled.

4.

Share-based payments
The fair value on the grant date of employee options is recognized as an employee expense with
a corresponding increase in equity (capital reserve for share-based payments) over the period
that the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The amount recognized as an
expense in respect of share-based payment awards that are conditional upon meeting service
conditions and non-market performance conditions, is adjusted to reflect the number of options
that are expected to vest.
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K. Provisions
The provisions recognized in the financial statements refer mainly to legal claims and contingencies
in environmental issues.
A provision for claims is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation and it is more likely than not that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and the amount of obligation can be estimated reliably. In cases in
which the outcome of the claim and/or the proceeding, including opposite the Ministry of
Environmental Protection cannot be reliably assessed, due to the complexity of the process and/or
the preliminary states of the process, no provision is included in the financial statements.
In addition, when the Group has a commitment to dismantle, evacuate and restore the site on which
the fixed items are located, a provision is recognized for the dismantling, evacuation and restoration
of the site. For further information, see section E1 above regarding fixed assets.
The provision is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability
without adjustment for the Company’s credit risk. The carrying amount of the provision is adjusted
in each period to reflect the time that has passed. The amount of the adjustment is recognized as a
financing expense.
The Group recognizes a reimbursement asset if, and only if, it is virtually certain that the
reimbursement will be received if the Company settles the obligation. The amount recognized in
respect of the reimbursement does not exceed the amount of the provision.
L.

Revenue
The Group recognizes revenue when:


Persuasive evidence exists that the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods, in
particular exposure to change in price, have been transferred to the buyer; for sales of Group
products in Israel, this condition exists, usually, at the date the goods are removed from the
plant site. For sales of Group products in other countries, this condition exists, in some cases,
when the goods are loaded onto the relevant carrier and in other cases, when the goods arrive at
the port of destination, depending on the commercial conditions of each transaction.



The Group has no continuing management involvement with the goods and it does not retain
effective control over them.



It is probable that the consideration will be received.



The costs incurred or to be incurred for the transaction can be estimated reliably. And -



The revenue can be estimated reliably. If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the
amount can be measured reliably, then the discount is recognized as a reduction of revenue as
the sales are recognized.

Revenue from services rendered is recognized in profit or loss upon rendering the service if it is
likely that the economic benefits associated with the service will flow to the provider of the service.
Revenue from the sale of goods and supply of services in the ordinary course of business is measured at
the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume rebates.
When the Group operates in a transaction as an agent and not as an owner, the revenue is recognized
in the amount of the net commission.
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NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)
L.

Revenue (contd.)
Transactions for the sale and repurchase of inventory are tested for fulfillment of the conditions for
recognition in revenue as described above. If the conditions for recognition of revenue are not met,
the inventory in the transaction is not derecognized and a liability is recognized.
Exchange of similar assets without any commercial or operational substance is accounted for as
recognition of inventory received at the cost of the derecognized inventory, with no effect on the
statement of income. The exchange of assets that are not similar is accounted for as an incomegenerating transaction.

M. Financing income and expenses
Financing income includes interest income on funds invested. Changes in the fair value of financial
derivatives, changes in the fair value of the loan to Haifa Early Pensions, changes in the fair value of
debentures designated at fair value through profit or loss, which are not attributable to credit risk,
and the effect of hedge accounting on the debentures. Interest income is recognized as it accrues
using the effective interest method.
Financing expenses include interest expenses on borrowings and debentures that were issued, interest
expenses and linkage differentials for contingent liabilities (including claims), net interest on net
liabilities for a defined benefit, changes in the fair value of financial derivatives, changes in the fair
value of debentures at fair value through profit or loss that are not attributable to credit risk and the
effect of the application of hedge accounting on debentures.
Borrowing costs, which are not capitalized to qualifying assets, are recognized in profit or loss using
the effective interest method.
In the statements of cash flows, interests and dividends received are presented as part of cash flows
from investing activities. Interests and dividends paid are presented as part of cash flows from
financing activities.
Foreign currency gains and losses for financial assets and liabilities are reported on a net basis as
either financing income or financing expenses.
For further information about presentation of changes in the fair value of derivative financial
instruments, see section C3.
N. Income tax
Income taxes include current and deferred taxes. Current and deferred taxes are recognized in profit
or loss or are recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income to the extent they relate
to a transaction or event recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.
Current taxes
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and it includes taxes for previous years.
Offsetting current tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
liabilities and assets, and they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their
tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
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NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)
N. Income tax (contd.)
Uncertain tax positions
A provision for uncertain tax positions, including additional tax and interest expenses, is recognized
when it is more probable than not that the Group will have to use its economic resources to pay the
obligation
Deferred taxes
Deferred tax is recognized using the equity method, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts for tax purposes.
The Group does not recognize deferred taxes for differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
and associates, to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
difference and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future, either by way of
selling the investment or by way of distributing dividends in respect of the investment.
The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
Deferred taxes are measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date.
A net deferred tax asset is recognized for carryforward losses, tax benefits and deductible temporary
differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
The Group's industrial companies in Israel submit consolidated statements to the tax authorities in
Israel. The Company's taxable temporary differences include temporary differences arising from
allocation of surplus cost attributable to fixed and intangible assets when acquiring control in
subsidiaries.
Offsetting deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same
taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle deferred tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
Additional tax on dividend distribution
The Group may be required to pay additional tax if a dividend is distributed by Group companies.
This additional tax was not included in the financial statements, since the policy of the Group
companies is to not distribute a dividend which creates an additional tax liability for the recipient in
the foreseeable future. For further information, see Note 16.
For any tax liability that arises from the distribution of a dividend by the Company, the Group
recognizes tax expenses in profit or loss at the same time that the liability to pay the related dividend
is recognized.
Inter-company transactions
Deferred tax in respect of inter-company transactions in the consolidated financial statements is
recorded according to the tax rate applicable to the buying company.
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NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)
O. Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic
EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted the
issuance of rights.
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, for the effects of any
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
P.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
1.

IFRS 15, Revenues from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 replaces the current guidance regarding recognition of revenues and presents a new
model for recognizing revenue from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 provides two
approaches for recognizing revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model includes five
steps for analyzing transactions so as to determine when to recognize revenue and at what
amount. The standard also establishes new and more extensive disclosure requirements.
The Standard is applicable as from January 1, 2018. In the opinion of the Group, application of
the standard will not have a material effect on the financial statements.

2.

IFRS 9 (2014), Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 (2014) is the final version of the standard, and includes updated guidelines for
classification and measurement of financial instruments, and a new model for recognition of
expected credit loss for most of the financial debt assets. These provisions are in addition to
IFRS 9 (2013) published in 2013, which has already been early adopted by the Group.
The Standard is applicable as from January 1, 2018. In the opinion of the Group, application of
the standard will not have a material effect on the financial statements.

3.

IFRS 16, Leases
IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17, Leases and its related interpretations. The standard's instructions
annul the existing requirement from lessees to classify leases as operating or finance leases.
Instead of this, for lessees, the new standard presents a unified model for the accounting
treatment of all leases according to which the lessee has to recognize a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability in its financial statements Nonetheless, IFRS 16 includes two exceptions to the
general model whereby a lessee may elect to not apply the requirements for recognizing a rightof-use asset and a liability with respect to short-term leases of up to one year and/or leases
where the underlying asset has a low value. The standard also establishes new and more
extensive disclosure requirements.
IFRS 16 is applicable for annual periods as at January 1, 2019, with the possibility of early
adoption, so long as the Company has also early adopted IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers.
IFRS 16 includes various alternative transitional provisions, so that companies can choose
between one of the following alternatives at initial application: full retrospective application or
application (with the possibility of certain practical expedients) as from the mandatory effective
date, with an adjustment to the balance of retained earnings at that date.
The Group intends to early adopt the Standard as from January 1, 2018.
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NOTE 3 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTD.)
P.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (contd.)
3.

IFRS 16, Leases (contd.)
The Group plans to elect to apply the transitional provision of recognizing a lease liability at the
initial application date according to the present value of the future lease payments discounted at
the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee at that date, unless it is aware of the interest rate
inherent in the lease (corresponding to the balance of the lease period) and concurrently
recognizing a right-of-use asset at the same amount of the liability (to be recognized under fixed
assets). Therefore, application of the standard is not expected to have an effect on the balance of
retained earnings (and accordingly, on equity) at the date of initial application.
For leases in which the Group is the lessee and which were classified before the date of initial
application as operating leases, the Group has to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability at initial application for all the leases that award it control over the use of identified
assets for a specified period of time. These changes are expected to result in an increase of USD
80 million - USD 100 million in the balance of right-of-use assets at the date of initial
application and a corresponding increase in the balance of the lease liability at the date of initial
application. In addition, for the rights to certain assets, the Group has not yet completed the
assessment of the effect of initial application of IFRS 16 on the financial statements, and
according to preliminary assessments, these rights may have an effect of another USD 50
million on the balance the right-of-use assets at the initial application date, against a
corresponding increase in lease liabilities. Accordingly, depreciation expenses will be
recognized in respect of the right-of-use asset, and the need for recognizing impairment of the
right-of-use asset will be examined in accordance with IAS 36. Furthermore, financing expenses
will be recognized in respect of the lease liability. Therefore, as from the date of initial
application, the lease expenses relating to assets leased under an operating lease, which were
included in the cost of sales (and included in EBITDA) will be depreciated under depreciation
expenses in subsequent periods
Following initial application, the Group does not anticipate significant changes in its principal
financial ratios or its ability to comply with the financial covenants applicable to it by virtue of
the financing agreements and deeds of trust, as set out in Notes 13 and 14.
It should be noted that the information presented in this Note is based on the Company's
understanding of the provisions of IFRS 16 as at the approval date of the financial statements
and based on the Company's intention to elect certain alternatives regarding the adoption of the
Standard. If the Company's understanding and/or selection of the alternatives change with the
final adoption of the Standard, there may be changes in the information presented above.

NOTE 4 - DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUE
When determining the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group uses observable market data as much
as possible. There are three levels of fair value measurements in the fair value hierarchy that are based on
the data used in the measurement, as follows:
* Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
* Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either directly or
indirectly
* Level 3: inputs that are not based on observable market data
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement
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and / or disclosure purposes based on the methods described below. Further information about the
assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.
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NOTE 4 - DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUE (CONTD.)
A. Trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables is determined, at the date of initial recognition, as the
present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.
For most of the Group's trade receivables, since the credit period is short and constitutes the standard
credit in the industry, the future consideration is not discounted and in periods subsequent to initial
recognition, the carrying amount approximates fair value.
B.

Derivatives
The fair value of forward exchange contracts for short periods (generally up to one year), is based on
their quoted price. The fair value is based on the discounted future value arising from the difference
between the opening price and the price at the end of the reporting period.
The fair value of interest rate swaps is based on quotes of market prices provided to trading systems by
financial entities and based on the market price determined by discounting estimated future cash flows
based on the terms and maturity of each contract and using market interest rates for a similar instrument at
the measurement date The fair value calculation includes credit risks of parties to the contract.
The fair value of exchange rate and interest rate swaps is based on market prices for discounting
future cash flows based on the terms and maturity of each contract and using inflation projections, if
relevant, and market interest rates for a similar instrument at the measurement date. The fair value
calculation includes credit risks of parties to the contract.
Future contracts on energy prices are stated at fair value, based on quoted market prices of the
products or similar products. Swap transactions are presented at their fair value, which reflects the
future cash flows discounted at the appropriate interest rate for the relevant periods. At Carmel
Olefins, future contracts on naphtha prices and/or product prices are recognized at fair value, based
on quoted naphtha prices and on price forecasts for polymers.

C. Non-derivative financial liabilities
The fair value of trade payables and other payables is determined, at the date of initial recognition, as
the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.
For the Group's trade payables and other payables, other than for crude oil suppliers as set out in
Note 3C3 above, since the credit period is short, the future consideration is not discounted and in
periods subsequent to initial recognition, the carrying amount approximates fair value.
The fair value of debentures at fair value through profit or loss (Series A and G) is determined by
reference to their quoted closing selling price at the end of the reporting period. The fair value of the other
financial liabilities, which is determined subsequent to initial recognition, mainly for disclosure purposes,
is calculated as follows: USD loans: based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows,
discounted at the USD risk-free zero coupon curve that includes a non-marketable premium plus the
Company's risk margin; linked non-marketable NIS debentures - discounted at the risk-free zero coupon
curve plus the Company's risk margin; unlinked marketable NIS debentures or USD-linked debentures
(Series D, E, F and I) - their quoted closing selling price at the end of the reporting period.
D. Share-based payments
The fair value of employee options is measured using the Black-Scholes formula. Measurement
inputs include the share price on the measurement date, the exercise price of the option, expected
volatility of the share, expected term of the option, expected early exercise, expected dividends, and
the risk-free interest rate (based on government debentures). Service and non-market performance
conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in determining fair value.
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NOTE 5 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND DEPOSITS
A. Cash and cash equivalents
Nominal interest,
December 12, 2017
Cash flows
Bank deposits

B.

1.15%

December 31
2017

2016

120,921
205,550
326,471

51,459
238,940
290,399

Deposits
Nominal interest,
December 12, 2017
Bank deposits
Deposits for inventory derivatives
Deposits for financial derivatives

1.93%

December 31
2017

2016

75,379
679
76,058

70,658
3,876
5,836
80,370

For information about the Group’s exposure to credit and exchange risks in respect of cash and cash
equivalents and deposits, see Note 30A and 30C.

NOTE 6 – TRADE RECEIVABLES
A. Composition:
December 31

Open accounts
Less provision for doubtful debts

2017

2016

485,889
(4,117)

381,286
(3,474)

481,772

377,812

For further information about transactions and related and interested parties, see Note 27.
For information about the Group’s exposure to credit and exchange risks in respect of trade
receivables, see Note 30A and 30C.
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NOTE 6 – TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTD.)
B.

Sale of trade receivables as part of factoring agreements
The Company
The Company has an agreement for factoring of its trade receivables with a syndicate of banks (“the
Banks”), for a maximum amount of USD 150 million up to December 31, 2017. Under the
agreement, trade receivables which will be acceptable by the Banks when making the factoring
transaction, will be assigned to the Banks by way of a sale in an absolute, irrevocable and nonrecourse assignment and the factors will have no right of recourse other than in the event of a
commercial dispute. The amount of factoring for all trade receivables is restricted to the limit set in
the agreement and the factoring rate approved for the customer. Each of the Banks may terminate the
factoring agreement at any time, at which time the Bank may not provide credit to a customer for
which the factoring was requested, or for an adverse change in the position of one of the customers
or in the position of the Company. In the event of overdue payment by the customers, the Company
will cover discounting fees. Each factor may, at any time and at its own discretion, sell and/or assign
its rights and/or liabilities under the agreement, in any way, to the list of potential factors set out in
the agreement and/or to any other party approved by the Company.
Company derecognizes the factored trade receivables in the statement of financial position, in
accordance with the factoring rate agreed on between the Company and the factor for each customer.
Regarding the risk of overdue payment, the Company believes, partially based on its long-term
experience with these customers, that the risk is negligible.
Trade receivables derecognized by the Company as at December 31, 2017 under the agreement, in
accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 amount to USD 150 million (December 31, 2016, USD
131 million, under the prior agreement).
In December 2017, the Company signed a factoring agreement with the terms set out above (other
than as from January 1, 2018, the financiers bear the risk of late customer payments), for a maximum
amount of USD 135 million, valid until December 31, 2018
Subsidiaries
In December 2017, Carmel Olefins and Gadiv signed agreements with a financing syndicate, valid
until December 31, 2018, for the non-recourse sale of some trade receivables, most of which are
insured by them in credit insurance, in a maximum aggregate amount of USD 120 million.
As at December 31, 2017, in accordance with IFRS 9, mainly under these agreements, Carmel
Olefins and Gadiv derecognized trade receivables of USD 54 million and USD 31 million,
respectively (as at December 31, 2016, USD 52 million and USD 23 million, respectively).
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NOTE 7 – OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEBT BALANCES
Composition:
December 31
2017
Current maturities of loans to Haifa Early Pensions(1)
Institutions
Prepaid expenses
Others

(1)

2016

4,665
2,916
1,279
5,484

5,009
1,078
2,782
7,717

14,344

16,586

See Note 18A2b.

For information about the Group’s exposure to credit and exchange risks in respect of other receivables,
see Note 30A and 30C.

NOTE 8 - INVENTORIES
Composition:
December 31
Crude oil and intermediate fuel products in the fuels segment
Fuel products
Petrochemical raw materials
Products - polymers
Products - aromatics and oils
Inventories of chemicals, accessory materials and packaging

2017

2016

356,999
197,891
4,641
71,213
34,550
27,978

262,443
158,326
514
46,767
33,877
29,344

693,272

531,271

NOTE 9 - INVESTEES
A. Information about subsidiaries
The Company holds, indirectly, 100% of the share capital of the companies: Carmel Olefins, Gadiv,
Haifa Basic Oils, ORL Shipping, and ORL Trading. Most of the activities of all the companies take
place in Israel.
In addition, the Company owns 100% of the share capital of Ducor Petrochemicals BV (“Ducor”)
(through a wholly-owned subsidiary of Carmel Olefins). Ducor is a company registered and
operating in Holland.
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NOTE 9 - INVESTEES (CONTD.)
B.

Restrictions on the transfer of resources between entities within the Group
1.

As from the fourth quarter of 2016, upon the signing of the new syndication agreement and
completion of the financial merger, there are no more restrictions on guarantees and/or loans
between Group companies (the Company, Carmel Olefins, Gadiv and Haifa Basic Oils). In
addition, as from January 1, 2017, Carmel Olefins is no longer subject to the conditions for
distribution of a dividend in respect of its financing agreements with the banks (other than
compliance with financial covenants), and it is subject to restrictions on the distribution of a
dividend under the deeds of trust of the Company's Debentures (Series G). Gadiv and Haifa
Basic Oils are not subject to conditions for distribution of a dividend (for Gadiv, other than
compliance with financial covenants). For further information, see Notes 13 and 14.

2.

As at December 31, 2017, Ducor's trade receivables and inventory are pledged in favor of a
banking corporation and non-banking corporation and Ducor is subject to financial criteria (see
Note 13A).
The balance of the net assets and liabilities of Ducor, included in the consolidated statement as
at December 31, 2017 (without excess cost and without eliminating intercompany gains) is USD
59,265 thousand (as at December 31, 2016, USD 38,946 thousand).

NOTE 10 - LONG TERM LOANS AND RECEIVABLES
Composition:
December 31
Deposits for financial derivatives
Employee benefit assets, net (see Note 18B below)
Deferred tax assets, net (see Note 16D below)
Others (*)

(*)

2017

2016

3,969
147
1,176

6,524
3,890
1,436
1,296

5,292

13,146

Mainly short-term deposit at Ducor
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NOTE 11 – FIXED ASSETS, NET
A. Composition and changes:
Machinery
and
equipment
Cost
Balance as at January 1, 2016
Additions during the year (4)
Disposals during the year
Net exchange rate differences from
translation of foreign operations
Balance as at December 31, 2016
Additions during the year (4)(5)
Disposals during the year
Net exchange rate differences from
translation of foreign operations
Balance as at December 31, 2017
Depreciation and impairment losses
Balance as at January 1, 2016
Additions during the year
Impairment loss (3)
Disposals during the year
Net exchange rate differences from
translation of foreign operations
Balance as at December 31, 2016
Additions during the year
Disposals during the year
Net exchange rate differences from
translation of foreign operations
Balance as at December 31, 2017

Spare
parts(2)

Other (1)

Total

3,805,362
200,529
(1,801)

95,999
(744)
-

187,662
10,639
-

4,089,023
210,424
(1,801)

(1,526)
4,002,564
118,359
(292,343)

95,255
(10,337)
-

198,301
47,692
-

(1,526)
4,296,120
155,714
(292,343)

11,069
3,839,649

84,918

(4)
245,989

11,065
4,170,556

1,796,876
126,147
13,700
(1,801)

-

100,533
5,285
-

1,897,409
131,432
13,700
(1,801)

153
1,935,075
144,028
(292,343)

-

105,818
3,854
-

153
2,040,893
147,882
(292,343)

4,829
1,791,589

-

(4)
109,668

4,825
1,901,257

December 31, 2017

2,048,060

84,921

136,321

2,269,302

December 31, 2016

2,067,489

95,255

92,483

2,255,227

Amortized cost, net

(1) The balance includes mainly land and buildings. Amortized cost of land and buildings as at December 31,
2017 is USD 131,080 thousand (December 31, 2016, USD 87,109 thousand). For further information, see
section B below.
(2) Net, less cumulative depreciation
(3) For information see section G below.
(4) In the reporting period, periodic maintenance was performed in some of the Company’s facilities, including the
CCR facility, and in all Gadiv's facilities, with a direct cost (before capitalization of direct costs) amounting to
USD 56 million (of which, USD 26 million at the Company and USD 30 million at Gadiv). In 2016, periodic
maintenance was performed in some of the Company’s facilities, including its main crude oil refining facility
(CDU 4) and the benzene production facility, and in all of Carmel Olefins' facilities, with a direct cost (based
on capitalization of direct costs) amounting to USD 90 million (USD 47 million in the Company and USD 43
million in Carmel Olefins). Subsequent to the reporting date, planned maintenance began at the ethylene
facility of Carmel Olefins, for which the Company intends to claim for coverage for the loss of profits from the
insurers.
(5) For information about the judgment that was handed down in the reporting period in respect of the
development levy, see Note 20B2.
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NOTE 11 – FIXED ASSETS, NET (CONTD.)
B.

Land
1.

In accordance with the asset agreement signed on January 24, 2007, the Company is entitled to
register itself as the lessee of land covering an area of 213.3 hectare in Haifa Bay, most of which
is registered in its name, from the State of Israel, under a 49-year capital lease from the date of
the signing of the agreement, with an option to extend the lease for another 49 years. The
Company's rights are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements as an operating
lease. Of this land, the Company’s facilities are located on an area of 160 hectare. For further
information about the terms of the lease, see also Note 20C2.
The Company also leases an area of 5.6 hectares near Jalama from the Israel Lands
Administration.
Under a note recorded in the Haifa Land Registry in 1958, the Company is registered as the owner
of an easement in three strips of land that connect the Haifa oil refinery to three facilities held by an
infrastructure company: a crude oil terminal in Kiryat Haim, a fuel port in Haifa Port, and a fuel
product terminal in Elroy (Kiryat Tivon). By virtue of the easement, the Company possesses
underground pipes under the strips for the purposes of flowing crude oil and various fuel distillates.
In the same note, an easement was mutually granted to the infrastructure company by virtue of
which there are other underground pipes in the strip of land that constitute part of the Company’s
property included in the assets agreement. This strip is located along the northern boundary of the oil
refineries' compound and is connected to the aforementioned three strips.

2.

Gadiv's facilities are on an area of 8.6 hectares including approximately 8 hectares, registered in
Bazan's name, which are leased to Gadiv by the Company under a capitalized lease registered for
999 years in the name of Gadiv. In accordance with the agreement of January 24, 2007 between the
Company and the State of Israel, the Company has a 49-year lease on the land, commencing from
the date the agreement with the State was signed, with an option for an extension of another 49
years, subject to fulfillment of its obligations under the agreement. The agreement further establishes
that the rights of a third party prior to the signing, will not be impaired (the agreement does not affect
the costs of land for Gadiv, as recorded in the financial statement of Gadiv). Gadiv's lease is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements as finance lease.
Another 0.6 hectares were leased to Gadiv by the Company for storage until August 30, 2006.
As at the reporting date, the parties continue to act in accordance with the provisions of the lease
agreement and Gadiv continues pay the lease payments in accordance with this agreement.

3.

Carmel Olefins plants are on a tract of 39 hectares in Haifa Bay, adjacent to the south-eastern
side of the Company’s compound. Of this Tract, Carmel Olefins has the right to register itself as
the owner of 38.1 hectares, of which the Company sold 8.6 hectares to Carmel Olefins. The
remainder of the Tract (0.9 hectares), which is registered under the Company's ownership, was
leased to Carmel Olefins at market terms.

4.

The facilities of Haifa Basic Oils are on 4.3 hectares leased to Haifa Basic Oils by the
Company.

5.

Ducor's facilities are located on leased land in the area of Rotterdam port in Holland. The lease
period started in 1994 for 25 years, and Ducor was granted the option to extend the lease period
for three periods of 25 years each. The lease is accounted for in the financial statements as an
operating lease. Ducor has an obligation to dismantle and evacuate the land at the end of the
lease term. Ducor recognized a long-term provision for this obligation. For further information,
see Note 13B1.
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NOTE 11 – FIXED ASSETS, NET (CONTD.)
B.

Land (contd.)
6.

The remaining land is leased to a third party, or serves various purposes for the operations of the
Company. For further information, see Note 19B. The lease agreement to the third party has
expired and the Company is suing for evacuation.

C. As at December 31, 2017, the cost of machines and equipment includes cumulative costs of USD
53,706 thousand that were capitalized in prior years. In 2016-2017, credit costs for fixed assets were
not capitalized.
D. In the reporting period, the Company signed arrangements with its insurers pursuant to which (A) the
Company received indemnity insurance for loss of profits in the amount of USD 5.5 million, caused
by malfunctions in the Hydrocracker in prior years. (B) The Company, Carmel Olefins and Gadiv
received insurance indemnity for loss of profits in the amount of USD 12 million (the Company's
share is USD 1.5 million, Carmel Olefins’ share is USD 10 million, and Gadiv’s share is USD 0.5
million), incurred following a malfunction in the ethylene turbine of Carmel Olefins in 2016.
Accordingly, in the reporting period, the companies included revenue for the indemnification in the
statement of income. As at the reporting date, the amounts of indemnification were received.
E.

On December 25, 2016, a fire broke out in the Company's intermediate material storage. The
production facilities of the Company and the subsidiaries operated as usual during and after the fire.
The damage incurred from the loss of intermediate materials in the storage tank and from the damage
to the tank itself, taking into account the Company's insurance cover, had no material effect on the
Company's financial statements. The authorities have not yet completed the investigation of the
incident. See also Note 20B3 regarding a suit filed against the Company and a motion for
certification as a class action for this event.

F.

Measurement of the recoverable amount of non-financial assets
Oil operations:
In 2016, in view of the continuing erosion in the results of oil operations and after receiving an
emissions permit for the first time, reviewing and assessing the scope and timing of the investments
required under the permit in the oil operations facilities in order to comply with its provisions (which
are significantly higher than previous assessments of the management of Haifa Basic Oils prior to
receiving the emissions permit), Haifa Basic Oils made a number of assessments of the recoverable
amount of oil sector operations, in accordance with IAS 36. The value in use in accordance with the
valuations was based on the discounted cash flow method (DCF). In accordance with the valuations,
in 2016, an impairment loss for oil operation assets of USD 13.7 million (before tax) was recognized
against fixed assets.
In 2015, an impairment loss of USD 8.5 million (before tax) in the assets of oil operations was
recognized against fixed assets.

G. In 2016, the Group companies have received all the emission permits from the Ministry of
Environmental protection, which will apply for seven years, until 2023.
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NOTE 12 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND DEFERRED EXPENSES, NET
As at December 31, 2017, the cost of intangible assets and deferred expenses, arising mainly from
royalties and know-how, amounted to USD 78,363 thousand (as at December 31, 2016, USD 129,912
thousand). As at December 31, 2017, cumulative depreciation amounted to USD 49,079 thousand (as at
December 31, 2016, USD 99,906 thousand).
Most of the movement in 2016-2017 was due to the acquisition and amortization of intangible assets and
in 2017, also from the derecognition of intangible assets (mainly excess cost) that were fully depreciated.

NOTE 13 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND OTHERS AND OTHER
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
This Note includes information about the contractual conditions of the Group's interest-bearing loans and
borrowings. Additional information about the Group’s exposure to interest, exchange, CPI and liquidity
risks appears in Note 30 – Financial Instruments.
A. Composition and interest
1.

Loans and borrowings (presented in current liabilities)
December 31
2017
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Overdraft and short-term loans
Current maturities of long-term liabilities
Current maturities of bank loans
Current maturities of debentures (*)

2016
-

1,430

64,893
170,810

56,393
180,988

235,703

237,381

235,703

238,811

(*) As at December 31, 2016, principal payments on the debentures in the amount USD 48,804
thousand were deferred under the provisions of the deeds of trust as at January 1, 2017, since the
contractual repayment date was not a business day.
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NOTE 13 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND OTHERS AND OTHER
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTD.)
A. Composition and interest (contd.)
1.

Loans and borrowings (presented in current liabilities) (contd.)
Short-term loans and borrowings
A. Below is information about the short-term credit facilities of the Group companies
operating in Israel, from the banks (USD million)
Shortly before
publication of
the report

2017

2016

Consolidated secured facilities
Scope of facility
Actual utilization (**)

311 (1)

345.5(2)

460.5(3)

22(4)

93(2)

70

Consolidated unsecured facilities
Scope of facility (Company only)
Actual utilization (**)

192.9

192.9

142.6

10

30

78

December 31

(**) Utilized for letters of credit and bank guarantees only
(1) Valid as from January 1, 2018 up to December 31, 2018 The Company’s share - USD 284
million.
(2) The Company’s share in the facility - USD 297.5 million, and in actual use - USD 91 million.
(3) The Company’s share in the facility - USD 324 million, and in actual use - USD 69 million.
(4) Actual use, mainly in the Company

B.

In the reporting period, Ducor entered into an agreement with a bank for a credit facility of
up to EUR 15 million for three years. Some of Ducor’s trade receivables and inventory
were pledged in favor of the bank and the Company provided it a guarantee in an amount
that does not exceed EUR 15 million (see also Note 13C). The credit line agreement
includes Ducor's undertaking to comply with the financial covenants that were established.
As at December 31, 2017, Ducor has not utilized the credit facility and is in compliance
with the financial covenants.
In addition, Ducor has a factoring agreement with a non-banking entity to sell some of its
trade receivables, amounting to a maximum of EUR 5 million (as at December 31, 2017,
EUR 15 million). The trade receivables that were pledged in favor of the non-banking
entity were not assigned in a final and absolute assignment, therefore they are not
derecognized and instead a short-term liability is recognized in the amount of the cash
received in their respect. As at December 31, 2009, there are no factored debts (as of
December 31, 2016, USD 0.8 million).
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NOTE 13 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND OTHERS AND OTHER
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTD.)
A. Composition and interest (contd.)
2.

Liabilities to banks (presented in non-current liabilities)
Weighted
interest rate as at
December 31,
2017
Long-term bank loans
From local banks - at variable interest (1)
Less raising costs, net
Total loans from local banks - at variable interest
Foreign banks - at fixed interest
Less raising costs, net
Total loans from foreign banks - at fixed interest

6.1%

2.1%

Total long-term bank loans
Less current maturities

December 31

2017

2016

371,021
(8,456)
362,565
80,143
(3,418)

384,104
(10,233)
373,871
97,953
(4,705)

76,725

93,248

439,290

467,119

(64,893)

(56,393)

374,397

410,726

(1) Libor plus margin

B.

Other long-term liabilities
1.

Composition
December 31
Liability for finance lease (without current maturities)
Liability for the water treatment plant (*)
Liability for dismantling and evacuation of land - Ducor (**)
Liabilities for financial derivatives
Others

2017

2016

9,699
5,786
11,239
11,534
5,536

8,811
5,953
9,852
3,551

43,794

28,167

(*) For further information, see Note 20C(7).
(**) For further information, see Note 11B(5).
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NOTE 13 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND OTHERS AND OTHER
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTD.)
B.

Other long-term liabilities (contd.)
2.

Further information for finance lease
Distribution by payment dates:
December 31, 2017

Up to 1 year
1-5 years
More than five years

Minimum
future lease
fees

Interest
component

769
3,076
21,466
25,311

686
2,681
12,162
15,529

December 31, 2016
Present
Present
value of Minimum
value of
minimum
minimum
future
Interest
rent
rent
lease fees component
83
395
9,304
9,782

692
2,766
19,989
23,447

622
2,435
11,509
14,566

70
331
8,480
8,881

The Company has the right to lease land under an operating lease for 49 years (with an option
for an extension for another 49 years). In accordance with the assets agreement, the Company
pays annual fees, including a fixed annual fee of USD 2.25 million (the “Minimum Lease
Payment”) and their balance is profit dependent. Of the Minimum Lease Payment for 49 years,
a proportionate part was attributed to buildings leased under a finance lease.
C. Agreements with banks - the Company
1.

Syndication agreement
On November 15, 2016, a new syndication agreement was signed between the Company and
financing entities (“the Financiers”), led by Bank Hapoalim as the main organizer and Bank
Discount as co-organizer (“the Syndication Agreement”), under which the Company was
provided with a loan (“the Loan”) of USD 355 million.
The Loan, together with USD 71 million provided by the Company from its resources, was used
(a) for early repayment of the credit balance in the previous syndication agreement of 2010
(which financed part of the Hydrocracker project) in an amount of USD 344 million; (b) early
repayment of one of the Company's long-term loans in an amount of USD 28 million; and (c)
early repayment of some of Carmel Olefins' long-term loans, which have a balance of USD 54
million.
The Loan bears variable interest (LIBOR) plus a margin of 5%.
The Loan principal will be repaid in quarterly payments, starting from the first quarter of 2017
until the fourth quarter of 2025, as follows: in 2017-2020, USD 6.8 million per quarter; in 20212023, USD 9.8 million per quarter; in 2024, USD 11.8 million per quarter; and in 2025, USD
11.8 million in each of the first three quarters and a final payment of USD 46 million in the
fourth quarter.
The Company may repay the Loan prematurely, in whole or in part, in consideration for
payment of discounting differences and an early repayment fee, at a decreasing rate as set out in
the Syndication Agreement.
The costs covered by the Company for the Syndication Agreement are insignificant amounts
and they will be recognized in profit or loss over the life of the Loan.
The Company believes that, in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9, the exchange of the
syndication loans as set out above is an immaterial change to the terms.
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NOTE 13 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND OTHERS AND OTHER
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTD.)
C. Agreements with banks - the Company (contd.)
1.

Syndication agreement (contd.)
A. Financial covenants
Below are the financial covenants applicable to the Company by virtue of the new
Syndication Agreement, and referring to some of its financing agreements with the Banks
(including a secured short-term credit line). These criteria will also apply to the holders of
private debentures, as set out in Note 14C. In addition, below are the actual amounts and/or
ratios as at December 31, 2017

Consolidated adjusted equity (USD million) (1)
Consolidated adjusted equity (1) to total
consolidated statement of financial position (2)
Consolidated ratio (net financial debt (3) +
factoring of receivables) to consolidated adjusted
EBITDA (4)(5)(6)
Consolidated principal and interest cover ratio (7)
Separate cash statement (USD millions) (8)

Required

Amount/
required ratio

Actual
amount/ratio

>

750

1,169.9

>

20%

32.0%

>
>
>

5
1.1
75

2.2
3.0
341.2

As at December 31, 2017, the Company is in compliance with the financial covenants.
(1)

(2)

(3)

Adjusted equity means the equity at the measurement date less A, B, and if the Company so elects, C, as
follows:
A - basic adjustment calculated for the first time when signing the syndication agreement, in accordance
with the financial statements as at June 30, 2016, to be updated subsequently in accordance with the
financial statements as at December 31, 2017, and subsequently, every 18 months, in accordance with the
formula A=Qx(P1-P2).
Q -730 thousand tons, less the amount of the inventory availability transaction at the date of the update (as
at December 31, 2017, 250 thousand tons)
P1 - accounting average of the price of a Brent barrel in the last 24 months preceding the date of the
update
P2 - the price of crude oil inventory in the financial statements as at the date of the update (the value of the
inventory divided by the number of barrels in the inventory)
B - current adjustment calculated from the signing date onwards, by the adjustment row attributable to the
non-hedged inventory in the Company's Directors' Report.
C - The Company may elect not to include a provision for impairment of assets in the equity calculation
in accordance with IAS 36, which was recognized up to an amount of USD 100 million for two
consecutive quarters from the quarter of initial recognition.
At each update, adjustment B will be reset and adjustment A will be recalculated in accordance with the
formula set out above.
Total net balance means the total balance plus/less the full difference between the adjusted equity as
defined in subsection (1) above and the accounting equity in the financial statements, net of cash as
defined in subsection(8) below in an amount exceeding USD 75 million.
Net financial debt means the debt to financial institutions, less cash as defined in subsection (8) below and
net of cash and cash equivalents, securities, short-term and long-term deposits that are pledged/restricted
in use or that secure in any other manner the liabilities included in the debt to financial institutions.
The amount of the debt relating to the Company's debentures for the purpose of calculating the net debt
will be based on the fair value of the debentures, or, as the case may be, on the carrying amount after
hedge accounting, and calculation of the debt will take into account the value of the Company's hedging
transactions together with the issue of the Company's debentures and with regard to their issue, provided
that in any case, the amount of the debt for the debentures does not fall below the liability value of the
Company's debentures, and revaluation of the hedge transactions will not fall below their liability value.
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NOTE 13 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND OTHERS AND OTHER
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTD.)
C. Agreements with banks - the Company (contd.)
1.

Syndication agreement (contd.)
A. Financial covenants (contd.)
(4) Adjusted EBITDA means gross profit less sales and marketing expenses and general and
administrative expenses, net of financing expenses for supplier credit not included in gross profit,
plus depreciation and amortization included in gross profit, or sales and marketing expenses or
general and administrative expenses, and net of following effects:


(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

Presentation method for derivatives according to IFRS



Buying and selling timing differences of the value of unhedged inventory



Reconciliation of the hedged inventory value with the market value

 All as described in the Company's directors' reports.
Calculation of adjusted EBITDA will also include payments for one-time indemnity received by the
Company from third parties.
Adjusted EBITDA will be calculated according to the higher of: (a) adjusted EBITDA in the four
quarters prior to the measurement date; or (b) adjusted EBITDA in the two quarters prior to the
measurement date, multiplied by two. It is clarified that if EBITDA includes payments for one-time
indemnification, as described in subsection (4) above, these payments will not by multiplied by two,
but will be included once only in the adjusted EBITDA calculation.
The Company may elect not to include maintenance quarters, as defined below, in the adjusted
EBITDA. If the adjusted EBITDA does not include a maintenance quarter, then instead of that
quarter, the EBITDA will include the prior quarter that is closest to the maintenance quarter, so that
in any event, four quarters will always be taken into account. If the Company elects not to include
maintenance quarters in the adjusted EBITDA, then the contents of section 5(B) above will not
apply regarding multiplication of years.
In a period of five consecutive years, no more than four quarters of maintenance will be adjusted, no
more than two maintenance quarters will be adjusted consecutively, and no more than two
maintenance quarters in the same year will be adjusted.
Maintenance quarters means the quarters in which the Group companies perform periodic
maintenance at their plants, which continues for at least 30 days, and its effect on adjusted EBITDA
exceeds USD 20 million per quarter.
The principal and interest coverage ratio means (a) the total amount of: (i) cash as defined in
subsection (8) below, (ii) cash and cash equivalents, securities and short-term deposits
pledged/restricted in use or securing in any other way the liabilities included in the financial debt as
defined in subsection (3) above; and (iii) adjusted consolidated EBITDA for the four quarters
preceding the measurement, calculated in accordance with the provisions of subsections (4), (5) and
(6) above, less investments in fixed assets amounting to USD 60 million per year (at each annual
measurement date as from December 31, 2016, if depreciation expenses for consolidated fixed
assets exceed USD 150 million, the rate of increase in depreciation expenses will be added to the
amount of the investments) and net of current tax payments in the 12 months preceding the
measurement date. It is clarified that the current tax payments will not include tax payments arising
from the closing of tax assessments for prior years, for which there is disclosure in the Company's
financial statements; divided into (b) principal repayments for long-term credit and the amount of
interest payments expected to be payable in the 12 months following the measurement.
Cash means cash and cash equivalents, securities and short-term deposits, unless these are
pledged/restricted in use or secure in any other way debts that are not included in the syndication
agreement.

The covenants will be calculated by rounding the ratio to the first digit after the decimal point.
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NOTE 13 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND OTHERS AND OTHER
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTD.)
C. Agreements with banks - the Company (contd.)
1.

Syndication agreement (contd.)
A. Financial covenants (contd.)

B.

If, on the date on which the financial covenants are measured, the Company does not comply with
any of the covenants listed above, other than the separate cash balance in the separate statements,
and such non-compliance is within a range that does not exceed 10% (ten percent) of the values
fixed for the relevant covenant, such non-compliance for up to two consecutive quarters will not
be considered an event of default, provided that additional interest is paid at an agreed rate.
However, if there is a provision for impairment of assets, which was not included in the adjusted
equity calculation, the remedy will not apply to the covenant for the total adjusted equity, for each
quarter in which no provision was included in calculation of the equity.
The definitions and calculation of the covenants for the Company's long-term loan agreement
with a foreign bank, which provided financing for the construction of the Hydrocracker, are
similar to the definitions and calculation of the covenants in the syndication agreement as
described above. Accordingly, the Company estimates that it is unlikely that it will violate
covenants with the foreign bank without violating the covenants in the syndication agreement.
Conditions for distribution of a dividend
The Company may announce the distribution of a dividend in a cumulative amount of up to 75%
of the net profit in the last four quarters ending on the date of the most recent financial statements
that were approved prior to the date of the announcement, if all of the following conditions are
fulfilled on the date of the announcement:
1. The ratio between (i) net debt (1) plus the amount to be distributed and (ii) adjusted EBITDA
(2) for each of the two quarters preceding the announcement date (for which the Company's
financial statements were approved) does not exceed 3.5.
(1) Net financial debt as defined in subsection 3 above in the financial covenants
(2) Adjusted EBITDA as defined in subsection 4 above in the financial covenants, calculated
for the eight quarters preceding the measurement date, divided in two. Calculation of
adjusted EBITDA does not apply to the provisions referring to the quarters of treatments
set out in subsection 6 above in the financial covenants, therefore the calculation
mechanism in subsection 5 above in the financial covenants will not apply.

2.

The ratio between (i) equity in the financial statements (without any adjustments) less the
amount to be distributed and (ii) net balance sheet (3) for the quarter preceding the declaration
date (for which the Company's financial statements were approved), will not fall below 25%.
(3) The total balance in the financial statements, net of cash as defined in subsection (8)
above in the financial covenants, in an amount exceeding USD 75 million.

3.

There was no event of default as defined in the syndication agreement, which is still ongoing
(other than suspension of the work or a significant part thereof at the Company, which does not
exceed 15 days) and there will be no event of default due to the distribution of a dividend.
4. The Company complied with all the financial covenants without any deviation in the last
quarter preceding the announcement date (for which the Company's financial statements
were approved).
The Company may distribute the dividend (after its announcement) provided that at the
distribution date, there was no event of default that is still ongoing and there was no event
of default due to distribution of the dividend.
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NOTE 13 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND OTHERS AND OTHER
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTD.)
C. Agreements with banks - the Company (contd.)
1.

Syndication agreement (contd.)
C. Loans and/or guarantees provided to Group companies
1.

When signing the syndication agreement and thereafter, and after receiving the
consent of the banks to provide guarantees and/or loans to the Company and the other
subsidiaries, Gadiv and Carmel Olefins (together: "the Significant Subsidiaries") and
Haifa Basic Oils (together with the Significant Subsidiaries: ("the Guarantors")
provided unlimited guarantees to the financiers in the syndication and to other banks
that provided the Company with credit.

2.

The Company undertook not to provide, and not to take steps to prevent the
Guarantors from providing loans, guarantees or other financing to a third party, other
than customer and/or supplier credit in the ordinary course of business and in market
conditions, with the exception of:
A. Loans, guarantees or other financing in favor of the Company and/or in favor of
any of the Guarantors, provided that the debt ratio, as defined below, is no less
than 90%. Notwithstanding the aforesaid, if the debt ratio falls below 90% but is
higher than 85%, for a period of up to two consecutive quarters, this will not
constitute an event of default, provided that within two quarters the ratio returns
to at least 90% for two consecutive quarters.
In this subsection, “debt ratio” means the ratio of the Company's total debt to
financial institutions in the separate statements (without discounting of
receivables) and the total consolidated debt to financial institutions in the
consolidated statements.
Subsequent to the signing date of the syndication agreement, the Company
provided unlimited guarantees to the banks that provided credit to the material
subsidiaries.
As at December 31, 2017, the debt ratio is higher than 90%.
B.

The guarantee of Carmel Olefins to holders of Debentures (Series G) as described
in Note 14A below.

C.

Guarantees to be provided by the Company in favor of the banks and/or foreign
financial institutions, including the factoring companies providing financing to
Ducor in a total amount of up to EUR 20 million. In addition, loans and/or
guarantees to secure Ducor's debts, to be provided by Company in a total amount
of up to EUR 15 million
For information about a guarantee provided by the Company for an amount not
exceeding EUR 15 million in favor of a bank that provided credit to Ducor, see
Note 13A.

D. Guarantees in favor of the activities of the trading and shipping companies, which
will sign guarantees for the financiers in the syndicate, including their undertaking
not to create any lien on their assets and/or rights, and not to take out any credit, other
than credit from the Company to be used in their operations, and other than supplier
credit in the ordinary course of business and in market conditions.
The Company provided guarantees for the operating activities of Trading.
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NOTE 13 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND OTHERS AND OTHER
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTD.)
C. Agreements with banks - the Company (contd.)
1.

Syndication agreement (contd.)
D. The Company’s undertakings
The Syndication Agreement includes the Company's undertakings to the Financiers,
including:
1.

The Company will not create and will not cause the Guarantors to create liens on their
property and assets (negative lien clause), with the exception of: (a) the transfer,
assignment or endorsement of documents for export or import of goods, to a bank that
will provide credit to finance the export or import; and (b) a lien on inventory
exceeding 1.2 million tons, by the Company, for its financing through a non-recourse
loan, which can be called for repayment from the pledged inventory only.

2.

The Company's holdings in the Guarantors' shares will not fall below 51%.

3.

The Company will not sell and will not cause the Guarantors to sell a material asset
(unless it is no longer in use) or a material right, which is not in the ordinary course of
business and in market conditions, without the prior written consent of the financiers.
"Substantive asset" and "material right" - an asset and/or right with an economic value
of at least USD 30 million.

4.

The Company will only take out shareholder loans under conditions that are not less
favorable than market conditions and after obtaining all approvals required by law and
subject to the provisions in subsection 5 below.

5.

The Company will not carry out: (A) a distribution, as defined in the Companies Law,
unless in accordance with section B above regarding the conditions for distribution of
a dividend; (B) any other payment (cash or cash equivalents), transfer of assets or
providing a benefit to a related party or the acquisition of assets from a related party,
with the exception of (i) directors' fees and remuneration, reimbursement of expenses
and bonuses to directors; (ii) the transaction was made in the ordinary course of
business and in market conditions; and (iii) payment of management fees in a
cumulative amount of up to USD 5 million per year; (C) acquisition, redemption or
return of its shares or the financing of any of these activities; and (D) an undertaking
to carry out any of these activities.
In addition, the Company will ensure that its subsidiaries do not enter into any
transaction with a related party, unless the transaction is in the ordinary course of
business and in market conditions.
In this subsection, "related party" means an interested party and/or controlling
shareholder and/or a relative of any of them and/or an entity related to any of them.
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NOTE 13 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND OTHERS AND OTHER
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTD.)
C. Agreements with banks - the Company (contd.)
1.

Syndication agreement (contd.)
E.

Events of default
The Syndication Agreement includes events, which, if they occur, grant the Financiers the
right to call for immediate repayment of the Loan, including:
1.

An amount (or cumulative amounts) exceeding USD 25 million payable by the
Company and/or any of the Guarantors to a financial institution and/or debenture
holders was called for immediate payment; or an amount (or cumulative amounts)
exceeding USD 50 million payable by the Company and/or any of the Guarantors to
third parties was called for immediate repayment due to grounds to call for immediate
repayment or due to a claim of default (cross acceleration).

2.

Work in the Company or a significant part thereof is suspended for 60 consecutive
days or more, except due to renovations planned in advance and except in cases where
the damage resulting from suspension of the work and the damage caused by it does
not exceed a cumulative amount of USD 50 million.

3.

The Financiers informed the Company that based on their reasonable judgment, a
significant adverse effect occurred as defined in the Syndication Agreement.

4.

There was a change in control, without obtaining the prior written consent from the
Financiers.

D. Agreements with banks - Carmel Olefins
1.

Financial covenants
In the fourth quarter of 2016 and thereafter, Carmel Olefins reached new agreements with the
banks regarding the financial covenants that are applicable as from December 31, 2016
onwards, for its financing agreements (including the short-term secured credit line).
Below are the financial criteria, including the amounts and/or ratios as at December 31, 2017
Required
Consolidated tangible equity (USD million) (1)
Consolidated tangible equity (1) of net consolidated
tangible total balance sheet (2)
Net financial debt (3) to consolidated EBITDA (4)
Consolidated principal and interest (5) cover ratio

Required
Actual
ratio/amount ratio/amount

>

220

>

24%

>
>

4.5
1.1

625.3
72.1%
0.3
39.1

As at December 31, 2017, Carmel Olefins is in compliance with the financial covenants.
(1) "Tangible equity" is defined as equity in the financial statements of Carmel Olefins plus
subordinated shareholder loans; less non-controlling interests, and loans provided to shareholders
and/or related companies, and deferred expenses and other intangible assets.
The tangible equity calculation will not include a provision for impairment of assets in accordance
with IAS 36, which were recognized up to an amount of USD 30 million, for two consecutive
quarters from the quarter of initial recognition.
(2) “Net tangible balance sheet” is defined as the total balance sheet of Carmel Olefins net of (i) noncontrolling interests, loans provided to owners and/or related companies, and deferred expenses and
other intangible assets; and (ii) cash (6). In addition, if the provision for impairment is adjusted in
the equity calculation (in accordance with IAS 36), the amount of the adjustment will be added to
the total consolidated balance sheet of Carmel Olefins.
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NOTE 13 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND OTHERS AND OTHER
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTD.)
D. Agreements with banks - Carmel Olefins (contd,)
1.

Financial covenants (contd.)
(3) "Net financial debt" is defined as Carmel Olefins' debt to financial institutions plus intercompany
loans provided by the Company (and debentures that were issued atg their liability value, where
relevant) and less: (i) cash (6); and (ii) cash and cash equivalents, securities, short-term deposits and
long-term deposits that are pledged/restricted in use or that secure in any other manner the liabilities
included in the financial debt.
(4) "EBITDA" - gross profit, based on the quarterly financial statements of Carmel Olefins, less selling,
general, and administrative expenses plus depreciation and amortization:
a. Calculation of EBITDA will also include payments for one-time indemnity received by Carmel
Olefins from third parties.
b. EBITDA will be calculated according to the higher of: (a) EBITDA in the four quarters prior to
the measurement date; or (b) EBITDA in the two quarters prior to the measurement date,
multiplied by two. It is clarified that if the EBITDA includes payments for indemnification, as
described above, these payments will not by multiplied by two, but will be included once only
in the EBITDA calculation.
c. Carmel Olefins may elect not to include maintenance quarters, as defined below, in EBITDA.
If the EBITDA does not include a maintenance quarter, then instead of that quarter, the
EBITDA will include the prior quarter that is closest to the maintenance quarter, so that in any
event, four quarters will always be taken into account. If Carmel Olefins elects not to include
maintenance quarters in the EBITDA, then the contents of section 4B(b) above will not apply
regarding multiplication of years.
A maintenance quarter means quarters in which Carmel Olefins and/or the Company perform
periodic maintenance of plants once every four or five years for each plant, which continues for
no less than 30 days and its effect on EBITDA exceeds USD 10 million per quarter.
In any case, over a period of four or five consecutive years, no more than two maintenance
quarters, as described above, will be adjusted.
(5) Consolidated principal and interest defined as: (i) cash (6); and (ii) cash and cash equivalents,
securities, short-term deposits that are pledged/restricted in use or that secure in any other manner
the liabilities included in the financial debt; less dividends declared but not yet paid; plus the
EBITDA as defined in subsection (4) above, less investments in fixed assets amounting to USD 15
million per year (at each annual measurement date as from December 31, 2015 onwards, if
depreciation expenses for fixed assets exceed USD 50 million, the increase in the depreciation
expenses will be added to the investment, which will be deducted from the amount),) net of current
tax payments expected to be paid in the year preceding the measurement (other than one-time tax
payments); divided by the principal repayments and the total interest to be paid in the year following
the measurement.
(6) Cash means cash and cash equivalents, securities and short-term deposits, other than cash and cash
equivalents, securities and short-term deposits that are pledged/restricted in use.
The covenants will be calculated by rounding the ratio to the first digit after the decimal point.

If, on the date on which the financial ratios are examined, Carmel Olefins fails to comply with
any of the financial covenants, within a range that does not exceed 10% of the values that were
established, and a ratio that does not fall below 1.01 in respect of the consolidated principal and
interest coverage ratio, such non-compliance in up to two consecutive quarters will not be
considered an event of default.
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NOTE 13 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND OTHERS AND OTHER
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTD.)
D. Agreements with banks - Carmel Olefins (contd.)
2.

Additional agreements with banks
In the fourth quarter of 2016, alongside the Company's signing of the syndication agreement,
Carmel Olefins and the banks reached new agreements. Main points:
A. Early repayment of the long-term loans
When signing the syndication agreement, Carmel Olefins prematurely repaid and endorsed
some of the long-term loans that it received, with a balance of USD 57 million. Instead of
these long-term loans, the Company provided Carmel Olefins with inter-company loans,
with the same repayment schedules and interest terms as the terms of the repaid and
endorsed loans. These intercompany loans were repaid in the reporting period.
B.

Conditions for distribution of a dividend
As from January 1, 2017, no conditions will apply to Carmel Olefins, by virtue of its financing
agreements with the banks, for distribution of a dividend, other than Carmel Olefin's
compliance with the financial covenants applicable to it prior to the distribution and
immediately afterwards.

C. Investments and pledges
1.

After signing the syndication agreement, no restrictions will apply to Carmel Olefins, by
virtue of the financing agreements with the banks, for acquisitions or investments in assets.

2.

When signing the syndication agreement, all the pledges created by Carmel Olefins in
favor of the banks (fixed rate first liens on all the assets, equipment and machinery in
its possession, and the title to the land on which the plant operates in Haifa Bay, as
well as monetary deposits in any bank and that were pledged at that date, amounting to
USD 18 million) were lifted.

3.

Carmel Olefins has undertaken not to place any additional liens on its property and
assets (negative charge), with the exception of the transfer, assignment or endorsement
of documents for export or import of goods, to a bank that will provide credit to
finance the export or import.

D. Loans and/or guarantees provided to Group companies

E.

1.

Carmel Olefins undertook not to provide any guarantees whatsoever in favor of a third
party, other than: (i) guarantees in the ordinary course of business; (ii) a guarantee
provided by Carmel Olefins to fulfill the Company's undertakings to the holders of
debentures (Series G) as described in Note 14(A); and (iii) guarantees to the Company,
Gadiv and Haifa Basic Oils; without the advance written consent of the banks.

2.

Carmel Olefins and the banks agreed to restrictions that will be applicable to Carmel
Olefins in respect of loans and/or transactions with Bazan Group companies and the
related entities, other than: (1) transactions in the ordinary course of business; (ii)
loans to the Company, Gadiv and Haifa Basic Oils.

As from April 1, 2015 (the end of the Company's guarantee period to Carmel Olefins), the
comfort letter from the Company will remain in effect, whereby the Company, as the
controlling shareholder in Carmel Olefins, agrees that if Carmel Olefins is short of
financial resources to meet its obligations towards the recipients of the comfort letter, it
will act, as necessary, to assist in identifying the sources of financing that will allow
Carmel Olefins to meet its financial obligations.
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NOTE 13 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND OTHERS AND OTHER
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTD.)
E.

Agreements with banks - Gadiv
Below are the financial covenants of Gadiv relating to the secured short-term credit facilities,
including the amounts and/or ratios as at December 31, 2017:

Net financial debt (1) to EBITDA (2)
Tangible equity (3) to tangible balance sheet (4)
Tangible equity (3) (USD millions)

Required

Required
ratio/amount

Actual
ratio/amount


>
>

4.5 (*)
25%
75

2.7
54.6%
124.3

As at December 31, 2017, Gadiv is in compliance with the financial covenants.
(1) Net financial debt: the liabilities to financial institutions, loans provided by the Company to Gadiv, plus
liabilities to third parties that factored trade receivables, less cash and cash equivalents and deposits in
banks, provided they are not pledged to any third party, and short-term investments and marketable
securities.
(2) EBITDA: gross profit less selling, general administrative, and marketing expenses, plus depreciation and
amortization
a. Calculation of EBITDA will also include payments for one-time indemnity received from third
parties.
b. EBITDA will be calculated according to the higher of: (a) EBITDA in the four quarters prior to the
measurement date; or (b) EBITDA in the two quarters prior to the measurement date, multiplied by
two. It is clarified that if the EBITDA includes payments for indemnification, as described in
subsection (a) above, these payments will not by multiplied by two, but will be included once only
in the EBITDA calculation.
c. Gadiv may elect not to include maintenance quarters, as defined below, in EBITDA. If the EBITDA
does not include a maintenance quarter, then instead of that quarter, the EBITDA will include the
prior quarter that is closest to the maintenance quarter, so that in any event, four quarters will always
be taken into account. Accordingly, in this case, EBITDA will not be calculated as described in
subsection (b0 above. It is clarified that, over a period of five consecutive years, no more than two
maintenance quarters will be adjusted.
Maintenance quarters refer to quarters in which Gadiv and/or the Company perform periodic
maintenance of plants at least once every four or five years for each plant, which continues for no
less than 30 days and its effect on EBITDA exceeds USD 5 million per quarter.
(3) Tangible equity: equity less non-controlling interests, plus subordinated shareholder loans and less (1)
non-subordinated loans provided by Gadiv to the owners; (2) deferred expenses; and (3) intangible assets.
The calculation of tangible equity will not include a provision for impairment of assets in accordance with
IAS 36, which was recognized up to an amount of USD 10 million, for two consecutive quarters from the
quarter of initial recognition.
(4) Total tangible balance sheet: the total balance sheet less (1) non-subordinated loans provided by Gadiv to
the owners; (2) deferred expenses; and (3) intangible assets.
If the provision for impairment is adjusted in the tangible equity calculation, the adjustment amount will
be added to the total tangible balance sheet.
(*) If, at any measurement date, the ratio between the net financial debt to EBITDA exceeds 4.5 by no more than
10%, this will not be considered a breach of the covenant, and if no later than the end of two consecutive
quarters subsequent to the relevant measurement date, this ratio is amended and does not exceed 4.5.

When signing the syndication agreement, Gadiv assumed various obligations, as the guarantor as stated in
section C above, specifically not to create any lien on its property and assets (negative lien).
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NOTE 14 – DEBENTURES
A. Composition
December 31
2017
Balance of debentures at fair value
Less current maturities (3)

(2)

Balance of debentures at amortized cost with application of hedge
accounting, net (1)
Less current maturities (3)

Balance of debentures at amortized cost, net (1)
Less current maturities

Total debentures

2016

302,030
(117,829)

403,151
(140,954)

184,201

262,197

376,568
(39,450)

370,422
(35,572)

337,118

334,850

491,715
(13,531)

326,249
(4,462)

478,184

321,787

999,503

918,834

(1) In 2016, Debentures (Series E and F) were expanded and in 2017 a new series of Debentures (Series I)
was issued. For information see section B below.
(2) Exchange arrangement for Carmel Olefins debentures
On December 30, 2015, the arrangement between Carmel Olefins and its debentures holders was
completed (above and below: “the Exchange Arrangement for Carmel Olefins Debentures” or “the
Arrangement”). Under the Arrangement, Carmel Olefins debentures were exchanged with a new and
dedicated series of debentures (Series G) issued by the Company. On completion of the Arrangement,
Carmel Olefins is no longer a debenture company and is no longer required to report under the Securities
Law. Debentures (Series G) were issued under the same repayment, linkage, and interest terms as the
terms of the debentures of Carmel Olefins. The exchange ratio set between the debentures is 1:1, such that
each NIS 1 par value debentures of Carmel Olefins of NIS 1 par value was replaced by debentures (Series
G) of the Company. The terms of the debentures (Series G) are described in section B below.
Debentures (Series G) are backed by Carmel Olefins' guarantee to fulfill all of the Company's obligations
to the holders of its debentures (Series G) only, which will be valid until their full repayment. Against the
issue of debentures (Series G), the Company provided an inter-company loan to Carmel Olefins, with the
same repayment schedule and interest and linkage terms as the terms of the debentures (Series G). In the
reporting period, Carmel Olefins repaid the inter-company loan prematurely, in return for a premature
repayment fine which, in the opinion of the Company, reflects market conditions.
For information about the financial covenants of the debentures (Series G) and other obligations of the
Company under the Deed of Trust, see sections C and E below.
The Group believes that, in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9, the Exchange Arrangement for
Carmel Olefins Debentures is an insignificant change to the terms.
(3) In accordance with the provisions of the deeds of trust, a total of USD 49 million for payment of the
principal of Series A and D was redeemed on January 1, 2017, instead of on December 31, 2016, which
was not a business day.
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NOTE 14 - DEBENTURES (CONTD.)
B.

Series
Series A

Additional information about the Company's public debentures

Original
issue date
December 3,
2007

Par value at
original issue
date in USD
thousands (1) (2)
400,614

Par value as at
December 31,
2017, in USD
thousands (2)
147,523

Par value
adjusted as at
December 31,
2017, in USD
thousands (2)
172,515

Market value
as at
December 31,
2017, in USD
thousands (2)(3)
183,209

Interest
rate
4.80%

Series D

September 11,
2014

197,252

157,802

157,802

175,696

6%

Series E

June 2, 2015

205,751

205,751

205,751

239,145

5.90%

Series F
(5)

June 2, 2015

310,706

310,706

310,706

341,976

6.70%

Principle payment dates
14 equal semi-annual payments on June 30
and December 31 of each of the years from
December, 31, 2013 to June 30, 2020
(inclusive)
Six unequal annual principal payments, paid
on December 31 of each of the years from
2016 to 2021 (inclusive), with 10% of the
principal paid on each of the first and second
payments, and in each of the installments from
third to last, 20% of the principal will be
repaid.
Six unequal annual payments, paid on June 30
of each of the years from 2019 to 2024
(inclusive). In the first installment, 5% of the
principal will be repaid, in each of the second
and third installments, 10% of the principal
will be repaid, and in each of the fourth to the
last installments, 25% of the principal will be
repaid.
Five unequal annual payments, paid on June
30 of each of the years from 2019 to 2023
(inclusive). In the first installment, 5% of the
principal will be repaid, in the second
installment, 10% of the principal will be
repaid, in the third installment, 15% of the
principal will be repaid, and in each of the
fourth to the last installments, 35% of the
principal will be repaid.
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Interest
payment dates
June 30 and
December 31 of
each of the years

Linkage basis
and terms
(principal and
interest)
CPI-linked,
October 2007

June 30 and
December 31 of
each of the years

Unlinked

June 30 and
December 31 of
each of the years

Unlinked

June 30 and
December 31 of
each of the years

USD linked
(base rate,
3.876)

Bazan Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
USD thousands

NOTE 14 - DEBENTURES (CONTD.)
B.

Additional information about the Company's public debentures

Series
Series G
(4)

Original
issue date
December 29,
2015

Series
(4)(5

April 26,
2017

Par value at
original issue
date in USD
thousands (1) (2)
153,230

171,337

Par value as at
December 31,
2017, in USD
thousands (2)
91,938

171,337

Par value
adjusted as at
December 31,
2017, in USD
thousands (2)
110,563

Market value
as at
December 31,
2017, in USD
thousands (2)(3)
118,821

171,337

175,803

Interest
rate
5.69%

4.7%

Principle payment dates
Five annual payments as from March 31, 2016
up to an including March 31, 2020.

16 unequal semi-annual payments, payable on
March 31st and September 30th of each of the
years 2018 to 2025. For each of the first to the
sixth payments (inclusive), 2.5% of the
principal will be repaid, for the seventh and
the eighth payments, 7.5% of the principal will
be repaid, for each of the ninth to the twelfth
payments (inclusive), 2.5% of the principal
will be repaid, and for each of the thirteenth to
the last payments, 15% of the principal will be
repaid.

(1)

In addition to the original issue date, Series A was expanded in 2013, and Series E and F were expanded in 2015-2016.

(2)

Convenience translation at the exchange rate as at December 31, 2017

(3)

Market value based on the closing price quoted on the TASE

(4)

As at December 31, 2017, the principal and interest payable for the Debentures (Series G and I), USD 4 million

(5)

For USD-linked series, translated at the USD exchange rate fixed for the series
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Interest
payment dates
March 31 and
September 30 of
each of the years
2016-2019 and
on March 31,
2020
March 31st and
September 30th
of each of the
years 2018 to
2025 (inclusive)
and September
30 of each of the
years 2017 to
2025 (inclusive)

Linkage basis
and terms
(principal and
interest)
CPI-linked for
March 2008

USD linked
(base rate,
3.649)
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NOTE 14 - DEBENTURES (CONTD.)
B.

Additional information about the Company's public debentures (contd.)
The Company's public debentures are rated by Maalot (S&P) - the Israel Securities Rating Company
Ltd.
On April 9, 2017, S&P Maalot upgraded the Company's rating and the rating of its public
debentures, from ilBBB+ to ilA- with stable outlook.
Information about the debentures issued in 2017:

Date:
April 2017

Type of issue
Issue of Series I

Par value at the
issue date, in USD
thousands
171,337

Net consideration net
of issuance costs, in
USD thousands
170,188

Subsequent to the reporting date, Debentures (Series E and I) were expanded in an amount of USD
116 million (net of issue costs). Concurrently with the expansion of the Debentures (Series E), the
Company entered into a principal and interest swap transaction (including fixing the USD interest) to
reduce currency exposure and interest thereon, and elected to apply cash flow hedge accounting
principles. The effective interest in the issuance (in terms of fixed USD interest after taking into
account the swap transaction) is 4.3%
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NOTE 14 - DEBENTURES (CONTD.)
C. Financial covenants
Public debentures
Series A
There are no financial covenants for Debentures (Series A)
Series D
The Company undertook that until the repayment date of the debentures (Series D), it will comply, at
all times, with the financial covenants set out below:
Required
ratio/amount
Adjusted equity (1) (USD million)
Adjusted equity (1) plus shareholders' loans to total
consolidated statement of financial position
Net debt (2) divided by the average consolidated annual
adjusted EBITDA (3)
Consolidated annual adjusted EBITDA (3) (USD millions)
Consolidated cash and cash equivalents (2) (NIS millions)

>

550

>

14%

>
>
>

9.5
170
50

All covenants will be measured in accordance with two consecutive financial statements.
(1) Equity: the equity in financial statements, with adjustments for (a) the following effects: the method for
recognizing derivatives in accordance with IFRS; buying and selling timing differences of the value of the
unhedged inventory; provision for impairment of inventory; (b) changes in equity arising from adjusting
deferred tax assets or liabilities due to changes in statutory tax rates and/or tax laws applicable to the
Company.
(2) Consolidated net debt = debt to financial institutions net of cash; “cash” meaning cash and cash
equivalents, deposits and securities portfolio
(3) Consolidated annual adjusted EBIDTA = gross earnings less selling, administrative and general expenses,
plus depreciation and amortization and net of the following effects: (a) the method for recognizing
derivatives under IFRS; (b) buying and selling timing differences of the value of the unhedged inventory;
(c) provision for impairment of inventory Calculation of adjusted annual EBITDA will also include
payments for one-time indemnity received by the Company from third parties. Adjusted EBITDA will be
calculated according to the higher of: (a) adjusted EBITDA in the four quarters prior to the measurement
date; or (b) adjusted EBITDA in the two quarters prior to the measurement date, multiplied by two. It is
clarified that if the EBITDA includes payments for indemnification, as described above, these payments
will not by multiplied by two, but will be included once only in the adjusted annual EBITDA calculation.

The deed of trust includes interest rate adjustment mechanisms arising from non-compliance with
financial covenants and arising from a change in the debenture rating.
As at the date of the financial statements, the Company is in compliance with the financial covenants
of debentures (Series D).
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NOTE 14 - DEBENTURES (CONTD.)
C. Financial covenants (contd.)
Public debentures (contd.)
Series E, F, G, and I
The Company undertook that until the repayment date of the debentures (Series E, F, G, and I), it
will comply with the financial covenants set out below:
Adjusted equity (1) (USD million)
Adjusted equity (1) plus shareholders' loans to total consolidated statement of
financial position (2)
Net debt (3) divided by the average consolidated annual adjusted EBITDA (4)
Consolidated cash and cash equivalents (5) (USD millions)

Required ratio/amount
>
600 (*)
>
>
>

15%
8
50

(*) For Series I, the required amount is USD 630 million.

All covenants will be measured in accordance with two consecutive financial statements.
(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

Adjusted equity: (A) for the period as from the fourth quarter of 2013 - the cumulative effects of the adjustments used
to calculate the adjusted EBITDA as presented by the Company in its interim and annual directors' reports; and (B)
changes in equity arising from adjusting deferred tax assets or liabilities due to changes in statutory tax rates and/or
tax laws applicable to the Company.
The equity calculation will not include a provision for impairment of assets in accordance with IAS 36, which was
recognized up to an amount of USD 100 million, for two consecutive quarters from the quarter of initial recognition.
Total balance sheet = total consolidated balance sheet less cash in an amount exceeding USD 75 million. In addition,
if the provision for impairment is adjusted in the equity calculation, the adjustment amount will be added to the total
consolidated balance sheet.
Net debt = debt to financial institutions net of cash (5); the amount of the debt relating to the Company's debentures
for the purpose of calculating the net debt will be based on the fair value of the debentures, or, as the case may be, on
the carrying amount after hedge accounting, and calculation of the debt will take into account the value of the
Company's hedging transactions together with the issue of the Company's debentures and with regard to their issue,
provided that in any case, the amount of the debt for the debentures does not fall below the liability value of the
Company's debentures, and revaluation of the hedge transactions will not fall below their liability value.
The adjusted consolidated EBIDTA (gross earnings less selling, administrative and general expenses, plus depreciation
and amortization) as presented by the Company in its interim and annual directors' reports and as set out below:
a. Calculation of adjusted annual EBITDA will also include payments for one-time indemnity received by the
Company from third parties.
b. Adjusted EBITDA will be calculated according to the higher of: (a) adjusted EBITDA in the four quarters prior
to the measurement date, as defined below; or (b) adjusted EBITDA in the two quarters prior to the
measurement date, multiplied by two. It is clarified that if the EBITDA includes payments for indemnification,
as described above, these payments will not by multiplied by two, but will be included once only in the adjusted
annual EBITDA calculation.
c. Carmel Olefins may elect not to include maintenance quarters, as defined below, in EBITDA. If the EBITDA
does not include a maintenance quarter, then instead of that quarter, the EBITDA will include the prior quarter
that is closest to the maintenance quarter, so that in any event, four quarters will always be taken into account. If
the Company elects not to include maintenance quarters in the EBITDA, then the contents of section (b) above
will not apply. Notwithstanding the aforesaid, it is agreed that in a period of five consecutive years, no more
than four quarters of maintenance will be adjusted, no more than two maintenance quarters will be adjusted
consecutively, and no more than two maintenance quarters in the same year will be adjusted.
In this section "Maintenance Quarters" means the quarters in which the Group performs periodic maintenance
at one of its plants, which continues for at least 30 days, and its effect on the EBITDA exceeds USD 20 million
per quarter.
Cash = cash and cash equivalents, deposits and securities portfolio
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NOTE 14 - DEBENTURES (CONTD.)
C. Financial covenants (contd.)
Public debentures (contd.)
Series E, F, G, I (contd.)
The Company's failure to comply with one or more of the financial covenants in accordance with
two consecutive financial statements is cause for immediate repayment. However, if the deviation
rate according to the second financial statement does not exceed 15% of the values determined (and
for Series I, a deviation rate that does not exceed 10%), grounds for immediate repayment will only
apply if there is a deviation from the financial covenants in subsequent financial statements as well.
The deeds of trust include interest rate adjustment mechanisms arising from non-compliance with
financial covenants and arising from a change in the debenture rating.
As at the date of the financial statements, the Company is in compliance with the financial covenants
of debentures (Series E, F, G, and I).
Definitions and calculation of the covenants for debentures (Series D-I) are or similar to the
definitions and calculation of the covenants in the syndication agreement as set out in Note 13C
above. Given the covenants applicable to the Company in the syndication agreement and the
financial covenants set out in the deeds of trusts for the debentures (Series D-I), the Company
believes that it is unlikely that the covenants with the debenture holders (Series D-I) will be breached
without breaching the covenants in the syndication agreement.
For debentures (Series G) only, in addition to the covenants described above, the following
covenants will apply to Carmel Olefins:

Equity (1) (USD millions)
Total separate financial debt (2) (USD millions)
Consolidated principal and interest cover ratio (3)

Required
ratio/amount

Actual
ratio/amount as at
December 31, 2017

> 200
< 550
>1

637.1
63.8
39.1

(1) Equity: the equity in financial statements of Carmel Olefins The equity calculation will not include a
provision for impairment of assets in accordance with IAS 36, which were recognized up to an amount of
USD 30 million, for two consecutive quarters from the quarter of initial recognition.
(2) Financial debt: Carmel Olefins' current and long-term liabilities (separate) towards financial institutions
and debenture holders (at their liability value), including loans that the Company provided to Carmel
Olefins, less Carmel Olefins' hedging transactions on debentures issued (at their liability value).
(3) Principal and interest coverage ratio = cash (5) plus the average annual adjusted EBITDA as defined in
section (4) below, less investments in fixed assets amounting to USD 15 million per year (at each annual
measurement date as from December 31, 2015 onwards, if depreciation expenses for fixed assets exceed
USD 50 million, the increase in the depreciation expenses will be added to the investment, which will be
deducted from the amount), net of current tax payments expected to be paid in the year preceding the
measurement (other than one-time tax payments). This will be divided by the principal repayments and
the total interest to be paid in the year following the measurement. These agreements will be calculated
on the basis of the consolidated financial statements of Carmel Olefins.
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NOTE 14 - DEBENTURES (CONTD.)
C. Financial covenants (contd.)
Public debentures (contd.)
Series E, F, G, I (contd.)
(4) "EBITDA" - gross profit, based on the consolidated quarterly financial statements of Carmel Olefins, less
selling, general, and administrative expenses plus depreciation and amortization:
a. Calculation of EBITDA will also include payments for one-time indemnity received by Carmel
Olefins from third parties.
b. EBITDA will be calculated according to the higher of: (a) EBITDA in the four quarters prior to the
measurement date; or (b) EBITDA in the two quarters prior to the measurement date, multiplied by
two. It is clarified that if the EBITDA includes payments for indemnification, as described above,
these payments will not by multiplied by two, but will be included once only in the EBITDA
calculation.
c. Carmel Olefins may elect not to include maintenance quarters, as defined below, in EBITDA. If the
EBITDA does not include a maintenance quarter, then instead of that quarter, the EBITDA will
include the prior quarter that is closest to the maintenance quarter, so that in any event, four quarters
will always be taken into account. If Carmel Olefins elects not to include maintenance quarters in
the EBITDA, then the contents of section 4(B) above will not apply regarding multiplication of
years.
A maintenance quarter means quarters in which Carmel Olefins and/or the Company perform
periodic maintenance of plants once every four or five years for each plant, which continues for no
less than 30 days and its effect on EBITDA exceeds USD 10 million per quarter.
In any case, over a period of five consecutive years, no more than two maintenance quarters, as
described above, will be adjusted.
(5) Cash = cash and cash equivalents, deposits (excluding pledged deposits) and securities portfolio

If Carmel Olefins fails to comply with one or more of the financial covenants in accordance with two
consecutive financial statements, this will be grounds to call for immediate repayment, only if, in
addition, the Company failed to comply with one or more of the stringent financial covenants below:
Required
ratio/amount
Adjusted equity (USD million)
Adjusted equity plus shareholders' loans to total consolidated statement of financial
position (2)
Net debt divided by the average consolidated annual adjusted EBITDA
Consolidated cash and cash equivalents (USD millions)

> 650
> 16%
<7
> 50

(*) The definitions detailed above in the context of the Company's financial covenants for the debentures
(Series E, F, G, and I)

As at the date of the financial statements, Carmel Olefins is in compliance with these financial
covenants.
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NOTE 14 - DEBENTURES (CONTD.)
C. Financial covenants (contd.)
Private debentures
The financial covenants and remedy mechanisms applicable to the Company under its financing
agreements in the syndication agreement, as set out in Note 13C above, apply to the private
debenture holders. To remove all doubt, the private debenture holders will not have grounds for
immediate repayment if the banks have not called for immediate repayment of the Company's debt to
them for breach of the provisions regarding maintaining financial ratios and covenants.
Any change in the financial ratios and covenants opposite the banks will also apply immediately and
automatically to the debenture holders, including compensation in accordance with the mechanism
set out in the amended deeds of trust.
Notwithstanding the aforesaid, if an agreement is reached with the banks to change the deviating
covenant (to the detriment of the banks and the benefit of the Company), from the minimum
covenant described in the deed of trust. The holders of the private debentures may, but are not
obligated, to early redemption of the debentures they hold in a total amount of USD 10 million, but
no more than one third of the balance of the par value of the private unredeemed debentures at that
date.
D. Additional obligations to holders of debentures (Series A and the private series)
Early repayment
Provided the amount of the inflow (the increase in Carmel Olefins' total net debt to the Company
above USD 220 million, linked to any increase in the average naphtha price as from December 2012)
exceeds zero, if the Company repays any amount to the banks ahead of the repayment date, the
debenture holders will be entitled (but not obligated) to early redemption of their debentures based
on the formula set out in the amended deeds of trust. Early redemption will be in accordance with the
liability value of the debentures.
Notwithstanding the aforesaid, the right to early redemption will not apply in any of the following
circumstances:
A. The early redemption to the banks will not exceed USD 50 million cumulatively, other than
early redemption made to the leading bank as defined in the deeds of trust.
B.

The Company repaid the banks ahead of the repayment date as part of partial or full exchange of
the Company's long-term debt to the banks, by raising capital or raising new debt in the same
amount from any source with a longer average life than the average life of the Company's
debentures (Series A) and the private debentures.

Restrictions on the distribution of a dividend
The restrictions that apply to the Company for distribution of a dividend under the syndication
agreement, as set out in Note 13C above, also apply to the holders of debentures (Series A) and the
private debentures.
Notwithstanding the above, if there is any change in the restrictions for distribution of a dividend
towards the banks, this will also apply immediately and automatically to the holders of debentures
(Series A) and the private debentures.
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NOTE 14 - DEBENTURES (CONTD.)
E.

Additional obligations to holders of debentures (Series D, E, F, G, and I)
Call for immediate payment
The deeds of trust established grounds to call for immediate payment, including:
A. If there was a call for immediate repayment of one of the following: a different debenture series that the
Company issued to the public; or the Company's debt to a financial institution, including an
institutional body (with the exception of a non-recourse debt to Company in an incremental amount
exceeding the lower of the following: (1) USD 150 million; or (2) 15% of the Company's total
obligations to financial institutions in accordance with its most recent consolidated financial statements
prior to the call for immediate repayment.
B.

If a going concern qualification is recorded in the Company’s financial statements as set out in the deed
of trust.

Early repayment
The Company may redeem all or some of the debentures ahead of their due date, at its own initiative, at its
sole discretion, and in such a case the provisions set out in the deeds of trust will apply. The frequency of
early repayments will not exceed one repayment each quarter.
The amount payable to the debenture holders will be the higher of the following: (1) The market value of the
balance of the debentures in circulation; or (2) the commitment value of the debentures in circulation placed
for early repayment; or (3) the cash flow of the debentures placed for early repayment (principal plus
interest), discounted on the basis of the return on government bonds as defined in the deed of trust, plus
1.5% interest (for debentures (Series G) only, plus 1% interest).
Restrictions on the distribution of a dividend
Until the date on which the debentures are repaid, the Company will not declare, pay or distribute a
dividends, in any of the following cases, including if, insofar as there is a distribution, one of the following
cases below occurs as a result of the distribution:
A. There are grounds for immediate repayment as specified in the deeds of trust (without taking into
account the waiting periods and the amendment set out in the deeds) or if the Company believes that
such an event will take place.
B.

In accordance with the most recent financial statements, the Company is not in compliance with any of
the financial covenants (without taking into account the requirement for two consecutive financial
statements).

C.

In accordance with the most recent financial statements, the Company's equity, as defined in the deeds
of trust, is lower than USD 700 million (USD 660 million in Series E, F and G; USD 690 million in
Series I).

D. The distribution will impair the debenture rating as it was prior to the distribution (for Debentures
(Series D, H, F, and G)).
In addition, the Company undertook that if the terms for the distribution are not met, the Company will not
repay, in any way, the shareholders’ loans that were provided to the Company, if provided (including any
principal or interest payments), until the full, final and precise repayment of the debt in accordance with the
terms of the debentures.
Restrictions on the distribution of a dividend (contd.)
For debentures (Series G) only, until the date on which the debentures are repaid, Carmel Olefins
will not declare, pay or distribute a dividend, in any of the following cases, including if, insofar as
there is a distribution, one of the following cases below occurs as a result of the distribution:
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NOTE 14 - DEBENTURES (CONTD.)
E.

Additional obligations to holders of debentures (Series D, E, F, G, and I) (contd.)
Restrictions on the distribution of a dividend (contd.)
A. If, on the distribution date of the dividend, Carmel Olefins does not have sufficient cash for the next
payment to holders of the debentures (Series G), subsequent to distribution of the dividend.
B.

If Carmel Olefins' equity in its consolidated financial statements is less than USD 220 million.

Notwithstanding the above, there is no obstacle or limitation on any other transaction between Carmel
Olefins and the Company, including payment for services or goods acquired. In addition, there is no
obstacle to providing a loan by Carmel Olefins to the Company in the normal course of business.
Collateral for the debentures
Until the settlement date of the debentures, the Company will not create a lien on its assets in favor
of a third party (other than for cases listed in the deeds of trust) without the consent of the debenture
holders, unless, when creating the lien, the Company also creates a lien on the asset and at the same
degree pari passu in favor of the debenture holders.
In addition, for the debentures (Series G) only, Carmel Olefins will not pledge or place a lien on an
asset as collateral for a debt with a shorter average duration than the average duration of the
debentures (Series G). This liability does not apply to the liens of Carmel Olefins as at the issue date
of the debentures (Series G), and which were lifted subsequently.

NOTE 15 – OTHER PAYABLES
A. Trade payables
For information about transactions and related and interested parties, see Note 27.
For information about the payment terms in agreements with crude oil suppliers, see Note 20C6.
For information about the Group's exposure to exchange risk and liquidity for trade payables, see
Note 30B and 30C.
B.

Other payables
December 31
2016
2017
29,518
23,295
7,182
1,174
58,232
58,045
9,565
8,337
37,578
82,691

Deposits from customers
Advance payments from customers
Employees (see Note 18B)
Institutions
Others (1)(2)

187,188

128,429

(1) As at December 31, 2017 including interest due in the amount of USD 3 million (as at December 31,
2016, USD 28 million). For further information see Note 14B.
(2) As at December 31, 2017, including an amount of USD 73 million for a judgment handed down in the
reporting period relating to development levies and paid subsequent to the reporting date. For further
information, see Note 20B2.

For the Group's exposure to exchange risk and liquidity for some of the other payables, see Note 30B
and 30C.
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NOTE 16 – INCOME TAX
A. Tax environment of the Group
The Group companies are taxed in Israel in accordance with the provisions of the Israeli Income Tax
Ordinance (New Version), 1961 (“the Ordinance”), with the exception of the subsidiaries of Carmel
Olefins, which are taxed in Holland (mainly Ducor).
1.

Rate of corporate tax
Country/year
Israel (*)

2017
24%

2016
25%

2015
26.5%

Holland

25%

25%

25%

(*) For further information about the tax rates applicable to the Group companies taxed in Israel and
entitled to benefits under the Encouragement of Capital Investments Law, see section 4 below.

On January 4, 2016, the Knesset passed Amendment 216 to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2016,
which prescribes a gradual decrease of 1.5% in the rate of corporate tax, as from the 2016 tax
year, to a rate of 25%.
On December 22, 2016, the Knesset plenum passed the Economic Efficiency Law (Legislative
Amendments for Achieving Budget Objectives in 2017 and 2018) – 2016, which stipulates,
among other things, a reduction in the corporate tax rate from 25% to 23% in two steps. The
first step will be to a rate of 24% as from January 2017 and the second step will be to a rate of
23% as from January 2018.
As a result of the reduction in the tax rate to 23% in two steps, the deferred tax balances as at
December 31, 2016 were calculated according to the new tax rate set out in the Economic
Efficiency Law (Legislative Amendments for Achieving Budget Objectives in 2017 and 2018),
at the tax rate expected to apply on the date of the reversal.
The changes in the tax rate described above were reflected in the increase in deferred tax
expenses for 2016 in the amount of USD 6 million.
2.

Non-applicability of IFRS for tax purposes
On January 12, 2012, Amendment 188 to the Tax Ordinance (New Version), 1961 was
published in the Official Gazette (“the Ordinance”), which includes an amendment to section
87A, referring to a temporary order. In accordance with the temporary order, Israel Accounting
Standard 29 - Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) will not apply to
determining taxable income for the 2007 to 2011 tax years, other than for the preparation of the
financial statements (“the Temporary Order”). On July 31, 2014, Amendment 202 to the
Ordinance was published, extending the Temporary Order for the 2012-2013 tax years.

3.

Benefits under the Law for Encouragement of Industry (Taxes), 1969
A. The Group companies in Israel (the Company, Carmel Olefins, Gadiv, and Haifa Basic
Oils) are industrial companies as defined in the Law for Encouragement of Industry
(Taxes), 1969 and accordingly they are entitled to benefits, the main ones being as follows:
1.
2.
3.

B.

Higher depreciation rates
Reduced issuance expenses when listing the company’s shares on the TASE
An eight-year period of amortization for patents and expertise used in the development
of the enterprise
4. The option for submitting consolidated tax returns by companies in the same line of business
The Company, Gadiv, Carmel Olefins and Haifa Basic Oils file a consolidated tax return to
the Tax Authority in accordance with section 23(A) of this law.
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NOTE 16 – INCOME TAX (CONTD.)
A. Tax environment of the Group (contd.)
4.

Amendment to the Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959
On December 29, 2010, the Knesset passed the Economic Arrangements Law for 2011-2012,
which includes an amendment to the Encouragement of Capital Investments Law, 1959 (“the
Amendment”) and is effective from January 1, 2011. The provisions of the Amendment apply to
preferred income generated by or arising from a preferred company, as defined in the
Amendment, in 2011 and thereafter. The Company can choose not to be included in the scope of
the Amendment and to remain within the scope of the law, prior to its amendment, until the end
of the benefit period. The 2012 tax year is the last year that the Company can choose as the base
year, provided that the minimum qualifying investment began in 2010.
As from the 2014 tax year, the tax rate on preferred income for an enterprise that is not in
Development Area A is 16%.
The Amendment also provides that no tax will apply to a dividend distributed out of preferred
income to a shareholder that is a company, for both the distributing company and the
shareholder.
In addition, an exemption was established for taxes on a dividend received by a company
resident in Israel from the profits of an approved/alternative/beneficiary enterprise, which were
generated in the benefit period according to the provisions of the law prior to the amendment, if
the company distributing the dividend informs the Tax Authority of the applicability of the
provisions of the amendment to the Law before June 30, 2015 and the dividend is distributed
after the date of the notice. Furthermore, a distribution from profits of the exempt enterprise will
be subject to tax by the distributing company.
A. The Company
Income from a beneficiary enterprise is exempt from tax for two years from the Company’s
first taxable year for this expansion and will be taxed at a rate of corporate tax of up to 25%
for an additional five years, provided that 12 years have not elapsed since the base year.
The benefits are subject to fulfillment of the criteria set out in the law (including
measurement related to the export rate).
On December 31, 2009, Company notified the Tax Authorities that it had chosen 2008 as
the base year, pursuant to section 51(D) of the Law for the Encouragement of Capital
Investment, 1959 (“the Law”), and accordingly, the benefit period will end no later than
2019.
On December 29, 2013, Company notified the Tax Authorities that it had chosen 2012 as
the base year, pursuant to section 51(D) of the Law, and accordingly, the benefit period
will end no later than 2013.
As at the reporting date, benefits from the base year have not yet been used.
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NOTE 16 – INCOME TAX (CONTD.)
A. Tax environment of the Group (contd.)
4.

Amendment to the Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959 (contd.)
B.

Gadiv
1.

Beneficiary enterprise
Pursuant to section 51(D) of the Law, Gadiv notified the Tax Authority of its election
of 2007 as the second base year of another beneficiary enterprise (“the Expansion”)
Income from the Expansion of the beneficiary enterprise is exempt from tax for six
years from the company’s first taxable year for this expansion. In the seventh year, the
rate of corporate tax will be 25%.
The tax benefits for the Expansion began in 2010 and ended at the end of the 2015 tax
year. The benefits are contingent on fulfillment of the conditions set out in the Law
(such as rate of export). Gadiv is in compliance with these conditions.
In June 2015, Gadiv announced its inclusion in the scope of the amendment to the law
as from the 2016 tax year.

2.

Trapped profits
On November 5, 2012 the Knesset passed Amendment No. 69 and Temporary Order
to the Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959 (“the Temporary
Order”), which offers a reduced tax rate arrangement to companies that received an
exemption from corporate tax under the aforesaid law. The Temporary Order provides
that companies that choose to apply the Temporary Order will be entitled to a reduced
tax rate on the “release” of exempt profits (“the Beneficiary Corporate Tax Rate”).
The release of exempt profits will make it possible to distribute them without
additional tax at the company level and will also make it possible to use the profits
without the restrictions that applied to the use of the exempt profits.
Gadiv has elected to apply the Temporary Order. As a result, exempt profits in the
amount of NIS 390 million will be released. The Beneficiary Corporate Tax Rate on
the released profits is 10%. According to the decision of Gadiv and the Temporary
Order, Gadiv is required to invest an amount of NIS 29 million an industrial enterprise
(as defined in the Temporary Order) by the end of 2017. Gadiv was in compliance
with these conditions.

C. Carmel Olefins
Beneficiary enterprise
Carmel Olefins received a pre-ruling from the Tax Authority to elect 2007 as the base year
in Development Region B, for its investments in 2005-2007. In accordance with the
approval, the Company will benefit from tax at a reduced rate of 0% for six years, and
corporate tax of 25% for one year. The beginning of the beneficiary period is determined as
from the year the taxable income is first generated from the beneficiary enterprise,
provided 12 years have not passed since the base year. As such, the benefit period of the
beneficiary enterprise at Carmel Olefins is expected to end no later than the end of the 2018
tax year.
As at the reporting date, the benefit period has commenced.
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NOTE 16 – INCOME TAX (CONTD.)
A. Tax environment of the Group (contd.)
4.

Amendment to the Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959 (contd.)
D. Inclusion in the scope of the amendment to the law
The Company and Carmel Olefins assess annually the date of inclusion in the amendment
to the Law, and as at December 31, 2017 a notice has not yet been submitted to the Tax
Authority.
As set out in section A4b1 above, Gadiv announced its inclusion in the scope of the
amendment to the Law as from the 2016 tax year.
Haifa Basic Oils announced its inclusion in the scope of the amendment to the law as from
the 2011 tax year.
E.

The tax effects of the distribution of a dividend
If a dividend is distributed from tax-exempt income in the plans set out above (or from taxexempt income from approved plans, the benefit period of which has already ended), or the
companies are considered as having distributed a dividend in accordance with section 51B
of the Law, the Group companies will be taxed at a rate of 25%. In general, the policy of
the Group companies is not to distribute a dividend from this income. A dividend
distributed from income from an approved/beneficiary enterprise is taxed at a rate of 15%
by the recipient (except in respect of Gadiv and Haifa Basic Oils, for which no tax will be
paid by the recipient). For information about the release of trapped profits by Gadiv at the
beneficiary tax rate, see section 4B2. The Amendment also provides that no tax will apply
to a dividend distributed out of preferred income to a shareholder that is a company, for
both the distributing company and the shareholder, as set out in section 4 above.

F.

Temporary differences for which deferred tax liabilities were not recognized
The Group companies did not recognize deferred tax liabilities in respect of temporary
differences in connection with investments in subsidiaries, due to the fact that the
companies control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference, so that it can be
expected that the temporary difference will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

B.

Income tax benefit expenses (revenue)
Year ended December 31
Current tax expenses (revenue)

2017

Taxes for the current period
Taxes in respect of previous years
Taxes for distribution of a dividend (see section E1 below)

Deferred tax expenses
Creation and reversal of temporary differences
Change in the tax rate

Income tax

2016

4,605
236
7,978

3,262
(1,351)
-

1,085
340
-

12,819

1,911

1,425

52,995
-

32,227
5,912

38,330
-

52,995

38,139

38,330

65,814

40,050

39,755
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NOTE 16 – INCOME TAX (CONTD.)
C. Reconciliation between the theoretical tax on pre-tax income and carrying amount of taxes on
income:
Year ended December 31
Profit before taxes on income and before the Company’s share in the
net profits (losses) of associates
The main statutory tax rate of the Company

2017

2016

2015

327,969

197,950

263,892

24%

Tax based on at the statutory tax rate

25%

26.5%

78,714

49,487

69,931

(11,732)
1,004

(13,406)
796

(16,345)
890

1,175
236
7,978

1,195
(1,351)
5,912
-

(294)
340
-

(11,561)

(2,583)

(14,767)

65,814

40,050

39,755

Addition (saving) in tax liability for:
Effect of the creation of deferred taxes at a tax rate that is different
from the main tax rate
Unrecognized expenses
Expenses (income) for tax purposes for which deferred taxes were not
generated
Tax expenses (benefits) for prior years
Effect of the change in the tax rate
Tax for a dividend
Difference between accounting of income for tax purposes and
accounting of net income in the financial statements
Income tax
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NOTE 16 – INCOME TAX (CONTD.)
D. Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities and movements therein
Deferred taxes in respect of Group companies in Israel are calculated according to the tax rate
anticipated to be in effect on the date of reversal as stated above. Deferred taxes in respect of foreign
subsidiaries are calculated according to the relevant tax rates of each country, other than in Holland.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributed to the following items:

Fixed assets
Deferred tax asset (liability) as at January
1, 2016
Net exchange rate differences from
translation of foreign operations
Effect of the change in the tax rate
Other changes recognized directly in other
comprehensive income
Changes recognized directly in profit or loss
Deferred tax asset (liability) as at
December 31, 2016
Net exchange rate differences from
translation of foreign operations
Other changes recognized directly in other
comprehensive income
Changes recognized directly in profit or loss
Deferred tax asset (liability) as at
December 31, 2017

(273,882)

Employe
e benefits
19,800

Deductions and
carry-forward
losses for tax
purposes (1)

Others

Total

188,215

23,927

(41,940)

10
3,367

(537)

(7,474)

(1,268)

10
(5,912)

3,847

71
1,014

(23,759)

(1,446)
(13,329)

(1,375)
(32,227)

(266,658)

20,348

156,982

7,884

(81,444)

(26)

16

95

-

6,124
(260,560)

275
940
21,579

85

(58,934)

2,004
(1,125)

2,279
(52,995)

98,143

8,763

(132,075)

(1) The Group creates deferred taxes for all carry-forward business losses for tax purposes in Israel (other
than carry-forward business losses amounting to USD 8 million as at December 31, 2017, for which there
is no anticipation of taxable income in the foreseeable future against which carried forward losses can be
offset), since the Group companies have deferred tax liabilities exceeding the balance of deferred tax
assets.
As at December 31, 2017, total carry-forward losses of Group companies in Israel for which deferred
assets were created amount to USD 0.60 billion (as at December 31, 2016, USD 0.86 billion).
In addition, as at December 31, 2017, the Group companies have carry-forward capital losses of USD 23
million (as at December 31, 2016, USD 21 million) for which no deferred tax assets have been created
(other than capital losses in the amount of USD 2 million for which deferred tax assets that do not exceed
the tax liabilities were created), since the management believes that in the foreseeable future, there is no
anticipated taxable income against which they can be offset.
(2) As at December 31, 2017, all of Ducor's tax losses were utilized (as of December 31, 2016, Ducor had
carryforward tax losses amounting to USD 5 million for which deferred taxes were recognized in view of
the existence of expected taxable income against which it could be offset).
Deferred taxes are presented as follows:
December 31
2017
Non-current assets (through loans and receivables)
Non-current liabilities

147
(132,222)

1,436
(82,880)

(132,075)

(81,444)
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NOTE 16 – INCOME TAX (CONTD.)
E.

Tax assessments and discussions
1.

In 2013, the Company and Gadiv signed a settlement agreement, arranging the Company's final
tax liability for the 2005-2010 tax years and Gadiv's final tax liability for the 2007-2010 tax
years.
Under the agreement, the Company has undertaken, among other things, that should it distribute
a dividend in the future, the Company will be required to first distribute a gross dividend of NIS
120 million from its exempt retained earnings and to pay corporate tax of up to NIS 30 million.
In the reporting period, a dividend of USD 85 million was declared and paid, as set out in Note
21C2, of which NIS 120 million, gross (USD 32 million), arising from exempt profits.
Accordingly, the Company paid tax of NIS 30 million (USD 8 million), which was recognized
in the reporting period for tax expenses (see also Note 21C2).
Gadiv applied the Temporary Order for trapped profits (see section 4B2 above) and released the
full amount of exempt earnings in accordance with the assessment agreement. Release of the
profits will allow their distribution without payment of additional tax by Gadiv.

2.

In view of the aforesaid, the Company, Carmel Olefins, and Haifa Basic Oils have tax
assessments considered as final up to and including 2012.
Ducor has final tax assessments up to and including 2011.

NOTE 17 - PROVISIONS
Movement in the provisions for claims and legal proceedings and for environmental quality
contingencies:
2017
Balance as at January 1
Provisions during the period (1)
Provisions realized during the period
Exchange differences
Classification to other payables (1)
Balance as at December 31
(1)

2016

44,564
63,965
(1,767)
4,532
(76,262)

33,744
11,547
(1,186)
459
-

35,032

44,564

Most of the increase in provisions in the reporting period was due mainly to a judgment handed down on the
matter of development levies and was mostly recognized against fixed assets and against financing expenses.
For further information, see Note 20B2. The amount that was classified to other payables was paid subsequent
to the reporting date.

For further information see Note 20B.
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NOTE 18 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The Group companies and most of their employees have collective agreements regulating labor relations
and employment conditions of employees, divided into several generations. The collective labor
agreements are valid until December 31, 2017, and as at the approval date of the financial statements, the
Group companies are negotiating with employees' representatives for new wage agreements. In addition,
some employees of the Group companies, including executives, have signed individual employment
agreements.
A. Main types of employee benefits
Employee benefits include mainly: (1) short-term benefits (mainly salaries to pay, provisions for
leave and recuperation and provisions for bonuses, where relevant); (2) post-employment benefits
(benefits under the Severance Pay Law, increased compensation, and benefits for the Group's
retirees); (3) other long-term benefits (mainly tuition for the children of employees and jubilee
bonus); and (4) severance benefits (mainly voluntary redundancy plans).
1.

Post-employment benefit plans
According to labor laws and the Severance Pay Law in Israel, the Group companies are required
to pay compensation to an employee upon dismissal or retirement (including employees leaving
the job under other specific circumstances).
A. Defined contribution plans
1.

The Company, Gadiv and Haifa Basic Oils (in this section “the Companies”)
In accordance with the collective agreements applicable as from January 1, 2014,
section 14 of the Severance Pay law applies to the Company's compensation liabilities.
In addition, for surplus compensation (half month salary for each year of employment
in the Company, between 20 and 30 years and an additional month for each year of
employment beyond 30 years), the companies transfer to individual policies that they
own, on behalf of each employee, 4.166% of the effective wage as defined in the
agreement as from the 21st year of employment in the Company and 8.33% of the
effective salary from the 31st year of employment in the Company.
Since according to the terms of these agreements, the obligations of the companies for
compensation and for surplus compensation are restricted to the amount they deposit
in pension funds and individual policies, the actuarial and investment risks fall on the
employees. Therefore, these benefits are classified as defined contribution plans as
from the date the agreements are signed.

2.

Carmel Olefins
Section 14 to the Severance Pay Law, 1963 applies to some of Carmel Olefins'
employees, according to which the fixed contributions paid by the Group into pension
funds and/or policies of insurance companies release the Group from any additional
liability to employees for whom the contributions were made. These contributions and
contributions for compensation represent defined contribution plans.

3.

Ducor
Ducor's liabilities under the labor laws in the Holland and the labor agreements
between Ducor it and its employees with regard to defined contribution plans are
immaterial.
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NOTE 18 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
A. Main types of employee benefits (contd.)
1.

Post-employment benefit plans (Contd.)
A. Defined contribution plans (contd.)
4.

Details of amounts of deposits:
Year ended December 31
Expenses for defined contribution plans

B.

2.

2017

2016

2015

9,639

8,671

7,538

Defined benefit plan
1.

Some of the employees with personal employment agreements (and some of the
employees of Carmel Olefins) are eligible for compensation without being subject to
section 14 (based on the employee's last salary, which management believes generates
the right for compensation and taking into account the number of years of
employment), and in some cases, different levels of increased severance pay.

2.

The Group companies have undertaken to pay some employees with a personal
agreement, whose employment is discontinued due to dismissal or resignation,
payment of up to six monthly salaries.

3.

Retirees of Group companies are entitled to receive benefits, mainly gifts for holidays,
Company products, and weekend holidays. The obligations of the companies for these
benefits is accrued during the employment period.

Termination benefits
A. Voluntary redundancy
At the date of voluntary redundancy, the companies (the Company and Gadiv) pay the
insurers a lump-sum for the payment of monthly compensation to the employees during the
voluntary redundancy period, until they reach the statutory retirement age, and
supplemental pension rights under the terms of the collective agreement.
Carmel Olefins pays a monthly compensation for voluntary redundancy, up to the date of
eligibility for comprehensive pension from the pension fund (when the employees reach the
statutory retirement age). Carmel Olefins recognizes a liability for these amounts.
Voluntary redundancy plan
In 2015 and 2016, the Company's Board of Directors approved voluntary redundancy plans
for the Group's employees (before the statutory retirement age), at a total cost of USD 15
million and USD 10 million, respectively. The amortizations were recognized under other
expenses in the statement of income.
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NOTE 18 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
A. Main types of employee benefits (contd.)
2.

Termination benefits (contd.)
B.

Loan to Haifa Early Pensions Ltd. (“Haifa Early Pensions”).
According to the collective agreement for voluntary redundancy and enhanced severance
pay of Company employees, signed between the Company and representatives of the
employees on June 14, 2006 (“the Voluntary Redundancy Agreement”), a loan agreement
was signed between the Company and Haifa Early Pensions, whereby the Company
granted a loan of NIS 300 million, linked to the CPI, to purchase pension rights for the
employees, at any date or time, if Haifa Early Pensions sees that the Company was in
breach of the Voluntary Redundancy Agreement. Haifa Early Pensions will invest the loan
in bank deposits or in debentures listed on the TASE or in marketable government bonds.
Haifa Early Pensions will pay the Company interest and principal in accordance with the
terms of the loan agreement. The principal payment is scheduled for January each year,
commencing from 2010, subject to approval of the workers’ union of the calculation
method for payment of the principal.
The loan to Haifa Early Pensions constitutes a right for indemnity that the Company will
receive for payment of liabilities for early pension and is measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

B.

Composition of employee benefits
December 31

Presented as current liabilities - other payables
Short-term benefits (1)
Current maturities for voluntary redundancy
Presented as non-current liabilities - employee benefits
Recognized liabilities for a defined benefit plan (mainly benefits for retirees)
Liabilities for other long-term benefits
Benefits for dismissal - voluntary redundancy
Less current maturities for dismissal - voluntary redundancy
Less fair value of plan assets

2017

2016

56,416
1,816

56,164
1,881

58,232

58,045

57,418
2,508
8,558
(1,816)
(9,629)

49,795
2,292
8,500
(1,881)
(8,306)

57,039

50,400

Short-term employee benefits include obligations for salary and social benefits, including leave and
convalescence, as well as maturities for the voluntary redundancy plan. For information see section
A above.
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NOTE 18 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTD.)
B.

Composition of employee benefits
December 31
2017

2016

4,665

5,009

54,893
(4,665)
50,228

53,187
(5,009)
48,178

3,907
(7,876)
3,969

3,869
(7,759)
3,890

Presented as current assets – other receivables
Current maturities of loans to Haifa Early Pensions
Presented as non-current assets
Loan to Haifa Early Pensions
Less current maturities of bank loans

Recognized liabilities for a defined benefit plan
Less fair value of plan assets
Net asset for severance – defined benefit plan

Expense recognized in the statement of income for a defined benefit plan
Year ended December 31

Cost of current service
Net interest on the obligation
Exchange differences

2017

2016

2015

1,289
1,813
4,410
7,512

1,213
1,629
464
3,306

1,772
1,708
(257)
3,223

C. Main actuarial assumptions
1.

Main actuarial assumptions for benefits for the Company's retirees in the reporting period (%)

Capitalization rate (CPI-linked)
Churn rate

2017

2016

2-2.3
0.4-2.9

2.7-2.9
0.4-2.7

2.

Future mortality rates are based on standard mortality tables and demographic assumptions as
published by the Ministry of Finance

3.

The discounted interest rate is based on market information for Shahar unlinked government
bonds at the reporting date, according to the gross yield to maturity of a bond with an average
useful life (proximate to the average useful life of the liability)

A reasonable change in the assumptions listed above will not materially change the actuarial
undertakings.
D. For further information about benefits for officers, see Notes 21B and 27.
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NOTE 19 – OPERATING LEASE
E.

Leases in which the Group is the lessee
1.

Lease of tankers
The Group leases a number of tankers for transporting crude oil and/or fuel products, to ship
materials, including materials that it buys or sells. The lease agreements are for short periods,
generally up to one year and some of the agreements include an option to for an extension of up
to one more year.
By virtue of the Vital Interests Order, on February 8, 2009, the Fuel Administration instructed
the Company to transport fuel in at least one tanker that is run by an Israeli crew. In 2015, the
Company entered into an agreement to lease the tanker for up to three years, and as at the
reporting date, it extended the lease agreement for an additional year.
The Group leases tankers on a voyage charter basis (see also section B below).
Leases recognized in the statement of income:
Year ended December 31

Lease payments recognized as an expense

2017 (1)

2016

2015

28,378

33,719

31,063

(1) Minimum lease fees for chartered tankers as at December 31, 2017 (as from January 1, 2018 until
the end of the lease period) amount to USD 23 million.

2.

Lease payments
The Company has an assets agreement. For further information, see Note 20C2.
Operating lease expenses for land recognized in the statement of income:
Year ended December 31

Lease fees for land (1)

2017

2016

2015

14,840

13,261

13,165

Ownership of the land does not pass to the Company at the end of the lease period.
(1) In 2017, an amount of USD 11 million is profit-dependent (in 2015-2016, USD 10 million).

3.

Lease of land - Ducor
For further information about lease of land by Ducor, see Note 11B5. Annual lease payments
are immaterial.

4.

In addition, the Group is party to various lease agreements that are immaterial, including of
vehicles.
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NOTE 19 – OPERATING LEASE (CONTD.)
F.

Leases in which the Group is the lessor
The Company leases out tankers on a voyage charter basis to other parties, as set out in section A(1)
above.
The Company also leases out land to a neighboring plant (for most of the land - up to December 31,
2015 and for the remaining leased area, up to June 30, 2016). In 2015, the Company filed a claim for
the evacuation of the land (25 hectares) by the lessee after the end of the rental period, and demanded
appropriate usage fees as at that date.
The table below presents information on revenue from the lease:
Year ended December 31

Revenue from sub-lease of tankers

2017

2016

2015

22,039

29,290

42,755

NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS
A. Guarantees and liens
1.

As at December 31, 2017, the Company provided bank guarantees to institutions and others in
immaterial amounts.

2.

As at December 31, 2017, the Company opened short-term documentary letters of credit for
suppliers in the ordinary course of business. For further information see Note13A.

3.

The Company provided bank guarantees to the natural gas supplier. As at December 31, 2017,
the guarantees amounted to USD 20 million. For further information see Note 20C1b.

4.

The Company provides a bank guarantee for an available inventory transaction. As at December
31, 2017, the guarantees amounted to USD 10 million. For further information, see Note
20C(5).

5.

As at the reporting date and thereafter, the Company provided guarantees in favor of the
subsidiaries (Carmel Olefins, Gadiv, Haifa Basic Oils, Trading and Shipping), as well as in
favor of some of Ducor’s raw material suppliers, and provided guarantees and liens in favor of a
bank and a non-banking institution that provided credit to Ducor. In addition, the subsidiaries
(Carmel Olefins, Gadiv, Haifa Basic Oils, Trading and Shipping) provided guarantees in favor
of the Company. For further information see Note13A and 13C.

6.

For information about the commitments of the Group companies (other than Ducor) for a
negative pledge, see Note 13.
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NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS (CONTD.)
B.

Contingent liabilities
Parties

1.

Court

Amount of the claim

Nature of the claim

Likelihood of the claim

Commercial claims (including class actions) that ended in the reporting period

Haifa Port Ltd. and the
Company

Supreme Court

The value of the
financial claim is NIS 35
million as at the filing
date (2009); the value of
another claim is NIS 10
million as at the filing
date (2015).

The Company's claim for declaratory relief
whereby Haifa Port Ltd. does not have the
right to charge the Company infrastructure
fees for unloading crude oil at the Kiryat
Haim sea terminal and two monetary
claims of Haifa Port Ltd. for payment of
infrastructure fees for unloading in 2007 2009. In 2010, a new order was issued for
payments of infrastructure fees.

In the reporting period, a judgment was handed
down dismissing the Company’s claim for
declarative relief against Haifa Haifa Port and
accepting the financial claim of Haifa Port in the
amount of NIS 35 million (as at the date of its
filing). The Company filed an appeal against the
judgment.
Since the Company's financial statements as at
December 31, 2016 included provisions for the full
amount awarded and for the full amount of
infrastructure fees for the period since the claim was
filed, including for interest and linkage differences,
amounting to USD 47 million, paid in the reporting
period, the judgement did not have a material affect
on the operating results in the reporting period.
In addition, bank guarantees provided by the
Company in prior years for most of the
infrastructure fees, which amounted to USD 33
million, were released in the reporting period, after
repayment.
In the reporting period, a judgment was handed
down dismissing the additional claim of Haifa Port,
which amounted to NIS 10 million (as at the date of
its filing). Haifa Port filed an appeal against the
judgment.
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NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS (CONTD.)
B.

Contingent liabilities (contd.)
Parties

1.

Court

Amount of the claim

Nature of the claim

Likelihood of the claim

Commercial claims (including class actions) that ended in the reporting period (contd.)

Shareholder (motion for a class
action)
Against the State, the Company,
directors and CEO at the
privatization date and directors
who were in office on August
31, 2011

Tel Aviv District

NIS 140 million at the
date the claim was
filed (2012)

The plaintiff alleges that the defendants
are required to compensate the
Company's shareholders on August 31,
2011 for damages they incurred due to the
absence of essential information about the
emergency stockpile agreement and its
financial implications on the Company's
prospectus on the privatization date and
on the Company's financial statements
that were published since that date.

A shareholder (motion for
certification as a class action)
against the Company, its
controlling shareholder, the
former CEO and CFO

Tel Aviv District

NIS 135 million at the
date the claim was
filed (2014)

The main allegation of the applicant is that the
Company breached disclosure obligations in
the way it presented supplier credit and the
inventory availability transaction in its
financial statements. The Company submitted
appropriate notices to the insurers.

In reporting period, the court approved and gave the
validity of a judgment to a settlement agreement
according to which the representative plaintiff, the
eligible class members (as defined in the settlement
agreement), and their representatives will be paid a
total compensation of NIS 14 million. The State’s share
in the above compensation will amount to NIS 2
million and the remaining amount, over and above the
State’s participation, will be paid by the insurers of the
Company and the officers that were sued. As at the
reporting date, and in accordance with the judgment,
the Company received the majority of the amount that
it had to pay from its insurers and transferred it to the
trustee set out in the judgment.
Since the Company's financial statements as at
December 31, 2016 included a provision for the full
amount of the compensation set out in the settlement
agreement and an indemnification asset for the
insurance cover, the Court’s approval of the settlement
agreement had no material effect on the operating
results in the reporting period.
In 2016, the district court dismissed the motion for
certification as a class action. The applicant filed an
appeal against the judgment. In the reporting period,
the Supreme Court dismissed the appeal.
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NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS (CONT.)
B.

Contingent liabilities (contd.)
Parties

1.

Court

Amount of the claim

Nature of the claim

Likelihood of the claim

Commercial claims (including class actions) that ended in the reporting period (contd.)

The Company against the
Electricity Authority and the
IEC (following the decision of
the Electricity Authority to
impose system-wide tariffs on
private electricity producers,
including retroactively)

High Court of
Justice

USD 11 million

A petition and motion for interim
injunctions filed in 2015 against the
decision of IEC regarding the systemwide fees imposed on private electricity
producers, uniformly, sweepingly, and
retroactively. Subsequent to the reporting
date, the Supreme Court approved a
settlement between all the parties to the
petitions, whereby subsequent to the
reporting date, the Company received a
partial refund of amounts that were
charged retroactively and paid by the
Company.

The Company's financial statements included amounts
representing the settlement. This acquisition did not
have a material effect on the results of the Group’s
operations in the reporting period.
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NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS (CONTD.)
B.

Contingent liabilities (contd.)
Parties

2.

Court

Amount of the claim

Nature of the claim

Likelihood of the claim

Proceedings with local authorities, including local taxation claims and indirect taxation

Haifa Municipality against the
Company and subsidiaries

Supreme
Court/Haifa
District

NIS 230 million at the
date of the claim for
some of the levies
(2012)
In addition, NIS 135
million for interest and
linkage differentials
(as at the date of
issuing the interest
charge and linkage
differentials in
December 2017).

Demands for payment of development
levies (paving roads and channeling),
which the companies claim they do not
owe
In addition, the obligation to pay interest
and linkage differentials under the Local
Authorities Law.

In 2014, the Administrative Court handed down a
judgment that cancels these charges. The municipality
appealed the judgment, and in the reporting period the
Supreme Court handed down a judgment which
determined that the charges were lawfully issued. The
Company filed an motion for another hearing on the
Supreme Court judgment.
In addition, subsequent to the reporting period, the
Company filed a petition regarding the scope of the
interest for the development levies and the party to
which the amount to be paid will be transferred. As
part of the petition, subsequent to the reporting date, an
amount of NIS 251 million was placed in a deposit that
cannot be used until a judgment on the petition has
been handed down. In this petition, the parties agreed
to a mediation process.
In accordance with the judgment, the companies
adjusted the amounts of the provisions for the principal
of the levies against fixed assets and the provisions for
interest against financing expenses, all in accordance
with the Company's assessment, based on the opinion
of its legal counsel in this matter, in a manner that is an
appropriate reflection of the costs that will more likely
than not be paid.
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NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS (CONTD.)
B.

Contingent liabilities (contd.)
Parties

2.

Court

Amount of the claim

Nature of the claim

Likelihood of the claim

Proceedings with local authorities, including local taxation claims and indirect taxation (contd.)

Haifa Municipality/Mei Carmel
against the Company and
subsidiaries

Haifa District,
Appeals
committee

NIS 170 million at the
date of the original
claim (2010) of the
drainage levy; in
addition, a levy of NIS
90 million for laying a
water pipe as at the
original demand date
(2014).
There are parallel
claims of the
municipality and Mei
Carmel regarding the
drainage levy.

Demands for payment of a levy for laying
out a water pipe and a sewage levy, which
the companies claim they do not owe In
December 2017, an appeal committee
ruled that the municipality, and not Mei
Carmel, is authorized to demand a sewage
levy. The Company filed a motion for
leave to appeal this ruling.

The Company believes, based on the opinion of its
legal counsel, that the companies have included
appropriate provisions that reflect the costs for the
claims that will more likely than not be paid.
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NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS (CONTD.)
B.

Contingent liabilities (contd.)
Parties

3.

Court

Amount of the claim

Nature of the claim

Likelihood of the claim

In 2015, an indictment was filed against
the defendants, referring to a breach of
the personal orders issued to the
companies in 2009-2010, for the alleged
results of certain stack tests in 2011, and
in respect of the Company and its
managers, also for allegedly delaying the
installation of means to control emissions
from the storage container on its
premises; in respect of the Company and
its officers, a violation of the Hazardous
Substances Law, 1993, for the date that
accumulated sludge was removed from
the Company's premises. In the matter of
sludge removal, the Company also
received a warning prior to the initiation
of civil proceedings.

In the reporting period, a plea bargain was approved
and a judgment was handed down convicting the
companies of the offenses attributed to them and
imposing fines in the amount of NIS 1.5 million, which
was paid.

Liabilities relating to environmental quality

Ministry of Environmental
Protection - the Company,
Carmel Olefins, Gadiv, former
officers in these companies and
other managers at the relevant
dates

Indictment heard
in Haifa
Magistrate’s
Court

--

This translation of the financial statement is for convenience purposes only.
The only binding version of the financial statement is the Hebrew version.
C-86

Bazan Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
USD thousands

NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS (CONTD.)
B.

Contingent liabilities (contd.)
Parties

3.

Court

Amount of the claim

Nature of the claim

Likelihood of the claim

Liabilities relating to environmental quality (contd.)

Haifa Port Ltd.

Letter

--

Ministry of Environmental
Protection, the Company, and
three former managers in the
Company

Indictment

--

Third party against the
Company, Carmel Olefins,
Gadiv and eight other
defendants (motion for
certification as a class action)

Tel Aviv District

NIS 14.4 billion (at the
date the claim was
filed, June 2015)

The Company believes, based on the opinion of its
The Port claims, in accordance with a
legal counsel, that there is less than a 50% chance that
letter at the beginning of 2012, that the
it will incur expenses for the letter, therefore a
results of the historic survey and soil
provision was not included in the financial statements
survey that it carried out indicate soil
for this matter.
pollution allegedly caused by operations
of PEI and/or the Company. The
Company denied the allegations and
announced that according to surveys that
it carried out, any soil pollution that may
be discovered does not originate from the
Company's operations.
The indictment filed in 2015 refers to the
The Company believes, based on the opinions of its
Company and its managers regarding an
legal counsel representing it in this claim, that the
alleged offense of failure to refrain from
Company has included an appropriate provision that
water pollution activities, in respect of the reflects the costs for the claim that will more likely
harm to a contractor who worked on the
than not be paid.
Company's wastewater pipeline in 2009,
which allegedly resulted in water
pollution.
Alleged air pollution caused by the
The Company believes, based on the assessment of its
defendants in the Haifa Bay area, which
legal counsel representing it in this case, that it is more
resulted in a higher morbidity rate compared likely than not that the motion for certification will be
dismissed.
to the rest of the country, and caused a
higher risk of sickness and other parts of the
country; an increased risk of sickness and
threat to free will. As at the publication date
of the report, the Court ruled that the
applicants will file a motion to amend the
motion for certification, and the defendants
will respond to it.
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NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS (CONTD.)
B.

Contingent liabilities (contd.)
Parties

3.

Court

Amount of the claim

Nature of the claim

Likelihood of the claim

Liabilities relating to environmental quality (contd.)

Ministry of Environmental
Protection, against Carmel
Olefins

Financial
sanction

for NIS 2.7 million.

The Ministry of Environmental Protection
informed Carmel Olefins that it intends to
impose a financial sanction for alleged
offenses of the emission permit in three
technical issues. Carmel Olefins filed its
arguments against the sanctions.

A third party against the
Company
(class action)

Claim and
motion for
certification as a
class action

NIS 753 million at
the date the claim was
filed (December
2016) According to
the letter of response
filed by the plaintiff
in reporting period,
the scope of the
damages claimed is
NIS 280 million.

A claim and motion for certification as a class
action for the fire that broke out in the
intermediate materials storage tank on the
Company's premises According to the claim and
motion for certification, the cause of action is the
claim for an environmental hazard and
negligence, breach of statutory duty and violation
of autonomy. The Company submitted an
appropriate notice on the claim to its insurers,
and has filed its response to the claim. In the
reporting period, court documents were
submitted, in which the plaintiff claimed, among
other things, various damages in the amount of
the damages claimed in its original application,
bringing the damage claimed to NIS 280 million,
and attached a new expert opinion. The
Company requested the removal of the plaintiff's
response from the court file. The ruling on this
matter has yet to be handed down.

In the reporting period, Carmel Olefins received
notice that the Ministry had decided to reduce the
amount of the financial sanction that it had
considered and to place it at NIS 2.2 million. In the
reporting period, Carmel Olefins paid the amount of
the financial sanction. At the same time, the Ministry
is continuing the investigation of the events
underlying the financial sanction. The Company is
unable to estimate the results of the investigation.
The Company believes, based on the opinions of its
legal counsel representing it in this claim, that the
Company has included an appropriate provision that
reflects the costs for the claim that will more likely
than not be paid. The Company submitted an
appropriate notice about the claim to the insurers.
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NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS (CONTD.)
B.

Contingent liabilities (contd.)
Parties

4.

Court

Amount of the claim

Nature of the claim

Likelihood of the claim

Derivative claims

A shareholder (Roi Hahami) on
behalf of the Company against
OPC, Israel Corporation and
directors who served in the
Company in 2011 when the
transaction was approved

Tel Aviv
District

The claim was filed in
December 2017.

A shareholder seeks to recognize a claim
filed as a derivative claim on behalf of the
Company against the defendants on the
grounds that the transaction for the
purchase of electricity from OPC was not
approved as required and it is not in
market conditions.

The Company believes, based on the opinion of its
legal counsel representing it in this case, that at this
early stage it is not possible to estimate the chances of
the motion for certification, but in any event, the
Company will not be required to pay any amounts
claimed in the motion.

A shareholder (KRNA) on
behalf of the Company against
OPC, Israel Corporation, its
controlling shareholders, and
directors who served in the
Company in 2012 when the
transaction with Tamar was
approved or who are currently
serving in the Company

Tel Aviv District

The claim was filed in
January 2018

A shareholder seeks to recognize a claim
filed as a derivative claim on behalf of the
Company against the defendants in the
matter of transactions for the purchase of
natural gas from Tamar and from
Energean, claiming that the transaction
with Tamar was not approved as required
and that both transactions are not in favor
of the Company and are not in market
conditions.

The Company believes, based on the opinion of its
legal counsel representing it in this case, that at this
early stage it is not possible to estimate the chances of
the motion for certification, but in any event, the
Company will not be required to pay any amounts
claimed in the motion.
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NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS (CONTD.)
B.

Contingent liabilities (contd.)
5.

The Company, Carmel Olefins and Gadiv received various warnings from the Ministry of
Environmental Protection for alleged violations of the emission permits and personal orders
issued to them relating to air quality, including claims of non-compliance with maximum
emission values, failure to perform various action, and failure to comply with procedures of the
Ministry of Environmental Protection. The companies submit their responses to the Ministry in
connection with any warning received, as relevant. At this stage, the Company is unable to
estimate the exposure for the warnings, if any.

6.

The Ministry of Environmental Protection is investigating a number of issues against the
Company, Carmel Olefins and Gadiv, and in some of the investigations, also against managers
who served at the dates relevant to the investigation of the companies, including in relation to
the fire in a storage tank for interim materials in the Company's compound and alleged
violations of the personal orders and emissions permits issued to the companies at the dates on
which they were valid and/or due to malfunctions in their facilities. At this stage, the Company
is unable to estimate the exposure for these investigations, if any.

7.

In addition to that set out in sections 20B2-20B4 above, commercial and other claims were filed
against the Group companies in the ordinary course of business, each of which is not material
and amount in aggregate to USD 27 million. In addition, the Company received demands from
time to time, which it dismisses.

8.

The Group companies include provisions in their financial statements for claims which their
managements believe, based on the opinion of their legal counsel, are more likely than not to
materialize. The provisions are based on the estimated amounts of payments required to settle
the liabilities. The amount of the additional exposure, less participation of insurers for which
there is no provision amounts to USD 102 million (without contingent liabilities, including for
environmental matters for which exposure cannot be estimated, and in particular, motions for
certification of class actions amounting to NIS 15.1 billion for air pollution and the fire as set
out in section 20B4).

C. Agreements
1.

Agreements for purchase of natural gas for the Company’s plants
The Group's plants are connected to the national gas pipeline.
The Company signed a transmission agreement with Israel Natural Gas Lines Ltd. (“INGL”),
which is constructing and operating the national gas pipeline.
In addition, the Company has agreements with suppliers to purchase natural gas for the
Company and the subsidiaries Carmel Olefins, Gadiv and Haifa Basic Oils, as follows:
A. EMG agreement: On December 12, 2010, the Company signed an agreement with East
Mediterranean Gas S.A.E. (“EMG”) for the supply of natural gas from Egypt to the
companies’ plants, for 20 years commencing from the start of supply. Following repetitive
sabotage to the natural gas pipeline used by EMG and after EMG informed the Company
that the natural gas agreement with its suppliers, for the sale of gas to its customers,
including the Company, has been canceled, the Company canceled the EMG agreement,
while reserving its full legal rights towards EMG.
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NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS (CONTD.)
C. Agreements (contd.)
1.

Agreements for purchase of natural gas for the Company’s plants (contd.)
B.

On November 25, 2012, the Company signed an agreement with the Tamar Group1 to
purchase natural gas as an energy source and as raw material for Bazan Group plants (“the
Tamar Agreement”). The Company expects to purchase 5.8 BCM of natural gas from the
Tamar Group. The term the agreement is for up to seven years from the date gas supply
begins or until the Company consumes the Total Contract Quantity in the agreement,
whichever earlier, subject to the Company's right to extend the agreement for up to two
years, if by the end of the sixth year of the agreement, the Company does not receive the
amount described above.
Tamar Group started to deliver gas in March 2013.
As at the date of the agreement, the overall monetary value of the agreement is estimated at
USD 1.3 billion. The actual volume is affected by a number of conditions, primarily the
price of oil and rate of gas consumption.
The gas price is based mainly on the price of oil (including floor and ceiling prices), and to
a smaller degree, on the price of the production component in the price of electricity (with
an adjustable floor price).
In the interim period, which will commence once the terms in the agreement have been
fulfilled and continue until completion of the project (to the extent it is completed), to
increase the supply capacity of the handling and transport system of the Tamar project, gas
supply to the Company under the agreement will be subject to the quantity of natural gas
available at that time, after supplying gas in accordance with agreements with the Yam
Tethys Group, and in accordance with agreements signed by the Tamar Group for the
agreement with the Company. The Tamar Group informed the Company that the interim
period has begun. It should be noted that in 2017, the Natural Gas Sector Regulations
(Management of the Natural Gas Sector in Emergency), 2017, came into effect. The
Regulations regulate the supply of natural gas to all natural gas consumers in the country,
in certain situations of a natural gas shortage that the gas supplier is capable of supplying,
for the natural gas ordered by its customers.
The Tamar Agreement includes additional provisions that are standard in this type of agreement,
including: the Company's take or pay undertaking for a minimum annual quantity of gas
according to the mechanism set out in the agreement, compensation mechanisms for short supply,
gas quality, liability limits, an arbitration mechanism and more.
The Tamar Agreement was subject to the approval of the Antitrust Commissioner. Further
to the Antitrust Commissioner's decision on the "exemption from approval for a restrictive
arrangement between the Tamar gas reservoir partnership and natural gas consumers", on
December 28, 2015, the Antitrust Commissioner announced that certain agreements to
which the Tamar partnership is a party, including the Tamar agreement, do not raise
competitive concerns and that subject to their compliance with the other terms in this
decision, they do not require an application for exemption from the restrictive arrangement.

1

As at the date of this report, the partners in Tamar Nobel Energy Mediterranean Group Ltd., Isramco Negev 2
Limited Partnership, Delek Drilling Limited Partnership, Tamar Petroleum, Alon Natural Gas Exploration Ltd.,
Everest (“the Tamar Group”).
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C. Agreements (contd.)
1.

Agreements for purchase of natural gas for the Company’s plants (contd.)
C. There is a dispute between Tamar Group and the Company (and to the best of the
Company's knowledge, other customers as well) regarding one of the linkage components
for the price of natural gas purchased by the Company - the electricity generation
component, as published by the Public Utilities Authority - Electricity (“the Electricity
Authority”). In 2013-2015, the Electricity Authority published two prices for the electricity
generation component, clarifying that the lower price is the relevant price for natural gas
agreements. Tamar Group requires the Company to pay the higher linkage price. For the
relevant period, the Company paid the lower linkage price. The extent of the dispute is not
material to the Group's operating results. The Company believes, based on the negotiations
between the parties, that the Company has included appropriate provision that reflects the
costs for the dispute that will more likely than not be paid.
For information about the derivative claim filed subsequent to the reporting date in
connection with the transaction for the purchase of natural gas from the Tamar Group, see
Note 20B4.
D. In 2016, the Company signed an additional agreement with a related party to purchase
natural gas, in a total quantity of 0.2-0.3 BCM for up to three years, starting from the
beginning of 2016.
E.

In December 2017, the Company signed an agreement for the supply of natural gas with
Energean Israel Ltd. ("Energean"), which has holdings in the Karish and Tanin gas
reservoirs (“the Gas Reservoir"). Under the agreement, the Company will purchase natural
gas in the quantities and for the periods agreed on for operation of the facilities of the
Company and subsidiaries in Haifa Bay. The agreement is subject to the fulfillment of
preconditions, including its approval by the general meeting of the Company by a special
majority (the approval was obtained in January 2018) and approval of the Antitrust
Authority. As at the approval date of the financial statements, some of the preconditions
have not yet been fulfilled.
The Company, Israel Chemicals Ltd.2, and OPC Energy Ltd.3 negotiated with Energean
together, to leverage the aggregate buying power of the companies to obtain preferential
buying terms from Energean. However, the supply agreement was signed by each of the
companies separately and the agreement with each of them stands on its own and is not
dependent on the other agreements.

2
3

A public company controlled by Israel Corporation Ltd., the controlling shareholder of the Company
The Company was informed that the company is controlled by Kenon Holdings Ltd. (“Kenon”). Kenon is a
company related to the controlling shareholders in Israel Corporation, the shares of which are listed on a dual listing
and are traded on the NYSE and the TASE.
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NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS (CONTD.)
C. Agreements (contd.)
1.

Agreements for purchase of natural gas for the Company’s plants (contd.)
E.

(contd.)
The main terms of the agreement are as follows:
(a) The total quantity of gas that the Company expects to purchase from Energean is 17
BCM over the entire expected supply period.
(b) The supply period will commence when gas starts to flow from the gas reservoir, and
is expected to end when the full contractual quantity is consumed or 15 years from the
date of supply of natural gas to the Company, whichever is earlier. If the entire
contractual quantity is not consumed, the parties may extend the supply agreement for
an additional period, subject to compliance with the terms and objectives defined in
the agreement.
(c) A take or pay mechanism for a minimum annual quantity of natural gas (80% of the
adjusted annual amount), in accordance with the mechanism determined
(d) The price of natural gas will be determined according to an agreed formula, which is
generally based on linkage to an electricity generation component and includes a
minimum price. The minimum price set is USD 3.975 per unit of energy.
(e) The agreement includes other provisions and arrangements, which are standard in
agreements for the purchase of natural gas, including in the matter of maintenance, gas
quality, limitation of liability, buyer and seller collateral, endorsements and liens,
dispute resolution, and the operation mechanisms of the agreement.
(f) The agreement includes circumstances in which each of the parties may terminate the
agreement before the end of the contractual period, including in cases of prolonged
non-supply and damage to collateral.
In addition, the agreement includes milestones for activities necessary for the
development of the gas reservoir, which, if not achieved, will be able to bring it to an
end. In addition, under certain circumstances, compensation was determined in the
event of a delay in the gas flow.
The total financial volume of the agreement is likely to reach USD 2.5 billion (assuming
maximum consumption according to the agreement and according to implementation of the
gas price formula as at the reporting date), and it depends mainly on the electricity
generation component and the scope and rate of gas consumption.
For information about the derivative claim filed subsequent to the reporting date in
connection with the transaction for the purchase of natural gas from Energean, see Note 20B4.

2.

New asset agreement
On January 24, 2007, the State of Israel and the Company entered into an asset agreement which
resolves the dispute between the parties regarding the rights to the Company’s assets (“the
Company’s Assets”) and which replaces the previous agreement of 2002. According to the
agreement, the Company agrees with the State's position in the dispute as defined in the original
asset agreement of 2002, and waives all claims arising from the dispute or from the Company's
position in the dispute, or with regard to them.
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NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS (CONTD.)
C. Agreements (contd.)
2.

New asset agreement (contd.)
According to the agreement, the rights of the Company in the Company's Assets are as follows:
Rights to assets which are not real estate assets - Except for real estate assets, the Company has
the same rights to all of the Company’s Assets which it would have were it not for the claim of
the State of Israel that the assets should be transferred to the State, for no consideration.
Rights to the property of the Company
A. Rights of the State of Israel: Regarding each of the Company’s parcels of property in which
the Company would have ownership were it not for the position of the State of Israel in the
dispute, including the right to be registered as the owner in the land registry:
Regarding these parcels of property - the Company has a long-term lease from the State.
The period of each Lease Agreement is 49 years, commencing on the date the agreement is
signed (January 24, 2007), with the Company having an option to extend the period for an
additional 49 years (“the Option Period”), subject to the fulfillment of all of its obligations under
the Lease Agreement and the new asset agreement. At the end of the leasing period, including the
Option Period should it be exercised, the Company will transfer possession of each parcel of
leased real estate to the State of Israel, including any construction and permanent appurtenances.
B.

Regarding each parcel of property of the Company which is not included in section A
above - the Company will have the same rights it would have in the parcels of property
were it not for the position of the State of Israel in the dispute.

C. According to the agreement, the Company will pay the State of Israel, every year, an
annual fee comprised of a fixed amount of USD 2.25 million and additional annual
amounts, that are contingent on the annual income of the Company, according to the profit
levels, as follows: 8% of the annual pre-tax income and the annual payment, in the range of
USD 0 - USD 30 million; plus 10% of the annual pre-tax income and the annual payment,
in the range of USD 30 million - USD 52.5 million; plus 12% of the annual pre-tax income
and the annual payment, in the range of USD 52.5 million - USD 67.5 million. In any
event, the amounts paid to the State in respect of the annual payment (including the fixed
component) will not exceed USD 8.7 million per year before linkage. All amounts are
translated into NIS at a rate of NIS 4.80 per USD and are linked to the CPI of May 2002.
For information about the amount of the payment in the reporting period, see Note 19A2
above.
The new asset agreement set out the objectives of the leasing of the property and stipulated
provisions regarding the need for the agreement of various parties for the transfer of the
rights of the Company in the property (except for a lien and/or pledge of its rights in the
leased property in favor of a financial institution only for purposes of obtaining financing
for its operations in the normal course of business).
The Company is required to notify the State authorities, in advance and in writing, of its
intention to rezone or change the use of the leased property, provided no objection is
received from any of the authorities.
Should the Company breach any of its commitments in respect of any specific parcel of
property, all the rights of the Company in that property will be canceled and all the rights in
that property will revert back to the State, in addition to any possible compensation.
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NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS (CONTD.)
C. Agreements (contd.)
2.

New asset agreement (contd.)
D. Distillate pipeline
When signing the new assets agreement, the Company restored to the State of Israel all of
its rights in or related to the distillate pipeline, leading from the Haifa oil refinery to Haifa
Port, including any right the Company had to the land in which the pipeline is installed
(“the Distillates Pipeline”). In the period from the privatization date until February 28,
2010, the Company was entitled to operate and use the distillate pipeline, in accordance
with and subject to the state provisions pertaining to operation and use of the pipeline, as
may be issued from time to time. In 2009, the Company applied for an extension of its
long-term right to operate and use the Distillates Pipeline. As at the reporting date, the
Company operates and makes use of the Distillates Pipeline.
In 2011, a letter of warning was received from the Accountant General, according to which
the Company’s continued holding in the Distillates Pipeline is contrary to the agreement
between the parties. The government incurs harm in this respect and the government will
insist on the complete fulfillment of the Company's obligations towards it. The Company
contends that its application to arrange its continued long-term holding of the Distillates
Pipeline has yet to be finalized.
According to the agreement, the Company will be liable and will indemnify the State, upon
the State’s demand, for any damage and/or expense incurred and/or that may be incurred to
the State as a result of breach of the Company’s undertakings as set out above.

3.

Agreement with neighboring local authorities for municipal management
The area of the plants in Haifa Bay is incorporated into the municipal boundary of Haifa.
On August 23, 2006, the Company, Gadiv, Carmel Olefins and another plant entered into an
agreement with the municipality of Haifa and other adjacent municipal authorities, designed to
regulate the municipal regime that will apply to the area of the plants (“the Authorities
Agreement”). The Authorities Agreement stipulates that a municipal corporation will be set up,
in which all of the rights in capital and most of the voting rights are held by the authorities, with
the balance being held by the plants, and the goal of which is to provide municipal services in
the area of the plants, including the setting of guidelines, planning and development. In the
reporting period and after the Supreme Court judgment on the appeal filed by the municipality
regarding the paving and channeling levies, which stated, among other things: “....The funds
collected by the Haifa municipality from the respondents will be used to finance the activities of
the management company of the Bazan compound, which is responsible, among other things,
for building infrastructure and maintaining it. Therefore, even though the Haifa municipality
collects the development levies from the respondents, these levies will be used first and
foremost to finance the body responsible for infrastructure in the Bazan compound". An
application was made to the municipality of Haifa and the joint municipal company to operate
the mechanisms set out in the agreement of the authorities in this matter. The agreement
stipulates that the municipality of Haifa, as the licensing authority in the area of the plants, will
handle the request for a business permit submitted by the Company and that it will not add
additional conditions to the business permit beyond those conditions stipulated by the relevant
government ministries for the business permit of the Company.
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C. Agreements (contd.)
3.

Agreement with neighboring local authorities for municipal management (contd.)
The agreement also stipulates that the bylaws of Haifa will apply in the area of the plants, and
these laws will be applied in an equal manner to other areas of Haifa. In accordance with the
agreement, a joint planning and building committee is operating in the area. By October 2003,
the end of the concession period, the Company had not received construction permits relating to
the construction in most of the plant area. In 2004, the Company and other plants in the plant
area submitted a detailed plan for the area to the Haifa Regional Planning and Construction
Council, which included surveys on diverse matters related to the area, in accordance with the
requirements of the authorities. In 2012, the plan was submitted, and after hearing the
objections, the Regional Planning and Building Council decided to approve it, with certain
conditions. This decision was appealed at the secondary committee of the National Planning and
Building Council.
In the reporting period, the National Council for Planning and Construction approved the plan,
with the amendments set out in its decision. This was after the plan was approved by the
secondary committee for appeals of the National Council for Planning and Construction, and
after the National Council was asked to reconsider the provisions of the plan, and after receiving
the opinion of the Attorney General on whether it has the authority to hold such a discussion.
Some of the opponents to the plan filed an administrative petition on the decision of the
secondary committee of appeals of the National Planning and Building Council. On March 8,
2018, a judgment was handed down dismissing the petitions that were filed.
Under the building permit for the Hydrocracker, the Company undertook that operation will not
cause additional emission in Haifa Bay, the plant will be run on natural gas only and the fuel oil
produced at the plant has environmental advantages and is intended for sale in Israel and not for
export. The Company further undertook to participate in financing the project initiated by the
Ministry of Environmental Protection to treat drainage of the Kishon River and to place the
river and its environment to the benefit of the public, including diverting the course of the river
and cleaning the Kishon riverbed (“the Kishon Project”), at a total of up to NIS 90 million out
of the cost of the Kishon Project. The Company paid the full amount and the project was
completed.

4.

To maintain the Company's operations, the Company is dependent on services from the
infrastructure companies Petroleum and Energy Infrastructures Ltd. and Eilat Ashkelon Pipeline
Company Ltd., which own crucial infrastructure for the unloading, shipping, storage, and
production of crude oil and oil products, and Israel Natural Gas Lines Ltd. ("INGL"), which
owns crucial infrastructure for delivery of natural gas.
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NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS (CONTD.)
C. Agreements (contd.)
5.

Inventory availability agreement
In March 2017, the Company signed an agreement (“the Agreement”) for the availability of raw
material inventory, mainly crude oil (“Crude Oil”), with an international company (“the
International Company”). The Agreement came into effect in the second quarter of 2017.
The main terms of the Agreement are as follows:
A. The Company will have available access, over three years (“the Agreement Period”) to up
to 1.8 million barrels (245 thousand tons) of different types of Crude Oil, owned by the
Second Party, by way of exchange with the same quantity of different types of Crude Oil
owned by the Company at that date or within short periods as set out in the Agreement.
B.

The Company will pay the Second Party periodic payments (“the Availability Fees") for its
undertakings in the agreement. The Availability Fees will be recognized as an operating
expense in the statement of income over the Agreement Period, and they are expected to
amount to a few millions of US dollars per year (and considering the amounts that the
Company would have covered if it would have held similar quantities of crude oil
inventory itself, the additional cost is immaterial).

C. To fulfill its obligations under the Agreement, the Second Party will hold the Crude Oil in
storage in the facilities of an infrastructure supplier, or under certain conditions, in tankers,
and it will have the option of storing inventory of up to 750,000 barrels on the Company's
premises, under the terms of the storage agreement with the infrastructure supplier and the
availability and storage agreements with the Company.
D. Under the agreement, the Company granted the Second Party a put option, whereby the
Second Party may sell to the Company, at the end of the Agreement Period, crude oil as set
out in the Agreement (up to 1.8 million barrels) at the market price of crude oil at the end
of the Agreement Period. As at the reporting date, based on spot market price of crude oil,
the value of the oil in the transaction is estimated at USD 120 million.
E.

To secure its obligations under the Agreement, in the reporting period, the Company
provided a bank guarantee of USD 10 million to the Second Party.

F.

Each party may terminate the Agreement before the end of the Agreement Period, under
certain circumstances. If the Company terminates the Agreement before the end of the
Agreement Period, it may be required to pay cancellation fees as set out in the Agreement.

G. The Agreement allows the Company to reduce, over the Agreement period, quantities in its
crude oil inventory compared to quantities that it would have held in the absence of an
inventory availability transaction, resulting in optimal management of its operating
inventory as well as to benefit from the financial advantages arising from smaller inventory
of 1.8 million barrels, release of cash at the beginning of the transaction, amounting to
USD 85 million, and diversification of financing sources.
Since the Second Party bears the yields and material risks relating to ownership of the inventory
relevant to the agreement, and controls the inventory, this inventory is not recognized in the
Company's financial statements, but is accounted for as contract performance (an off-balance
sheet agreement).
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NOTE 20 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND AGREEMENTS (CONTD.)
C. Agreements (contd.)
5.

Inventory availability agreement (contd.)
It should be noted that in the reporting period, before the Agreement came into effect, the
inventory availability agreement set out in sections 20C5(a) and 20C5(b) to the Annual
Statements came to an end, and under the put option provided by the Second Party to the
Agreement, the Company acquired inventory of 2.25 million barrels, in a financial scope of
USD 120 million, based on the spot market price of crude oil at the termination date of the
Agreement, instead of the acquisition of inventory in the ordinary course of its business. On the
other hand, the bank guarantee provided by the Company for the inventory availability
agreement, which amounted to USD 55 million, was released.

6.

In the reporting period, the Company continued to sign agreements with crude oil suppliers,
allowing it to extend credit terms by 60-90 days. Extension of the credit terms bears market
interest, similar to the interest rate on the Company's short-term bank credit.

7.

In 2015, an agreement was signed for the renovation, upgrade and operation of the former
renewable resources plant acquired by the Company. The agreement is based on a DesignBuild-Operate-Transfer (DBOT) project. In accordance with the agreement, the party with
which the Company signed the agreement will plan the required changes at the plant, acquire
the required equipment, and install it at its expense; and run the plant for a ten-year operating
period. If the operating period is not extended, the Company may opt to receive the plant at no
cost, in good working order, and producing the required quantity and quality of water. In the
operating period, the Company will pay the party to the agreement fixed fees (with linkage) for
each cubic meter of water, for treatment of the Group's wastewater and the supply of the
required quality of water. The extent of the transaction is estimated at USD 30 million. The
Company recognized fixed assets in an immaterial amount against a liability presented mainly
in the long term. For further information, see Note 13B1. The facility was activated on January
1, 2017.

8.

For information about transactions and agreements with employees of Group companies, see
Note 18A.

9.

For information about transactions and agreements with related parties, see Note 27.

10. For information about agreements with banks and other credit providers and about the deeds of
trust issued by the Company, see Notes 13 and 14.
11. For information about lease agreements of the Group companies, see Note 19.
12. For information about the completion of an agreement for the sale of the holding in shares of an
associate subsequent to the reporting date, see Note 31.
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NOTE 21 – EQUITY
D. Share capital
The Company has ordinary share capital.
December 31,
December 31,
December 31,
2017
2016
2015
NIS thousand par value
Issued and paid up share capital
Registered share capital

E.

3,199,079
4,000,000

3,197,347
4,000,000

3,197,347
4,000,000

Capital reserve for share-based payment – allotment of options to employees and directors of
the Company
1.

Options allotted in 2015:
I.

In the second quarter of 2015, the Company's Board of Directors approved the allotment of
60,000,000 options for nine officers and for 40 employees of the Company who are not
officers. In addition, the Company's Board of Directors approved the allotment of 12,000,000
options to Ovadia Eli as chairman of the Company's Board of Directors, and on June 9, 2015,
the general meeting approved the allotment of the options for the chairman of the Board of
Directors (for further information about approval of the employment terms, see Note 27B).
At the approval date of the allotment, the Company's Board of Directors approved an
increase in the options plan, to include 160,000,000 options in the options plan reserve, so
that each option allotted subsequent to the increase, and which expires without being
exercised, will be returned to the options plan reserve and the Company may allot a new
option under it and so on. Under the options plan, an additional 99,900,000 options will
be allotted beyond those offered as set out above and which were allotted in accordance
with the Company's outline of June 11, 2015.

II.

On November 18, 2015, following the approval of the Company's compensation
committee at its meeting on November 4, 2015, the Company's Board of Directors
approved the grant of 550,000 options to an employee of the Company who is not an
officer. In addition, the Company's Board of Directors approved the allotment of
13,235,000 options to Avner Maimon as CEO of the Company, and on December 30,
2015, the general meeting approved the allotment of the options to the CEO (for further
information, see Note 27B5).

III.

The options that were offered as described above are without consideration, are nonmarketable and each option entitles the offeree the right to purchase from the Company one
ordinary share of NIS 1 par value of the Company, in accordance with the plan and subject to
adjustments set out in the plan. When exercising the options, the Company's employees will
not be allotted all the underlying shares, but only the number of shares reflecting the amount
of the financial benefit in the options. The shares underlying the options will be registered for
trade on the TASE, and from the allotment date will bear equal rights, for all intents and
purposes, to the ordinary NIS 1 par value shares in the Company's share capital.

IV.

In the event of termination of the employee's service, the employee's right to exercise the
options will be restricted to those options to which the offeree's right was established
prior to termination of employment or service, and they will be exercisable during the 180
day period following termination of employment or service. All the other options allotted
to employees will expire on the date the offeree's employment or service ends.
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NOTE 21 – EQUITY (CONTD.)
B.

Capital reserve for share-based payment – allotment of options to employees and directors of
the Company (contd.)
2.

Options allotted in 2016:
On March 22, 2016, the Company's Board of Directors, allocated 3,700,000 options to an
officer of the Company (following the decision of the Company's compensation committee).
The terms of the options are the same as in section 1 above.

3.

Terms of the grant and other information
1)

The table below summarizes the terms for allotting the Company's options in 2015-2016,
and the information used to determine the fair value of the benefit:

No. of
instruments
(in millions)(1)

Vesting
period
(years)

Life of
options
(years) (2)

Average interest
rate

60
12
14
4

1-3
1-3
1-3
1-3

3-4
3-4
3-4
3-4

(0.36) - (0.54)
(0.57) - (0.76)
0.25-0.11
(0.35) - (0.37)

Expected
fluctuations

Exercise
price at the
grant date (3)

%

Share price
as a basis
for option
price

NIS

33-34
34-35
32.3
32-31

1.553
1.553
1.567
1.668

1.390
1.382
1.54
1.502

Share value
of the options
at the grant
date
NIS
thousands

16,426
3,280
4,779
1,073

(1) Subject to that set out in sections 1 and 2 above, half of the options that were allotted to the
offerees will vest in three equal lots, at the end of each year for three years. The second half of
the options allotted to the offerees will vest in three equal lots, as follows: The first lot will vest
on fulfillment of the following two cumulative conditions: one year after July 7, 2015 for the
options allotted in 2015 (other than for Avner Maimon one year after November 18, 2015) and
one year after March 22, 2016 for the options allotted in 2016 ("the Record Date",
respectively) and distribution of the dividend in a cumulative amount of USD 200 million ("the
Dividend Test") as from the Record Date. The second lost will vest on fulfillment of the
following two cumulative conditions: two years after the Record Date and on fulfillment of the
Dividend Test. The third lot will vest on fulfillment of the following two cumulative
conditions: three years after the Record Date and on fulfillment of the Dividend Test, except
for options allotted to the chairman of the Board of Directors, which will vest in full in three
equal lots at the end of each year over three years, independent of the Dividend Test.
(2) Life of the options in years, as from the allotment date of each of the lots
(3) Linkage differentials will be added to the exercise price. In January 2017, the exercise price
was adjusted for distribution of a dividend as set out in section C2 below, in the amount of 10
agurot per share. Subsequent to the reporting date, the exercise price for distribution of a
dividend was adjusted again, as set out in section C3 below, in the amount of 7 agurot per
share.

2)

The option allotment plan was registered in accordance with section 102 of the Income Tax
Ordinance, according to which the options will be deposited with a trustee for a period of at least
two years after allotment of the options. The options were allotted according to an equity track
and the recipients of the options will pay the tax arising from the benefit, when the shares are sold.

3)

The share price used as a basis for pricing the option was derived from the market price of
the share. For fair value measurement, see Note 4D.

4)

The lifespan of the options was determined on the basis of management estimates
regarding the period that the employees will hold the options.

5)

The risk-free interest rate was determined on the basis of the yield to maturity of shekel
government bonds, with the time to maturity being equal to the expected lifespan of the options.
This translation of the financial statement is for convenience purposes only.
The only binding version of the financial statement is the Hebrew version.
C-100

Bazan Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
USD thousands

NOTE 21 - EQUITY (CONTD.)
B.

Capital reserve for share-based payment – allotment of options to employees and directors of
the Company (contd.)
4.

Allotted options
Year ended December 31
2017
Number
options
(thousands)

At the beginning of the year
Expired or annulled during
the year
Exercised during the year
Allotted during the year
At the end of the year

2016
2015
Weighted
Weighted
Weighted
Average of
Average of
average of
Number of
Number of
exercise price
exercise price
exercise price
options
options
(NIS)(*)
(NIS)(*)
(NIS) (*)
(thousands)
(thousands)

85,326
(634)

1.56
1.56

95,418
(13,792)

1.60
1.89

13,003
(2,737)

1.92
1.64

(11,286)
73,406

1.55
1.56

3,700
85,326

1.67
1.56

85,152
95,418

1.56
1.60

(*) As at the grant date

A. The following table summarizes the total payroll expenses recognized in the statement of
income in respect of the share-based payment transactions for the employees and directors:
Year ended December 31

B.
F.

2017

2016

2015

1,148

2,111

1,229

As at the reporting date, all of the allotted options are in the money.

Dividends
1.

On January 29, 2012, the Board of Directors resolved to adopt a policy for distributing
dividends, subject to the law and in compliance with the Company's liabilities to its financiers,
present and future. According to the policy, each year the Company will distribute a dividend of
at least 75% of its annual distributable profit, and the Board of Directors may resolve, subject to
fulfillment of the terms set out above, to distribute additional dividends. The Board of Directors
may, at its discretion and at any time, change, whether as a result of a one-time decision or a
change of policy, the percentage of the dividends distributed and/or not to distribute a dividend,
at its discretion. The Company will issue an immediate report for any change in policy.
As aforesaid, actual distribution of the dividend will be subject to compliance with the terms
required under the law, including the distribution tests set out in section 302 of the Companies
Law and the specific resolutions of the Board of Directors for each distribution.

2.

On November 24, 2016, the Company's Board of Directors approved the distribution of a dividend
in the amount of USD 85 million, based on the Company's financial statements as at September 30,
2016, subject to the approval of the general meeting of the shareholders with a special majority. On
January 5, 2017, the general meeting approved the distribution of the dividend with a special
majority and the dividend was paid on January 22, 2017. A gross dividend of NIS 120 million (USD
32 million) is from exempt profits (the tax of which NIS 30 million was paid on February 15, 2017),
and the balance of the dividend distributed (above NIS 90 million, net) are profits that are not
eligible for benefits under the Encouragement of Capital Investments Law, 1959.
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NOTE 21 - EQUITY (CONTD.)
C. Dividends (contd.)
3.

On November 25, 2017, the Company's Board of Directors approved the distribution of a
interim dividend in the amount of USD 65 million, based on the Company's financial statements
as at September 30, 2017, subject to the approval of the general meeting of the shareholders. On
January 14, 2018, the general meeting approved the distribution of the dividend with a special
majority and the dividend was paid on January 30, 2018. The dividend is from profits that are
not eligible for benefits by virtue of the Encouragement of Capital Investments Law, 1959.

4.

For information about further restrictions on the distribution of a dividend of the banks, see
Notes 13 and 14.

G. Shelf prospectus
The Company has a shelf prospectus that is valid until November 21, 2018.

NOTE 22 – REVENUE
Year ended December 31
2017

2016

2015

Sales in Israel
Sales in other countries

3,319,197
2,275,262

2,545,898
1,760,822

3,032,077
2,442,186

Supply of services to foreign entities and other revenue (1)

5,594,459
29,285

4,306,720
14,148

5,474,263
16,710

5,623,744

4,320,868

5,490,973

(1)

In the reporting period, including indemnification from an insurance company for loss of profits in the amount
of USD 17 million (in 2015, USD 2.2 million). For further information see Note 11D.

NOTE 23 – COST OF SALES
Year ended December 31

Materials consumed
Salary and incidentals
Changes in inventory derivatives
Depreciation and amortization
Other production expenses (1)
Decrease (increase) in product inventories
Infrastructure fees for prior years (2)

2017

2016

2015

4,631,701
157,463
790
152,906
130,578
(63,177)
-

3,530,176(*)
136,162
(38,412)
138,950
103,302
(47,655)
6,357

4,448,354(*)
140,569
(13,011)
133,482
106,464
94,892
-

5,010,261

3,828,880

4,910,750

(*) Reclassified, see Note 2G
(1) In 2015, including insurance indemnity for loss of energy in the amount of USD 4.3 million.
(2) For information about the judgment in the Company's lawsuit against Haifa Port Ltd., see Note 20B1.
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NOTE 24 – SALES AND MARKETING EXPENSES
Year ended December 31

Salary and incidentals
Transportation and storage
Others

*)

2017

2016

2015

7,329
83,703
4,368

6,385
80,969(*)
3,161

6,888
91,193(*)
3,689

95,400

90,515

101,770

Reclassified, see Note 2G

NOTE 25 – GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Year ended December 31

Salary and incidentals
Communication and data processing
Professional and legal services
Depreciation and amortization
Doubtful and lost debts
Others

2017

2016

2015

32,398
5,078
8,908
3,052
701
4,008

31,577
4,707
6,744
2,400
623
3,319

32,004
4,181
8,462
2,573
1,231
4,126

54,145

49,370

52,577
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NOTE 26 - FINANCING INCOME AND EXPENSES
Year ended December 31
2017

2016(*)

2015(*)

Financing income
Interest income from bank deposits
Changes in fair value the of the loan to Haifa Early Pensions
Net change in fair value of financial derivatives
Other financing income

1,855
1,460
17,665
30

1,561
216
3,461
165

299
3,933
97

Financing income recognized in profit or loss

21,010

5,403

4,329

Financing expenses
Interest expenses for short-term loans and borrowings
Interest expenses for debentures
Interest expenses for long-term loans
Net loss from change in exchange rate
Net interest expenses for working capital items (1)
Other financing expenses (2)
Changes in fair value the of the loan to Haifa Early Pensions
Actuarial financing expenses recognized in profit or loss

3,447
72,804
29,623
19,887
8,961
19,951
2,059

2,125
70,876
34,331
4,271
15,637
7,470
2,282

6,491
59,258
41,404
3,868
17,342
13,895
82
2,379

Financing income recognized in profit or loss

732,156

136,992

719,144

Net financing expenses recognized in profit or loss

135,722

131,589

140,390

(1)

In 2017, the Group's expenses for factoring agreement fees amounted to NIS 6 million (in 2016, USD 6
million, in 2015, USD 7 million). Most of the balance is from interest for supplier credit.

(2)

For information about the judgment that was handed down in respect of the development levy, see Note 20B2.

(*)

Reclassified
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NOTE 27 – RELATED AND INTERESTED PARTIES
A. Transactions and balances with interested and related parties
Transactions with interested and related parties
December 31
2017

2016

Assets (liabilities)
Key officers (including directors)
Trade and other payables
Related parties and other interested parties
Trade receivables
Receivables
Trade payables

Total balance

(5,354)

(3,839)

19,556
(11,138)

10,970
464
(8,596)

8,418

2,838

3,064

(1,001)

Transactions with related parties
Year ended December 31
2017

2016

2015

Income (expenses)
Associates
Revenue
Operating expenses
Key officers (including directors)
Operating expenses (including share-based payment)
Related parties and other interested parties
Revenue
Operating expenses

Total transactions

25
-

25
-

36,807
(1,798)

25

25

35,009

(9,254)

(10,700)

(9,154)

44,787
(115,403)

33,166
(105,257)

110,182
(87,179)

(70,616)

(72,091)

23,003

(79,845)

(82,766)

48,858

1.

Transactions with interested and related parties are made during the course of regular business.

2.

The Company’s products were sold to related and interested parties under market conditions.

3.

The subsidiaries (other than Ducor) purchase most of the raw materials from the Company and
therefore they are dependent on the Company.

4.

In 2015, Keter Plastic Ltd. was no longer a related party and interested party.
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NOTE 27 – RELATED AND INTERESTED PARTIES (CONTD.)
B.

Benefits for key managers (including directors)
The salary of the Company's senior executives usually includes the following components: monthly
salary linked to the CPI, arrangements for actual work in some or all of the early notice period,
various social benefits, including vacation, sick leave, post-employment benefits (including in
certain cases, increased compensation), insurance, study fund, company car and telephone. Senior
managers in the Group also participate in option plans for the Company’s shares (see Note 21B).
Benefits for key managers (including directors) in the Group, who are employed in the Group
include:
Year ended December 31
2017
No. of
people
Benefits without share-based payments
Share-based payments (1)

2016

Amount

14
13

7,622
909

No. of
people
14
14

8,531

2015

Amount

No. of
people

8,519
1,529

Amount

14
12

6,762
871

10,048

7,633

(1) For information about the allotment of options to employees, see Note 21B.

Benefits for key managers (including directors) in the Group, who are not employed in the
Group include:
Year ended December 31
2017
No. of
people
Benefits for an external director

11

2016

Amount
723

No. of
people
10

2015

Amount
652

No. of
people
14
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NOTE 27 – RELATED AND INTERESTED PARTIES (CONTD.)
B.

Benefits for key managers (including directors) (contd.)
Compensation for directors and key managers:
1.

On March 3, 2015, the Company announced that following the approval of the Company's
compensation committee and Board of Directors, the Company adopted, in a resolution of the
general meeting, a compensation policy for the period as from the beginning of 2015, including
a current salary and incidentals, and variable compensation components (such as bonuses and
equity compensation). The compensation policy is uniform for the Company and its
subsidiaries. On March 14, 2018, the Company's Board of Directors approved an amendment to
the compensation policy, following approval of the compensation committee on February 26,
2018, subject to the approval of the general meeting of the shareholders - as from 2018.

2.

David Federman as deputy chairman of the Company's Board of Directors, and as a member on
various committees of the Board of Directors. Up to the end of 2015, he also provided chairman
services (active) to Carmel Olefins. On March 3, 2015, the general meeting approved the terms
of David Federman's service as chairman of the board of directors of Carmel Olefins, mainly
monthly management fees of NIS 123,435 plus VAT (linked to the CPI of August 2011). With
the termination of David Federman's service as chairman of the board of directors of Carmel
Olefins, in 2015, the agreement between him and the Company also came to an end and he is
entitled to directors' compensation, as paid by the Company to all its directors.
In 2016, the Company's compensation committee, Board of Directors and general meeting
approved a bonus for Ovadia Eli for 2015, amounting to NIS 0.75 million.
On December 2, 2012, the general meeting approved a letter of indemnity for David Federman,
identical to the letter of indemnity granted to all directors of the Company (other than for
exemption from liability for duty of care to the Company, which is granted to to all directors of
the Company and which shall not be granted to David Federman).

3.

On February 4, 2015, Ovadia Eli was appointed chairman of the Company's Board of Directors.
On June 9, 2015, the general meeting of the Company's shareholders approved the employment
terms of Ovadia Eli. The main employment terms are as follows: The position is a full-time
position. Ovadia Eli may serve as an officer in other entities without the Company's approval,
provided that the number of hours dedicated to his service in the Company will not fall below a
full-time position and that the other businesses do not infringe on his commitments under the
agreement. Ovadia Eli will receive a monthly salary of NIS 145 thousand plus linkage to the
rise in the CPI above the base CPI (February 2015 CPI). Ovadia Eli's salary includes and takes
into account all his duties and obligations to the Company and/or the subsidiaries. Ovadia Eli
will be entitled to standard social provisions, the Company will cover his expenses for the use of
communications means and reimburse expenses as is standard in the Company for senior
employees. The Company will provide him with a car that is compatible with his position and
status.
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NOTE 27 – RELATED AND INTERESTED PARTIES (CONTD.)
B.

Benefits for key managers (including directors) (contd.)
Compensation for directors and key managers: (contd.)
3.

(contd.)
The agreement between the Company and Ovadia Eli has been signed for an undefined period
as from February 4, 2015, and it may be canceled by any of the parties with written notice of six
months. Termination or non-renewal of Ovadia Eli's service for a further term by the Company's
general meeting will be considered as submission of notice of termination of the agreement. In
the notice period, Ovadia Eli is entitled to his full salary and incrementals paid to him in
accordance with the provisions of the agreement. The Company may terminate the agreement
immediately or at any time during the advance notice period, provided that, at the termination
date of his employment, Ovadia Eli is paid all the amounts to which he would have been entitled
under the agreement, had he continued his employment in the Company throughout the notice
period. Under extraordinary circumstances, the Company may terminate the agreement
immediately, as is customary in agreements of this type. On termination of Ovadia Eli's
employment, for any reason other than dismissal under special circumstances, Ovadia Eli will
be entitled to full compensation (100%) based on his last salary.
Ovadia Eli signed a non-disclosure and non-competition agreement, as is standard in the
Company. In addition to the above, Ovadia Eli will be covered by liability insurance for his
activities as an officer and will be granted exemption from liability and an undertaking for
indemnification as is applicable for all officers in the Company who are not controlling
shareholders in the Company.
Ovadia Eli is entitled to bonuses in accordance with the Company's compensation policy as it
may apply from time to time, in accordance with approvals required under the policy and the
law. In 2016, the Company's compensation committee and Board of Directors approved a bonus
for Ovadia Eli for 2015, amounting to NIS 1 million. In the reporting period, the Company's
compensation committee and Board of Directors approved a bonus for Ovadia Eli for 2016,
amounting to NIS 993 thousand. Subsequent to the reporting period, the Company's
compensation committee and Board of Directors, approved a bonus for Ovadia Eli for 2017,
amounting to NIS 1.8 million, subject to approval of the general meeting.
For information about the 12,000,000 options granted to Ovadia Eli, see Note 21B.

4.

Between July 9, 2013 and September 16, 2015, Aharon (Arik) Yaari (Arik Yaari) served as
CEO of the Company and of the subsidiaries Carmel Olefins, Gadiv and Haifa Basic Oils.
Under his employment agreement, Aharon Yaari was entitled to a monthly salary of NIS 160
thousand (linked to the increase in the CPI) and standard incrementals. Under the agreement, on
termination of his employment, Aharon Yaari was entitled to an early-notice period of six months, in
which he was entitled to all the payments and terms and to a staying grant equivalent to the last
salary paid on termination of his employment in the Company, multiplied by the number of years of
employment in the Company. In addition, Aharon Yaari is entitled to the Company’s options.
In 2016, the Company's compensation committee, Board of Directors and general meeting
approved a bonus for Aharon Yaari for 2015, amounting to NIS 0.6 million.

5.

During the period from September 16, 2015 to November 29, 2017, Avner Maimon served as CEO of
the Company and as Chairman of the board of directors of the subsidiaries Carmel Olefins (from the
date of its privatization), Gadiv, and Haifa Basic Oils.
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NOTE 27 – RELATED AND INTERESTED PARTIES (CONTD.)
B.

Benefits for key managers (including directors) (contd.)
Compensation for directors and key managers: (contd.)
5.

(contd.)
As part of his employment agreement, which was approved at the general meeting on December 30,
2015, after being approved by the Company’s compensation committee and Board of Directors, Avner
Maimon was entitled to a monthly salary of NIS 120 thousand (linked to the increase in the CPI) and
incidental expenses as is standard for senior officers in the Company (including leave, recreation, and a
company car and related expenses, other than tax gross-up).
In accordance with the Company's requirement that Avner Maimon, who lives in the south of Israel,
relocates to the vicinity of the refinery, Avner Maimon was entitled to reimbursement of rent at an
annual cost of NIS 336,000 for the Company.
According to the agreement, upon termination of his employment, Avner Maimon is entitled to a sixmonth notice period, in which he is entitled to all payments and conditions as if he continued to be
employed by the Company during this period. In addition, on termination of his employment, Avner
Maimon will be entitled to compensation in an amount equal to 150% of his last basic salary,
multiplied by the number of years that he was employed in the Company, proportionately to part of the
year, and all the amounts accumulated in funds on account of the severance account will be deducted,
and this amount will be deposited in the name of Avner Maimon on termination of his employment.
In addition, Avner Maimon will be entitled to a variable annual bonus based on the formula in the
Company's compensation policy for a CEO bonus. In addition, Avner Maimon was allotted 13.23
million options of the Company, exercisable for the same number of shares (for further information
see Note 21B).
In the reporting period, the Company's compensation committee and Board of Directors approved a
bonus for Avner Maimon for 2016, amounting to NIS 1,489 thousand. Subsequent to the reporting
period, the Company's compensation committee and Board of Directors approved a bonus for Avner
Maimon for 2017, amounting to NIS 1 million.

6.

On November 30, 2017, Yashar Ben Mordechai was appointed as CEO of the Company. The CEO of
the Company serves as CEO and chairman of the board of directors of the subsidiaries Carmel Olefins,
Gadiv, and Haifa Basic Oils.
As part of his employment terms, which were approved by the Company’s compensation committee and
Board of Directors, and subject to the approval of the general meeting to be convened by the Company
for this purpose, Yashar Ben-Mordechai will be entitled to a monthly salary of NIS 150 thousand (linked
to the increase in the CPI) and to incidentals as is standard in the Company for senior employees
(including vacation, sick leave - including the option of redeeming accrued sick leave beyond the limit
set, on severance, a company car and underlying expenses, including grossing up of tax).
Upon termination of his employment, Yashar Ben-Mordechai is entitled to a six-month notice period,
in which he will be entitled to all payments and conditions as if he continued to be employed by the
Company during this period. In the last three months of this period, he will not be required to actually
work. In addition, on termination of his employment, Yashar Ben Mordechai will be entitled to
compensation in an amount equal to 200% of his last basic salary, multiplied by the number of years
that he was employed in the Company, proportionately to part of the year, and all the amounts
accumulated in funds on account of the severance account will be deducted, and this amount will be
deposited in the name of Yashar Ben Mordechai on termination of his employment.
In addition, Yashar Ben Mordechai will be entitled to a variable annual bonus based on the formula in
the Company's compensation policy for a CEO bonus.
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NOTE 27 – RELATED AND INTERESTED PARTIES (CONTD.)
B.

Benefits for key managers (including directors) (contd.)
6.

(contd.)
In addition, Yashar Ben-Mordechai will be allocated 13.5 million options of the Company under
the existing option plan, as set out in Note 21B, which will vest over a period of three years
from the record date, in three equal portions, at the end of each year during the three years.
The options that vest in the first lot will be exercisable for two years from the vesting date, and
the options that vest in each of the two additional lots will be exercisable for one year from the
vesting date.
If the employment of Yashar Ben-Mordechai is terminated at the Company's initiative, less than
two years from the date he started his employment with the Company, the vesting of the second
lot will be accelerated.
If control of the Company is transferred within two years from the date his employment
commenced, and within six months from the transfer of control of the Company, Yashar BenMordechai's employment in the Company is terminated, including at his initiative, the vesting
period of the options that did not vest until that date will be accelerated.
The remaining terms of the options will be in accordance with the Company's 2007 options
plan.

C. On November 15, 2017, the Company's Board of Directors approved a continuation agreement for
routine transactions with Zim, which is renewable from time to time until the end of 2020, for sea
shipment of the Group companies' products with Zim Integrated Shipping Ltd. (“Zim”), a company
held by Kenon Holdings Ltd., in which Idan Ofer, who is considered as a controlling shareholder of
the Company, is a related party. Accordingly, the transaction was discussed and approved as a
transaction in which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest. The approval was given after
the audit committee determined that the transaction is in market conditions and does not constitute an
exceptional transaction. In 2017, shipping expenses for the products of the Group companies by Zim
amounted to USD 1.6 million (in 2016, USD 2.8 million).
The audit committee determined that the agreement does not constitute "an extraordinary
transaction" as defined in the Companies Law, since this is acquisition of the Company's routine
input, under standard market conditions for sea shipment, and it is not likely to have a material effect
on the Company's assets, liabilities or profits.
The following control measures established by the Company's audit committee are intended to assist
the Company in its annual review of the agreements:
The Company will compare prices, as is standard in the Company, for shipping destinations with
different shippers, at least once every six months, and if the company with the most attractive prices
is a company whose controlling shareholder has a personal interest in the Company, the competitive
process and its results will be approved by the relevant vice president or the trade director in the
business unit, as the case may be.
A quarterly report with information about the transactions with Zim will be presented to the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a periodic price comparison will be presented once every six
months.
An annual report with information about transactions in the prior year will be presented to the audit
committee. The audit committee will review the matter and approve the processes that were carried
out before completing these agreements in the subsequent year.
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NOTE 27 – RELATED AND INTERESTED PARTIES (CONTD.)
D. On August 14, 2011, the Company's Board of Directors approved an agreement to purchase
electricity for the Company and subsidiaries from OPC Rotem Ltd. (“OPC”), a company controlled
by Kenon Holdings Ltd., in which Idan Ofer, who is considered as a controlling shareholder of the
Company, is a related party. Accordingly, the transaction was discussed and approved as a
transaction in which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest.
The agreement is for ten years, under terms agreed on by the parties, including a quantity that
reflects all the requirements of the Company and its subsidiaries, taking into account production of
electricity by the Company and a price that reflects the discount agreed on by the parties, off the
regulated price of electricity set by the Public Utility Authority. In 2017, the Group's expenses under
the agreement amounted to USD 85 million in 2017, USD 68 million). The audit committee
determined that the agreement does not constitute "an extraordinary transaction" as defined in the
Companies Law, since this is acquisition of the Company's routine input, under standard market
conditions, for the acquisition of electricity from private electricity producers, and it is not likely to
have a material effect on the Company's assets, liabilities or profits.
For information about the derivative claim filed in the reporting period in connection with the
transaction for the purchase of electricity from OPC, see Note 20B4.
E.

On February 8, 2017, the Company's Board of Directors approved an agreement of Carmel Olefins
with Avgol (1) in an annual agreement for 2017 for the sale of Carmel Olefins' products; (2) from
time to time, in 2017-2019, in random transactions for the sale of Carmel Olefins' products to Avigol
outside the framework of the annual agreement, or at a price different from that specified in the
annual agreement, in the scope and restrictions prescribed by the Board of Directors (in the reporting
period, there was one transaction for 500 tons in this context). On November 15, 2017, the
Company's Board of Directors approved the engagement of Carmel Olefins with Avgol in an annual
agreement as aforesaid for 2018.
Avgol is a subsidiary of Avgol Industries, and IPE was considered to be the controlling shareholder
until December 2012. By virtue of an agreement under which IPE sold its holdings in Avgol
Industries, IPE may be entitled to an additional payment, if the Company that acquired the holdings
of IPE in Avgol Industries sells at least 95% of its holdings in Avgol Industries, under the terms and
for the consideration set out in the agreement between IPE and that company. The deputy chairman
of the Company’s board of directors, David Federman, who is also a controlling shareholder of the
Company (indirectly), has a personal interest in approving transactions with Avgol, being a
controlling shareholder (indirect) in IPE. Accordingly, the Company discussed and approved the
transaction as a transaction in which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest.
In respect of the random transactions: Carmel Olefins usually enters into random transactions
(meaning, transactions that are not included in the annual agreement with the customer, or at a price
other than that stated in the annual agreement with the customer), with other customers as well.
The Company's audit committee determined that the engagement is not within the bounds of “an
irregular transaction” as defined in the Companies Law, since it constitutes a sale of a product during
the regular course of Carmel Olefin’s business, under terms based on those in the agreements
between Carmel Olefins and its other customers in this area, taking into account the volume of
Avgol's purchases, and the transaction is not likely to have a material effect on the assets, liabilities,
or profits of the Company.
The Company’s audit committee and Board of Directors have set the scope and limitations on such
random transactions, and a control and reporting mechanism for each transaction, as follows:

This translation of the financial statement is for convenience purposes only.
The only binding version of the financial statement is the Hebrew version.
C-111

Bazan Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
USD thousands

NOTE 27 – RELATED AND INTERESTED PARTIES (CONTD.)
E.

(contd.)
The agreements will be at the same price offered to the other customers of Carmel Olefins, taking
into consideration the amount of their annual purchase and the credit terms set out in the annual
agreement with Avgol. Such transactions were limited so that the total number of occasional
transactions together with the purchases under Avgol's annual agreement for the sale of
polypropylene would not exceed 30 thousand tons in 2017 and 35 thousand tons in 2018. In addition,
a control and reporting mechanism was set, which includes the approval of each random transaction
with Avgol by one of the two authorized officers, who will ensure that the transactions are made at
market prices; a report once every six months to the Company’s audit committee on random
transactions made with Avgol and an annual report to the audit committee, which will also assess the
need for amending this mechanism.
For the annual agreement: an agreed annual quantity was set by the parties for the sale of
polypropylene to Avgol, including a certain range of flexibility, at a price based on standard
international pubication in the industry, with discounts based on the scope of annual acquisitions,
and with standard payment terms between Carmel Olefins and its customers.
The Company’s audit committee and the Board of Directors determined that the annual engagement
in the Avgol agreement for 2017 and 2018 is not an "irregular transaction" as defined in the
Companies Law, since it constitutes the sale of a product in the regular course of business of Carmel
Olefins, under terms similar to those in the agreements between Carmel Olefins and its other
customers in this area, taking into consideration the volume of Avgol's purchases, and the transaction
is not expected to have a material effect on the assets, liabilities and profitability of the Company.
The Group’s revenue in 2017 in the context of the agreement amounted to USD 35 million (in 2016,
USD 24 million).

F.

Insignificant transactions
In the course of its business, the Company engages in transactions with related parties, including
companies controlled by any of the controlling shareholders, primarily in purchase and selling
agreements of industrial and logistics products and services that are part of the operations of the
Company's plants. In general, these transactions are not material for the Company, both
quantitatively and qualitatively, and they are conducted under market conditions.
Therefore, the Company's audit committee and Board of Directors determined that an interested
party transaction that is not an irregular transaction will be deemed to be insignificant under the
following conditions:
1.

An agreement for the purchase of products, including raw materials and materials used for
production or services, which is for the benefit of the Company, made during the normal course
of the Company’s business and under market conditions, with annual expenses that do not
exceed 0.75% of the annual selling cost (cost of sales, refining and services) or operating
expenses (sales and marketing expenses and administrative and general expenses), as relevant
(meaning, according to the classification of the expense in the financial statements), in the most
recent consolidated financial statements of the Company.

2.

An agreement for the sale of products, including raw materials and materials used for
production or services, which is for the benefit of the Company, made during the normal course
of the Company’s business and under market conditions, with annual revenues that do not
exceed 0.75% of the annual selling cost in the most recent consolidated annual statements
published by the Company.
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NOTE 27 – RELATED AND INTERESTED PARTIES (CONTD.)
F.

Insignificant transactions (contd.)
3.

An agreement for the joint purchase of services or products from a third party, together with the
controlling shareholder, with controlled companies, which is for the benefit of the Company,
made during the normal course of the Company’s business and under market conditions, and the
audit committee of the Company determined that distribution of the costs and expenses in the
agreement is fair and equal under the circumstances, and the total annual expense for the
agreement does not exceed 0.75% of the selling cost or annual operating expenses, (selling and
marketing expenses and general and administrative expenses), as relevant, in the Company’s
most recent consolidated financial statements.

The Company's audit committee and Board of Directors also resolved that the market conditions in
respect of these transactions will be compared to other transactions that are as similar as possible to
those in which the Company engages and/or to the same type of transactions that are made in the
market.
G. Following completion of IPE's debt settlement, on June 30, 2015, the Company's holding in IPE fell
to 0.66%. The balance of the Company's investment in IPE shares is not material.

NOTE 28 – SEGMENT REPORTING
A. Operating segments
The Group has four reportable segments, which constitute its strategic business units. These business
units are managed separately and the results are reviewed regularly by the chief operational decision
maker to allocate resources and assess performance.
Summary of the business activity in in each operating segment:


Fuels: This is the Group's principal field of operations. As part of its operations in this field,
which are carried out directly by the Company, the Company purchases crude oil and feedstock,
refines and separates them into different products, some of which are end products and others
raw materials for other products, and sells the finished fuel products and feedstock to its
customers in Israel and abroad. In addition, the Company sells steam to industrial customers in
the Haifa Bay and provides infrastructure services (storage, pumping, and distribution of fuel
products).



Polymers - Carmel Olefins: In this segment, the Group, through Carmel Olefins, manufactures
polypropylene and polyethylene from naphtha and propylene (the main raw material of Carmel
Olefins), which are used as the main raw material in the plastics industry.



Polymers - Ducor: In this segment, the Group, through Ducor, which is located in the
Netherlands, manufactures polypropylene from propylene (the main raw material of Ducor),
which is used as raw material in the plastics industry.



Aromatics: In this segment, the Group, through Gadiv, produces aromatic materials, mainly
benzene, paraxylene, orthoxylene, and toluene, used as raw materials in the manufacture of
different products in diverse industries.

The other operating operations of the Group, which do not meet any of the quantitative thresholds,
are presented together under the "Other" segment, and include: oils and waxes through Haifa Basic
Oils and trade through the trading and shipping companies.
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NOTE 28 – SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTD.)
A. Operating segments (contd.)
Segment results are reported to the chief operating decision maker on the basis of accounting
EBITDA (gross profit less selling, marketing and administrative expenses, plus depreciation and
amortization), and in fuel sector, also on the basis of adjusted EBITDA.4
Other expenses/income which are not allocated to segments, and are not included in EBITDA
(including other revenue, voluntary redundancy expenses, and impairment losses of assets) are
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, on a consolidated basis only.

4 Adjusted accounting EBITDA has the following effects: (A) the method for recognizing derivatives under IFRS; (B)
buying and selling timing differences of unhedged inventory; (C) adjustment of the hedged inventory value to
market value.

This translation of the financial statement is for convenience purposes only.
The only binding version of the financial statement is the Hebrew version.
C-114

Bazan Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
USD thousands

NOTE 28 – SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTD.)
B.

Reportable segments

Fuels

Polymers
(Carmel
Olefins)

Polymers Ducor

Revenue from external sources
Revenue from inter-segment sales

4,324,329
583,257

673,974
8,943

229,657
-

903,631
8,943

349,647
31,030

5,577,607
623,230

Segment revenue

4,907,586

682,917

229,657

912,574

380,677

189,704

21,732

211,436

(45,339)

(2,274)

(47,613)

(1)

Accounting EBITDA

388,185

Depreciation and amortization

(85,088)

Total
reportable
Total
segments
Aromatics
polymers
Year ended December 31, 2017

Adjustments
to
consolidated

Consolidated

46,137
279

(623,509)

5,623,744
-

6,200,837

46,416

(623,509)

5,623,744

15,947

615,568

4,084

244

619,896

(10,318)

(143,019)

(443)

48

(143,414)

Accounting EBITDA less amortization and depreciation
Other expenses, net
Amortization of excess cost arising on acquisition of subsidiaries
Operating profit

476,482
(247)
(12,544)

463,691

Financing expenses, net

(135,722)

Group's share in losses of associates, net of tax

(240)

Income before taxes on income
(1)

Others

327,729

Adjusted EBITDA in the fuel segment in 2017: USD 320,631 thousand
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NOTE 28 – SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTD.)
B.

Reportable segments (contd.)

Fuels

Polymers
(Carmel
Olefins)

Polymers Ducor

Revenue from external sources
Revenue from inter-segment sales

3,185,686
507,953

533,317
5,395

194,067
-

727,384
5,395

365,829
29,504

4,278,899
542,852

Segment revenue

3,693,639

538,712

194,067

732,779

395,333

174,338

27,950

202,288

(39,517)

(1,874)

(41,391)

(1)

Accounting EBITDA

280,478

Depreciation and amortization

(81,765)

Total
Total
reportable
Aromatics
polymers
segments
Year ended December 31, 2016

Adjustments
to
consolidated

Consolidated

41,969
240

(543,092)

4,320,868
-

4,821,751

42,209

(543,092)

4,320,868

16,515

499,281

(1,327)

(4,502)

493,452

(4,892)

(128,048)

Others

(721)

97

(128,672)

Accounting EBITDA less amortization and depreciation
Other revenues, net
Impairment loss
Voluntary redundancy expenses
Amortization of excess cost arising on acquisition of subsidiaries

364,780
990
(13,700)
(9,854)
(12,677)

Operating profit

329,539

Financing expenses, net

(131,589)

Group's share in losses of associates, net of tax

(56)

Income before taxes on income
(1)

197,894

Adjusted EBITDA in the fuel segment in 2016: USD 213,774 thousand
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NOTE 28 – SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTD.)
B.

Reportable segments (contd.)

Fuels

Polymers
(Carmel
Olefins)

Polymers Ducor

Revenue from external sources
Revenue from inter-segment sales

4,157,321
579,948

649,877
8,771

232,974
-

882,851
8,771

397,977
34,526

5,438,149
623,245

Segment revenue

4,737,269

658,648

232,974

891,622

432,503

187,262

18,915

206,177

(31,190)

(4,282)

(35,472)

(1)

Accounting EBITDA

326,358

Depreciation and amortization

(81,509)

Total
Total
reportable
Aromatics
polymers
segments
Year ended December 31, 2015

Adjustments
to
consolidated

Consolidated

52,824
314

(623,559)

5,490,973
-

6,061,394

53,138

(623,559)

5,490,973

14,635

547,170

14,664

97

(6,957)

(123,938)

(1,127)

-

Others

561,931
(125,065)

Accounting EBITDA less amortization and depreciation
Other revenue
Impairment loss
Voluntary redundancy expenses
Amortization of excess cost arising on acquisition of subsidiaries

436,866
2,298
(8,500)
(15,392)
(10,990)

Operating profit

404,282

Financing expenses, net

(140,390)

Group's share in profits of associates, net of tax

507

Income before taxes on income
(1)

264,399

Adjusted EBITDA in the fuel segment in 2015: USD 441,452 thousands
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NOTE 28 – SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTD.)
C. Disclosure on the level of the entity
1.

Products and services
The Group's revenue from external sources for each group of similar products and services:
Revenue from external
sources
Fuels
Diesel fuel
Gasoline
Fuel oil
Kerosene
HVGO
Others

%

2017

Year ended December 31
2016
%

2015

%

1,837,061
1,148,338
618,156
409,333
66
311,375

33%
20%
11%
7%
(*)
6%

1,291,810
951,033
398,696
314,336
10,726
219,085

30%
22%
9%
7%
1%
5%

1,970,994
1,126,646
469,797
305,566
42,769
241,549

36%
20%
9%
6%
1%
4%

4,324,329

77%

3,185,686

74%

4,157,321

76%

207,007
453,694
13,273

4%
8%
(*)

171,126
355,879
6,312

4%
8%
(*)

222,762
419,287
7,828

4%
8%
(*)

673,974

12%

533,317

12%

649,877

12%

Ducor - Polypropylene

229,657

4%

194,067

4%

232,974

4%

Aromatics

349,647

6%

365,829

9%

397,977

7%

46,137

1%

41,969

1%

52,824

1%

5,623,744

100%

4,320,868

100%

5,490,973

100%

Polymers
PE
Polypropylene
Others

Others
Oils and waxes

(*) Less than 1%

2.

Information on the basis of geographic regions
Revenue from external customers according to destination of goods (customer location)
Year ended December 31
2017
2016
2015
Israel (1)
Asia (2)
Europe
Others

3,348,482
1,510,676
77,410

2,560,046
602,149
1,072,223
86,450

3,048,787
1,372,324
986,466
83,396

5,623,744

4,320,868

5,490,973

687,176

(1) Including sales to the Palestinian Authority
(2) Mainly Turkey
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NOTE 28 – SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTD.)
C. Disclosure on the level of the entity (contd.)
3.

Major customers
Group revenue from the major outside customers (more than 10%) in the fuels segment:
2017
Customer A
Customer B

807,160
754,540

%
14%
13%

Year ended December 31
2016
%
634,539
572,654

15%
13%

2015
777,957
651,767

%
14%
12%

NOTE 29—FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
A. General
The Group has operations that expose it to credit, liquidity and market risks (including crude oil
price and margin risks, exchange rate, interest rate, inflation, and other market price risks). To reduce
the exposure to these risks, the Group performs various actions, including the use of derivative
financial instruments, including forward transactions (mainly futures on crude oil and forwards on
foreign currency), interest rate swaps (IRS), and cross-currency interest rate swap (CCIRS)
transactions.
This Note provides information about the Group's exposure to each of the above risks, the risk
management policy, how they are managed, and their supervision.
The management and supervision of the financial risks of the Group companies are carried out as
part of the ongoing management of the companies. As part of discussions in the Company's
management, various financial matters are reported to the CEO of the Company by those responsible
for risk management.
The CFO, Israel Lederberg, is responsible for market risks arising from changes in exchange rates of
the dollar to other currencies, changes in interest rates, inflation, and credit risks. Limor FasherCohen, VP Integrated Planning and Trade, is responsible for market risks arising from changes in the
prices of crude oil and fuel products, and management of risks arising from the refining margins.
Asaf Almagor, director of the polyolefins business unit, is responsible for market risks arising from
polymer margins.
The boards of directors of the Group companies, including through the finance and investment
committee and the trade committee of the Company's Board of Directors, discuss the Group’s
exposure to market risks, set market risk management policy, receive reports from the management
members responsible for market risk management and monitor implementation of the policy by the
Group's management.
The trade committee of the Company's Board of Directors discusses the Group's exposure to changes
in the price of crude oil, refining margins, and polymers. Most of the decisions of the trade
committee on this matter aim to reduce the Group's cash flow exposure from changes in the price of
crude oil and changes in margins for refining and polymers. The Board of Directors' finance
committee discusses the Group's exposure to changes in the exchange rate, interest rate, investment
policy, cash balances, and customer credit. Most of the resolutions of the finance committee on this
subject aim to reduce the Group's exposure to changes in the NIS and EUR exchange rate, variable
interest rates (mainly Libor), and credit risks in cash balances, deposits and trade receivables.
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NOTE 29—FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTD.)
B.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The main exposure of the Group to credit risk is
for the following assets:
Trade receivables
The Group's management regularly reviews the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and
analyzes their financial strength in order to determine the nature and extent of the collateral required
in the various sale transactions.
To reduce the exposure to risks arising from customer credit, Group companies sell trade receivables
in factoring arrangements (non-recourse), partially secure trade receivables with credit insurance,
and obtain appropriate collateral where they believe there is exposure to risk, for example, letters of
credit and bank guarantees, advances and deposits, other than for the sale of fuel products to the
Palestinian Authority, which is not covered by collateral.5
The provision for impairment of trade receivables is determined on a specific basis for debts the
collection of which Company management believes to be doubtful. At each date of the statement of
financial position, the Group assesses the amount of the provision for doubtful debts
Cash and cash equivalents and deposits
Cash and cash equivalents and deposits are mainly deposited in banks and financial institutes, with
attention to their financial stability. Accordingly, the Group believes that no consequent significant
credit risk is expected.
Derivative financial instruments
Derivative transactions are carried out with banks, investment houses and international trading
companies, and with relevant stock exchanges (using clearing services provided by the banks),
taking into account the financial robustness of these entities. In some cases, derivatives are disposed
of on a daily or weekly basis, according to the credit facilities set with the various entities, which
significantly reduces the credit risk. Accordingly, the Group believes that no consequent significant
credit risk is expected.

C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
fall due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it
will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due.
D. Market risks
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as crude oil prices and margins, exchange
rates, CPI and interest rates will affect the fair value or future cash flows of the financial instrument.
In the normal course of business, the Group buys and sells financial derivatives to manage market
risks. The transactions are carried out in accordance with guidelines determined by the Company's
Board of Directors and its committees and the boards of directors of the Group companies.

5

As part of the agreement for the Company’s sale of fuel products to the Palestinian Authority, the Palestinian
Authority signed a letter endorsing to the Company the rights to funds due to the Palestinian Authority from the
Government of Israel. The Company is unable to assess its ability to collect the amounts that were endorsed to the
Company by the Palestinian Authority, from the State of Israel, if necessary.
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NOTE 29—FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTD.)
D. Market risks (contd.)
1.

Exchange risk and inflation risk
The functional currency of the Company and most of its subsidiaries is the dollar. The exposure
of the Group companies is measured in relation to changes in the dollar rate and the other
currencies in which it operates.
The Group is exposed to exchange risk due to sales, current expenses, and investments
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of most of the Group companies.
In addition, the Group is exposed to currency risk and in some cases inflation risk in connection
with debentures issued in shekels (linked and unlinked).
To reduce the cash flow exposure arising from the Group's sales denominated in NIS, EUR, and
GBP (and other currencies in volumes that are not material), and from the Group’s NIS sales
under the criteria that were set, the Group uses forwards on exchange rates mainly in the short
term, usually up to one year.
To reduce exposure to currency risk arising from financial management, the Group issues USDlinked debentures, takes out long-term USD loans, and manages the short-term cash and credit
balances, mainly in USD. In addition, the Group hedges currency and inflation exposure for the
amounts of the principal and interest of the NIS debentures issued by the Group through longterm cross-currency interest rate swaps (CCIRS) were made through banks. These transactions,
which refer to debentures (Series D and E), were accounted for as hedge instruments by
applying fair value hedge accounting.

2.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to changes in interest rates (mainly Libor) for loans bearing variable
interest and for CCIRS transactions for USD liabilities bearing interest at a variable rate. In
addition, the Group is exposed to changes in the fair value of debentures bearing fixed interest,
which are designated at fair value through profit or loss, as a result of changes in interest rates.
To reduce the exposure to interest risk, the Group issues USD-linked debentures at fixed USD
interest and, from time to time, USD interest rate swap transactions at fixed USD interest (IRS)
for some of the long-term credit. These transactions, which refer to debentures (Series A), were
accounted for as hedge instruments by applying fair value hedge accounting.
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NOTE 29—FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTD.)
D. Market risks (contd.)
3.

Other market risks
Inventory
In accordance with the Company's policy, which aims to reduce its cash flow exposure to
fluctuations in the price of crude oil, it does not hedge inventory (basic) through futures
contracts (up to 730 thousand tons), less the volume of inventory underlying the inventory
availability transaction described in Note 20C5. As at December 31, 2017, the volume of
unhedged inventory in contracts is 480 thousand tons.
For the balance of the Company's inventories (crude oil, intermediate materials, and products)
(beyond the unhedged inventory), the Company is exposed to fluctuations in crude oil prices,
which arise when setting the purchase price of crude oil reserves and intermediate materials, and
exists until the selling price of the refined products is set. To reduce this exposure, the Company
sells marketable Brent futures when setting the purchase price of crude oil and intermediate
materials, and purchases futures when setting the selling price of the distillates.
In addition, the Company hedges future cash flow exposure for a projected transaction for the
purchase of inventory in a scope of the inventory availability and the market prices prevailing at
the completion date as set out in Note 20C5 through the acquisition of marketable futures on
Brent crude oil (futures). These contracts were designated as hedged items for application of
cash flow hedge accounting principles, as from the date of their purchase in the first quarter of
2017, to hedge changes in the market price of crude oil up to the end of the transaction.
The Group does not hedge the changes in the inventory prices of the subsidiaries, and it hedges
the risk by limiting the amount of inventory held by them.
Refining and polymers margins
The Company fixes refining margins from time to time for specific refining quantities for
periods subsequent to the reporting periods, by using swap transactions that are not traded over
the counter (OTC), which are adapted to the Company's normal production mix, to the extent
possible. In general, the volume of transactions does not exceed 30% of the annual refining
volume and for a period not exceeding 18 months.
In addition, Carmel Olefins fixes margins for specific quantities of polymers from time to time,
by using swap transactions (OTC) and/or by using futures on naphtha, and on the other hand, by
setting selling prices of the products. Hedging of the polymer margin (over naphtha) through
futures contracts (in a volume not exceeding 40,000 tons and for a period not exceeding one
year) and/or through futures contracts on naphtha, and on the other hand, fixing the selling
prices of the products (in a volume not exceeding 25% of the annual quantity designated for
sale) and for short periods (up to one year).
As from January 1, 2017, certain SWAP transactions performed by Carmel Olefins to hedge the
margin between the price of polymers that it manufactures and sells (propylene and/or
polyethylene) and the price of naphtha were designated as hedging items for the purpose of
implementing the cash flow hedge accounting principles for hedging against: (A) changes in
market prices of the expected sales of polymers; and (B) changes in market prices of crude oil
(the raw material in naphtha production).
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NOTE 30 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
A. Credit risk
1.

The carrying amount of the following financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure,
without collateral or other credit: cash and cash equivalents, deposits, trade and other
receivables (including long-term payables), investments in financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial derivatives.

2.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables, at the reporting date, by
geographic region is as follows
December 31
Customers in Israel (1)
Customers in the Palestinian Authority
Customers in other countries

3.

2017

2016

222,440

130,063

109,758

94,560

149,574

153,189

481,772

377,812

Aging of debts and impairment losses
December 31
2017
2016
Gross
Impairment
Gross
Impairment
Not past due
Past due up to six months (1)
Past due between six months and one year
Past due more than one year

443,133
35,999
667
6,090

485,889

(566)
(162)

349,034
25,350
2,226

(851)

(3,389)

4,676

(2,623)

(4,117)

381,286

(3,474)

(1) As at December 31, 2017, USD 30 million are for debts past due up to 30 days (USD 20 million as
at December 31, 2016).

4.

Some of the credit extended to customers is covered by credit insurance in letters of credit or
other securities, such as advance payments, deposits and guarantees from customers. For
information about the sale of the Group’s trade receivables in a factoring agreements, see Note
6B.
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NOTE 30 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTD.)
B.

Liquidity risk
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, in insignificant amounts,
including estimated interest payments, based on forward interest rates. This disclosure does not
include the impact of offsetting agreements.
As at December 31, 2017
Contractual cash flows

Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables (1)
Debentures (2)
Liabilities to banks (2)
Other long-term liabilities

Financial liabilities - derivative
instruments
Currency and interest swap
contracts used for hedging (3)
Other currency and interest swap
contracts (3)
Derivatives for inventory (3)
Derivatives for margins (3)
Forward contracts (3)
Total

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Up to 1
year

721,682
36,599
1,170,313
439,290
28,443
2,396,327

721,682
36,599
220,234
90,010
686
1,069,211

235,822
79,725
4,381
319,928

574,329
213,650
12,288
800,267

343,877
193,865
26,617
564,359

721,682
36,599
1,374,262
577,250
43,972
2,753,765

1,170

1,170
1,145

-

-

-

1,170

1,145
16,485
2,892
2,469
24,161

16,485
2,892
2,469
24,161

-

-

-

1,145
16,485
2,892
2,469
24,161

2,420,488

1,093,372

319,928

800,267

564,359

2,777,926

1-2 years

More than
five years

Total
contractual
cash flows(4)

Carrying
amount

2-5 years

Not including interest payable
Including current maturities
For reasons of immateriality, the cash flow was presented at its carrying amount.
Not including off balance-sheet liabilities, including for exercise of the put options in the inventory
availability transaction as described in Note 20C(5).

For certain liabilities to banks and debentures, the Group is subject to financial covenants (see Notes
13 and 14). Non-compliance with the financial covenants may result in accelerated repayment of the
liabilities
Interest payments for liabilities at variable interest may differ from the amounts presented in the
table above.
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NOTE 30 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTD.)
B.

Liquidity risk (contd.)
As at December 31, 2016
Contractual cash flows

Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Short-term loans and borrowings (1)
Trade payables
Other payables (2)
Debentures (3)
Liabilities to banks (3)
Other long-term liabilities
Financial liabilities - derivative
instruments
Currency and interest swap
contracts used for hedging
Other currency and interest swap
contracts
Derivatives for inventory
Interest rate swaps
Total

Carrying
amount

Up to 1
year

1,430
689,337
54,917
1,099,822
467,119
15,805
2,328,430

8,719

Total
contractual
cash flows(4)

1-2 years

2-5 years

More than
five years

1,430
689,337
54,917
224,445
80,473
622
1,051,224

187,209
80,239
1,856
269,304

512,961
212,934
5,376
731,271

383,523
257,228
22,516
663,267

1,430
689,337
54,917
1,308,138
630,874
30,370
2,715,066

3,771
11,417

4,442
10,044

12,854
12,303

2,648
-

23,715

2,648

33,764
8,789
45
66,313

665,915

2,781,379

20,901
8,789
45
38,454

8,789
45
24,022

14,486

25,157

2,366,884

1,075,246

283,790

756,428

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Without current maturities
Not including interest payable
Including current maturities
Not including off balance-sheet liabilities, including for exercise of the put options in the inventory
availability transaction as described in Note 20C(5).
(*) Reclassified

For certain liabilities to banks and debentures, the Group is subject to financial covenants (see Notes
13 and 14). Non-compliance with the financial covenants may result in accelerated repayment of the
liabilities
Interest payments for liabilities at variable interest may differ from the amounts presented in the
table above.
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NOTE 30 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTD.)
C. Exposure to CPI and exchange risks
The following table indicates the Group’s exposure to linkage and foreign currency risks:
December 31, 2017
Nonfinancial
Unlinked
NIS
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Deposits
Trade receivables
Other receivables (2)
Financial derivatives, short term
Inventory
Investments in associates
Loan to Haifa Early Pensions Ltd. (3)(5)
Long term loans and receivables
Financial derivatives, long term
Fixed assets, net
Intangible assets and deferred expenses, net
Total assets
Liabilities:
Trade payables
Other payables
Financial derivatives, short term
Provisions
Liabilities to banks (3)
Debentures (3)
Other long-term liabilities
Employee benefits, net
Deferred tax liabilities, net
Total liabilities
Total equity balance, net

6,349
693,272
1,505
4,116
2,269,302
29,284
3,003,828
(150,589)
(4)(6)
(35,032)
(15,351)
(57,039)
(132,222)
(390,233)
2,613,595

55,316
188,769
204
48,974
30,444
378,919
702,626

Financial
CPI-linked
NIS
USD (1)
3,126
79,856
24,449
185,068
292,499

271,155
76,058
293,003
(116,985)
1,176
(508,205)
16,202

Total
326,471
76,058
481,772
9,679
11,845
693,272
1,505
54,893
5,292
55,782
2,269,302
29,284
4,015,155

(73,823)
(19,077)

(3,084)

(647,859)
(14,438)

(721,682)
(187,188)

(323,645)
(376,568)
(866)
(793,979)

42,138
(308,990)
(15,485)
(285,421)

257,346
(439,290)
(484,755)
(12,092)
(1,341,088)

(24,161)
(35,032)
(439,290)
(1,170,313)
(43,794)
(57,039)
(132,222)
(2,810,721)

(1,324,886)

1,204,434

(91,353)

7,078

(1) Including immaterial balances in other currencies
(2) Without current maturities
(3) Including current maturities
(4) Including balances denominated in NIS in the amount of USD 58 million for liabilities to employees and
USD 12 million for institutions.
(5) Asset for employee benefits that do not constitute a financial instrument.
(6) Including a balance denominated in NIS and linked to the CPI of USD 73 million for a judgment in
connection with development levies. For further information see Note 20B.
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NOTE 30 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTD.)
C. Exposure to CPI and exchange risks (contd.)
December 31, 2016(*)
Nonfinancial
Unlinked
NIS

Financial
CPI-linked
NIS
USD (1)

Total

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Deposits
Trade receivables
Other receivables (2)
Financial derivatives
Inventory
Investments in associates
Loan to Haifa Early Pensions Ltd. (3)(5)
Long term loans and receivables
Financial derivatives
Fixed assets, net
Intangible assets and deferred expenses, net
Total assets

7,910
531,271
2,449
5,326
2,255,227
30,006
2,832,189

233,749
151,129
3,247
(345,539)
18,251
253
178,872
239,962

101
15,212
34,936
1,042
42,624
93,915

Liabilities:
Loans and borrowings (2)
Trade payables
Other payables
Financial derivatives
Provisions
Liabilities to banks (3)
Debentures (3)
Other long-term liabilities
Financial derivatives
Employee benefits, net
Deferred tax liabilities, net
Total liabilities

(73,512) (4)
(44,564)
(12,362)
(50,400)
(82,880)
(263,718)

(86,764)
(26,235)
38,516
(370,422)
(6,994)
216,546
(235,353)

(42,379)
(10,600)
99,311
(413,878)
(8,811)
231,396
(144,961)

(1,430)
(560,194)
(18,082)
(160,416)
(467,119)
(315,522)
(463,807)
(1,986,570)

(1,430)
(689,337)
(128,429)
(22,589)
(44,564)
(467,119)
(1,099,822)
(28,167)
(15,865)
(50,400)
(82,880)
(2,630,602)

Total equity balance, net

2,568,471

(51,046)

(1,484,937)

1,037,097

4,609

56,650
80,370
226,683
319
342,992
6,525
(211,906)
501,633

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

290,399
80,370
377,812
11,577
12,665
531,271
2,449
53,187
13,146
9,590
2,255,227
30,006
3,667,699

Including immaterial balances in other currencies
Without current maturities
Including current maturities
Including balances denominated in NIS in the amount of USD 58 million for liabilities to employees and
USD 12 million for institutions.
(5) Asset for employee benefits that do not constitute a financial instrument.
(*) Reclassified
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NOTE 30 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTD.)
C. Exposure to CPI and exchange risks (contd.)
Sensitivity analysis
A strengthening of the USD against the NIS as at December 31, and an increase in the CPI would
have increased (decreased) capital and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. The analysis
below is based on possible changes in the exchange rate and CPI.
This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2015.

Change in the CPI
Non-derivative instruments
Currency and interest swap derivative
instruments

Year ended December 31
2017
Increase (decrease) in pre-tax profit for the period
5%
Base value
- 5%
- 10%
10%
(29,998)

(14,999)

(299,984)

14,999

29,998

30,042

15,021

307,062

(14,989)

(29,913)

7,078
Change in NIS/USD exchange rate
Non-derivative instruments
Currency and interest swap derivative
instruments
Forward contracts

45,053

23,599

(495,585)

(26,083)

(55,065)

(66,866)

(35,094)

38,845

82,009

30,544

16,000

747,097
(335,787)

(17,685)

(37,337)

(84,275)

Change in the CPI
Non-derivative instruments (1)
Currency and interest swap derivative
instruments

Year ended December 31
2016
Increase (decrease) in pre-tax profit for the period
5%
Base value
- 5%
- 10%
10%
(40,265)

(20,132)

(439,589)

20,132

40,265

38,036

18,996

388,543

(18,927)

(37,898)

(50,871)

(51,046)
Change in NIS/USD exchange rate
Non-derivative instruments (2)
Currency and interest swap derivative
instruments
Forward contracts

41,622

21,802

(523,375)

(24,097)

(71,271)

(37,466)

88,478

19,058

822,477
(345,539)

41,693

36,384

(21,065)

(44,471)

(46,437)
(1) Including an amount of USD 36 million in principal and interest payments with a repayment date
postponed to January 1, 2017, which are not exposed to changes in the CPI as of December 31, 2016.
(2) Including an amount of USD 66 million in principal and interest payments with a repayment date
postponed to January 1, 2017, which are not exposed to changes in the CPI as of December 31, 2016.
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NOTE 30 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTD.)
D. Interest rate risk
1.

Type of interest
Type of interest for the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments:
December 31
2017
2016
Instruments other than fixed interest derivatives
Cash and cash equivalents - bank deposits
Bank deposits
Total financial assets

205,550
75,379
280,929

238,940
70,658
309,598

(76,725)
(484,755)
(678,598)
(6,960)
(16,527)

(93,248)
(315,522)
(773,573)
(10,727)
(8,881)

(1,263,565)

(1,201,951)

Total

(982,636)

(892,353)

Instruments other than variable interest derivatives
Deposits for financial derivatives (short- and long-term)
Bank loans (1)
Other long-term financial liabilities (1)

(362,565)
(12,050)

12,360
(374,679)
-

Total

(374,615)

(362,319)

Financial derivatives - hedging transactions on debentures
Derivatives used for accounting hedging
CCIRS - NIS component
CCIRS - USD component

440,033
(400,358)

433,936
(438,442)

Derivatives that are not used for accounting hedging
CCIRS - NIS component
CCIRS - USD component

307,062
(285,554)

388,543
(401,102)

61,183

(17,065)

Bank loans (1)
USD-linked Debentures (Series F, I) (1)
Marketable Debentures (Series A, D, H, G) (1), (2)
Private debentures (1)
Other long-term financial liabilities (1)
Total financial liabilities

Total derivatives

(1) Including current maturities
(2) As at December 31, 2017, includes an amount of USD 405 million (as of December 31, 2016,
including an amount of USD 681 million), converted through interest and principle swap contracts
to USD debt at variable interest (Libor).

Not including operating liabilities bearing interest as set out in Note 20C(6).
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NOTE 30 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTD.)
D. Interest rate risk (contd.)
2.

Sensitivity analysis of the fair value of hedging transactions on debentures (1)

Change in NIS interest
CCIRS used for hedging - NIS
component(2)
CCIRS not used for hedging - NIS
component

December 31, 2017
Increase (decrease)
Increase (decrease)
in pre-tax profit for
in pre-tax profit for
the period
the period
+ 0.5% Base value
- 0.5%
- 1%
+ 1%
(14,760)

(7,480)

440,033

7,686

15,586

(4,110)

(2,070)

307,062

2,100

4,230

747,095

Change in NIS interest
CCIRS used for hedging - NIS
component(2)
CCIRS not used for hedging - NIS
component

December 31, 2016
Increase (decrease)
Increase (decrease)
in pre-tax profit for
in pre-tax profit for
the period
the period
+ 0.5% Base value
- 0.5%
- 1%
+ 1%
(16,174)

(8,292)

433,936

8,602

17,572

(6,942)

(3,506)

388,543

3,584

7,223

822,479
(1) As at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the effect of the change in NIS interest on the
debentures measured at fair value is not material.
(2) A change in NIS interest for principal and interest swap contracts used for fair value hedge
accounting will be recognized at the carrying amount of the hedged debentures.
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NOTE 30 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTD.)
D. Interest rate risk (contd.)
3.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and
profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in
particular exchange rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2016. It is noted that full exposure is referred to, without taking into account hedges.

Change in USD interest
Non-derivative instruments
Hedging transactions on debentures
used for hedging - USD component (1)
Hedging transactions on debentures not
used for hedging - USD component

December 31, 2017
Increase (decrease)
Increase (decrease)
in pre-tax profit for
in pre-tax profit for
the period
the period
+ 0.5% Base value
- 0.5%
- 1%
+ 1%
(4,126)

(2,063)

(374,615)

2,063

4,126

4,308

2,173

(400,358)

(2,215)

(4,462)

2,105

1,060

(285,554)

(1,075)

(2,164)

(1,060,527)

Change in USD interest
Non-derivative instruments
Hedging transactions on debentures
used for hedging - USD component (1)
Hedging transactions on debentures not
used for hedging - USD component

December 31, 2016
Increase (decrease)
Increase (decrease)
in pre-tax profit for
in pre-tax profit for
the period
the period
+ 0.5% Base value
- 0.5%
- 1%
+ 1%
(3,623)

(1,812)

(362,319)

1,812

3,623

3,106

1,568

(438,442)

(1,579)

(3,165)

3,453

1,746

(401,102)

(1,773)

(3,571)

(1,201,863)
(1) A change in USD interest for principal and interest swap contracts used for fair value hedge
accounting will be recognized at the carrying amount of the hedged debentures.
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NOTE 30 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTD.)
E.

Other market risks
Information about the effect of the future price of crude oil on the fair value of the derivatives for
market price risks

Price change
Derivatives used for accounting hedging (1)
Futures (2)
Hedges on margins - polymers (3)
Derivatives that are not used for
accounting hedging
Futures (2)
Emergency stockpiles derivative
Hedging on margins - fuel (3)

As at December 31, 2017
Increase (decrease) in pre-tax profit for the period /
+ 20%
+ 10%
Base value
- 10%
- 20%
13,677
(4,807)

6,839
(2,403)

2,854
1,261

(6,839)
2,403

(13,677)
4,807

(25,424)
(3,593)
(16,347)

(12,712)
(1,797)
(8,174)

(6,087)
10,384
(2,892)

12,712
1,797
8,174

25,424
3,593
16,347

Inventory (4)

95,733

47,866

(47,866)

(95,733)

Price change

December 31, 2016
Increase (decrease) in pre-tax profit for the period /
+ 10%
Base value
- 10%
- 20%
+ 20%

478,664

Futures (2)
Futures - used for hedge accounting(1)
(2)
Emergency stockpiles derivative
Hedges on margins (3)

11,300

5,651

(10,742)

(5,651)

(11,300)

6,677
(2,805)
(3,929)

3,338
(1,403)
(1,965)

2,371
(6,445)
5,889

(3,338)
1,403
1,965

(6,677)
2,805
3,929

Inventory (4)

68,903

34,452

(34,452)

(68,903)

344,516

(1) A change in the fair value of derivatives used to apply cash flow hedging accounting is recognized in
capital reserve.
(2) Fuels are sensitive to change in the Brent price and polymers to change in the naphtha price
(3) Fuels are sensitive to change the refining margin and polymers to change in polymer margins. As of
December 31, 2016, mainly polymers.
(4) Excluding inventory with a fixed price
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NOTE 30 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTD.)
F.

Fair value of financial instruments for disclosure purposes only
The carrying amounts of certain financial assets and liabilities, including cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables, other receivables, long-term loans and debts, deposits, deposits, financial
derivatives, bank overdraft, short-term loans and borrowings, trade payables, other payables and
marketable debentures (with the exception of Series D, E, F, and I) and other long-term liabilities,
are the same as or proximate to their fair value.
The fair value of the financial liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement
of financial position, are as follows:
As at December 31, 2017

Adjusted
par value
Financial liabilities
Private debentures (3)

Carrying
amount

Fair value
level 1

6,960

6,960

-

Fair value
level 2

Discount rates
used for
determining fair
value

7,257

Marketable Debentures (Series F
and I) (1)(3)
Marketable Debentures (Series
D-E) (1)(4)

482,043

484,755

517,779

363,552

376,568

414,841

Bank loans (2)

451,164

439,290

-

484,942

1,303,719

1,307,573

932,620

492,199

4.06% - 0.83%

5.33% - 3.32%

(1) The fair value of the marketable debentures is based on the TASE price as at December 31, 2017.
(2) The carrying amount is presented net of costs of raising the loans.
(3) The carrying amount of the private debentures and of Debentures (Series E and I) is presented at
amortized cost (net of raising costs and premium/discounting).
(4) The carrying amount of debentures (Series D and E) is presented at amortized cost (net of raising costs
and premium/discounting) after application of fair-value hedge accounting.
December 31, 2017
Par value
Carrying
Adjusted
amount
Debentures at fair value:
Marketable Debentures (Series A)
Marketable Debentures (Series G)

172,515
110,563

183,209
118,821

283,078

302,030

This translation of the financial statement is for convenience purposes only.
The only binding version of the financial statement is the Hebrew version.
C-133

Bazan Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
USD thousands

NOTE 30 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTD.)
F.

Fair value of financial instruments for disclosure purposes only (contd.)
As at December 31, 2016

Fair value
level 2

Discount rates
used for
determining fair
value

-

11,273

5.44% - 1.87%

333,351

-

377,752

-

467,119

-

475,946

1,163,790

711,103

487,219

Adjusted
par value

Carrying
amount

10,727

10,727

310,706

315,522

345,598

370,422

482,057
1,149,088

Financial liabilities
Private debentures (3)
Marketable Debentures (Series
F) (1) (3)
Marketable Debentures (Series
D-E) (1) (4) (5)
Bank loans (2)

Fair value
level 1

7.75% - 3.63%

(1) The fair value is based on the quoted price on the TASE on December 31, 2016
(2) The carrying amount is presented net of costs of raising the loans.
(3) The carrying amount of the private debentures and of Debentures (Series E) is presented at amortized cost
(net of raising costs and premium/discounting).
(4) The carrying amount of debentures (Series D and E) is presented at amortized cost (net of raising costs
and premium/discounting) after application of fair-value hedge accounting.
(5) The carrying amount includes principal payment of USD 18 million, which was postponed until January
1, 2017, as set out in Note 14.

Adjusted par
value
Debentures at fair value:
Marketable Debentures (Series A) (1)
Marketable Debentures (Series G)

December 31, 2016
Carrying
amount

Fair value

217,125
132,527

260,265
142,886

229,247
142,886

349,652

403,151

372,133

(3) As at December 31, 2016, the fair value of the marketable debentures (and the balance of the adjusted
nominal value, respectively), which is determined by the quoted TASE price, does not correspond with
the carrying amount of the principal of USD 31 million, the payment date of which was postponed to
January 1, 2017 as set out in Note 14.

See Note 4 regarding the basis for determining the fair value of these financial liabilities on Level 2.
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NOTE 30 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTD.)
G. Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments measured at fair value
The table below presents an analysis of the financial instruments measured at fair value, on a timing
basis, using the evaluation method. Valuation techniques and the different levels are set out in Note 4
above.
December 31, 2017
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

2,868
-

39,936
909
22,401

1,261
-

22,401

-

252

-

252

2,868

63,498

1,261

67,627

302,030

-

-

302,030

-

1,170

-

1,170

6,101
-

1,145
2,469
10,384
2,892

-

1,145
2,469
16,485
2,892

308,131

18,060

-

326,191

Financial assets
Derivatives used for accounting hedging
CCIRS (**)
Derivatives for inventory (*)
Derivatives for margins
Interest rate swaps (**)
Derivatives that are not used for accounting hedging
CCIRS (**)
Interest rate swaps

Financial liabilities
Non-derivative
Marketable Debentures (Series A, G)
Derivatives used for accounting hedging
CCIRS (**)
Derivatives that are not used for accounting hedging
CCIRS (**)
Forward contracts
Derivatives for inventory
Derivatives for margins

39,936
2,868
1,261
909

(*) In 2017, income (before tax) in the amount of USD 1 million was recognized in a hedge fund for the
effective part of the change in the fair value of futures on Brent. Accordingly, as at December 31, 2017,
the balance of the hedge fund (before tax) amounts to USD 1 million.
(**) Below are the main assumptions used to determine the fair value of the principal and interest swap
contracts as at December 31, 2017:
 NIS interest (used for discounting the NIS component) 3.7% - (0.32%)
 CPI-linked NIS interest (used to discount the NIS-linked component): 4% - (1.04%)
 USD interest (used to discount the USD component) 1.4%-7.2%
 Exchange rate (NIS/USD) as at December 31, 2017
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Bazan Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
USD thousands

NOTE 30 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTD.)
G. Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments measured at fair value (contd.)
December 31, 2016
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

2,371
-

4,213
8,186

-

4,213
2,371

-

201
1,689
-

5,595

201
1,689
5,595

2,371

14,289

5,595

22,255

403,151

-

-

403,151

-

8,719

-

8,719

2,639
-

20,901
6,150
45

-

20,901
8,789
45

405,790

35,815

-

441,605

Total

Financial assets
Derivatives used for accounting hedging
CCIRS
Derivatives for inventory
Derivatives not used for accounting hedging
CCIRS
Interest rate swaps
Forward contracts
Derivatives for margins

Financial liabilities
Non-derivative
Marketable debentures (Series A, G) (*)
Derivatives used for accounting hedging
CCIRS
Derivatives not used for accounting hedging
CCIRS
Derivatives for inventory and margins
Interest rate swaps

8,186

(*) As at December 31, 2016, the carrying amount of the Debentures (Series A) includes a principal of USD
31 million, the payment date of which was postponed to January 1, 2017

NOTE 31 – SIGNIFICANT SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
A. For information about the declaration of a dividend of USD 65 million and its payment subsequent to
the reporting period, see Note 21C3.
B.

For information about the developments in claims and other contingencies subsequent to the
reporting period, including a judgment dismissing the administrative petition on the decision of the
National Council for Planning and Construction, see Note 20B and 20C.

C. For information about the issue of Debentures (Series E and I) subsequent to the reporting period,
see Note 14B.
D. For information about the agreement for the purchase of natural gas approved subsequent to the
reporting period, see Note 20C.
E.

Subsequent to the reporting period, the Company completed a transaction for the sale of shares of an
associate for USD 2 million. This transaction did not have a material effect on the financial
statements of the Company.

F.

For information about the revised compensation policy for 2018 and the approval of the employment
terms of the CEO, see Note 27.
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Separate Financial Information
As of December 31, 2017

(Audited)
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Somekh Chaikin
7 Nachum Het Street
P.O Box 15142
Haifa 3190500.
04 861 4800

Attn:
the Shareholders of Bazan Ltd.
Dear Sirs,
Re:

Special auditors’ report on the separate financial information pursuant to Regulation 9C of the
Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970

We have audited the separate financial information presented pursuant to Regulation 9C of the Securities
Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970, of Bazan Ltd. (“the Company”) as at December 31,
2017 and 2016 and for each of the three preceding years, the last of which ended on December 31, 2017. The
separate financial information is the responsibility of the Company’s management and board of directors.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial information based on our audit.
We did not audit the financial statements of equity accounted investees, in which the Company’s share of
their earnings was USD 113,483 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2015. The financial statements
of those companies were audited by other auditors, whose reports have been furnished to us, and our opinion,
insofar as it relates to amounts included for those companies, is based solely on the reports of the other
auditors.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Israeli generally accepted accounting principles. These
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the separate financial
information is free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and items included in the separate financial information. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used in drafting the separate financial information and significant
estimates made by the board of directors and management of the Company, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the separate financial information. We believe that our audits and the reports of other auditors
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the separate financial information is
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with Regulation 9 C of the Securities Regulations (Periodic
and Immediate Reports), 1970.
Without qualifying our above opinion, we draw attention to out in 5 to the separate financial information
(including by way of reference to the provisions of Notes 20B(3), (5) and (6) to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements, with regard to legal, administrative and other proceedings, other contingencies and laws
and regulations relating to environmental protection. Based on the opinion of the Company's legal counsel,
the Company's management believes that, at this stage, it is not possible to assess the effect of the aforesaid
on the financial statements, if at all. Accordingly, no provision regarding this matter was included in the
financial statements.

Somekh Chaikin
Certified Public Accountants

Haifa, March 14, 2018
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Bazan Limited.
Separate Information on Financial Position
USD thousands
December 31,
Additional
Information
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Deposits
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Current maturities of bank loans
Financial derivatives
Inventories

2017

2016

265,863
76,058
381,323
86,805
11,845
579,049

249,899
80,370
305,347
15,424
44,014
3,932
446,270

1,400,943

1,145,256

922,516
50,228
10,000
55,782
1,297,146
12,087

805,484
48,178
6,777
149,428
9,137
22,066
1,278,725
10,638

Total non-current assets

2,347,759

2,330,433

Total assets

3,748,702

3,475,689

7

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Investments with respect to investees, net
Loan to Haifa Early Pensions Ltd.
Long term loans and debit balances
Long-term loans to investees
Financial derivatives
Deferred tax assets, net
Fixed assets, net
Intangible assets and deferred expenses, net

Ovadia Eli
Chairman, Board of Directors

3

7
4C

Yashar Ben Mordechai
CEO

Israel Lederberg
CFO

Date of approval of the separate financial information: March 14, 2018

The additional information attached to the separate financial information is an integral part thereof.
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Bazan Limited.
Separate Information on Financial Position
USD thousands
December 31
Additional
Information

2017

2016

229,953
681,085
142,138
22,650
23,641

237,765
657,359
105,487
20,013
31,379

1,099,467

1,052,003

361,897
999,503
32,555
16,457
34,389

403,944
918,834
18,315
15,109
30,387

Total non-current liabilities

1,444,801

1,386,589

Total liabilities

2,544,268

2,438,592

805,770
31,979
24,102
342,583

805,282
31,962
41,286
158,567

Total capital

1,204,434

1,037,097

Total liabilities and capital

3,748,702

3,475,689

Current liabilities
Loan to subsidiary (including current maturities)
Trade payables
Other payables
Financial derivatives
Provisions
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Liabilities to banks, net
Debentures, net
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities, net
Financial derivatives
Employee benefits, net

4C

Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Capital reserves
Retained earnings

The additional information attached to the separate financial information is an integral part thereof.

This translation of the financial statement is for convenience purposes only.
The only binding version of the financial statement is the Hebrew version.
D-4

Bazan Limited.
Separate Information on Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
USD thousands
Year ended December 31
Additional
Information
Revenue
Cost of sales

2017

2016

2015

4,907,586

3,693,639

4,737,269

(4,536,957)

(3,430,014) (*)

(4,422,089) (*)

263,625

315,180

370,629

Gross profit
Sales and Marketing Expenses
General and Administrative Expenses
Other income (expenses), net
Voluntary redundancy expenses
Operating profit
Financing revenues
Financing expenses
Financing expenses, net
Company's share in profits (losses) of investees, net of tax
Profit before income tax
Income tax expenses
Profit for the year

4B

(37,755)
(31,967)
300,907

(*)

(35,262)
(29,650)
(1,419)
(4,422)
192,872

(41,273) (*)
(28,480)
1,312
(13,849)
232,890

28,404
(145,544)
(117,140)

12,887 (*)
(122,100) (*)
(109,213)

9,334 (*)
(114,146) (*)
(104,812)

115,968

88,626

112,389

299,735
(37,820)
261,915

172,285
(14,441)
157,844

240,467
(15,823)
224,644

Items of other comprehensive income (loss) after initial
recognition in comprehensive income is transferred to profit
or loss
Other comprehensive income (loss) for investees, net of tax
Effective share of the change in fair value of cash flow hedging,
net of tax
Changes in fair value hedging costs, net of tax

(355)

616

3,603

893
(6,666)

574
3,544

3,353

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year, transferred
to profit or loss, net of tax

(6,128)

4,734

6,956

Items of other comprehensive income (loss) not transferred to
profit or loss
Remeasurement of a defined benefit plan, net of tax
Net change in fair value of debentures at fair value through profit
or loss, attributable to change in credit risk, net of tax
Other comprehensive loss with regard to investees, net of tax
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, net of tax
Other comprehensive loss for the year, not transferred to
profit or loss, net of tax
Comprehensive income for the year

(922)

(34)

2,512

(3,306)
(382)

(929)
(214)

(13,697)
(2,020)

(3)

(239)

(1,180)

(13,444)

12
(4,598)
251,189

161,398

(*) Reclassified – also see Note 2G to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The additional information attached to the separate financial information is an integral part.
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218,156

Bazan Limited.
Separate Information on Cash Flows
USD thousands
Year ended December 31
2017
2016
2015
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year
Adjustments to cash flows from operating activities:
Revenue and expenses not involving cash flows (Appendix A – section A)

261,915

157,844

224,644

87,403
349,318
(143,987)
(8,981)
196,350

126,979
284,823
(53,351)
(794)
230,678

84,355
308,999
(258,412)
933
51,520

21,938
(4,721)
701
77
201,249
(10,000)
(72,939)
3,663
(71,284)
(2,731)
65,953

16,618
(48,857)
52,589
132
34,350
(57,335)
4,035
(104,988)
(1,725)
(105,181)

10,666
16,797
883
124
1,119
(76,934)
844
(1,860)
(48,361)

(624)
29,015
(138,807)
(85,000)
(5,809)
(1,760)
16,457
(59,143)
(177,262)
170,188
(252,745)

(3,220)
8,747
(79,679)
(10,551)
(72,511)
411,613
(458,622)
(69,106)
144,607
(128,722)

(13)
4,204
(108,083)
(15,410)
16,534
(139,080)
(110,721)
370,645
18,076

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

9,558
6,406
249,899

(3,225)
(1,291)
254,415

21,235
(110)
233,290

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

265,863

249,899

254,415

Changes in assets and liabilities items (Appendix A - section B)
Income tax received (paid), net
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investment activities
Interest received
Decrease (increase) in deposits, net
Dividend received from investees
Repayment of long-term loans from others, net
Repayment of long-term loans from investees (see Notes 7E and 7F)
Provision of long-term loans to investees (see Note 7G)
Decrease in cash from funding activities with investees, net
Repayment of loan from Haifa Early Pensions Ltd.
Investments in property, plant and equipment (including periodic maintenance) (*)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets and deferred expenses
Net cash from (used in) investment activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Short-term borrowing, net
Receipt of deposits from customers and others, net
Interest paid (**)
Dividend paid
Derivative transactions, net
Increase (decrease) in cash from funding activities with investees, net
Receipt of long-term bank loans
Repayment of long-term bank loans
Repayment of debentures (**)
Issue of debentures, less issuance expenses
Net cash from (used for) finance activities

(*)

(**)

For further information concerning periodic maintenance work on part of the Company’s facilities in 2016-2017,
see Note 11A(4) to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
As of December 31, 2016, principal and interest payments for debentures in the amount of million USD 49 and
USD 27 million, respectively, were deferred pursuant to the provisions of the deeds of trust to January 1, 2017, as
their contractual maturity date was not a business day.

The additional information attached to the separate financial information is an integral part thereof.
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Bazan Limited.
Separate Information on Cash Flows (Contd.)
USD thousands
Appendix A: Adjustments required to present cash flows from operating activities
Year ended December 31

A.

2016

2015

87,279
68,589
7,264
(1,460)

81,765
105,263
(3,108)
(216)

81,606
(805)
106,968
3,232
82

(115,968)
3,197
682
37,820

(88,626)
1,419
14,752
1,289
14,441

(112,652)
(10,723)
824
15,823

403,87

126,979

84,355

(75,975)
3,967
(132,779)
6,442
44,086
2,806

(76,694)
23,681
(93,361)
124,261
(31,095)
(143)

196,551
(15,357)
30,619
(509,122)
27,301
11,596

(151,453)

(53,351)

(258,412)

Income and expenses not that do not involve cash flows:
Amortization and depreciation
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Financing expenses, net
Net changes in fair value of derivatives
Changes in fair value of a loan to Haifa Early Pensions Ltd.
Net share in profits of investees and gain from decrease in
significant influence
Other expenses
Loss (gain) and change in inventory hedge deposits, net
Share-based payments
Income tax expenses

B.

2017

Changes in assets and liabilities
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables
Decrease (increase) in other receivables
Decrease (increase) in inventory
Increase (decrease) in trade payables
Increase (decrease) in other payables and provisions
Increase (decrease) in employee benefits, net

The additional information attached to the separate financial information is an integral part thereof
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Bazan Limited
Additional Information for Separate Financial Information
USD thousands

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
NOTE 1 – GENERAL
The separate financial information of the Company as at December 31, 2017 are presented in
accordance with the provisions of Regulation 9C and the Tenth Addendum to the Securities
Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970. This information should be read in conjunction
with the consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2017 ("the Consolidated Financial
Statements").
Definitions:
The Company - Bazan Ltd.
Subsidiaries - companies, the financial statements of which are fully consolidated with the financial
statements of the Company.
Investees: Subsidiaries and companies in which the Company's investment is stated in the financial
statements on the equity basis

NOTE 2 – ACCOUNTING POLICY
The separate financial information has been prepared and presented in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, except for the amounts of assets,
liabilities, income, expenses and cash flows for investees, as set out below:
The assets and liabilities are stated at their value in the Company itself as a parent company and
according to their classification in the consolidated financial statements attributable to the Company itself
as the parent company, excluding the net asset and liabilities balances attributed to investees and
presented in this report under the item, balances with respect to investees.
Balances with respect to investees reflect the net amount, based on the Consolidated Financial
Statements, attributed to the Company out of the total assets less the total liabilities with respect to
the investees.
The amounts of the income and expenses reflect income and expenses included in the consolidated
statements that are attributable to the Company itself as a parent company, with breakdown between
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, excluding income and expenses for investees, with
breakdown according to classification of the income and expenses.
The Company's share in the results of the investees is presented as a net amount of the total revenue
less total expenses based on the consolidated statements for the results of investee operations.
The cash flow amounts include a breakdown of the cash flows included in the consolidated
statements attributable to the Company itself (excluding investees), taken from the consolidated
statement of cash flows, with breakdown according to cash flow from operating, investment and
financing activities, and details of their components. Cash flows for ongoing activities, investment
activities and financing for transactions with investees are presented separately, in net figures, under
the relevant item based on the nature of the transaction.
Balances, income and expenses for transactions with investees, which were derecognized in the
consolidated statements, are measured and stated under the relevant items in the statements of
financial position and comprehensive income, in the same way they would have been measured and
stated had they been carried out with third parties. Deferred net profits (losses) are stated net (with
the addition) of the Company’s share in the profits (losses) of investees and investments in investees.
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Bazan Limited
Additional Information for Separate Financial Information
USD thousands

NOTE 3 - INVESTEES
For information regarding investees see Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
Investments in investees

Company name:

Carmel Olefins
Ducor
Gadiv
Others
Total

Share of capital,
voting rights and
authority to
appoint directors

100%
100% (**)
100%

Number of
shares (*)

Total par
value

31,200,000
11,211
4,500,000

NIS
312,000,000
20,400,769
45,000,000

Balance of investment
December 31, December 31,
2017
2016
USD thousands
703,959
613,858
73,843
53,367
127,930
125,592
16,784
12,667
805,484
922,516

(*) Ordinary shares
(**) Through a wholly owned subsidiary of Carmel Olefins

Additional information concerning the investments in investees

Company name:
Carmel Olefins
Ducor
Gadiv
Others (**)
Total

Company name:
Carmel Olefins
Ducor
Gadiv
Others (**)
Total

Company’s
share in net
profits (*)
105,611
13,858
1,935
4,875
126,279

Year ended Dec 31, 2017
USD thousands
Company’s
share in
Amortization of comprehensive
excess costs, net income (loss),
Dividends
of tax
net of tax
(8,756)
(1,689)
(1,555)
1,096
(129)
(15)
701
(10,311)
(737)
701

Company’s
share
in net
profits (*)
86,996
19,788
8,069
(19,807)
95,046

Year ended Dec 31, 2016
USD thousands
Company’s
share in
Amortization comprehensive
of excess costs, income (loss),
net of tax
net of tax
Dividends
(6,519)
703
99
(228)
(77)
32,000
4
20,589
(6,420)
402
52,589

(*)
No Including surplus cost
(**) Including unrealized profits
(***) Company’s interest income (expenses) from subsidiaries
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Interest
income (***)
7,273
978
74
8,325

Interest income
(expenses)
(***)
8,917
(389)
(760)
7,768

Bazan Limited
Additional Information for Separate Financial Information
USD thousands

NOTE 4 – INCOME TAX
General
The Company is assessed in Israel under the provisions of the Income Tax Ordinance (New
Version), 1961. For further information about the tax environment in which the Company operates,
and the provisions of the law and the standards affecting it, see Note 16(A) to the consolidated
financial statements.
Income tax expenses (income) components
Year ended December 31
Current tax expenses (income)

2017

2016

Taxes for the current period
Taxes for preceding years
Taxes for distribution of a dividend (1)

855
(239)
7,978
8,594

778
(1,023)
(245)

Deferred Taxes expense
Creation and reversal of temporary differences
Change in the tax rate

29,226
29,226
37,820

Income tax expenses

2015
786
786

9,486
5,200
14,686
14,441

15,037
15,037
15,823

(1) See Note 16E to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities and movements therein

Deferred tax asset (liability) as at January 1,
2016

Losses
carried
Property,
forward
plant and Employee for tax
equipment benefits purposes

Others

(135,701)

19,472

39,939

-

(1,910)

Use of losses of a subsidiary for tax purposes

-

(1,910)

674

(243)

(4,769)

-

7

(1,094)
(136,121)

Other changes recognized directly in other
comprehensive income
Changes recognized directly in profit or loss

Use of losses of a subsidiary for tax purposes
Other changes recognized directly in other
comprehensive income
Changes recognized directly in profit or loss
Deferred tax asset (liability) as at December
31, 2017

141,907

-

Effect of the change in the tax rate

Deferred tax asset (liability) as at December
31, 2016

14,261

Total

(862)

(5,200)

-

(1,284)

(1,277)

860

1,898

(11,150)

(9,486)

14,885

137,126

6,176

22,066

-

(11,198)

-

-

(11,198)

3,351

174
428

(32,940)

1,727
(65)

1,901
(29,226)

92,988

7,838

(16,457)

(132,770)

15,487

For further information concerning the Company's income tax and tax assessments, see Note 16 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Bazan Limited
Additional Information for Separate Financial Information
USD thousands

NOTE 5 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, AGREEMENTS, GUARANTEES, AND LIENS
For details see Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

NOTE 6 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Liquidity risk
As at December 31, 2017, more than 90% of the Group’s long term financial liabilities (for which
contractual cash flows exceed on year) were taken by the Company (separate). Consequently, in the
opinion of the Company's management, the liquidity analysis presented in Note 30B of the
Consolidated Financial Statements provides sufficient information for understanding and analysis of
the Company’s liquidity risk.
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Bazan Limited

Additional Information for Separate Financial Information
USD thousands

NOTE 6 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTD.)
A. Liquidity risk (contd.)
Breakdown of contractual maturities of financial liabilities in undiscounted amounts as at December 31, 2017, based on future contractual dates at this time,
including estimated interest payments:
As at December 31, 2016 (*)
Contractual cash flows
Carrying
amount
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Short-term loans and borrowings (1)
Trade payables
Other payables (2)
Debentures (3)
Liabilities to banks (3)
Other long-term liabilities
Financial liabilities - derivative instruments
Currency swap contracts and hedge interest (2)
Other currency and interest swap contracts (2)
Other financial derivatives (2)
Interest swap contracts (2)

Total
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Up to 1 year

1-2 years

2-5 years

More than
5 years

Total
contractual
cash flows (4)

2,384
657,359
53,796
1,099,822
458,337
15,805
2,287,503

2,384
657,359
53,796
224,445
78,046
622
1,016,652

187,209
77,883
1,856
266,948

512,961
207,507
5,376
725,844

383,523
257,228
22,516
663,267

2,384
657,359
53,796
1,308,138
620,664
30,370
2,672,711

8,719
17,569
8,789
45
35,122

3,771
8,907
8,789
45
21,512

4,442
8,157
12,599

12,854
9,900
22,754

2,648
2,648

23,715
26,964
8,789
45
59,513

2,322,625

1,038,164

279,547

748,598

665,915

2,732,224

Excluding current maturities
Including interest payable.
Including current maturities
Excluding off balance-sheet liabilities, including for exercise of put options in an inventory availability transaction as described in Note 20C5 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements (*)
Reclassified
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NOTE 6 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTD.)
A. Liquidity risk (contd.)
For certain liabilities to banks and debentures, the Company is subject to financial covenants (see
Notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements) Non-compliance with the financial
covenants may result in accelerated repayment of the liabilities Interest payments for liabilities at
variable interest may differ from the amounts presented in the table above.
Index and foreign currency risks
December 31, 2017
Non-Financial

Financial
CPI-linked
NIS
USD (1)

Unlinked
NIS
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Deposits
Trade receivables
Other receivables (2)
Short term financial derivatives
Inventories
Investments with respect to
investees
Loan to Haifa Early Pensions Ltd.
(3)(5)

Long-term loans to investees
Short term financial derivatives
Fixed assets, net
Intangible assets and deferred
expenses, net
Total assets
Liabilities:
Trade payables
Other payables
Short term financial derivatives
Provisions
Liabilities to banks (3)
Debentures (3)
Other long-term liabilities
Employee benefits, net
Deferred tax liabilities, net
Total liabilities
Total equity balance, net

Total

4,532
579,049

52,916
148,525
155
48,974
-

3,126
79,856
-

922,516

-

-

1,297,146

30,444
378,919
-

24,449
185,068
-

10,000
(508,205)
-

54,893
10,000
55,782
1,297,146

12,087
2,815,330

659,933

292,499

(19,060)

12,087
3,748,702

(63,188)
(19,064)
(294,536)
(376,568)
(866)
(754,222)

(3,084)
42,138
(308,990)
(15,485)
(285,421)

(102,970) (4) (6)
(23,641)
(4,112)
(34,389)
(16,457)
(181,569)
2,633,761

(94,291)

7,078

212,947
76,058
232,798
74,327
(116,985)
-

265,863
76,058
381,323
82,140
11,845
579,049
922,516

(617,897)
(17,020)
229,748
(421,040)
(484,755)
(12,092)
(1,323,056)

(681,085)
(142,138)
(22,650)
(23,641)
(421,040)
(1,170,313)
(32,555)
(34,389)
(16,457)
(2,544,268)

(1,342,114)

1,204,434

Breakdown of the Group’s exposure to linkage and foreign currency risks, based on nominal
amounts:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Including immaterial balances in other currencies
Excluding current maturities
Including current maturities
Including NIS denominated balances of USD 38 million with respect to employee liabilities and USD 4
million with respect to institutions
(5) Asset in respect of employee benefits that is not a financial instrument
(6) Including a NIS denominated CPI linked balance of USD 54 million with respect to a judgment handed
regarding development levies. For further information see Note 20B to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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NOTE 6 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTD.)
B.

Index and foreign currency risks (contd.)
December 31, 2016(*)
Non-Financial
Unlinked
NIS
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Deposits
Trade receivables
Other receivables (2)
Short term financial derivatives
Inventories
Investments with respect to
investees
Loan to Haifa Early Pensions Ltd.
(3)(5)
Long term loans and debit
balances
Long-term loans to investees (3)
Short term financial derivatives
Deferred tax assets, net
Fixed assets, net
Intangible assets and deferred
expenses, net
Total assets
Liabilities:
Loans and borrowings (2)
Trade payables
Other payables
Financial derivatives, short term
Provisions
Liabilities to banks (3)
Debentures (3)
Other long-term liabilities
Financial derivatives, long term
Employee benefits, net
Total liabilities
Total equity balance, net

5,167
446,270
805,484

Financial
CPI-linked
NIS
USD (1)

Total

230,160
121,127
3,235
(373,650)
-

2,007
15,212
-

19,739
80,370
184,220
6
362,370
-

249,899
80,370
305,347
10,415
3,932
446,270
805,484

-

18,251

34,936

-

53,187

-

253

-

6,524

6,777

22,066
1,278,725

178,872
-

137,578
23,584
-

55,864
(193,319)
-

193,442
9,137
22,066
1,278,725

10,638
2,568,350

178,248

213,317

515,774

10,638
3,475,689

(78,616)
(25,262)
38,516
(370,422)
(6,994)
216,546
(226,232)

(42,379)
(8,694)
61,869
(413,878)
(8,811)
145,692
(266,201)

(2,384)
(536,364)
(19,840)
(120,398)
(458,337)
(315,522)
(377,347)
(1,830,192)

(2,384)
(657,359)
(105,487)
(20,013)
(31,379)
(458,337)
(1,099,822)
(18,315)
(15,109)
(30,387)
(2,438,592)

(47,984)

(52,884)

(1,314,418)

1,037,097

(51,691)(4)
(31,379)
(2,510)
(30,387)
(115,967)
2,452,383

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Including immaterial balances in other currencies
Excluding current maturities
Including current maturities
Including NIS denominated balances of USD 38 million with respect to employee liabilities and USD 10
million with respect to institutions
(5) Asset in respect of employee benefits that is not a financial instrument
(*) Reclassified
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NOTE 7 – SUBSTANTIAL AGREEMENTS WITH INVESTEES
Inventory agreement for spare parts, chemicals and supplementary materials
The Company engaged in an agreement with subsidiaries operating in Israel that came into force on
January 1, 2012, under which the Company manages the inventory of space parts, chemicals and
supplementary materials for all the Group companies, and service agreements with various service
providers and contractors. For this purpose, the subsidiaries sold to the Company, on said date, their
inventories as described above. Items are purchased from the Company’s inventory at the price of
the item in the Company's books on the date of each future sale. Contractor services are provided at
the actual cost to the Company. Inventory financing and maintenance costs are split among the
Group companies pro rata to the inventories held by each company on the date of sale of the
inventories and an updated mechanism was set for determining the pro rata percentage.
Agreement of the Division of Headquarters Expenses
The Company engaged in an agreement with subsidiaries operating in Israel that came into force on
January 1, 2011, to regulate provision of management services and head office running functions
between Group companies, and attribution of payroll costs paid to third parties by the head office
units of the Group companies, to the company receiving the relevant service. The agreement benefits
the Company, in the regular course of business and at market conditions. The transaction was
approved by the Board of Directors of the Company.
Agreements to supply feedstocks to Carmel Olefins
The Company engaged in feedstocks supply agreements with Carmel Olefins that include the
Company’s undertakings to supply raw material based on a price formula agreed upon between the
companies and based on, if relevant, global prices. As of 2013 (since the switch to full use of natural
gas) the Company and Carmel Olefins reached understandings regarding updating and changing
prices for some of the raw materials that Carmel Olefins buys from the Company and for byproducts
that Carmel Olefins sells to the Company, so that they will be based on the weighted price per energy
unit at the Company's plants while taking the energy sources actually used (natural gas or fuel oil)
and their prices into account. The agreements are valid for one year each time and are renewed
automatically for an additional term of one year, unless prior notice is given by either of the parties
concerning non-renewal of the agreements. The foregoing right to give prior notice is not applicable
to the existing agreements for the supply of raw materials and byproducts between the companies, in
which defined periods and quantities were set.
The agreements were approved by the boards of directors of Carmel Olefins and of the Company.
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NOTE 7 – SUBSTANTIAL AGREEMENTS WITH INVESTEES (CONTD.)
Agreement with Gadiv for the processing and purchase of raw materials
Under agreements between the Company and Gadiv, reformat produced by the Company and
dripolene that the Company purchases from Carmel Olefins are supplied to Gadiv for processing in
its plant. In exchange for processing and returning of flows, such as C-9, reformat, toluene and
xylene to Bazan, Gadiv receives processing fees from the Company, which is calculated according to
a formula set by the parties. Gadiv purchases from the Company all the gasoline that it uses and the
entire quantity of toluene and xylene that was not returned to the Company, as well as Naphta, C-9
and reformat, in certain quantities, based on price formulas agreed upon between the companies and
on global prices.
The agreement was valid until December 31, 2016 and up to the date of issue of the report, the
parties continue to work in accordance therewith.
Syndicated agreement and financial covenants
With regard to the syndicated agreement between the Company and its financing parties, and the
inter-company loans that the Company provided to Carmel Olefins, and the early repayment by
Carmel Olefins in the Reporting Period, see Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Exchange of Carmel Olefins debentures for the Company’s debentures
With regard to the exchange of Carmel Olefins with a designated series of the Company’s debentures
(Series G), the loan provided to Carmel Olefins by the Company back-to-back with the exchange and
the early repayment by Carmel Olefins in the Reporting Period, see Note 14A to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.
Long-term loans provided to Gadiv
In the Reporting Period, the Company provided Gadiv with a long term loan in the amount of USD
10 million, that bears interest at a rate that the Company's management believes reflects market
conditions, to be repaid in one lump sum in June 2019.
Borrowings by the Group companies
As of December 31, 2017, and December 31, 2016, the balances of short term borrowings between
the Group companies (presented in the separate information on the financial position under the Other
receivables and/or Other payables items), which bear interest at 4% and 3.7%, respectively, which
the Company's management believes reflects market conditions.
Dividends
For further information concerning dividends that were announced and paid by the Company in the
Reporting Period and subsequently, see Note 21C to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
On March 22, 2016 the boards of directors of Gadiv and Haifa Basic Oils announced the distribution
of a dividend to the Company in the amounts of USD 32 million and USD 10 million, respectively,
which was received on March 23, 2016. On December 28, 2016 the boards of directors of Haifa
Basic Oils announced the distribution of a dividend to the Company in the amounts of USD 8.3
million, which was to be paid on December 29, 2016
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NOTE 7 – SUBSTANTIAL AGREEMENTS WITH INVESTEES (CONTD.)
Leasing of land
With regard to the land leased by the Company to Carmel Olefins, Gadiv and Haifa Basic Oils, see
Note 11B to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Guarantees provided to subsidiaries
With regard to guarantees provided to Group companies and receipt of guarantees from Group
companies, see Note 13C to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Investee balances
December 31
2017

2016

Assets (liabilities)
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Loans provided (including current maturities)
Loans and borrowings
Trade payables
Other payables

86,883
74,327
10,000
(539)
(3,169)
167,502

Total balance

NOTE 8 – ADDITIONAL MATERIAL EVENTS
REPORTING PERIOD

261,501

IN AND SUBSEQUENT TO THE

For details see Note 31 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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67,403
1,731
193,441
(1,074)
-

